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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Valmont Industries, Inc., along with its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”, “Valmont”, “we”, “us”, or “our”), is a
diversified manufacturer of products and services for infrastructure and agriculture markets. We were founded in 1946, went
public in 1968, and our shares trade on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “VMI”. We are headquartered
in Omaha, Nebraska. Our purpose as a company is to conserve resources and improve life.

Segments

We have two reportable segments based on our management structure. Both reportable segments are global in
nature with a manager responsible for operational performance and allocation of capital. Corporate expense is net of certain
service-related expenses that are allocated to business units generally based on employee headcounts and sales dollars.

Customers and end-users of our Infrastructure products include utility and telecommunication companies,
municipalities and government entities, manufacturers of commercial lighting fixtures, and contractors. Customers of our
Agriculture segment are primarily dealers who resell mechanized irrigation equipment to their end-customer, the farmer. Both
segments service the general manufacturing sector as well. In fiscal 2023, approximately 31% of our net sales were either sold
in markets or produced by our manufacturing plants outside of North America.

Our reportable segments are as follows:

Infrastructure: This segment consists of the manufacture and distribution of products and solutions to serve the
infrastructure markets of utility, solar, lighting, transportation, and telecommunications, along with coatings services to protect
metal products.

Agriculture: This segment consists of the manufacture of center pivot components and linear irrigation equipment for
agricultural markets, including parts and tubular products, and advanced technology solutions for precision agriculture.

In addition to these two reportable segments, we had a business and related activities that were not more than 10% of
consolidated sales, operating income, or assets. These activities comprised the offshore wind energy structures business until
its divestiture in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2022.

Information concerning the principal products produced and services rendered, markets, competition, and distribution
methods for each of our two reportable segments is set forth below.

Infrastructure Segment
Products

e Transmission, Distribution, and Substation (“TD&S”): We engineer and manufacture steel, pre-stressed
concrete, and composite structures to support the lines and equipment that carry and transform power for
electrical transmission, substation, and distribution applications for the utility industry. Transmission refers to
moving high-voltage power from where it is produced to where it is used. Substations transform the electricity
from the generation source so that it can be carried on the transmission lines. A substation is then required to
transform the high-voltage electricity from the transmission lines to low voltage so it can be distributed to the end-
user. These innovative structures are offered to meet the growing demand for reliable energy. These solutions
also support grid hardening across the globe, where fires, storms, and floods are occurring with increasing
regularity.

TD&S projects are often complex and include large structures, therefore product design engineering is important
to the function and safety of these solutions. Our engineering process considers weather and loading conditions,
such as wind speeds, ice loads, and power line requirements, to arrive at the final design.

e Lighting and Transportation (“L&T”): We design, engineer, and manufacture steel, aluminum, wood, and
composite poles and structures for a wide range of lighting and transportation applications. The demand for these
products is driven by infrastructure, commercial, and residential construction and by consumers’ desire for
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well-lit streets, highways, parking lots, and common areas. Beyond technical and engineering needs, customers
also want product designs that are visually appealing and meet local aesthetic requirements.

Our traffic and sign structures contribute to the orderly flow of automobile traffic. These structures support traffic
signals and overhead signs. They are engineered to meet customer specifications to ensure the proper function
and safety of the structure. Product engineering considers factors such as weather (e.g., wind, ice) and the
products loaded on the structure (e.qg., lighting fixtures, traffic signals, overhead signs) to determine the design.
We have expanded our capabilities in the traffic market with the development of patented vibration mitigation
technology which continuously improves the safety of traffic and roadway structures by reducing the effects of
wind and fatigue. Our L&T product line also includes highway safety system products that are designed and
engineered to enhance roadway safety. These systems include guardrail barriers, wire rope safety barriers, crash
attenuation barriers, and other products which primarily serve the Australian and Indian markets.

e Coatings: We provide finishing services that inhibit corrosion, extend service lives, and enhance the aesthetics of
a wide range of materials and products. With a variety of finish options, including galvanizing, anodizing, and
painting, we can meet customer-specific requirements for a variety of applications. Hot-dip galvanizing is a
process that protects and prolongs the life of steel with a zinc coating that is bonded to the product surface to
inhibit rust and corrosion. CorroCote® adds protection to steel against the corrosive effects of soil and
underground moisture for those products that are anchored below ground. Anodizing is a process applied to
aluminum that oxidizes the surface of the aluminum in a controlled manner, which protects the aluminum from
corrosion and allows the material to be dyed a variety of colors. We also paint products using powder coating for
certain industries and markets.

e Telecommunications: We engineer, manufacture, and distribute products including towers, small cell structures,
camouflage concealment solutions, passive intermodulation (“PIM”) mitigation equipment, and components
serving the wireless communication market. These solutions support expanded 5G requirements and the ever-
growing demand for data. A wireless communication cell site mainly consists of a steel pole or tower, shelter
(enclosure where the radio equipment is located), antennas (devices that receive and transmit data and voice
information to and from wireless communication devices), and components (items that are used to mount
antennas to a structure and to connect cabling and other parts from the antennas to the shelter). Small cell
applications are utilized to enhance signal densification in urban environments and enhance the signal from the
tower. Concealment solutions, such as faux trees, convert traditional telecommunication structures and
camouflage them to fit seamlessly into the surrounding environment. PIM mitigation solutions are provided to
solve issues with signal interference. Our telecommunication structures are engineered and designed to customer
specifications, which include factors such as equipment and antenna requirements, wind and soil conditions, and
aesthetic standards, all while ensuring that they meet safety specifications.

e Solar: Our solar single-axis tracker product is an integrated system of steel structures, electric motors, and
electronic controllers. Trackers move solar panels throughout the day to maintain an optimal orientation to the
sun, which materially increases their energy production. Our trackers utilize a simple, modular design allowing
ease of installation and low operational maintenance. Further, the flexibility of our trackers’ design allows for
improved site utilization, which is especially valuable to our customers considering that solar projects are being
constructed on increasingly challenging sites. We sell our products to engineering, procurement, and construction
firms that build solar energy projects as well as solar developers, independent power producers, and utilities.

Markets

The key markets across the Infrastructure product lines have a portion of their funding supported through local, state,
and federal government programs. Currently, the United States of America (“U.S.”) government is supporting infrastructure
improvement through the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (“llJA”) and the Inflation Reduction Act (“IRA”"). These acts
will allocate funding to reinforce the nation’s bridges, increase safety for the traveling public, update vital infrastructure,
improve highway safety, and harden the electrical grid.

The utility industry in North America is a significant market for the Infrastructure segment. The key drivers are
significant upgrades in the electrical grid to support enhanced reliability standards, policy changes encouraging more
generation from renewable energy sources, and increased electrical consumption, which has outpaced transmission
investment in the past decades. According to the Edison Electric Institute, the electrical transmission grid in the U.S. requires
significant investment in the coming years to respond to compelling industry drivers and lack of investment prior to 2008.
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Electrical consumption is also expected to increase within international markets. This will require substantial investment in new
electricity generation capacity and growth in transmission grid development. We expect these factors to result in increased
demand for electrical utility structures to transport electricity from source to user, as is used in U.S. markets today.

We also serve the transportation, construction, and industrial markets. Many products from our transportation product
portfolio will be utilized when making enhancements to traffic structures, bridge systems, roadway and street lighting, and high-
mast lighting. A combination of state and federal funding, including the IIJA, supports transportation projects throughout the
U.S. Public and private partnerships have also recently emerged as an additional funding source. In the U.S., there are
approximately four million miles of public roadways, with approximately 24% carrying over 80% of the traffic. Accordingly, the
need to improve traffic flow through traffic controls and lighting is a priority for many communities. The commercial
construction market is mostly privately funded and includes lighting for applications such as parking lots, shopping centers,
sports stadiums, and business parks. This market is driven by macroeconomic factors such as general economic growth rates,
interest rates, and the commercial construction economy. We have many long-standing relationships with lighting and
equipment manufacturers who also serve this market. Industrial markets are typically driven by infrastructure, industrial, and
commercial construction spending.

Markets for our Coatings products are varied and our profitability is not substantially dependent on any one industry or
external customer. However, a meaningful percentage of demand is internal, driven by our other product lines and their market
demand. Demand for coatings services generally follows the local industrial economies. Galvanizing is used in a wide variety
of industrial applications where corrosion protection of steel is desired. While markets are varied, our markets for anodized or
painted products are more directly dependent on consumer markets than industrial markets.

The market for our Telecommunications products is driven by demand for wireless communication and data. Our
customers are wireless network providers and companies that own and maintain cell sites. We also sell products to state and
federal governments for two-way radio communication, radar, broadcasting, and security applications. We believe long-term
growth should mainly be driven by increased data usage and technologies such as 5G, which demands higher network
density. Improved emergency response systems, as part of U.S. Department of Homeland Security initiatives, create
additional demand.

The solar market is driven by the transition to clean energy sources globally and incentives for renewable energy
investment. As utilities increase the development of large-scale solar power and micro-grid applications, single-axis solar
tracker solutions will be an essential tool for achieving higher energy production.

Competition

Our competitive strategy is to provide high-value solutions to the customer at the appropriate price. We compete
based on product quality, engineering expertise, high levels of customer service, and timely, complete, and accurate delivery of
the product. We leverage the production capacity at our network of plants to ensure that the customer receives quality and
timely service. There are numerous competitors in North America as well as in international markets. Pricing can be very
competitive, especially when demand is weak or when strong local currencies result in increased competition from imported
products. Infrastructure sales are often made through a competitive bid process, whereby the lowest bidder is awarded the
contract, provided the bidder meets all other qualifying criteria. We also sell on a preferred-provider basis to certain large
customers. These contractual arrangements often last between three and five years and are frequently renewed.

The Coatings product line markets have traditionally been very fragmented with a large number of competitors. Most
of these competitors are relatively small, privately held companies that compete based on price and personal relationships with
their customers. Our strategy is to compete based on the quality of the coating finish and timely delivery of the coated product
to the customer.

The Solar product line offers solutions that are specific to the solar industry. We primarily compete with other mid-
sized market participants and differentiate ourselves based on the quality of service and ability to combine offerings from the
TD&S product line to provide full-grid solutions.

Distribution Methods

Infrastructure sales and distribution activities are handled through a combination of a direct sales force and
commissioned agents. Working with end-users and distributors, our sales force represents Valmont as well as light fixture and
traffic-signal manufacturers. This enables our agents to provide the pole, fixtures, and other equipment to the end-user as a
complete package. Commercial lighting, wireless communication products and components, access systems, and highway
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safety sales are normally made through our sales employees, although some sales are made through independent
commissioned sales agents. Our TD&S and Solar products are normally sold directly to electrical utilities, developers, or
energy providers with some sales sold through commissioned sales agents.

Due to freight costs, a galvanizing location has an effective service area of an approximate 300-to-500-mile radius.
While we believe that we are globally one of the largest custom galvanizers, our sales are a small percentage of the total
market. Sales and customer service are provided directly to the user by a direct sales force, generally assigned to each
specific location.

Agriculture Segment
Products

e Irrigation Equipment and Parts: We manufacture and distribute mechanical irrigation equipment and related
service parts under the Valley® brand name. A Valley® irrigation machine is powered by electricity (via a grid,
solar, or diesel generator), propels itself over a farm field, and applies water and chemicals to crops. Water and
chemicals are applied through sprinklers attached to a pipeline that is supported by a series of towers, each of
which is propelled via a drivetrain and tires. A standard mechanized irrigation machine (also known as a center
pivot) rotates in a circle, although we also manufacture and distribute center pivot extensions that can irrigate
corners of square and rectangular farm fields as well as conform to irregular field boundaries (referred to as a
corner machine). Our irrigation machines can also irrigate fields by moving up and down the field as opposed to
rotating in a circle (referred to as a linear machine). Irrigation machines can be configured to irrigate fields in sizes
from four acres to over 500 acres, with a standard size in the U.S. configured for a 160-acre tract of ground. The
irrigation machine used in international markets is substantially the same as the one produced for the North
American market. We also manufacture tubular products for industrial customers primarily in the agriculture
industry as well as in transportation and other industries.

e Technology Products and Services: Through over 100,000 connected devices, Valley® has paired sustainable
infrastructure with technology to help growers see crop production issues before they become problems. Our suite
of advanced technology solutions offers capabilities to assist in reducing water and energy use as the center pivot
is the only infrastructure on the farm that is continually in the field every day of the year. During fiscal 2021, we
purchased Prospera Technologies, Ltd., a leading global artificial intelligence and machine learning provider of
advanced agronomy monitoring solutions. Our crop anomaly detection can alert growers of pivot-related water
issues with artificial intelligence and machine learning (in select markets) to help farmers determine where and
how much to irrigate.

Markets

Market drivers in North American and international markets are essentially the same. Since the purchase of an
irrigation machine is a capital expenditure, the purchase decision is based on the expected return on investment. The benefits
a grower may realize through investment in mechanical irrigation include improved yields through better irrigation, cost savings
through reduced labor, and lower water and energy usage. The purchase decision is also affected by current and expected net
farm income, commodity prices, interest rates, the status of government support programs, and water regulations in local
areas. In many international markets, the relative strength or weakness of local currencies as compared with the U.S. dollar
may affect net farm income, as export markets are generally denominated in U.S. dollars. In addition, governments are
sponsoring irrigation projects for self-sufficiency in food production to help alleviate food security concerns.

The demand for mechanized irrigation comes from the following sources:
e conversion from flood irrigation;
e replacement of existing mechanized irrigation machines; and

e converting land that is not irrigated to mechanized irrigation.
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One of the key drivers in our Agriculture segment worldwide is that the usable water supply is limited. We estimate
that:

o only 2.5% of the total worldwide water supply is freshwater;
e of that 2.5%, only 30% of freshwater is available to humans; and

e the largest user of that freshwater is agriculture.

We believe these factors, along with the trends of a growing worldwide population, improving diets, and governments’
efforts to address food security, reflect the need to use water more efficiently while increasing food production to feed the
growing population. We believe that mechanized irrigation can improve water application efficiency by 40% to 90% compared
with traditional irrigation methods by applying water uniformly near the root zone and reducing water runoff. Furthermore,
reduced water runoff improves water quality in nearby rivers, aquifers, and streams, thereby providing environmental benefits
in addition to the conservation of water.

Competition

In North America, there are a number of entities that provide irrigation products and services to agricultural customers.
We believe we are the leader of the four main participants in the mechanized irrigation business. Participants compete for
sales based on product durability and reliability, price, quality, and service capabilities of the local dealer. We continue to
innovate and expand our technology offerings as growers continue to seek more solutions to increase their crop yields. Pricing
can become very competitive, especially in periods when market demand is low. In international markets, our competitors are
a combination of our major U.S. competitors and privately owned local companies. Competitive factors are similar to those in
North America, although pricing tends to be a more prevalent competitive strategy in international markets. Since competition
in international markets is local, we believe local manufacturing capability is important to competing effectively in international
markets and we have that capability in key regions.

Distribution Methods

We market our irrigation machines, technology offerings, and service parts through independent dealers. There are
approximately 250 dealer locations in North America, with another approximately 400 dealers serving international markets in
over 60 countries. The dealer determines the grower's requirements, designs the configuration of the machine, installs the
machine (including providing ancillary products that deliver water and electrical power to the machine), and provides
after-sales service. Our dealer network is supported and trained by our technical and sales teams. Our international dealers
are supported through our regional operations in South America, South Africa, Western Europe, Australia, China, and the
United Arab Emirates, as well as our manufacturing facility in Valley, Nebraska.

General
Certain information generally applicable to our two reportable segments is set forth below.
Business Strategy

Our strategy is to pursue growth opportunities that leverage our existing product portfolio, knowledge of our principal
end-markets and customers, and engineering capabilities to increase our sales, earnings, and cash flow, including:

Increasing the Market Penetration of Our EXxisting Products: Our strategy is to increase our market penetration by
differentiating our products from our competitors through superior customer service, engineering proficiency, technological
innovation, and consistent high quality. Our Agriculture segment experienced international sales growth in fiscal 2023 which
we believe was partially due to the continuing importance of our precision agriculture and technology offerings.

Bringing Our Existing Products to New Markets: Our strategy is to expand the sales of our existing products into
geographic areas where there is market opportunity, where we do not currently serve, and where end-users do not currently
purchase our type of products. For example, we have a manufacturing presence in Poland and India to expand our offering of
structures for L&T, TD&S, and Telecommunications to these markets and we have expanded our manufacturing presence in
the United Arab Emirates to serve growing Middle East markets. Our Agriculture segment has a long history of developing new
emerging markets for mechanized irrigation around the world. For example, in January 2023, we secured an approximately
$85.0 million multi-year agreement for projects in Africa.
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Developing New Products for Markets That We Currently Serve: Our strategy is to grow by developing new products
for markets using our comprehensive understanding of end-user requirements and leveraging longstanding relationships with
key distributors and end-users. In recent years, in North America, we developed and sold structures for spun concrete
distribution poles and steel bridge girders. Additionally, we began offering concealment solutions for the wireless
communication markets.

Developing New Products for New Markets or Leveraging Core Competencies to Further Diversify Our Business Is a
Path to Increase Sales: For example, the establishment and growth of our Coatings product line was based on using our
expertise in galvanizing to develop what is now a global product line. We have grown sales through expanding our presence in
the decorative lighting market, which has different requirements and preferences than our traditional transportation and
commercial markets. Acquisitions are a key component of our strategy to expand the markets we serve through new products
and services. In fiscal 2023, we acquired HR Products, a leading wholesale supplier of irrigation parts in Australia, expanding
our geographic footprint and growing our parts presence in a key agriculture market. In fiscal 2022, we acquired a majority
interest in ConcealFab, a 5G infrastructure and passive intermodulation mitigation solutions company, expanding our portfolio
of telecommunications products that support 5G technology.

Acquisitions

We have grown organically and by acquisition. Our significant business acquisitions during the past two fiscal years
include the following (including the segment in which the business reports):
2023

e Acquisition of HR Products, a leading wholesale supplier of irrigation parts in Australia (Agriculture)

2022

e Acquisition of 51% of ConcealFab, a 5G infrastructure and PIM mitigation solutions company in Colorado
(Infrastructure)

e Acquisition of the remaining 9% not previously owned of Convert Italia S.p.A. (Infrastructure)

e Acquisition of the remaining 20% not previously owned of Valmont West Coast Engineering, Ltd. (Infrastructure)
Divestitures

Our business divestitures during the past two fiscal years include the following (including the segment in which the
business reported):

2023

e Divestiture of Torrent Engineering and Equipment, an integrator of prepackaged pump stations in Indiana
(Agriculture)

2022

e Divestiture of Valmont SM, an offshore wind energy structures business in Denmark (Other)
Suppliers and Availability of Raw Materials

Hot rolled steel coil and plate, zinc, and other carbon steel products are the primary raw materials utilized in the
manufacture of finished products for all segments. We purchase these essential items from steel mills, steel service centers,
and zinc producers where these materials are usually readily available. While we may experience increased lead times to
acquire materials and volatility in our purchase costs, we do not believe that key raw materials would be unavailable for
extended periods. We have not experienced extended or widespread shortages of steel in the past several years, due to what
we believe are strong relationships with some of the major steel producers. In the past several years, we experienced volatility
in steel, zinc, and natural gas prices, but we did not experience any disruptions to our operations due to availability.
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Patents, Licenses, Franchises, and Concessions

We have a number of patents for our manufacturing machinery, structures, solar trackers, highway guardrails, and
irrigation designs. We also have a number of registered trademarks. We do not believe the loss of any individual patent or
trademark would have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, or liquidity.

Seasonal Factors in Business

Sales can be somewhat seasonal based on the agricultural growing season and the infrastructure construction
season. Sales of mechanized irrigation equipment to farmers are traditionally higher during the spring and fall and lower in the
summer. Sales of infrastructure products are traditionally higher in the summer and fall and lower in the winter.

Customers

We are not dependent upon a single customer or upon very few customers for a material part of any segment’s
business. The loss of any one customer would not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of
operations, or liquidity.

Backlog

As of December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the backlog of orders for our principal products manufactured and
marketed was $1,465.5 million and $1,656.4 million, respectively. An order is reported in our backlog upon receipt of a
purchase order from the customer or execution of a sales order contract. We anticipate that most of the fiscal 2023 backlog of
orders will be filled during fiscal 2024. The total backlog by segment as of December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 was as
follows:

December 30, December 31,
Dollars in millions 2023 2022
Infrastructure $ 1,299.6 $ 1,339.1
Agriculture 165.9 317.3
Total backlog $ 1,465.5 $ 1,656.4

Environmental Protection

We are subject to various federal, state, and local laws and regulations pertaining to environmental protection and the
discharge of materials into the environment. Although we continually incur expenses and make capital expenditures related to
environmental protection, we do not anticipate that future expenditures will materially impact our financial condition, results of
operations, or liquidity.

Number of Employees
As of December 30, 2023, we had 11,125 employees.
Human Capital Resources

Our policies and practices with respect to human capital resources are generally set forth in our Code of Business
Conduct, our Human Rights Policy, and the principles described on our website at www.valmont.com. Essential to our success
is a company-wide commitment to customer service and innovation and the ability to provide the best value to our customers
for our products and services. Our employees are the cornerstone of our accomplishments, and we pride ourselves on being
people of passion and integrity who excel and deliver results. Our Code of Business Conduct and our culture require each
employee to act responsibly and to treat each other fairly and with the utmost respect.

Our businesses require skilled workers and management in order to meet our customers’ needs, grow our sales, and
maintain competitive advantages. We require employees with skills in engineering, welding, equipment maintenance, and the
operation of complex manufacturing machinery. Management talent is critical, as well, to help grow our businesses and
effectively plan for the succession of key employees upon retirement.
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As of December 30, 2023, we had 6,356 employees in the U.S. and 4,769 employees in countries outside the U.S.
We place a high value on diversity and inclusion, seeking employees with diverse backgrounds and experiences who share a
common interest in profitable development, improving corporate culture, and delivering sustainable business results.

We have adopted a Human Rights Policy which is published on our website. We expect our employees, suppliers,
vendors, dealers, and distributors to share our commitment to human rights. We prohibit discrimination based on age, race,
disability, ethnicity, marital or family status, national origin, religion, gender, sexual orientation, veteran status, gender identity,
or any other characteristic protected by law.

We are committed to voluntary employment, and we strictly prohibit all forms of compulsory labor, including child labor,
forced labor, slavery, and human trafficking. We respect internally recognized human rights standards, and this policy is
guided by the United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights.

We require full compliance with applicable wage, work hours, overtime, and benefits laws. We are committed to
creating a culture where a healthy and safe workplace is recognized by everyone as essential to our success. Any employee
can always contact our compliance officer, and confidential reporting of a situation or the ability to ask a question is available
on a secure website maintained by a third party. Employees are eligible for health insurance, paid and unpaid leaves,
retirement plans, and life, disability, and accident coverage.

When positions come open at Valmont, we try first to fill them from within. We like to reward the hard-working
members of our Valmont community with new opportunities that are not only a chance to expand their worlds but to also
recognize and reward their dedication. We have found them to be our richest talent resource.

Our program for succession and management development has our highest level of attention with our Chief Executive
Officer (“CEQ”) responsible for reporting on the program directly to our Board of Directors.

For additional information, please see the “Governance” and “Sustainability” pages on our website and the section
titled “Governance, Human Capital and Sustainability Highlights” in our 2024 Proxy Statement.

Available Information

We make available, free of charge on the “Investors” page of our website at www.valmont.com, our annual report on
Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as soon as reasonably practicable after such
material is electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). Additionally, we use
our website, through the “Investors” page, as a channel for routine distribution of important information, including news
releases, analyst presentations, and financial information. The information on our website is not, and will not be deemed to be,
a part of this annual report on Form 10-K or incorporated into any of our other filings with the SEC.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
The following risk factors describe various risks that may affect our business, financial condition, and operations.
Economic and Business Risks

The ultimate consumers of our products operate in cyclical industries that have been subject to significant
downturns which have adversely impacted our sales in the past and may again in the future.

Our sales are sensitive to the market conditions present in the industries in which the ultimate consumers of our
products operate, which in some cases have been highly cyclical and subject to substantial downturns. For example, a
significant portion of our sales of support structures is to the electric utility industry. Our sales to the U.S. electric utility industry
were over $1.0 billion in fiscal 2023. Purchases of our products are deferrable to the extent that utilities may reduce capital
expenditures for reasons such as unfavorable regulatory environments, a slow U.S. economy, or financing constraints. In the
event of weakness in the demand for utility structures due to reduced or delayed spending for electrical generation and
transmission projects, our sales and operating income likely will decrease.

The end-users of our mechanized irrigation equipment are farmers. Accordingly, economic changes within the
agriculture industry, particularly the level of farm income, may affect sales of these products. From time to time, lower levels of
farm income resulted in reduced demand for our mechanized irrigation and tubing products. Farm income decreases when
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commodity prices, acreage planted, crop yields, government subsidies, and export levels decrease. In addition, weather
conditions, which may be exacerbated by climate change, such as extreme drought, may result in reduced availability of water
for irrigation and can affect farmers’ buying decisions. Farm income can also decrease as farmers’ operating costs increase.
Increases in oil and natural gas prices result in higher costs of energy and nitrogen-based fertilizer (which uses natural gas as
a major ingredient).

Furthermore, uncertainty as to future government agricultural policies may cause indecision on the part of farmers.
The status and trend of government farm supports, financing aids, and policies regarding the ability to use water for
agricultural irrigation can affect the demand for our irrigation equipment. In the U.S., certain parts of the country are
considering policies that would restrict usage of water for irrigation. All of these factors may cause farmers to delay capital
expenditures for farm equipment. Consequently, downturns in the agricultural industry will likely result in a slower, and
possibly a negative, rate of growth in irrigation equipment and tubing sales. In February 2024, the U.S. Department of
Agriculture (“USDA”) forecasted U.S. 2024 net farm income to be $116.1 billion, a decrease of $39.8 billion (or -25.5%),
relative to 2023. The decrease was primarily related to a decrease in cash receipts from crops and livestock, in addition to a
decrease in direct government support payments and higher production expenses. With this projected decline, net farm
income in 2024 would be 1.7% below its 20-year average.

We have also experienced cyclical demand for those of our products that we sell to the wireless communications
industry. Sales of wireless structures and components to wireless carriers and build-to-suit companies that serve the wireless
communications industry have historically been cyclical. These customers may elect to curtail spending on new capacity to
focus on cash flow and capital management. Changes in the competitive structure of the wireless industry, due to industry
consolidation or reorganization, may interrupt capital plans of the wireless carriers as they assess their networks.

Due to the cyclical nature of these markets, we have experienced, and in the future we may experience, significant
fluctuations in our sales and operating income with respect to a substantial portion of our total product offering, and such
fluctuations could be material and adverse to our overall financial condition, results of operations, and liquidity.

Changes in prices and reduced availability of key commodities such as steel, aluminum, zinc, natural gas, and fuel
may increase our operating costs and likely reduce our net sales and profitability.

Hot rolled steel coil and other carbon steel products have historically constituted approximately one-third of the cost of
manufacturing our products. We also use large quantities of aluminum for lighting structures and zinc for the galvanization of
most of our steel products. Our facilities use large quantities of natural gas for heating and processing tanks in our galvanizing
operations. We use gasoline and diesel fuel to transport raw materials to our locations and to deliver finished goods to our
customers. The markets for these commodities can be volatile. The following factors increase the cost and reduce the
availability of these commodities:

e increased demand, which occurs when we and other industries require greater quantities of these commodities,
which can result in higher prices and lengthen the time it takes to receive these commodities from suppliers;

e |ower production levels of these commodities, due to reduced production capacities or shortages of materials
needed to produce these commodities (such as coke and scrap steel for the production of steel) which could
result in reduced supplies of these commodities, higher costs for us, and increased lead times;

e increased cost of major inputs, such as scrap steel, coke, iron ore, and energy;

e fluctuations in foreign exchange rates can impact the relative cost of these commodities, which may affect the cost
effectiveness of imported materials and limit our options in acquiring these commodities; and

e international trade disputes, import duties, tariffs, and quotas since we import some steel and aluminum finished
components and products for various product lines.

Increases in the selling prices of our products may not fully recover higher commodity costs and generally lag
increases in our costs of these commodities. Consequently, an increase in these commodities will increase our operating
costs and likely reduce our profitability.

Rising steel prices, as seen for example in the first half of fiscal 2021 and the first quarter of fiscal 2023, can put
pressure on gross profit margins, especially in our Infrastructure segment product lines. The elapsed time between the release
of a customer’s purchase order and the manufacturing of the product ordered can be several months. As some of the sales in
the Infrastructure segment are fixed-price contracts, rapid increases in steel costs likely will result in lower operating income.
Steel prices for both hot rolled coil and plate can also decrease substantially in a given period, which occurred, for example,
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in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2021 and through much of fiscal 2022. Steel is most significant for our TD&S product line where

the cost of steel has been approximately 50% of the net sales, on average. Assuming a similar sales mix, a hypothetical 20%
change in the price of steel would have affected our net sales in this product line by approximately $100.0 million for the fiscal
year ended December 30, 2023.

We believe the volatility over the past several years was due to significant increases in global steel production and
rapid changes in consumption (especially in rapidly growing economies, such as China and India). The speed with which steel
suppliers impose price increases on us may prevent us from fully recovering these price increases particularly in our lighting,
traffic, and utility businesses. In the same respect, rapid decreases in the price of steel can also result in reduced operating
margins in our utility businesses due to the long production lead times.

Demand for our infrastructure products including coating services is highly dependent upon the overall level of
infrastructure spending.

We manufacture and distribute engineered infrastructure products for lighting and traffic, utility, and other specialty
applications. Our Coatings product line serves many construction-related industries. Because these products are used
primarily in infrastructure construction, sales in these businesses are highly correlated with the level of construction activity,
which historically has been cyclical. Construction activity by our private and government customers is affected by, and can
decline because of, a number of factors, including, but not limited to:

e weakness in the general economy, which may negatively affect tax revenues, resulting in reduced funds available
for construction;

e interest rate increases, which increase the cost of construction financing; and

e adverse weather conditions, which slow construction activity.

The current economic uncertainty in the U.S. and Europe will have some negative effects on our business. In our L&T
product line, some of our lighting structure sales are for new residential and commercial areas. When residential and
commercial construction is weak, we have experienced some negative impact on our light pole sales to these markets. In a
broader sense, in the event of an overall downturn in the economies in Europe, Australia, or China, we may experience
decreased demand if our customers in these countries have difficulty securing credit for their purchases from us.

In addition, sales in our Infrastructure segment, particularly our lighting, transportation, and highway safety products,
are highly dependent upon federal, state, local, and foreign government spending on infrastructure development projects. U.S.
federal funding initiatives, such as the 11JA and the IRA, support multi-year demand for our infrastructure products, although
the timing and amount of funding appropriations from these initiatives can be difficult to predict. The level of spending on such
projects may decline for a number of reasons beyond our control, including, among other things, budgetary constraints
affecting government spending generally or transportation agencies in particular, decreases in tax revenues, and changes in
the political climate, including legislative delays, with respect to infrastructure appropriations.

We are subject to currency fluctuations from our international sales, which can negatively impact our reported
earnings.

We sell our products in many countries around the world. Approximately 31% of our fiscal 2023 sales were in markets
outside the U.S. and are often made in foreign currencies, mainly the Australian dollar, Brazilian real, Canadian dollar, Chinese
renminbi, and Euro. Because our Consolidated Financial Statements are denominated in U.S. dollars, fluctuations in exchange
rates between the U.S. dollar and other currencies have had and will continue to have an impact on our reported earnings. If
the U.S. dollar weakens or strengthens versus the foreign currencies mentioned above, the result will be an increase or
decrease in our reported sales and earnings, respectively. Currency fluctuations have affected our financial performance in the
past and may affect our financial performance in any given period. In cases where local currencies are strong, the relative cost
of goods imported from outside our country of operation becomes lower and affects our ability to compete profitably in our
home markets.

We also face risks arising from the imposition of foreign exchange controls and currency devaluations. Exchange
controls may limit our ability to convert foreign currencies into U.S. dollars or to remit dividends and other payments by our
foreign subsidiaries or businesses located in or conducted within a country imposing controls. Currency devaluations result in
a diminished value of funds denominated in the currency of the country instituting the devaluation. Actions of this nature could
have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition in any given period.
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In addition to the discussion above of economic and business risks, please see our further discussion on interest
rates, foreign currency exchange rates, and commodity prices included in “Market Risk” within “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Part Il, Item 7 in this report.

Legal and Regulatory Risks

We may lose some of our foreign investment or our foreign sales and profits may decline because of risks of doing
business in foreign markets, including trade relations and tariffs.

We are an international manufacturing company with operations around the world. As of December 30, 2023, we
operated over 80 manufacturing plants located on six continents and sold our products in more than 100 countries. In fiscal
2023, approximately 31% of our net sales were either sold in markets or produced by our manufacturing plants outside of
North America (primarily the U.S., Canada, and Mexico). We have operations in geographic markets that have recently
experienced political instability, such as the Middle East, and economic uncertainty, such as Western Europe. Our geographic
diversity also requires that we hire, train, and retain competent management for our various local markets, which not only
impacts our operational results but also our managing and reporting functions.

Demand for our products and our profitability are affected by trade relations between countries. We have a significant
manufacturing presence in Australia, Brazil, Europe, and China. These operations are affected by U.S. trade policies, such as
additional tariffs on a broad range of imports and retaliatory actions by foreign countries, most recently China, which have
impacted sales of our products. In addition, there can be a derived indirect impact on demand for our products arising from
quotas, restrictions, and retaliatory tariffs (e.g., China tariffs on imported soybeans affect U.S. net farm income).

We expect that international sales will continue to account for a significant percentage of our net sales in the future.
Accordingly, our foreign business operations and our foreign sales and profits are subject to the following potential risks:

e political and economic instability, resulting in the reduction of the value of, or the loss of, our investment;
e recessions in economies of countries in which we have business operations, decreasing our international sales;

e natural disasters and public health issues in our geographic markets, negatively impacting our workforce,
manufacturing capability, and sales;

e difficulties and costs of staffing and managing our foreign operations, increasing our foreign operating costs and
decreasing profits, with additional risk to our managing and reporting functions;

e potential violation of local laws or unsanctioned management actions that could affect our profitability or ability to
compete in certain markets;

e difficulties in enforcing our rights outside the U.S. for patents on our manufacturing machinery, poles, and
irrigation designs;

e increases in tariffs, export controls, taxes, and other trade barriers reducing our international sales and our profit
on these sales; and

e acts of war or terrorism.

As a result, we may lose some of our foreign investment, or our foreign sales and profits may be materially reduced,
because of risks of doing business in foreign markets.

Failure to comply with any applicable anti-corruption legislation could result in fines, criminal penalties, and an
adverse effect on our business.

We must comply with all applicable laws, which include the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the United Kingdom
(“U.K.") Bribery Act, and other anti-corruption laws. These anti-corruption laws generally prohibit companies and their
intermediaries from making improper payments or providing anything of value to improperly influence government officials or
private individuals for the purpose of obtaining or retaining a business advantage regardless of whether those practices are
legal or culturally expected in a particular jurisdiction. Recently, there has been a substantial increase in the global
enforcement of anti-corruption laws. Although we have a compliance program in place designed to reduce the likelihood of
potential violations of such laws, violations of these laws could result in criminal or civil sanctions and an adverse effect on our
reputation, business, and results of operations and financial condition.
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We could incur substantial costs as the result of violations of, or liabilities under, environmental laws.

Our facilities and operations are subject to U.S. and foreign laws and regulations relating to the protection of the
environment, including those governing the discharge of pollutants into the air and water, the management and disposal of
hazardous substances and wastes, and the cleanup of contamination. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations, or
with the permits required for our operations, could result in fines or civil or criminal sanctions, third-party claims for property
damage or personal injury, and investigation and cleanup costs. Potentially significant expenditures could be required in order
to comply with environmental laws that regulators may adopt or impose in the future.

Certain of our facilities have been in operation for many years and, over time, we and other predecessor operators of
these facilities have generated, used, handled, and disposed of hazardous and other regulated wastes. We detected
contaminants at some of our present and former sites, principally in connection with historical operations. In addition, from time
to time, we have been named as a potentially responsible party under Superfund or similar state laws. While we are not aware
of any contaminated sites that are not provided for in our Consolidated Financial Statements, including third-party sites, at
which we may have material obligations, the discovery of additional contaminants or the imposition of additional cleanup
obligations at these sites could result in significant liability beyond amounts provided for in our Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Failure to successfully commercialize or protect our intellectual property rights may have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition, and operating results.

The successful commercialization and protection of our current and future patents, trademarks, trade secrets,
copyrights, unpatented proprietary processes, methods, and other technologies are critical to our business and competitive
position. We rely on our business expertise to commercialize these intellectual property rights. We rely on patents, trademarks,
trade secrets, copyrights, and contractual restrictions to protect our intellectual property rights. We may fail to apply the
appropriate business expertise to successfully commercialize an intellectual property right, particularly with respect to new and
developing technologies. Our intellectual property rights protections could be challenged, invalidated, circumvented, or
rendered unenforceable. Third parties may infringe or misappropriate our intellectual property rights. We may incur substantial
unrecoverable litigation costs in seeking to protect our intellectual property rights. Failure to successfully commercialize or
protect our intellectual property rights may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and operating
results.

We have been and may be subject to or involved in litigation or threatened litigation, the outcome of which may be
difficult to predict, and which may be costly to defend, divert management attention, require us to pay damages, or
restrict the operation of our business.

From time to time, we have been and may be subject to disputes and litigation, with and without merit, which may be
costly, and which may divert the attention of our management and our resources in general, whether or not any dispute
actually proceeds to litigation. The results of complex legal proceedings are difficult to predict. Moreover, complaints filed
against us may not specify the amount of damages that plaintiffs seek, and we therefore may be unable to estimate the
possible range of damages that might be incurred should these lawsuits be resolved against us. Even if we are able to
estimate losses related to these actions, the ultimate amount of loss may be materially higher than our estimates. Any
resolution of litigation, or threatened litigation, could involve the payment of damages or expenses by us, which may be
significant or involve an agreement with terms that restrict the operation of our business. Even if any future lawsuits are not
resolved against us, the costs of defending such lawsuits may be significant. These costs may exceed the dollar limits or may
not be covered at all by our insurance policies.

Design patent litigation related to guardrails could reduce demand for such products and raise litigation risk.

Certain of our foreign subsidiaries in India, New Zealand, and Australia manufacture highway safety products,
primarily for sale in non-U.S. markets, and license certain design patents related to guardrails to third parties. There are
currently domestic U.S. product liability lawsuits against some companies that manufacture and install certain guardrail
products. Such lawsuits, some of which have at times involved a foreign subsidiary based on its design patent, could lead to a
decline in demand for such products or approval for use of such products by government purchasers both domestically and
internationally, and potentially raise litigation risk for foreign subsidiaries and negatively impact their sales and license fees.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources Risks

We have, from time to time, maintained a substantial amount of outstanding indebtedness, which could impair our
ability to operate our business and react to changes in our business, remain in compliance with debt covenants, and
make payments on our debt.

As of December 30, 2023, we had $1,138.1 million of total outstanding indebtedness, of which $379.9 million matures
within the next five fiscal years. We also had $421.9 million of capacity to borrow under our revolving credit facility as of
December 30, 2023. We occasionally borrow money to make business acquisitions and repurchase shares. From time to time,
our borrowings have been significant. Most of our interest-bearing debt is borrowed by U.S. entities. Rising interest rates have
increased our cost of indebtedness.

Our level of indebtedness could have important consequences, including:

e our ability to satisfy our obligations under our debt agreements could be affected and any failure to comply with
the requirements, including significant financial and other restrictive covenants, of any of our debt agreements
could result in an event of default under the agreements governing our indebtedness;

e a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations will be required to make interest and principal payments and
will not be available for operations, working capital, capital expenditures, expansion, or general corporate and
other purposes, including possible future acquisitions that we believe would be beneficial to our business;

e our ability to obtain additional financing in the future may be impaired,;
e we may be more highly leveraged than our competitors, which may place us at a competitive disadvantage;
e our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and industry may be limited; and

e our degree of leverage may make us more vulnerable in the event of a downturn in our business, our industry, or
the economy in general.

The restrictions and covenants in our debt agreements could limit our ability to obtain future financings, make needed
capital expenditures, withstand a future downturn in our business or the economy in general, or otherwise conduct necessary
corporate activities. These covenants may prevent us from taking advantage of business opportunities that arise.

A breach of any of these covenants would result in a default under the applicable debt agreement. A default, if not
waived, could result in acceleration of the debt outstanding under our agreement and a default or acceleration of the debt
outstanding under our other debt agreements. The accelerated debt would become immediately due and payable. If that were
to occur, we may not be able to pay all such debt or to borrow sufficient funds to refinance it. Even if new financing were then
available, it may not be on terms that are favorable to us.

As of December 30, 2023, we had $203.0 million of cash and cash equivalents. Approximately 80% of our
consolidated cash balance is outside the U.S. In the event that we would have to repatriate cash from international operations
to meet cash needs in the U.S., we may be subject to legal, contractual, or other restrictions. In addition, as we use cash for
acquisitions and other purposes, any of these factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations, cash flows, and business prospects.

We assumed an underfunded pension liability as part of the fiscal 2010 acquisition of Delta Ltd., and the combined
company may be required to increase funding of the plan and/or be subject to restrictions on the use of excess cash.

Delta Ltd. is the sponsor of a U.K. defined benefit pension plan (the “Plan”) that, as of December 30, 2023, covered
approximately 5,400 inactive or retired former Delta employees. The Plan has no active employees as members. As of
December 30, 2023, the Plan was, for accounting purposes, overfunded by approximately £12.1 million ($15.4 million). The
current agreement with the trustees of the Plan for annual funding is approximately £13.1 million ($16.7 million) in respect of
the funding shortfall at the time of acquisition and approximately £1.3 million ($1.7 million) in respect of administrative
expenses. Although this funding obligation was considered in the acquisition price for the Delta shares, the underfunded
position may adversely affect the combined company as follows:

e Laws and regulations in the U.K. normally require the Plan trustees to agree on a new funding plan with us every
three years. The last funding plan was developed in fiscal 2022. Changes in actuarial assumptions, including
future discount, inflation, and interest rates, investment returns, and mortality rates may increase the
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underfunded position of the Plan and cause the combined company to increase its funding levels in the Plan to
cover underfunded liabilities.

e The U.K. regulates the Plan, and the trustees represent the interests of covered workers. Laws and regulations,
under certain circumstances, could create an immediate funding obligation to the Plan, which could be
significantly greater than the asset recognized for accounting purposes as of December 30, 2023. Such
immediate funding is calculated by reference to the cost of buying out liabilities on the insurance market and could
affect our ability to fund the future growth of the business or finance other obligations.

General Risks

Our businesses require skilled labor and management talent, and we may be unable to attract and retain qualified
employees.

Our businesses require skilled factory workers and management in order to meet our customers’ needs, grow our
sales, and maintain competitive advantages. Skills such as welding, equipment maintenance, and operating complex
manufacturing machinery may be in short supply in certain geographic areas, leading to shortages of skilled labor and
increased labor costs. Management talent is critical, as well, to help grow our businesses and effectively plan for succession of
key employees upon retirement. In some geographic areas, skilled management talent for certain positions may be difficult to
find. To the extent we have difficulty in finding and retaining these skills in the workforce, there may be an adverse effect on
our ability to grow profitably in the future.

We face strong competition in our markets.

We face competitive pressures from a variety of companies in each of the markets we serve. Our competitors include
companies who provide the technologies that we provide as well as companies who provide competing technologies, such as
drip irrigation. Our competitors include international, national, and local manufacturers, some of whom may have greater
financial, manufacturing, marketing, and technical resources than we do or greater penetration in, or familiarity with, a
particular geographic market than we have.

In addition, certain of our competitors, particularly with respect to our TD&S and Telecommunications product lines,
have sought bankruptcy protection in recent years and may emerge with reduced debt service obligations, which could allow
them to operate at pricing levels that put pressure on our margins. Some of our customers have moved manufacturing
operations or product sourcing overseas, which can negatively impact our sales of galvanizing and anodizing services.

To remain competitive, we will need to invest continuously in manufacturing, product development, and customer
service, and we may need to reduce our prices, particularly with respect to customers in industries that are experiencing
downturns. We cannot provide assurance that we will be able to maintain our competitive position in each of the markets that
we serve.

We may not realize the improved operating results that we anticipate from acquisitions we may make in the future,
and we may experience difficulties in integrating the acquired businesses or may inherit significant liabilities related
to such businesses.

We explore opportunities to acquire businesses that we believe are related to our core competencies from time to
time, some of which may be material to us. We expect such acquisitions will produce operating results better than those
historically experienced or presently expected to be experienced in the future by us in the absence of the acquisition. We
cannot provide assurance that this assumption will prove correct with respect to any acquisition.

Any future acquisitions may present significant challenges for our management due to the time and resources required
to properly integrate management, employees, information systems, accounting controls, personnel, and administrative
functions of the acquired business with those of Valmont and to manage the combined company going forward. We may not
be able to completely integrate and streamline overlapping functions or, if such activities are successfully accomplished, such
integration may be more costly to accomplish than originally contemplated. We may also have difficulty in successfully
integrating our product offerings with those of acquired businesses to improve our collective product offering. Our efforts to
integrate acquired businesses could be affected by a number of factors beyond our control, including general economic
conditions. In addition, the process of integrating acquired businesses could cause the interruption of, or loss of momentum in,
the activities of our existing business. The diversion of management’s attention and any delays or difficulties encountered in
connection with the integration of acquired businesses could adversely impact our
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business, results of operations, and liquidity, and the benefits we anticipate may never materialize. These factors are relevant
to any acquisition we undertake.

In addition, although we conduct reviews of businesses we acquire, we may be subject to unexpected claims or
liabilities, including environmental cleanup costs, as a result of these acquisitions. Such claims or liabilities could be costly to
defend or resolve and be material in amount, and thus could materially and adversely affect our business, results of
operations, and liquidity.

We may incur significant warranty or contract management costs.

In our Infrastructure segment, we manufacture large structures for electrical transmission. These products may be
highly engineered for very large, complex contracts and subject to terms and conditions that penalize us for late delivery and
result in consequential and compensatory damages. From time to time, we may have a product quality issue on a large utility
structures order and the related costs may be significant. Our products in the Infrastructure segment also include structures for
a wide range of outdoor lighting, traffic, and wireless communication applications.

Our Agriculture products carry warranty provisions, some of which may span several years. In the event we have
widespread product reliability issues with certain components, we may be required to incur significant costs to remedy the
situation.

Our operations could be adversely affected if our information technology systems and networks are compromised or
otherwise subjected to cyberattacks.

Global cyberattacks continually increase in sophistication and pose significant risks to the security of our information
technology systems and networks which, if breached, could materially adversely affect the confidentiality, availability, and
integrity of our data. Our operations involve transferring data across international borders, and we must comply with
increasingly complex and rigorous standards to protect business and personal data in the U.S. and foreign countries, including
members of the European Union.

The primary objective of our risk management and strategy is maintaining and protecting the confidentiality, integrity,
and availability of information for our business and customers. We rely on our information security program which covers a
range of cybersecurity activities. More information on these measures may be found in Part [, Item 1C in this report. While
these measures are designed to prevent, detect, respond to, and mitigate unauthorized activity, there is no guarantee that
they will be sufficient to prevent or mitigate the risk of a cyberattack whether experienced directly through our information
technology systems and networks or third-party service providers, or allow us to detect, report, or respond adequately in a
timely manner.

Successful cybersecurity attacks or other security incidents could result in the loss of key innovations in artificial
intelligence, Internet of Things, or other disruptive technologies; the loss of access to critical data or systems through
ransomware, crypto mining, destructive attacks, or other means; and business delays, service or system disruptions, or
denials of service. This could lead to legal risk, fines and penalties, negative publicity, theft, modification or destruction of
proprietary information or key information, manufacture of defective products, production downtimes, and operational
disruptions, which could adversely affect our reputation, competitiveness, and results of operations.

Regulatory and business developments regarding climate change could adversely impact our operations and
demand for our products.

Regulatory and business developments regarding climate change could adversely impact our operations. We follow
the scientific discussion on climate change and related legislative and regulatory enactments, including those under
consideration, to deliberate the potential impact on our operations and demand for our products. The scientific discussion on
the presence and scope of climate change and the attention that domestic and international legislatures and regulatory
authorities have given to enacting or considering laws or rules related to climate change are expected to continue. The
production and market for our products are subject to the impact of laws and rules related to climate change. Our customers
and our operating segments are exposed to risks of increased costs to comply with such laws and rules, including increased
costs for raw materials and transportation, as well as exposure to damage to our respective business reputations upon any
failure of compliance. Other adverse consequences of climate change could include an increased frequency of severe weather
events and rising sea levels that could affect operations at our manufacturing facilities, the price of insuring our assets, or other
unforeseen disruptions of our operations, systems, property, or equipment.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY
Risk Management and Strategy

Our information security program covers a range of cybersecurity activities with a primary objective of maintaining the
confidentiality, integrity, and availability of information for our business and customers. The program and our systems are
designed to identify and mitigate information security risks and data privacy breaches. Our risk mitigation processes include a
cybersecurity incident response plan that is exercised regularly with tabletop exercises, security awareness training with attack
simulations to reinforce the training, cybersecurity risk assessment integrated with technology acquisition processes and
utilization of third-party partnerships for threat intelligence, incident response and escalation, and attack surface monitoring.

We measure our security performance against the International Organization for Standardization 27001 Framework
and Enterprise Risk Management strategies. We implement policies and practices to mitigate risks to organization data and
operational processes.

Our Global Data Privacy Program continues to align with environmental, social, and corporate governance standards
and considers both risks and benefits of privacy-driven spending. The program operating model is based on the General Data
Protection Regulation, which is adjusted for specific local requirements. The operating model is scalable to manage strategic,
operational, legal, compliance, and financial risks and benefits, and uses technology to automate portions of the program,
such as data subject access requests and consent and preference management.

Our membership on the Data Privacy Board, a group comprised of some of the world’s largest companies with a
mission to help members engage in confidential, leader-level discussion, presents opportunities using unbiased benchmarking
and support from peers in various industries. We continue to build privacy resilience across international operating
environments.

We work with third-party vendors to enhance our processes against the occurrences and impact of unauthorized
access to our network, computers, programs, and data. Risk is inherent in risk management and strategy for cybersecurity.
See “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A in this report for further discussion.

Governance

The Board of Directors has oversight responsibility for cyber risks affecting the Company. The Board has delegated
risk oversight with respect to operational, compliance, and financial matters, including cybersecurity and information
technology risk, to the Audit Committee.

Our Director of Security has extensive experience implementing and managing cybersecurity policies including
oversight of investments in tools, resources, and processes that allows for the continued maturity of our cybersecurity
program. Team members who support our information security program have relevant educational and industry experience.
Our CEO, Chief Financial Officer, and Audit Committee receive regular reports provided by our Director of Security on the
Company'’s risk and compliance with respect to cybersecurity matters including data privacy, incidents, and industry trends,
along with prevention, detection, mitigation, and remediation of cyber incidents.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters are located in Omaha, Nebraska. The headquarters facility is leased through fiscal 2046
and houses the majority of our executive offices, reportable segment business units, and administrative functions. We also
maintain a management headquarters in Sydney, Australia. Most of our significant manufacturing locations are owned or are
subject to long-term renewable leases. Our principal manufacturing locations are in Valley, Nebraska; McCook, Nebraska;
Tulsa, Oklahoma; Brenham, Texas; Charmeil, France; Uberaba, Brazil; Monterrey, Mexico; SiedIce, Poland; Shanghai, China;
and Dubai, United Arab Emirates. All of these facilities are owned by us. We believe that our manufacturing capabilities and
capacities are adequate for us to effectively serve our customers. Our capital spending programs consist of investment for
replacement, achieving operational efficiencies, and expanding capacities where needed. Our principal operating locations by
reportable segment are listed below.
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Infrastructure segment North American manufacturing operations are located in Alabama, Arizona, California, Florida,
Georgia, lllinois, Indiana, lowa, Kansas, Minnesota, Nebraska, New Jersey, Oklahoma, Oregon, Pennsylvania, South
Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Virginia, Canada, and Mexico. The largest of these operations are in Valley, Nebraska;
Brenham, Texas; Tulsa, Oklahoma; and Monterrey, Mexico, all of which are owned facilities. We have communication
component distribution locations in California, Colorado, Florida, Georgia, Indiana, Maryland, Nebraska, Nevada, New York,
Oregon, and Texas. International locations are in Australia, China, England, Estonia, Finland, France, India, Indonesia, Italy,
Malaysia, the Netherlands, New Zealand, the Philippines, Poland, and Thailand. The largest of these operations are in
Charmeil, France, and Shanghai, China, both of which are owned facilities.

Agriculture segment North American manufacturing operations are located in Nebraska. Our principal manufacturing
operations serving international markets are located in Uberaba, Brazil; Dubai, United Arab Emirates; and Shandong, China;

along with a technology research and development center in Israel. All facilities are owned except for China and Israel, which
are leased.

Operations in the Other segment, which were divested in fiscal 2022, were located in Denmark.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not a party to, nor are any of our properties subject to, any material legal proceedings. We are, from time to
time, engaged in routine litigation incidental to our businesses. For further information on legal proceedings, please refer to
Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this report.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
INFORMATION ABOUT OUR EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The names, ages, positions, and business experiences of the last five years of our current executive officers are as
follows:

Avner M. Applbaum, age 52, President and Chief Executive Officer since July 2023. Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer from March 2020 to July 2023. Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer of Double E
Company, an equipment manufacturer, from 2017 to March 2020.

Timothy P. Francis, age 47, Interim Chief Financial Officer since July 2023 and Interim Chief Accounting Officer since
December 2023. Senior Vice President and Finance Business Partner of Global Operations from June 2022 to July
2023. Senior Vice President and Controller from June 2014 to June 2022.

Diane M. Larkin, age 59, Executive Vice President of Global Operations since June 2020. Senior Vice President of
Operations and Global Supply for Pentair, a water treatment company, from 2017 to June 2020.

T. Mitchell Parnell, age 58, Executive Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer since January 2019.

Aaron M. Schapper, age 50, Group President of Agriculture and Chief Strategy Officer since July 2023. Group
President of Infrastructure from February 2020 to July 2023. Group President of Utility Support Structures from
October 2016 to February 2020.

J. Timothy Donahue, age 59, Group President of Infrastructure since July 2023. Executive Vice President of Corporate
and Business Development from January 2023 to July 2023. President of Global Engineered Support Structures from
December 2019 to January 2023. Vice President of North America Engineered Support Structures from April 2018 to
December 2019.

Renee L. Campbell, age 54, Senior Vice President of Investor Relations and Treasurer since February 2022. Vice
President of Investor Relations and Corporate Communications from October 2017 to February 2022.

Ellen S. Dasher, age 54, Vice President of Global Taxation since December 2015.

R. Andrew Massey, age 54, Vice President, Chief Legal Officer, and Corporate Secretary since July 2006.
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PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “VMI”.

Holders

As of December 30, 2023, we had approximately 57,128 shareholders of common stock.

Dividends

Cash dividends on our common stock are paid quarterly. We paid a total of $49.5 million and $45.8 million in dividends
in fiscal 2023 and 2022, respectively. The Board of Directors determines whether to declare dividends, the timing, and the
amount based on financial condition and other factors it deems relevant. We currently expect that dividends comparable to
those paid historically will continue to be paid in the future.

Purchase of Equity Securities By the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

Total Number of
Shares Purchased  Approximate Dollar

Total as Part of Value of
Number Average Publicly Shares that May Yet
of Shares Price Paid  Announced Plans Be Purchased
Period Purchased per Share or Programs Under the Program (1)
October 1, 2023 to October 28, 2023 — 3 — —  $ 314,724,000
October 29, 2023 to December 2, 2023
Non-Accelerated Share Repurchase 240,120 211.69 240,120 263,883,000
November 2023 Accelerated Share Repurchase (2) 438,917 ) 438,917 143,883,000
December 3, 2023 to December 30, 2023 35,000 222.11 35,000 136,108,000
Total 714,037 $ 250.15 714,037 $ 136,108,000

(1) On May 13, 2014, we announced a capital allocation philosophy that covered both the quarterly dividend rate as
well as a share repurchase program. The Board of Directors at that time authorized the purchase of up to $500.0
million of the Company’s outstanding common stock from time to time over twelve months at prevailing market
prices, through open market or privately negotiated transactions. On February 24, 2015, and again on October 31,
2018, the Board of Directors authorized additional purchases of up to $250.0 million of the Company’s outstanding
common stock with no stated expiration date. On February 27, 2023, the Board of Directors increased the amount
remaining under the program by an additional $400.0 million, with no stated expiration date, bringing the total
authorization to $1,400.0 million. As of December 30, 2023, we have acquired 7,895,724 shares for approximately
$1,263.9 million under this share repurchase program.

(2) In November 2023, we entered into an accelerated purchase agreement to repurchase $120.0 million of the
Company'’s outstanding common stock (“November 2023 ASR”) with CitiBank, N.A. as counterparty. The
November 2023 ASR was entered into under our previously announced share repurchase program described
above. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2023, the Company pre-paid $120.0 million and received an initial delivery of
438,917 shares of common stock from CitiBank, which represented 75% of the prepayment amount divided by
the closing price of $205.05 per share on November 28, 2023. The final number of shares to be delivered and the
average price paid per share will be based on the daily volume weighted average share price during the term of
the November 2023 ASR less a discount, which will be completed during the first quarter of fiscal 2024.

The Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, which was enacted into law on August 16, 2022, imposed a nondeductible 1%

excise tax on the net value of certain stock repurchases made after December 31, 2022. Excise tax accrued for the fiscal year
ended December 30, 2023 totaled $2.8 million.
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ITEM 6. [RESERVED]

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

Forward-Looking Statements

Management’s discussion and analysis, and other sections of this annual report, contain forward-looking statements
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements are based on
assumptions that management has made in light of experience in the industries in which the Company operates, as well as
management's perceptions of historical trends, current conditions, expected future developments, and other factors believed to
be appropriate under the circumstances. These statements are not guarantees of performance or results. They involve risks,
uncertainties (some of which are beyond the Company’s control), and assumptions. Management believes that these
forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions. Many factors could affect the Company’s actual financial
results and cause them to differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements. These factors include,
among other things, risk factors described from time to time in the Company’s reports to the SEC, as well as future economic
and market circumstances, industry conditions, company performance and financial results, operating efficiencies, availability
and price of raw materials, availability and market acceptance of new products, product pricing, domestic and international
competitive environments, and actions and policy changes of domestic and foreign governments.

The following discussion and analysis provide information that management believes is relevant to an assessment and
understanding of the Company’s consolidated results of operations and financial position. This discussion should be read in
conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes.

This section of the Form 10-K generally discusses fiscal 2023 items, fiscal 2022 items, and year-to-year comparisons
between fiscal 2023 and fiscal 2022. Discussions of fiscal 2021 items and year-to-year comparisons between fiscal 2022 and
fiscal 2021 that are not included on Form 10-K can be found in "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations" in Part Il, Item 7 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2022.
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General

Dollars in millions, except per share amounts
Consolidated
Net sales
Gross profit
as a percent of net sales

Selling, general, and administrative expenses

as a percent of net sales
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets
Realignment charges
Operating income
as a percent of net sales
Net interest expense
Effective tax rate

Net earnings attrib. to Valmont Industries, Inc.

Diluted earnings per share
Infrastructure

Net sales

Gross profit

Selling, general, and administrative expenses

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets
Realignment charges
Operating income
Agriculture
Net sales
Gross profit

Selling, general, and administrative expenses

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets
Realignment charges
Operating income
Other
Net sales
Gross profit (loss)

Selling, general, and administrative expenses

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets
Operating income (loss)

Corporate
Gross profit

Selling, general, and administrative expenses

Realignment charges
Operating loss

NM = not meaningful

Fiscal Year Ended

Fiscal Year Ended

21

December 30, December 31, Percent December 25, Percent
2023 2022 Change 2021 Change
$ 4,1746 $ 4,345.2 B9%n $ 3,501.6 24.1 %
1,236.0 1,126.3 9.8 % 883.9 27.4 %
29.6 % 25.9 % 252 %
768.4 693.0 10.9 % 590.6 17.3 %
18.4 % 15.9 % 16.9 %
140.8 — NM 6.5 NM
35.2 — NM — NM
291.6 433.3 (32.7)% 286.8 51.1 %
7.0 % 10.0 % 8.2 %
50.6 45.5 11.2 % 41.4 9.9 %
38.1 % 29.9 % 23.6 %

150.8 250.9 (39.9)% 195.6 28.3 %
$ 6.78 % 11.62 41.7% $ 9.10 27.7 %
$ 2,999.6 $ 2,909.7 31% $ 2,361.5 232 %

842.1 736.6 14.3 % 603.6 22.0 %

424.9 382.1 112 % 330.0 15.8 %

3.6 — NM — NM
17.3 — NM — NM

396.3 354.5 11.8 % 273.6 29.6 %
$ 1,1750 $ 1,335.3 (12.00% $ 1,017.1 313 %

393.9 381.8 3.2% 297.7 28.2 %

230.7 202.5 13.9 % 160.6 26.1 %

137.2 — NM — NM

9.1 — NM — NM
16.9 179.3 (90.6)% 137.1 30.8 %
$ — 3 100.2 NM $ 123.0 (18.5)%
— 7.9 NM (18.2) NM
— 5.6 NM 15.5 (63.9)%
— — NM 6.5 NM
— 2.3 NM (40.2) NM
$ — $ —_ NM $ 0.8 NM
112.8 102.8 9.7 % 84.5 21.7 %
8.8 —_ NM — NM
(121.6) (102.8) 18.3 % (83.7) 22.8 %
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FISCAL 2023 COMPARED WITH FISCAL 2022

Overview

The decrease in net sales in fiscal 2023, as compared with fiscal 2022, was the result of lower sales in the Agriculture
segment, partially offset by higher sales in the Infrastructure segment. Fiscal 2023 included 52 weeks, while fiscal 2022
included 53 weeks. The estimated impact on the Company's results of operations due to the extra week in fiscal 2022 was
additional net sales of approximately $80.8 million and additional net earnings of approximately $5.3 million.

Dollars in millions Infrastructure  Agriculture Other Total
Net sales - fiscal 2022 $ 29097 $ 13353 $ 100.2 $ 4,345.2
Volume 9.6 (175.5) — (165.9)
Pricing and mix 85.1 1.2) — 83.9
Acquisition 12.2 14.0 — 26.2
Divestiture — — (100.2) (100.2)
Currency translation (17.0) 2.4 — (14.6)
Net sales - fiscal 2023 $ 29996 $ 11750 $ — $ 41746

Volume impacts are estimated based on physical production or sales measure. Since products we sell are not uniform
in nature, pricing and mix relate to a combination of changes in sales prices and the attributes of the products sold.
Accordingly, pricing and mix changes do not necessarily result in operating income changes.

Steel prices for both hot rolled coil and plate have remained volatile over the past two fiscal years, especially in North
America. Decreases in the average cost of consumed steel combined with recent customer pricing strategy mechanisms more
than offset the overall decrease in volumes on a consolidated basis in fiscal 2023, as compared to fiscal 2022.

During the third quarter of fiscal 2023, management initiated a plan to streamline segment support across the
Company and reduce costs through an organizational realignment program (the “Realignment Program”). The Realignment
Program provided for a reduction in force through a voluntary early retirement program and other headcount reduction actions,
which were completed by the end of fiscal 2023. The Board of Directors authorized the incurrence of cash charges up to $36.0
million in connection with the Realignment Program of which $35.2 million were incurred in fiscal 2023. Severance and other
employee benefit costs totaled approximately $17.3 million within the Infrastructure segment, $9.1 million within the Agriculture
segment, and $8.8 million within Corporate expense.

Items Impacting Comparability

Iltems of note impacting the comparability of results from net earnings for fiscal 2023 included:

e charges of $140.8 million ($136.5 million after-tax) related to the impairment of long-lived assets, namely goodwiill,

e charges of $35.2 million ($26.5 million after-tax) related to the Realignment Program,

e charges of $5.6 million ($4.2 million after-tax) related to non-recurring charges related to major scope changes for
two strategic projects initiated by departed senior leadership,

Items of note impacting the comparability of results from net earnings for fiscal 2022 included:

e charges of $33.3 million (no associated tax benefit) related to the divestiture of the offshore wind energy
structures business,

e charges of $6.6 million ($5.1 million after-tax) related to amortization of identified intangible assets from the
Prospera subsidiary, and

e charges of $9.9 million ($8.9 million after-tax) related to stock-based compensation expense for the employees
from the Prospera subsidiary acquired in the second quarter of fiscal 2021.
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Acquisitions

The Company acquired the following businesses in fiscal 2023 and fiscal 2022:

e HR Products, a leading wholesale supplier of irrigation parts in Australia, in the third quarter of fiscal 2023, for
$37.3 million, included in the Agriculture segment, and

e 51% of ConcealFab, a Colorado-based 5G infrastructure and passive intermodulation mitigation solutions
company, in the second quarter of fiscal 2022, for $39.3 million, included in the Infrastructure segment.

Divestitures

The Company divested the following businesses in fiscal 2023 and fiscal 2022:

e Torrent Engineering and Equipment in the second quarter of fiscal 2023, which resulted in a gain of $3.0 million.
The integrator of prepackaged pump stations in Indiana was included in the Agriculture segment and the gain was
recorded in “Other income (expenses)” in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings, and

e Valmont SM in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2022, which resulted in a loss of $33.3 million with no associated tax
benefit. The offshore wind energy structures business in Denmark was included in the Other segment and the
loss was recorded in “Other income (expenses)” in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

Macroeconomic Impacts on Financial Results and Liquidity

We continue to monitor several macroeconomic and geopolitical uncertainties that have impacted or may impact our
business, including inflationary cost pressures, supply chain disruptions, changes in foreign currency exchange rates against
the U.S. dollar, rising interest rates, ongoing international armed conflicts, and labor shortages.

Reportable Segments

In addition to the two reportable segments, the Company had a business and related activities in fiscal 2022 that were
not more than 10% of consolidated sales, operating income, or assets. This business, the offshore wind energy structures
business, was reported in the Other segment until its divestiture in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2022. All prior period information
has been recast to reflect this change in reportable segments. See Note 21 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information.

Backlog

The consolidated backlog of unshipped orders was approximately $1.5 billion as of December 30, 2023 as compared
to approximately $1.7 billion as of December 31, 2022. The decrease is attributed to the Agriculture segment, while
Infrastructure segment backlog remains comparable to the prior year end.

Gross Profit, Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses (“SG&A”), and Operating Income

On a consolidated basis, gross profit and gross profit as a percentage of sales increased in fiscal 2023, as compared
to fiscal 2022. Gross profit and gross profit as a percentage of sales increased for both the Infrastructure and Agriculture
segments in fiscal 2023 primarily due to increased average selling prices and activities executed to improve overall costs of
goods sold, partially offset by decreased volumes.

Consolidated SG&A increased in fiscal 2023, as compared to fiscal 2022, due to increased employment costs and
increased professional fees, partially offset by slightly decreased incentive expenses.

Consolidated operating income in fiscal 2023, as compared to fiscal 2022, was impacted by the impairment of certain
goodwill and intangible assets totaling $140.8 million primarily within the Agriculture Technology reporting unit and realignment
charges totaling $35.2 million, along with higher SG&A partially offset by increased gross profit.

Net Interest Expense

Consolidated interest expense increased in fiscal 2023, as compared to fiscal 2022, primarily due to additional
borrowings on the revolving line of credit along with increased interest rates.
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Other Income / Expenses (including Gain (Loss) on Investments — Unrealized)

Amounts in “Gain (loss) on investments - unrealized" included changes in the market value of deferred compensation
assets which were offset by an equal opposite amount included in SG&A for the corresponding change in the valuation of
deferred compensation liabilities. Other items included in “Other income (expenses)” were pension expense, a gain related to
the sale of Torrent Engineering and Equipment in the second quarter of fiscal 2023 totaling approximately $3.0 million, and a
loss related to Argentine peso hyperinflation totaling approximately $5.1 million. Pension expense in fiscal 2023 was $0.2
million compared to a pension benefit of $10.1 million in fiscal 2022.

Income Tax Expense

Our effective income tax rate in fiscal 2023 and fiscal 2022 was 38.1% and 29.9%, respectively. In fiscal 2023, the
effective tax rate was the result of goodwill impairment charges for which no tax benefits were recorded. In fiscal 2022, the
effective tax rate was the result of a change in geographical earnings and the approximately $33.3 million loss from divestiture
of the offshore wind energy structures business which had no associated income tax benefit.

Loss (Earnings) Attributable to Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests

Loss (earnings) attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests reflects the operating results of the subsidiaries the
Company does not own 100%. Two of the subsidiaries not 100% owned generated net losses in fiscal 2023 whereas these
two subsidiaries generated net earnings in fiscal 2022.

Infrastructure Segment

Fiscal Year Ended

December 30, December 31, Dollar Percent

Dollars in millions 2023 2022 Change Change
Transmission, Distribution, and Substation $ 1,2438 $ 1,184.7 $ 50.1 5.0 %
Lighting and Transportation 964.1 940.5 23.6 25 %
Coatings 354.3 356.7 (2.4) (0.7)%
Telecommunications 252.2 320.3 (68.1) (21.3)%
Solar 195.7 126.2 69.5 55.1 %
Total sales $ 3,010.1 $ 2,9284 $ 81.7 28 %
Operating income $ 3963 $ 3545 $ 41.8 11.8 %

Infrastructure segment sales increased in fiscal 2023, as compared to fiscal 2022, due to increased average selling
prices across all product lines and increased volumes in TD&S and Solar, partially offset by unfavorable foreign currency
translation effects and much lower volumes in Telecommunications. Infrastructure segment sales increased in North America
in fiscal 2023, as compared to fiscal 2022, while decreasing slightly internationally in the same period.

Transmission, Distribution, and Substation product line sales increased in fiscal 2023, as compared to fiscal 2022, due
to increased average selling prices and increased sales volumes, partially offset by unfavorable foreign currency translation
effects totaling approximately $4.0 million.

Lighting and Transportation product line sales increased in fiscal 2023, as compared to fiscal 2022, due to increased
average selling prices and increased sales volumes, partially offset by an unfavorable currency translation effect totaling
approximately $8.1 million.

Coatings product line sales decreased in fiscal 2023, as compared to fiscal 2022, due to decreased sales volumes
along with an unfavorable currency translation effect totaling approximately $6.5 million partially offset by increased average
selling prices.

Telecommunications product line sales decreased in fiscal 2023, as compared to fiscal 2022, due to decreased sales
volumes partially offset by increased average selling prices and incremental sales from the second quarter of fiscal 2022
acquisition of ConcealFab totaling $12.2 million. We expect sales for Telecommunications to remain lower until network
enhancement spending of the major carriers returns to more elevated levels. As the continued rollout and expansion of 5G
wireless technology accelerates globally, sales for our products are expected to grow.
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Solar product line sales increased in fiscal 2023, as compared to fiscal 2022, due to increased sales volumes primarily
attributable to increased market share and throughput in the North American and European markets.

We expect Infrastructure segment sales to increase mid-single digits in fiscal 2024 from growth in the TD&S and Solar
product lines attributed to the grid hardening efforts in the U.S. and the global energy transition.

Infrastructure segment gross profit and gross profit margin increased in fiscal 2023, as compared to fiscal 2022, due to
contractual customer pricing mechanisms and selling price management leading to increased average selling prices and
deliberate actions to improve overall costs of goods sold. These items, partially offset by a decrease in sales volumes in the
Telecommunications product line, resulted in an overall increase in the amount of gross profit.

Infrastructure segment SG&A increased in fiscal 2023, as compared to fiscal 2022, due to increased compensation
and incentive costs, increased bad debt reserve charges including approximately $2.7 million related to a Telecommunications
customer that became insolvent, increased research and development expenses, and incremental SG&A from the June 2022
acquisition of ConcealFab.

We incurred severance and other employee benefit costs totaling $17.3 million within the Infrastructure segment in
fiscal 2023 related to the Realignment Program.

Infrastructure segment operating income increased in fiscal 2023, as compared to fiscal 2022, due to gross profit
improvements, driven by favorable pricing and deliberate actions to improve overall costs of goods sold more than offsetting
increased SG&A.

Agriculture Segment

Fiscal Year Ended

December 30, December 31, Dollar Percent

Dollars in millions 2023 2022 Change Change
North America $ 587.1 $ 766.9 $ (179.8) (23.4)%
International 595.1 579.8 15.3 2.6 %
Total sales $ 1,1822 $ 1,346.7 $ (164.5) (12.2)%
Operating income $ 169 $ 1793 $ (162.4) (90.6)%

Agriculture segment sales decreased in fiscal 2023, as compared to fiscal 2022. In North America, the decrease in
sales in fiscal 2023, as compared to fiscal 2022, was primarily due to notably lower sales volumes of irrigation equipment. This
was impacted by lower net farm income, growers’ decisions to delay capital investments due to general economic uncertainty,
and a number of macroeconomic factors including higher interest rates, continued inflationary pressures, and recessionary
fears. International sales growth was driven by higher project sales and incremental sales from the HR Products acquisition
totaling $14.0 million partially offset by lower sales volumes in Brazil due to muted farmer sentiment attributed to lower
agricultural commodity prices. Sales of technology-related products and services in fiscal 2023 were similar to fiscal 2022.

Our Agriculture business is cyclical and is impacted by changes in net farm income, commodity prices, weather
volatility, geopolitical factors, and farmer sentiment related to future economic uncertainty. We continue to monitor potential
impacts of these factors on our financial results including estimated U.S. net farm income, as released periodically by the
USDA. In Brazil, we also actively track changes in soybean and other crop prices and projected farm input costs to evaluate
grower sentiment.

Irrigation equipment and aftermarket part sales in North America are expected to remain below prior year levels in
fiscal 2024. The previous three fiscal years benefited from record levels of disaster relief and pandemic-related stimulus for
farmers in North America which contributed to higher demand.

Agriculture segment gross profit increased in fiscal 2023, as compared to fiscal 2022, due to deflation in the cost of
steel and other favorable changes in input costs more than offsetting the impact of lower sales volumes.

Agriculture segment SG&A increased in fiscal 2023, as compared to fiscal 2022, due to increased bad debt reserve
charges, particularly in Brazil, and increased employment costs, partially offset by decreased incentive expenses.
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We incurred severance and other employee benefit costs totaling $9.1 million within the Agriculture segment in fiscal
2023 related to the Realignment Program.

Agriculture segment operating income decreased in fiscal 2023, as compared to fiscal 2022, primarily due to the
impairment of certain goodwill and other intangible assets in the third quarter of fiscal 2023 totaling approximately $137.2
million, along with decreased sales volumes offset by gross profit improvements.

Other

In November 2022, we completed the sale of Valmont SM, an offshore wind energy structures business with
operations in Denmark. We realized an approximate $33.3 million loss on the sale that was recorded in “Other income
(expenses)” in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. The final payment of $2.2 million was received in January 2024,
subsequent to the fiscal year ended December 30, 2023.

Corporate

Corporate SG&A increased in fiscal 2023, as compared to fiscal 2022, due to increased employment costs, increased
professional fees, and incremental expense from changes in the valuation of deferred compensation plan liabilities. Charges
related to changes in deferred compensation plan liabilities are offset by an opposite change in an equal amount included in
“Other income (expenses)” for the change in deferred compensation plan assets.

We incurred severance and other employee benefit costs totaling $8.8 million within Corporate expense in fiscal 2023
related to the Realignment Program.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Capital Allocation Philosophy

We have historically funded our growth, capital spending, and acquisitions through a combination of operating cash
flows and debt financing. The following are the capital allocation priorities for cash generated:

e working capital and capital expenditure investments necessary for future sales growth;
e dividends on common stock generally in the range of 15% of the prior fiscal year’s fully diluted net earnings;
e acquisitions; and

e return of capital to shareholders through share repurchases.

We intend to manage our capital structure to maintain our investment grade debt rating. Our most recent ratings were
Baa3 by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., BBB- by Fitch Ratings, Inc., and BBB+ by S&P Global Ratings. We would be willing
to allow our debt rating to fall to BBB- to finance a special acquisition or other opportunity. We expect to maintain a ratio of debt
to invested capital which will support our current investment grade debt rating.

In May 2014, the Board of Directors authorized the purchase of up to $500.0 million of the Company’s outstanding
common stock from time to time over twelve months at prevailing market prices, through open market or privately negotiated
transactions. The Board of Directors authorized an additional $250.0 million of share repurchases in February 2015 and again
in October 2018, and authorized an additional $400.0 million of share repurchases in February 2023. These authorizations
have no expiration date. The purchases are funded from available working capital and short-term borrowings and will be made
subject to market and economic conditions. We are not obligated to make any repurchases and may discontinue the program
at any time. As of December 30, 2023, we have acquired approximately 7.9 million shares for approximately $1,263.9 million
under this share repurchase program.

In November 2023, we entered into an accelerated purchase agreement to repurchase $120.0 million of the
Company'’s outstanding common stock, under our previously announced share repurchase program described above. In the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2023, we pre-paid $120.0 million and received an initial delivery of a number of shares of common stock
which represented 75% of the prepayment amount. The accelerated share repurchase will be completed during the first
quarter of fiscal 2024.
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In February 2023, the Company announced that the Board of Directors approved an increase to the quarterly cash
dividend on the common stock to $0.60 per share, or a rate of $2.40 per share on an annualized basis, an increase of 9% from
the prior quarterly cash dividend of $0.55 per share.

Supplier Finance Program

We have a supplier finance program agreement with a financial institution which allows qualifying suppliers, at their
election and on terms they negotiate directly with the financial institution, to sell their receivables from the Company. A
supplier’s voluntary participation in the program does not change our payment terms, amounts paid, payment timing, or impact
our liquidity, and we have no economic interest in a supplier’s decision to participate. As of December 30, 2023 and December
31, 2022, our accounts payable on our Consolidated Balance Sheets included $41.9 million and $48.9 million, respectively, of
our payment obligations under this program.

Sources of Financing

Our debt financing as of December 30, 2023 consisted primarily of long-term debt and borrowings on our revolving
credit facility. Our long-term debt as of December 30, 2023, principally consisted of:

e  $450.0 million face value ($433.5 million carrying value) of senior unsecured notes that bear interest at 5.00% per
annum and are due in October 2044, and

e  $305.0 million face value ($295.2 million carrying value) of senior unsecured notes that bear interest at 5.25% per
annum and are due in October 2054.

We are allowed to repurchase the notes subject to the payment of a make-whole premium. Both tranches of these
notes are guaranteed by certain of our subsidiaries.

Our revolving credit facility with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the other lenders party
thereto, has a maturity date of October 18, 2026.

The revolving credit facility provides for $800.0 million of committed unsecured revolving credit loans with available
borrowings thereunder to $400.0 million in foreign currencies. We may increase the credit facility by up to an additional $300.0
million at any time, subject to lenders increasing the amount of their commitments. The Company and our wholly-owned
subsidiaries, Valmont Industries Holland B.V. and Valmont Group Pty. Ltd., are authorized borrowers under the credit facility.
The obligations arising under the revolving credit facility are guaranteed by the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries,
Valmont Telecommunications, Inc., Valmont Coatings, Inc., Valmont Newmark, Inc., and Valmont Queensland Pty. Ltd.

The interest rate on our borrowings will be, at our option, either:

(a) term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) (based on a 1-, 3-, or 6-month interest period, as selected
by the Company) plus a 10 basis point adjustment plus a spread of 100 to 162.5 basis points, depending on
the credit rating of the Company’s senior unsecured long-term debt published by S&P Global Ratings and
Moody'’s Investors Service, Inc.;

(b) the higher of
e the prime lending rate,
e the overnight bank rate plus 50 basis points, and
e term SOFR (based on a one-month interest period) plus 100 basis points,

plus, in each case, 0 to 62.5 basis points, depending on the credit rating of our senior unsecured long-term
debt published by S&P Global Ratings and Moody'’s Investors Service, Inc.; or

(c) daily simple SOFR plus a 10 basis point adjustment plus a spread of 100 to 162.5 basis points, depending on
the credit rating of the Company’s senior unsecured long-term debt published by S&P Global Ratings and
Moody's Investors Service, Inc.

A commitment fee is also required under the revolving credit facility which accrues at 10 to 25 basis points, depending

on the credit rating of our senior unsecured long-term debt published by S&P Global Ratings and Moody's Investors Service,
Inc., on the average daily unused portion of the commitments under the revolving credit agreement.
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As of December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, we had outstanding borrowings of $377.9 million and $140.5
million, respectively, under the revolving credit facility. The revolving credit facility has a maturity date of October 18, 2026 and
contains a financial covenant that may limit our additional borrowing capability under the agreement. As of December 30,
2023, we had the ability to borrow $421.9 million under this facility, after consideration of standby letters of credit of $0.2 million
associated with certain insurance obligations. We also maintain certain short-term bank lines of credit totaling $39.3 million, of
which $36.1 million were unused as of December 30, 2023.

Our senior unsecured notes and revolving credit agreement each contain cross-default provisions which permit the
acceleration of our indebtedness to them if we default on other indebtedness that results in, or permits, the acceleration of
such other indebtedness.

The revolving credit facility requires maintenance of a financial leverage ratio, measured as of the last day of each of
our fiscal quarters, of 3.50 or less. The leverage ratio is the ratio of: (a) interest-bearing debt minus unrestricted cash in excess
of $50.0 million (but not exceeding $500.0 million) to (b) earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization,
adjusted for non-cash stock-based compensation and non-cash charges or gains that are non-recurring in nature, subject to
certain limitations (“Adjusted EBITDA”"). The leverage ratio is permitted to increase from 3.50 to 3.75 for the four consecutive
fiscal quarters after certain material acquisitions.

The revolving credit agreement also contains customary affirmative and negative covenants or credit facilities of this
type, including, among others, limitations on us and our subsidiaries with respect to indebtedness, liens, mergers and
acquisitions, investments, dispositions of assets, restricted payments, transactions with affiliates, and prepayments of
indebtedness. The revolving credit agreement also provides for acceleration of the obligations thereunder and exercise of
other enforcement remedies upon the occurrence of customary events of default (subject to customary grace periods, as
applicable).

As of December 30, 2023, we were in compliance with all covenants related to these debt agreements.

The calculation of Adjusted EBITDA and the leverage ratio are presented in the tables below in Selected Financial
Measures.

Cash Uses

Our principal cash requirements include working capital, capital expenditures, payments of principal and interest on
our debt, payments of taxes, contributions to the pension plan, and, if market conditions warrant, occasional investments in, or
acquisitions of, business ventures. In addition, we regularly evaluate our ability to pay dividends or repurchase stock, all
consistent with the terms of our debt agreements.

Cash requirements for fiscal 2024 are expected to consist primarily of capital expenditures, pension plan contributions,
operating leases, and interest on outstanding debt. We also have unconditional purchase commitments that relate to purchase
orders for zinc, aluminum, and steel, all of which we plan to use in fiscal 2024. We believe the quantities under contract are
reasonable in light of normal fluctuations in business levels and we expect to use the commodities under contract during the
contract period. Total capital expenditures for fiscal 2024 are expected to be approximately $125.0 million to $140.0 million.

The following table summarizes current and long-term material cash requirements as of December 30, 2023:

Next 12
Dollars in millions Months Thereafter Total
Long-term debt $ 07 $ 1,1342 $ 1,134.9
Interest! 57.7 901.3 959.0
Pension plan contributions 16.7 200.2 216.9
Operating leases 27.9 222.4 250.3
Total contractual cash obligations $ 103.0 $ 24581 $ 2,561.1

1 Interest expense amount assumes that long-term debt will be held to maturity.
Our businesses are cyclical, but we have diversity in our markets from a product, customer, and a geographical

standpoint. We have demonstrated the ability to effectively manage through business cycles and maintain liquidity. We have
consistently generated operating cash flows in excess of our capital expenditures. Based on our available credit facilities,
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access to capital markets, and our history of positive operational cash flows, we believe that we have adequate liquidity to
meet our needs for fiscal 2024 and beyond.

We had cash balances of $203.0 million as of December 30, 2023 with approximately $162.0 million held in our non-
U.S. subsidiaries. If we distributed our foreign cash balances, certain taxes would be applicable. As of December 30, 2023, we
had a liability for foreign withholding taxes and U.S. state income taxes of $1.6 million and $0.8 million, respectively.

Cash Flows

The following table includes a summary of our cash flow information for the fiscal years ended December 30, 2023,
December 31, 2022, and December 25, 2021:

Fiscal Year Ended
December 30, December 31, December 25,

Dollars in thousands 2023 2022 2021
Net cash flows provided by operating activities $ 306,775 $ 326,265 $ 65,938
Net cash flows used in investing activities (115,281) (132,080) (417,308)
Net cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities (176,405) (181,905) 133,500

Operating Cash Flows and Working Capital — Cash provided by operating activities totaled $306.8 million in fiscal
2023, as compared with $326.3 million in fiscal 2022. The decrease in operating cash flows reflects cash flows generated from
higher gross profits, more than offset by increases in tax and interest payments of $10.6 million and $8.9 million, respectively,
and payments of severance and other employee benefit costs related to the Realignment Program totaling $22.7 million in
fiscal 2023.

Investing Cash Flows — Cash used in investing activities totaled $115.3 million in fiscal 2023, as compared to $132.1
million in fiscal 2022. Investing activities in fiscal 2023 included capital spending of $96.8 million and the acquisition of HR
Products, net of cash acquired, of $32.7 million partially offset by proceeds from the divestiture of Torrent Engineering and
Equipment, net of cash divested, of $6.4 million, and proceeds from property damage insurance claims of $7.5 million.
Investing activities in fiscal 2022 included capital spending of $93.3 million and the acquisition of a controlling ownership
investment in ConcealFab for $39.3 million.

Financing Cash Flows — Cash used in financing activities totaled $176.4 million in fiscal 2023, as compared to $181.9
million in fiscal 2022. Our total interest-bearing debt increased to $1,138.1 million as of December 30, 2023, from $878.0
million as of December 31, 2022. The financing cash used in fiscal 2023 was primarily the result of borrowings on the
revolving credit agreement and short-term notes of $400.8 million, offset by principal payments on our long-term debt and
short-term borrowings of $168.8 million, dividends paid of $49.5 million, the purchase of treasury shares of $345.3 million, and
$12.9 million of net activity from stock option and incentive plans, including the associated withholding tax payments. The
financing cash used in fiscal 2022 primarily consisted of principal payments of long-term borrowings of $336.4, offset by
proceeds from long-term debt borrowings of $254.0 million, dividends paid of $45.8 million, net payments on short-term
agreements of $7.6 million, the purchase of treasury shares of $40.5 million, and the purchase of redeemable noncontrolling
interests of $7.3 million.

Guarantor Summarized Financial Information

We are providing the following information in compliance with Rule 3-10 and Rule 13-01 of Regulation S-X with
respect to our two tranches of senior unsecured notes. All of the senior notes are guaranteed, jointly, severally, fully, and
unconditionally (subject to certain customary release provisions, including sale of the subsidiary guarantor, or sale of all or
substantially all of its assets) by certain of our current and future direct and indirect domestic and foreign subsidiaries
(collectively the “Guarantors”). The Parent is the Issuer of the notes and consolidates all Guarantors.

The financial information of the Issuer and Guarantors is presented on a combined basis with intercompany balances

and transactions between the Issuer and Guarantors eliminated. The Issuer’s or Guarantors’ amounts due from, amounts due
to, and transactions with non-guarantor subsidiaries are separately disclosed.
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Combined financial information for the fiscal years ended December 30, 2023, December 31, 2022, and December
25, 2021 was as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended
December 30, December 31, December 25,

Dollars in thousands 2023 2022 2021
Net sales $ 2713928 $ 2,876,425 $ 2,139,427
Gross profit 756,966 695,211 574,128
Operating income 255,401 268,142 208,041
Net earnings 134,831 167,114 120,655
Net earnings attributable to Valmont Industries, Inc. 133,300 167,220 120,458

Combined financial information as of December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 was as follows:

December 30, December 31,
Dollars in thousands 2023 2022
Current assets $ 777,539 $ 769,263
Non-current assets 872,016 925,088
Current liabilities 361,211 459,961
Non-current liabilities 1,436,131 1,189,548
Redeemable noncontrolling interests 10,518 1,612

Included in non-current assets is a due from non-guarantor subsidiaries receivable of $136,904 and $205,424 as of
December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. Included in non-current liabilities is a due to non-guarantor
subsidiaries payable of $216,633 and $200,522 as of December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.

Selected Financial Measures
We are including the following financial measures for the Company.

Return on Invested Capital — Return on invested capital (“‘ROIC") and Adjusted ROIC are some of our key operating
ratios, as they allow investors to analyze our operating performance in light of the amount of investment required to generate
our operating profit. ROIC and Adjusted ROIC are also measurements used to determine management incentives. The table
below shows how invested capital, ROIC, and Adjusted ROIC are calculated from our Consolidated Statements of Earnings
and our Consolidated Balance Sheets. ROIC is calculated as after-tax operating income divided by the average of beginning
and ending invested capital. Adjusted ROIC is calculated as after-tax operating income adjusted for the impairment of long-
lived assets, realignment charges, non-recurring charges associated with the major scope changes for two strategic projects
initiated by departed senior leadership, intangible asset amortization and stock-based compensation related to the Prospera
subsidiary acquisition, the write-off of a receivable, and acquisition diligence then divided by the average of beginning and
ending invested capital. Invested capital represents total assets minus total liabilities (excluding interest-bearing debt and
redeemable noncontrolling interests). ROIC and Adjusted ROIC are non-generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”)
measures. Accordingly, invested capital, ROIC, and Adjusted ROIC should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for
net earnings, cash flows from operations, or other income or cash flow data prepared in accordance with GAAP or as a
measure of our operating performance or liquidity.
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The calculation of these ratios for the fiscal years ended December 30, 2023, December 31, 2022, and December 25,

2021 was as follows:

Dollars in thousands
Operating income
Adjusted effective tax ratel
Tax effect on operating income
After-tax operating income
Average invested capital
Return on invested capital

Operating income

Impairment of long-lived assets
Realignment charges

Other non-recurring charges

Prospera intangible asset amortization3
Prospera stock-based compensation3
Write-off of a receivable

Acquisition diligence

Adjusted operating income

Adjusted effective tax ratel.2

Tax effect on adjusted operating income
After-tax adjusted operating income
Average invested capital

Adjusted return on invested capital

Total assets

Less:
Less:
Less:
Less:
Less:
Less:
Less:
Less:
Less:
Less:
Less:

Defined benefit pension asset
Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Contract liabilities

Income taxes payable
Dividends payable

Deferred income taxes
Operating lease liabilities
Deferred compensation
Defined benefit pension liability
Other non-current liabilities

Total invested capital
Beginning invested capital
Average invested capital

Fiscal Year Ended

December 30, December 31, December 25,
2023 2022 2021
$ 291,557 $ 433,249 $ 286,785
38.1 % 277 % 23.6 %
(111,124) (119,872) (67,681)
$ 180,433 $ 313,377 $ 219,104
$ 2,504,474 $ 2,437,232 $ 2,176,577
7.2 % 129 % 10.1 %
$ 291,557 $ 433,249 $ 286,785
140,844 — 27,911
35,210 — 4,052
5,626 — —
— 6,580 3,396
— 9,896 5,240
— — 5,545
— — 1,120
$ 473,237 $ 449,725 $ 334,049
25.9 % 277 % 23.6 %
(122,665) (124,431) (78,836)
$ 350,572 $ 325,294 $ 255,213
$ 2,504,474 $ 2,437,232 $ 2,176,577
14.0 % 13.3 % 11.7 %
$ 3,477,448 $ 3,556,996 $ 3,447,249
(15,404) (24,216) —
(358,311) (360,312) (347,841)
(277,764) (248,320) (253,330)
(70,978) (172,915) (135,746)
— (3,664) —
(12,125) (11,742) (10,616)
(21,205) (41,091) (47,849)
(162,743) (155,469) (147,759)
(32,623) (30,316) (35,373)
— — (536)
(12,818) (13,480) (89,207)
$ 2,513,477 $ 2,495,471 $ 2,378,992
$ 2,495,471 $ 2,378,992 $ 1,974,162
$ 2,504,474 $ 2,437,232 $ 2,176,577

1 The adjusted effective tax rate for fiscal 2022 excluded the effects of the $33.3 million loss from the divestiture of the
offshore wind energy structures business which was not deductible for income tax purposes. The effective tax rate including
the loss on the divestiture was 29.9%.

2 The adjusted effective tax rate for fiscal 2023 excluded the effects of the impairment of long-lived assets of $140.8
million, realignment charges of $35.2 million, non-recurring charges associated with major scope changes for two strategic
projects initiated by departed senior leadership of $5.6 million, loss from Argentine peso hyperinflation of $5.1 million, and non-
recurring tax benefit items of $3.6 million. The effective tax rate including these items was 38.1%.

3The Company does not include adjustments for the Prospera non-cash expenses for fiscal 2023 or going forward as
these amounts are no longer financially significant after the third quarter of fiscal 2023 impairment of long-lived assets and
realignment activities completed during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2023.

ROIC and Adjusted ROIC, as presented, may not be comparable to similarly titted measures of other companies.
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Adjusted EBITDA — Adjusted EBITDA is one of our key financial ratios in that it is the basis for determining our
maximum borrowing capacity at any one time. Our bank credit agreements contain a financial covenant that our total interest-
bearing debt not exceed 3.50 times Adjusted EBITDA (or 3.75 times Adjusted EBITDA after certain material acquisitions),
calculated on a rolling four fiscal quarter basis. These bank credit agreements allow us to add estimated EBITDA from
acquired businesses for periods we did not own the acquired businesses. The bank credit agreements also outline
adjustments for non-cash stock-based compensation and non-cash charges or gains that are non-recurring in nature, subject
to certain limitations, to be included in the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA. If this financial covenant is violated, we may incur
additional financing costs or be required to pay the debt before its maturity date. Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure
and, accordingly, should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for net earnings, cash flows from operations or other
income or cash flow data prepared in accordance with GAAP or as a measure of our operating performance or liquidity.

The calculation of Adjusted EBITDA for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2023 was as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended
December 30,

Dollars in thousands 2023
Net cash flows provided by operating activities $ 306,775
Interest expense 56,808
Income tax expense 90,121
Impairment of long-lived assets (140,844)
Deferred income tax benefit 18,649
Redeemable noncontrolling interests 5,937
Defined benefit pension plan cost (249)
Contribution to defined benefit pension plan 17,345
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions 80,561
Other 602
EBITDA 435,705
Impairment of long-lived assets 140,844
Realignment charges 35,210
Proforma acquisition adjustment 5,152
Adjusted EBITDA $ 616,911

Fiscal Year Ended
December 30,

Dollars in thousands 2023
Net earnings attributable to Valmont Industries, Inc. $ 150,849
Interest expense 56,808
Income tax expense 90,121
Depreciation and amortization expense 98,708
Stock-based compensation 39,219
EBITDA 435,705
Impairment of long-lived assets 140,844
Realignment charges 35,210
Proforma acquisition adjustment 5,152
Adjusted EBITDA $ 616,911

Adjusted EBITDA, as presented, may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies.

Leverage Ratio — Leverage ratio is calculated as the sum of interest-bearing debt minus unrestricted cash in excess of
$50.0 million (but not exceeding $500.0 million) divided by Adjusted EBITDA. The leverage ratio is one of the key financial
ratios in the covenants under our major debt agreements and the ratio cannot exceed 3.50 (or 3.75 after certain material
acquisitions), calculated on a rolling four fiscal quarter basis. If those covenants are violated, we may incur additional financing
costs or be required to pay the debt before its maturity date. Leverage ratio is a non-GAAP measure and, accordingly, should
not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for net earnings, cash flows from operations, or other income or cash flow data
prepared in accordance with GAAP or as a measure of our operating performance or liquidity.
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The calculation of this ratio as of December 30, 2023 was as follows:

December 30,

Dollars in thousands 2023
Interest-bearing debt, excluding origination fees and discounts of $26,310 $ 1,138,119
Less: Cash and cash equivalents in excess of $50,000 153,041
Net indebtedness 985,078
Adjusted EBITDA 616,911
Leverage ratio 1.60

Leverage ratio, as presented, may not be comparable to similarly titted measures of other companies.
MARKET RISK
Changes in Prices

Certain key materials we use are commodities traded in worldwide markets which are subject to fluctuations in price.
The most significant materials are steel, aluminum, zinc, and natural gas. Over the last several years, prices for these
commaodities have been volatile. The volatility in these prices was due to such factors as fluctuations in supply and demand
conditions, government tariffs, and the costs of steel-making inputs. Steel is most significant for our TD&S product line where
the cost of steel has been approximately 50% of net sales, on average. In fiscal 2018, we began using hot rolled steel coil
derivative contracts on a limited basis to mitigate the impact of rising steel prices on operating income. Assuming a similar
sales mix, a hypothetical 20% change in the price of steel would have affected net sales in this product line by approximately
$100.0 million for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2023.

We have also experienced volatility in natural gas prices in the past several years. Our main strategies in managing
these risks are a combination of fixed-price purchase contracts with our vendors to reduce the volatility in our purchase prices
and sales price increases where possible. We use natural gas swap contracts on a limited basis to mitigate the impact of
rising natural gas prices on our operating income.

Risk Management

The principal market risks affecting us are exposure to interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, and commodity
prices. At times, we utilize derivative financial instruments to hedge these exposures, but we do not use derivatives for trading
purposes.

Interest Rate Risk: Our interest-bearing debt as of December 30, 2023 was primarily fixed-rate debt and borrowings
on our revolving credit facility. Our notes payable, revolving credit facility, and a small portion of our long-term debt accrue
interest at a variable rate. Assuming average interest rates and borrowings on variable rate debt, a hypothetical 10% change
in interest rates would have affected our interest expense in fiscal 2023 and fiscal 2022 by approximately $2.5 million and $0.8
million, respectively. Likewise, we have excess cash balances on deposit in interest-bearing accounts in financial institutions.
An increase or decrease in interest rates of ten basis points would have impacted our annual interest earnings by
approximately $0.2 million and $0.2 million in fiscal 2023 and fiscal 2022, respectively.

Foreign Exchange Risk: Exposures to transactions denominated in a currency other than an entity’s functional
currency are not material and, therefore, the potential exchange losses in future earnings, fair value, and cash flows from
these transactions are not material. We are also exposed to investment risk related to foreign operations. From time to time, as
market conditions indicate, we will enter into foreign currency contracts to manage the risks associated with anticipated future
transactions, current balance sheet positions, and foreign subsidiary investments that are in currencies other than the
functional currencies of our businesses. As of December 30, 2023, the Company had one outstanding fixed-for-fixed cross
currency swap (“CCS”), swapping U.S. dollar principal and interest payments on a portion of its 5.00% senior unsecured notes
due in fiscal 2044 for Euro denominated payments. The CCS was entered into in fiscal 2019 in order to mitigate foreign
currency risk on our Euro investments and to reduce interest expense. The notional amount of the Euro CCS is $80.0 million
and matures in fiscal 2024. In fiscal 2019, the Company entered into a fixed-for-fixed CCS, swapping U.S. dollar principal and
interest payments on a portion of its 5.00% senior unsecured notes due in fiscal 2044 for Danish krone (“DKK”) denominated
payments. The DKK CCS, which gualified as a net investment hedge, was settled in fiscal 2022, with the Company receiving
$3.5 million.
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Much of our cash in non-U.S. entities is denominated in foreign currencies, where fluctuations in exchange rates will
impact our cash balances in U.S. dollar terms. A hypothetical 10% change in the value of the U.S. dollar would impact our
reported cash balance by approximately $13.2 million in fiscal 2023 and $11.2 million in fiscal 2022.

We manage our investment risk in foreign operations by borrowing in the functional currencies of the foreign entities
or by utilizing hedging instruments, as discussed above, where appropriate. The following table indicates the change in the
recorded value of our most significant investments as of December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 assuming a hypothetical
10% change in the value of the U.S. dollar.

December 30, December 31,
Dollars in millions 2023 2022
Australian dollar $ 6.9 $ 4.3
Brazilian real 18.8 11.8
British pound 17.2 17.5
Canadian dollar 4.0 3.8
Chinese renminbi 5.6 6.0
Euro 9.5 8.6

Commodity Risk: Hot rolled steel coil is a significant commodity input used by each of our segments in the
manufacture of our products, with the exception of the Coatings product line. Steel prices are volatile and we may utilize
derivative financial instruments to mitigate commodity price risk on fixed-price orders. In fiscal 2023 and fiscal 2022, we
entered into hot rolled steel coil forward contracts and swaps which qualified as cash flow hedges of the variability in the cash
flows attributable to future steel purchases. As of December 30, 2023, we had open forward contracts and swaps with a
notional amount of $7.8 million for the total purchase of 8,500 short tons from December 2023 to April 2024.

Natural gas is a significant commodity used in our factories, especially in our Coatings product line galvanizing
operations, where it is used to heat tanks that enable the hot-dipped galvanizing process. Natural gas prices are volatile which
is somewhat mitigated through the use of derivative financial instruments. Our current policy is to manage this commodity
price risk for 0 to 75% of our U.S. natural gas requirements for the upcoming 6 to 24 months through the purchase of natural
gas swaps based on New York Mercantile Exchange futures prices for delivery in the month being hedged. The objective of
this policy is to mitigate the impact on our earnings of sudden, significant increases in the price of natural gas. As of December
30, 2023, we had open natural gas swaps with a notional value of $4.3 million for 960,475 MMBtu from January 2024 to
October 2025.

Diesel fuel is a significant commodity used by our contracted carriers who deliver our products. Diesel fuel prices are
volatile which is somewhat mitigated through the use of derivative financial instruments. In fiscal 2023, we entered into diesel
fuel option contracts that qualified as cash flow hedges of the variability of cash flows attributable to the diesel fuel costs
charged by contracted carriers. As of December 30, 2023, we had open option contracts with a notional amount of $0.5 million
for the total purchase of 1,890,000 gallons from January 2024 to September 2024.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following accounting policies involve judgments and estimates used in preparation of the Consolidated Financial
Statements. There is a substantial amount of management judgment used in preparing financial statements. We must make
estimates on a number of items, such as impairments of long-lived assets, income taxes, revenue recognition for the product
lines recognized over time, inventory obsolescence, and pension benefits. We base our estimates on our experience and on
other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. Further, we re-evaluate our estimates from time to
time and as circumstances change. Actual results may differ under different assumptions or conditions. The selection and
application of our critical accounting policies are discussed annually with our Audit Committee.

Depreciation, Amortization, and Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
Our long-lived assets consist primarily of property, plant, and equipment, right-of-use assets, and goodwill and
intangible assets acquired in business acquisitions. We have assigned useful lives to our property, plant, and equipment and

certain intangible assets ranging from 2 to 30 years. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2021, a pre-tax impairment of $21.4 million of
property, plant, and equipment was recognized for the offshore wind energy structures business.
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We annually evaluate our reporting units for goodwill impairment during the third fiscal quarter, which usually
coincides with our strategic planning process. We estimated the value of all fourteen of the reporting units identified for the
fiscal 2023 goodwill impairment analysis utilizing a discounted cash flow model. The discounted cash flow model uses
projected after-tax cash flows from operations (less capital expenditures) discounted to present value. We perform sensitivity
analyses to determine what the impact of changes in key assumptions, including discount rates and cash flow forecasts, may
have on the valuation of the reporting units.

For the fiscal 2023 annual impairment test, the estimated fair value of two of our reporting units was less than their
respective carrying value. As a result, a $120.0 million impairment of our Agriculture Technology reporting unit and a $1.9
million impairment of our India Structures reporting unit were recognized in the third quarter of fiscal 2023.

The primary drivers for the reduction in the estimated fair value of the Agriculture Technology reporting unit were the
less favorable outlook for the North American agriculture market and lower revenue projections for the Prospera agronomy
software solutions. A higher weighted average cost of capital, primarily driven by increases in overall interest rates since the
fiscal 2022 annual impairment test, and lower long-term revenue growth rate assumptions also partially contributed to the
reduction in the estimated fair value of the reporting unit.

For the India Structures reporting unit, assumptions around future cash flows including working capital requirements
resulted in the impairment of the goodwill.

For all reporting units, if our assumptions on discount rates and future cash flows change as a result of events or
circumstances and we believe these assets may have declined in value, we may record impairment charges, resulting in lower
profits. Our reporting units are all cyclical, and their sales and profitability may fluctuate from year to year. We continue to
monitor changes in the global economy that could impact the future operating results of our reporting units. If such adverse
conditions arise, we will test impacted reporting units for impairment prior to the annual test. In the evaluation of our reporting
units, we look at the long-term prospects for the reporting unit and recognize that current performance may not be the best
indicator of future prospects or value, which requires management judgment.

For four of our reporting units, Europe, Middle East & Africa Structures, Asia Pacific Highway Safety, Asia Pacific
Access Systems, and Solar Tracking Structure, the amount of cushion or excess fair value above carrying value was less than
15%. We have identified cost-saving initiatives within these reporting units and believe they will continue to generate positive
cash flows in excess of their current carrying value, however, we will continue to monitor their prospects for growth and
continuous improvement. Should our assumptions around these businesses change negatively, there could be additional
triggers for another goodwill assessment in the future.

Our indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of trade names. We assess the values of these assets apart from
goodwill as part of the annual impairment testing. We use the relief-from-royalty method to evaluate our trade names, under
which the value of a trade name is determined based on a royalty that could be charged to a third party for using the trade
name in question. The royalty, which is based on a reasonable rate applied against estimated future sales, is tax-effected and
discounted to present value. Based on our fiscal 2023 annual testing, the carrying value of one trade name exceeded its
estimated fair value. An impairment of $1.7 million was recognized within the Infrastructure segment.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2021, an impairment test was required when the Company received clarifying
information on the competitive environment of the offshore wind energy structures business. As a result, impairment charges
of $2.0 million were recognized against the related trade name and $4.5 million were recognized against the related customer
relationships asset.

In the third quarter of fiscal 2023, the Company tested the recoverability of a certain amortizing proprietary technology
intangible asset related to Prospera included within the Agriculture Technology reporting unit due to identified impairment
indicators. The Company determined the carrying value of the asset exceeded the total undiscounted estimated future cash
flows and reduced the asset to its fair value. An impairment of $17.3 million was recognized within the Agriculture segment.
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Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost, determined on a first-in, first-out basis, or net realizable value. We write
down slow-moving and obsolete inventory by the difference between the value of the inventory and our estimate of the
reduced value based on potential future uses, the likelihood that overstocked inventory will be sold, and the expected selling
prices of the inventory. If our ability to realize value on slow-moving or obsolete inventory is less favorable than assumed,
additional inventory write-downs may be required.

Income Taxes

We record valuation allowances to reduce our deferred tax assets to amounts that are more likely than not to be
realized. We consider future taxable income expectations and tax-planning strategies in assessing the need for the valuation
allowance. If we estimate a deferred tax asset is not likely to be fully realized in the future, a valuation allowance to decrease
the amount of the deferred tax asset would decrease net earnings in the period the determination was made. Likewise, if we
subsequently determine that we are able to realize all or part of a net deferred tax asset in the future, an adjustment reducing
the valuation allowance would increase net earnings in the period such determination was made.

As of December 30, 2023, we had approximately $58.5 million in deferred tax assets relating to tax credits and loss
carryforwards, with a valuation allowance of $42.4 million, including $2.5 million in valuation allowances related to capital loss
carryforwards, which are unlikely ever to be realized. If circumstances related to our deferred tax assets change in the future,
we may be required to increase or decrease the valuation allowance on these assets, resulting in an increase or decrease in
income tax expense and a reduction or increase in net income. Also, we consider the earnings in our greater than 50% owned
non-U.S. subsidiaries to not be indefinitely re-invested and, accordingly, we have a deferred tax liability of $2.4 million related
to these unremitted foreign earnings for future taxes that will be incurred when cash is repatriated.

We are subject to examination by taxing authorities in the various countries in which we operate. The tax years
subject to examination vary by jurisdiction. We regularly consider the likelihood of additional income tax assessments in each
of these taxing jurisdictions based on our experiences related to prior audits and our understanding of the facts and
circumstances of the related tax issues. We include in current income tax expense any changes to accruals for potential tax
deficiencies. If our judgments related to tax deficiencies differ from our actual experience, our income tax expense could
increase or decrease in a given fiscal period.

Pension Benefits

Delta Ltd. maintains a defined benefit pension plan for qualifying employees in the U.K. There are no active
employees as members in the plan. Independent actuaries assist in properly measuring the liabilities and expenses
associated with accounting for pension benefits to eligible members. In order to use actuarial methods to value the liabilities
and expenses, we must make several assumptions. The critical assumptions used to measure pension obligations and
expenses are the discount rate and expected rate of return on pension assets.

We evaluate our critical assumptions at least annually. Key assumptions are based on the following factors:

e Discount rate is based on the yields available on AA-rated corporate bonds with durational periods similar to that
of the pension liabilities.

e Expected return on plan assets is based on our asset allocation mix and our historical return, taking into
consideration current and expected market conditions. Most of the assets in the pension plan are invested in
corporate bonds, the expected return of which is estimated based on the yield available on AA-rated corporate
bonds. The long-term expected returns on equities are based on historic performance over the long term.

e Inflation is based on the estimated change in the consumer price index (“CPI”) or the retail price index (“RPI”),
depending on the relevant plan provisions.
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The discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation was 4.50% as of December 30, 2023. The following
tables present the key assumptions in the measurement of the pension cost for fiscal 2024 and the estimated impact relative
to a change in those assumptions for fiscal 2024:

Assumptions

Discount rate 4.50 %
Expected return on plan assets 5.05 %
Inflation - CPI 2.25 %
Inflation - RPI 3.05 %
Increase
in Pension

Dollars in millions Cost

0.25% decrease in discount rate $ 0.3

0.25% decrease in expected return on plan assets 1.3

0.25% increase in inflation 1.0

Revenue Recognition

We determine the appropriate revenue recognition for our contracts by analyzing the type, terms, and conditions of
each contract or arrangement with a customer. We have no contracts with customers, under any product line, where we could
earn variable consideration.

The following provides additional information about our contracts with TD&S and certain Telecommunications
customers where the revenue recognition is over time, the judgments we make in accounting for those contracts, and the
resulting amounts recognized in our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Accounting for utility structures and telecommunication monopole contracts: TD&S and Telecommunications
monopole structures are engineered to customer specifications resulting in limited ability to sell the structure to a different
customer if an order is canceled after production commences. The continuous transfer of control to the customer is evidenced
either by contractual termination clauses or by our rights to payment for work performed to date plus a reasonable profit as the
products do not have an alternative use to us. Since control is transferred over time, revenue is recognized based on the
extent of progress toward completion of the performance obligation. We also have certain Telecommunications structures
customers’ contracts where we do not have the right to payment for work performed. In those instances, we recognize revenue
at a point in time which is the time of the shipment of the structure.

The selection of the method to measure progress toward completion requires judgment. For our TD&S and
Telecommunications product lines, we recognize revenue on an inputs basis, using total production hours incurred to date for
each order as a percentage of total hours estimated to produce the order. The completion percentage is applied to the order’s
total revenue and total estimated costs to determine reported revenue, cost of goods sold, and gross profit. Our enterprise
resource planning system captures the total costs incurred to date and the total production hours, both incurred to date and
forecast to complete. The offshore wind energy structures business, divested in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2022, also
recognized revenue using an inputs method, based on the cost-to-cost measure of progress. Under the cost-to-cost measure
of progress, the extent of progress towards completion is measured based on the ratio of costs incurred to date to the total
estimated costs at completion of the performance obligation.

Management must make assumptions and estimates regarding manufacturing labor hours and wages, the usage and
cost of materials, and manufacturing burden and overhead recovery rates for each production facility. For our steel, concrete,
and wireless communication structures, production of an order, once started, is typically completed within three months.
Projected profitability on open production orders is reviewed and updated monthly. We elected the practical expedient to not
disclose the partially satisfied performance obligation at the end of the period when the contract has an original expected
duration of one year or less.

We also have a few TD&S customer orders in a fiscal year that require one to three years to complete, due to the
quantity of structures. Burden rates and routed production hours, per structure, will be adjusted if and when actual costs
incurred are significantly higher than what had been originally projected. This resets the timing of revenue recognition for
future periods so it is better aligned with the new production schedule. For our offshore wind energy structures business, prior
to its divestiture in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2022, we updated the estimates of total costs to complete each order quarterly.
Based on these updates, revenue in the current fiscal period may reflect adjustments for amounts that had been previously
recognized. During fiscal 2023, 2022, and 2021, there were no changes to inputs or estimates which resulted in
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adjustments to revenue for production that occurred prior to the beginning of the fiscal year. A provision for loss on the
performance obligation is recognized if and when an order is projected to be at a loss, whether or not production has started.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The information required is included in the section “Market Risk” within "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in Part Il, Item 7 of this report.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of Valmont Industries, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Valmont Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company")
as of December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the related consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive income,
shareholders' equity and redeemable noncontrolling interests, and cash flows, for each of the three years in the period ended
December 30, 2023, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 30, 2023 and
December 31, 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 30, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 30, 2023, based on criteria established in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission and our report dated February 28, 2024, expressed an unqgualified opinion on the Company's internal control over
financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether
due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that
was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that
are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The
communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole,
and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on
the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Goodwill — Refer to Notes 1 and 8 to the consolidated financial statements
Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company has goodwill which is allocated among fourteen reporting units. The Company evaluates its fourteen reporting
units for goodwill impairment during the third fiscal quarter of each year, or when events or changes in circumstances indicate
the carrying value may not be recoverable. Reporting units are evaluated using projected after-tax cash flows from operations
(less capital expenses) discounted to present value. This valuation method requires management to make significant
estimates and assumptions related to projected cash flows and discount rates.

We identified goodwill at the Agriculture Technology, Solar Tracking Structure, and Asia Pacific Access Systems reporting

units as a critical audit matter because of the significant estimates and assumptions made by management to estimate fair
value and the difference between the fair values and the carrying values as of September 2, 2023. This required a high degree
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of auditor judgment and an increased extent of effort, including the need to involve our fair value specialists, when performing
audit procedures to evaluate the reasonableness of management’s estimates and assumptions related to the projected cash
flows and discount rates for these three reporting units.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the goodwill impairment assessment for the Agriculture Technology, Solar Tracking Structure,
and Asia Pacific Access Systems reporting units included the following, among others:

e We tested the effectiveness of internal controls over management’s goodwill impairment evaluation, including those
over the projected cash flows and discount rates.

e We evaluated management’s ability to accurately forecast cash flows by comparing actual results to management'’s
historical forecasts.

e We evaluated the reasonableness of management'’s projected cash flows by comparing to (1) historical results, (2)
internal communications to management and the Board of Directors, and (3) industry reports.

e With the assistance of our fair value specialists, we evaluated the discount rates including testing the underlying
source information and the mathematical accuracy of the calculations. In addition, we developed a range of
independent estimates and compared those to the discount rates selected by management.

/s DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Omaha, Nebraska
February 28, 2024

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1996.
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VALMONT INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Fiscal Year Ended
December 30, December 31, December 25,

2023 2022 2021
Product sales $ 3772835 $ 3955320 $ 3,159,605
Service sales 401,763 389,930 341,970
Net sales 4,174,598 4,345,250 3,501,575
Product cost of sales 2,672,740 2,958,208 2,395,630
Service cost of sales 265,824 260,818 222,056
Total cost of sales 2,938,564 3,219,026 2,617,686
Gross profit 1,236,034 1,126,224 883,889
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 768,423 692,975 590,608
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 140,844 — 6,496
Realignment charges 35,210 — —
Operating income 291,557 433,249 286,785
Other income (expenses):
Interest expense (56,808) (47,534) (42,612)
Interest income 6,230 2,015 1,192
Gain (loss) on investments - unrealized 3,564 (3,374) 1,920
Gain (loss) on divestitures 2,994 (33,273) —
Other (11,085) 12,805 12,798
Total other income (expenses) (55,105) (69,361) (26,702)
Earnings before income taxes and equity in loss of nonconsolidated subsidiaries 236,452 363,888 260,083
Income tax expense (benefit):
Current 108,770 109,912 61,343
Deferred (18,649) (1,225) 71
Total income tax expense 90,121 108,687 61,414
Earnings before equity in loss of nonconsolidated subsidiaries 146,331 255,201 198,669
Equity in loss of nonconsolidated subsidiaries (1,419) (950) (944)
Net earnings 144,912 254,251 197,725
Loss (earnings) attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests 5,937 (3,388) (2,095)
Net earnings attributable to Valmont Industries, Inc. $ 150,849 $ 250,863 $ 195,630
Earnings per share:
Basic $ 6.85 $ 11.77 % 9.23
Diluted $ 6.78 $ 1162 % 9.10

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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VALMONT INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Dollars in thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended
December 30, December 31, December 25,

2023 2022 2021
Net earnings $ 144912 $ 254,251  $ 197,725
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments:
Unrealized translation gain (loss) 25,261 (44,741) (31,405)
Realized loss on offshore wind energy structures business recorded in
other expense — 25,977 —
Total foreign currency translation adjustments 25,261 (18,764) (31,405)
Hedging activities:
Unrealized gain (loss) on commodity hedges (2,227) (2,352) 20,019
Realized loss (gain) on commodity hedges recorded in earnings 5,288 5,212 (25,821)
Unrealized gain (loss) on cross currency swaps (2,119) 5,146 6,093
Realized gain on offshore wind energy structures business cross currency
swap, net of tax expense of $ 1,207 — (3,620) —
Amortization cost included in interest expense (52) (64) (64)
Total hedging activities 890 4,322 227
Net gain (loss) on defined benefit pension plan (23,326) 1,345 76,718
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 2,825 (13,097) 45,540
Comprehensive income 147,737 241,154 243,265
ﬁ?enrwgsr;sshensive loss (income) attributable to redeemable noncontrolling 4785 (2,073) (976)
Comprehensive income attributable to VValmont Industries, Inc. $ 152,522 $ 239,081 $ 242,289

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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VALMONT INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollars in thousands, except par value)

December 30,

December 31,

2023 2022
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 203,041 $ 185,406
Receivables, less allowance of $32,897 and $ 20,890 , respectively 657,960 604,181
Inventories 658,428 728,762
Contract assets 175,721 174,539
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 91,754 87,697
Refundable income taxes 725 —
Total current assets 1,787,629 1,780,585
Property, plant, and equipment, at cost 1,513,239 1,433,151
Less accumulated depreciation (895,845) (837,573)
Property, plant, and equipment, net 617,394 595,578
Goodwill 632,964 739,861
Other intangible assets, net 150,687 176,615
Defined pension benefit asset 15,404 24,216
Other non-current assets 273,370 240,141
Total assets $ 3,477,448 $ 3,556,996
LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS,
AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Current installments of long-term debt $ 719 % 1,194
Notes payable to banks 3,205 5,846
Accounts payable 358,311 360,312
Accrued employee compensation and benefits 130,861 124,355
Contract liabilities 70,978 172,915
Other accrued expenses 146,903 123,965
Income taxes payable — 3,664
Dividends payable 12,125 11,742
Total current liabilities 723,102 803,993
Deferred income taxes 21,205 41,091
Long-term debt, excluding current installments 1,107,885 870,935
Operating lease liabilities 162,743 155,469
Deferred compensation 32,623 30,316
Other non-current liabilities 12,818 13,480
Total liabilities 2,060,376 1,915,284
Redeemable noncontrolling interests 62,792 60,865
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock of $ 1 par value, authorized 75,000,000 shares; 27,900,000 issued 27,900 27,900
Retained earnings 2,643,606 2,593,039
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (273,236) (274,909)
Treasury stock, at cost, common shares 0f7,691,192 and 6,549,833 , respectively (1,043,990) (765,183)
Total shareholders’ equity 1,354,280 1,580,847
Total liabilities, redeemable noncontrolling interests, and shareholders’ equity $ 3,477,448  $ 3,556,996

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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VALMONT INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash flows from operations:

Depreciation and amortization

Contribution to defined benefit pension plan
Impairment of long-lived assets

Loss (gain) on divestitures

Stock-based compensation

Defined benefit pension plan cost (benefit)

Loss (gain) on sale of property, plant, and equipment

Equity in loss of nonconsolidated subsidiaries
Deferred income taxes
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Receivables
Inventories
Contract assets

Prepaid expenses and other assets (current and non-current)

Accounts payable

Contract liabilities

Accrued expenses

Income taxes payable / refundable
Other non-current liabilities

Net cash flows provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of property, plant, and equipment
Proceeds from divestitures, net of cash divested
Proceeds from sale of assets
Proceeds from property damage insurance claims
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Other, net

Net cash flows used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from short-term borrowings
Payments on short-term borrowings
Proceeds from long-term borrowings
Principal payments on long-term borrowings
Proceeds from settlement of financial derivatives
Debt issuance costs
Dividends paid
Dividends to redeemable noncontrolling interests
Purchase of redeemable noncontrolling interests
Purchase of treasury shares
Proceeds from exercises under stock plans
Tax withholdings on exercises under stock plans

(Dollars in thousands)

Net cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents—beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents—end of period

Fiscal Year Ended

December 30, December 31,

December 25,

2023 2022 2021
$ 144912 $ 254251 $ 197,725
98,708 97,167 92,577
(17,345) (17,155) (1,924)
140,844 — 27,911
(2,994) 33,273 =
39,219 41,850 28,720
249 (10,087) (14,567)
973 237 (961)
1,419 950 944
(18,649) (1,225) 71
(46,308) (74,163) (69,275)
88,433 (3,429) (289,942 )
(1,230) (53,008) (21,579)
(26,161) 26,625 (36,066)
(10,529) 36,990 89,418
(106,884 ) (567) 6,589
22,591 624 30,556
13,746 10,836 5,560
(14,219) (16,904 ) 20,181
306,775 326,265 65,038
(96,771) (93,288) (107,790)
6,369 — —
1,710 1,582 1,745
7,468 — —
(32,676) (39,287) (312,500 )
(1,381) (1,087) 1,237
(115,281) (132,080) (417,308)
30,785 9,665 5,821
(34,083) (17,242) (26,062)
370,012 253,999 312,485
(134,748) (336,403) (91,313)
— 3,532 —
— — (2,267)
(49,515) (45,813) (41,412)
(662) (714) —
— (7,338) =
(345,279) (40,474) (26,100)
5,841 16,849 23,895
(18,756) (17,966 ) (21,547)
(176,405 (181,905 ) 133,500
2,546 (4,106) (5,624)
17,635 8,174 (223,494)
185,406 177,232 400,726
$ 203,041 $ 185406 $ 177,232

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

44




Table of Contents

VALMONT INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND
REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Accumulated

Additional other Total Redeemable
Common paid-in Retained comprehensive Treasury shareholders’ noncontrolling
stock capital earnings income (loss) stock equity interests
Balance as of December 26, 2020 $ 2790 $ 335 $2245035 $ (309,786) $ (781,422) $ 1,182,062 $ 25,774
Net earnings — — 195,630 — — 195,630 2,095
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax — — — 46,659 — 46,659 (1,119)
Cash dividends declared ($ 2.00 per share) — — (42,472) — — (42,472) —
Purchase of treasury shares; 111,833 shares acquired — — — — (26,100) (26,100) —
Stock option and incentive plans — 1,144 (3,886) — 33,810 31,068 —
Balance as of December 25, 2021 27,900 1,479 2,394,307 (263,127) (773,712) 1,386,847 26,750
Net earnings — — 250,863 — — 250,863 3,388
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax — — — (11,782) — (11,782) (1,315)
Cash dividends declared ($ 2.20 per share) — — (46,939) — — (146,939) —
Dividends to redeemable noncontrolling interests — — — — — — (714)
Addition of redeemable noncontrolling interests — — — — — — 41,693
Reduction of redeemable noncontrolling interests — 1,599 — — — 1,599 (8,937)
Purchase of treasury shares; 137,612 shares acquired — — — — (40,474) (40,474) —
Stock option and incentive plans — (3,078) (5,192) — 49,003 40,733 —
Balance as of December 31, 2022 27,900 — 2,593,039 (274,909) (765,183) 1,580,847 60,865
Net earnings (loss) — — 150,849 — — 150,849 (5,937)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax — — — 1,673 — 1,673 1,152
Cash dividends declared ($ 2.40 per share) — — (49,898) — — (49,898) —
Change in redemption value of redeemable noncontrolling
interest — — (7,374) — — (7,374) 7,374
Dividends to redeemable noncontrolling interests — — — — — — (662)
Purchase of treasury shares; 1,282,706 shares acquired — — (130,000) — (318,121) (348,121) —
Stock option and incentive plans — — (13,010) — 39,314 26,304 —
Balance as of December 30, 2023 $ 27,900 $ — $2,643606 $ (273,236) $(1,043,990) $ 1,354,280 $ 62,792

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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VALMONT INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

(1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Principles of Consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Valmont Industries, Inc. and its controlled subsidiaries
(the “Company”). Investments in affiliates and joint ventures through which the Company exercises significant influence over
but does not control the investee and is not the primary beneficiary of the investee's activities are accounted for using the
equity method. All intercompany items have been eliminated.

Fiscal Year

The Company operates on a 52 or 53 week fiscal year with each fiscal year ending on the last Saturday in December.
Accordingly, the Company’s fiscal year ended December 30, 2023 consisted of 52 weeks, the Company’s fiscal year ended
December 31, 2022 consisted of 53 weeks, and the Company’s fiscal year ended December 25, 2021 consisted of 52 weeks.
The estimated impact on the Company's results of operations due to the additional week in the fiscal year ended December
31, 2022 was additional net sales of approximately $ 80,800 and additional net earnings of approximately $ 5,300 .

Reportable Segments

The Company has two reportable segments based on its management structure. Each segment is global in nature
with a manager responsible for operational performance and allocation of capital. Reportable segments are as follows:

INFRASTRUCTURE: This segment consists of the manufacture and distribution of products and solutions to
serve the infrastructure markets of utility, solar, lighting, transportation, and telecommunications, along with coatings
services to protect metal products.

AGRICULTURE: This segment consists of the manufacture of center pivot components and linear irrigation
equipment for agricultural markets, including parts and tubular products, and advanced technology solutions for
precision agriculture.

In addition to these two reportable segments, the Company had a business and related activities in fiscal 2022 that
were not more than 10% of consolidated sales, operating income, or assets. This business, the offshore wind energy
structures business, was reported in the “Other” segment until its divestiture in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2022.

Cash Overdrafts

Cash book overdrafts totaling $ 19,869 and $ 25,075 were classified as “Accounts payable” in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets as of December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. The Company’s policy is to report the
change in book overdrafts as “Cash flows from operating activities” in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Receivables

Receivables are reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheets net of any allowance for credit losses. Allowances are
maintained in amounts considered to be appropriate in relation to the outstanding receivables based on the age of the
receivable, economic conditions, and customer credit quality. As the Company’s international business has grown, the
exposure to potential losses in international markets has also increased. These exposures can be difficult to estimate,
particularly in areas of political instability, with governments with which the Company has limited experience, or where there is
a lack of transparency as to the current credit condition of governmental units.
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VALMONT INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

The following table details the balances of the allowance for credit losses and changes therein:

Balance as of Chargedto Currency Deductions Balance as of

Beginning of Profitand Translation from Close of
Fiscal year ended: Period Loss Adjustment  Reserves Period
December 30, 2023 $ 20,890 $ 17,657 $ 911 $ (6561) $ 32,897
December 31, 2022 18,050 4,237 (522) (875) 20,890
December 25, 2021 15,952 3,379 (339) (942) 18,050

The Company sells trade accounts receivable at a discount under uncommitted trade accounts receivable sale
programs to third-party financial institutions without recourse. As these accounts receivable are sold without recourse, the
Company does not retain the associated risks following the transfer of such accounts receivable to the financial institutions.

Transfers of accounts receivable are accounted for as sales and, accordingly, accounts receivable sold are excluded
from “Receivables, less allowance” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, and cash proceeds are reflected in “Cash flows from
operating activities” in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. The difference between the carrying amount of the trade
accounts receivables sold and the cash received, or discount, is recorded in “Other income (expenses)” in the Consolidated
Statements of Earnings.

As of December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company sold trade accounts receivable of $ 60,000 and $
100,000 , respectively. The fees associated with the trade accounts receivables factoring program are recognized within
“Selling, general, and administrative expenses” in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings and were approximately $ 4,500
for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2023.

Inventories

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost, determined on the first-in, first-out method, or net realizable value. Finished
goods and manufactured goods inventories include the costs of acquired raw materials and related factory labor and overhead
charges required to convert raw materials to manufactured and finished goods.

Long-Lived Assets

Property, plant, and equipment are recorded at historical cost. The Company generally uses the straight-line method
in computing depreciation and amortization for financial reporting purposes and accelerated methods for income tax purposes.
The annual provisions for depreciation and amortization have been computed principally in accordance with the following
ranges of asset lives: buildings and improvements - 10 to 30 years , machinery and equipment - 3 to 10 years , transportation
equipment - 3 to 10 years, office furniture and equipment - 3 to 7 years , and intangible assets - 2 to 20 years . Depreciation
expense was $ 78,138, $ 73,938, and $ 70,223 for the fiscal years ended December 30, 2023, December 31, 2022, and
December 25, 2021, respectively.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable and exceeds the
estimated future undiscounted cash flows of the asset. A recognized impairment loss reduces the carrying amount of the asset
to its estimated fair value. The Company evaluates its reporting units for impairment of goodwill during the third quarter of
each fiscal year or when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. Reporting
units are evaluated using after-tax operating cash flows (less capital expenditures) discounted to present value. Indefinite-lived
intangible assets are assessed separately from goodwill as part of the annual impairment testing using a relief-from-royalty
method. If the underlying assumptions related to the valuation of a reporting unit's goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets
change materially before or after the annual impairment testing, the reporting unit or asset is evaluated for potential
impairment. In these evaluations, management considers recent operating performance, expected future performance,
industry conditions, and other indicators of potential impairment. The Company recognized a pre-tax $ 21,415 impairment of
property, plant, and equipment in fiscal 2021 when it determined that its offshore wind energy structures business reporting
unit would not generate sufficient cash flows to recover the carrying values, recorded as “Product cost of sales” in the
Consolidated Statements of Earnings. See Note 8 for details of impairments of goodwill and other intangible assets recognized
during the fiscal years ended December 30, 2023 and December 25, 2021.
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Leases

The Company's operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets are included in “Other non-current assets” and the
corresponding lease obligations are included in “Other accrued expenses” and “Operating lease liabilities” in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets.

Income Taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method to calculate deferred income taxes. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized on temporary differences between financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using
enacted tax rates. The effect of tax rate changes on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income during the
period that includes the enactment date.

Warranties

The Company'’s provision for product warranty reflects management’s best estimate of probable liability under its
product warranties. Estimated future warranty costs are recorded at the time a sale is recognized. Future warranty liability is
determined based on applying historical claim rate experience to units sold that are still within the warranty period. In addition,
the Company records provisions for known warranty claims.

Pension Cost (Benefit)

Certain expenses are incurred in connection with a defined benefit pension plan. In order to measure the expense and
the related benefit obligation, various assumptions are made including discount rates used to value the obligation, the
expected return on plan assets used to fund these expenses, and the estimated future inflation rates. These assumptions are
based on historical experience as well as current facts and circumstances. An actuarial analysis is used to measure the
expense and liability associated with the pension cost (benefit).

Stock Plans

The Company maintains stock-based compensation plans approved by the shareholders, which provide that the
Human Resources Committee of the Board of Directors may grant incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, and bonuses of common stock.

Fair Value

The Company applies the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification 820, Fair Value Measurement (“ASC 820"),
which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value
measurements. The provisions of ASC 820 apply to other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value
measurements. As defined in ASC 820, fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

Derivative Instruments
The Company may enter into derivative financial instruments to manage risk associated with fluctuation in interest

rates, foreign currency rates, or commodity prices. Where applicable, the Company may elect to account for such derivatives
as either a cash flow, fair value, or net investment hedge.
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Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) includes net earnings, foreign currency translation adjustments, certain derivative-
related activity, and changes in prior service cost from the pension plan. Results of operations for foreign subsidiaries are
translated using the average exchange rates during the period. Assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rates in
effect on the balance sheet dates. Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (“AOCI") consisted of the following as of
December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022:

December 30, December 31,
2023 2022
Foreign currency translation adjustments $ (236,690) $ (260,799)
Hedging activities 20,989 20,099
Defined benefit pension plan (57,535) (34,209)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss $ (273,236) $ (274,909)

Revenue Recognition

The Company determines the appropriate revenue recognition model for contracts by analyzing the type, terms, and
conditions of each contract or arrangement with a customer. Contracts with customers for all businesses are fixed-price with
sales tax excluded from revenue and do not include variable consideration. Discounts included in contracts with customers,
typically early pay discounts, are recorded as a reduction of net sales in the period in which the sale is recognized. Contract
revenues are classified as “Product sales” when the performance obligation is related to the manufacturing and sale of goods.
Contract revenues are classified as “Service sales” when the performance obligation is the performance of a service. Service
revenue is primarily related to the Coatings product line and Technology Products and Services product line.

Customer acceptance provisions exist only in the design stage of our products (on a limited basis, the Company may
agree to other acceptance terms), and acceptance of the design by the customer is required before manufacturing
commences and the product is manufactured and delivered to the customer. The Company is generally not entitled to any
compensation solely based on the design of the product and does not recognize this service as a separate performance
obligation, therefore, no revenue is recognized for design services. No general rights of return exist for customers once the
product has been delivered, and the Company establishes provisions for estimated warranties.

Shipping and handling costs associated with sales are recorded within cost of sales. The Company elected to use the
practical expedient of treating freight as a fulfillment obligation instead of a separate performance obligation and ratably
recognize freight expense as the structure is being manufactured when the revenue from the associated customer contract is
being recognized over time. With the exception of the Transmission, Distribution, and Substation ("TD&S"), Solar, and
Telecommunications product lines, the Company’s inventory is interchangeable for a variety of each segment’s customers.
The Company has elected to not disclose the partially satisfied performance obligation at the end of the period when the
contract has an original expected duration of one year or less. In addition, the Company does not adjust the amount of
consideration to be received in a contract for any significant financing component if payment is expected within one year of
transfer of control of goods or services.

Most of the Company’s customers are invoiced upon shipment or delivery of the goods to the customer’s specified
location. Contract assets are recorded as revenue is recognized over time and such contract assets are relieved when the
customer is invoiced. As of December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company’s contract assets totaled $ 175,721
and $ 174,539 , respectively.
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Certain customers are also invoiced by advanced billings or progress billings. When progress on performance
obligations is less than the amount the customer has been billed, a contract liability is recognized. As of December 30, 2023,
total contract liabilities of $ 70,978 were recorded as “Contract liabilities” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of December
31, 2022, contract liabilities of $ 172,915 were recorded as “Contract liabilities” and $ 5,616 were recorded as “Other non-
current liabilities” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Additional details are as follows:

e During the fiscal years ended December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company recognized $ 162,182
and $ 96,373 of revenue that was included in the total contract liability as of December 31, 2022 and December
25, 2021, respectively. The revenue recognized was due to applying advance payments received for performance
obligations completed during the period.

e As of December 30, 2023, the Company had no material remaining performance obligations on contracts with an
original expected duration of one year or more.

Segment and Product Line Revenue Recognition
Infrastructure Segment

Steel and concrete structures within the TD&S and Telecommunications product lines are engineered to customer
specifications resulting in limited ability to sell the structure to a different customer if an order is canceled after production
commences. The continuous transfer of control to the customer is evidenced either by contractual termination clauses or by
rights to payment for work performed to date plus a reasonable profit as the products do not have an alternative use to the
Company. Since control is transferred over time, revenue is recognized based on the extent of progress toward completion of
the performance obligation. The selection of the method to measure progress toward completion requires judgment. For the
structures manufactured within the TD&S and Telecommunications product lines, the Company generally recognizes revenue
on an inputs basis, using total production hours incurred to date for each order as a percentage of total hours estimated to
complete the order. The completion percentage is applied to the order’s total revenue and total estimated costs to determine
reported revenue, cost of sales, and gross profit. Production of an order, once started, is typically completed within three
months. Depending on the product sold, revenue from the Solar product line is recognized upon shipment or delivery of goods
to the customer depending on contract terms, or by using an inputs method, based on the ratio of costs incurred to date to the
total estimated costs at completion of the performance obligation. External sales agents are used in certain TD&S product line
sales and the Company has chosen to expense estimated commissions owed to third parties by recognizing them
proportionately as the goods are manufactured.

For the structures sold for the Lighting and Transportation product line and for the majority of Telecommunications
products, revenue is recognized upon shipment or delivery of goods to the customer depending on contract terms, which is the
same point in time that the customer is billed. Some large regional customers have unique product specifications for
telecommunication structures. When the customer contract includes a cancellation clause that would require them to pay for
work completed plus a reasonable margin if an order was canceled, revenue is recognized over time based on hours worked
as a percent of total estimated hours to complete production.

The Coatings product line revenues are derived by providing coating services to customers’ products, which include
galvanizing, anodizing, and powder coating. Revenue is recognized once the service has been performed and the goods are
ready to be picked up or delivered to the customer, which is the same time that the customer is billed.

Agriculture Segment
Revenue recognition from the manufacture of irrigation equipment and related parts and services (including tubular
products for industrial customers) is generally upon shipment of the goods to the customer which is the same point in time that

the customer is billed. The remote monitoring subscription services recognized as part of the Technology Products and
Services product line are primarily billed annually and revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the contract period.
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The disaggregation of revenue by product line is disclosed in Note 21. A breakdown by segment of revenue
recognized over time and revenue recognized at a point in time for the fiscal years ended December 30, 2023, December 31,
2022, and December 25, 2021 was as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended

December 30, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 25, 2021
Point in Time Over Time Pointin Time Over Time Pointin Time Over Time
Infrastructure $ 1,744,139 $1,255,498 $ 1,687,458 $1,222,288 $ 1,388,297 $ 973,227
Agriculture 1,144,633 30,328 1,307,681 27,604 996,278 20,772
Other — — — 100,219 — 123,001
Total net sales $ 2,888,772 $1,285826 $ 2,995139 $1,350,111 $ 2,384,575 $1,117,000

Use of Estimates

Management of the Company has made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of assets
and liabilities, the reported amounts of revenue and expenses, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities to prepare
the Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Equity Method Investments

The Company has equity method investments in nonconsolidated subsidiaries which are recorded within “Other non-
current assets” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Treasury Stock

Repurchased shares are recorded as “Treasury stock, at cost” and result in a reduction of “Shareholders’ equity” in
the Consolidated Balance Sheets. When treasury shares are reissued, the Company uses the last-in, first-out method, and
the difference between the repurchase cost and re-issuance price is charged or credited to “Additional paid-in capital”.

In May 2014, the Company announced a capital allocation philosophy that covered a share repurchase program.
Specifically, the Board of Directors at that time authorized the purchase of up to $ 500,000 of the Company'’s outstanding
common stock from time to time over twelve months at prevailing market prices, through open market or privately negotiated
transactions. In February 2015 and again in October 2018, the Board of Directors authorized an additional purchase of up to $
250,000 of the Company’s outstanding common stock with no stated expiration date. In February 2023, the Board of Directors
increased the amount remaining under the program by an additional $ 400,000 , with no stated expiration date, bringing the
total authorization to $ 1,400,000 . As of December 30, 2023, the Company has acquired 7,895,724 shares for approximately
$ 1,263,900 under this share repurchase program.

In November 2023, the Company entered into an accelerated purchase agreement to repurchase $ 120,000 of the
Company'’s outstanding common stock (“November 2023 ASR”) with CitiBank, N.A. as counterparty. The November 2023 ASR
was entered into under the Company’s previously announced share repurchase program described above. In the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2023, the Company pre-paid $ 120,000 and received an initial delivery of 438,917 shares of common stock
from CitiBank, which represented 75 % of the prepayment amount divided by the closing price of $ 205.05 per share on
November 28, 2023. The final number of shares to be delivered and the average price paid per share will be based on the
daily volume weighted average share price during the term of the November 2023 ASR less a discount, which will be
completed during the first quarter of fiscal 2024.

Research and Development
Research and development costs are charged to operations in the fiscal year incurred. These costs are a component
of “Selling, general, and administrative expenses” in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. During the fiscal years ended

December 30, 2023, December 31, 2022, and December 25, 2021, research and development costs were approximately $
55,000, $ 46,000, and $ 37,000, respectively.
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Supplier Finance Program

In the first quarter of fiscal 2023, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update No. 2022-04, Liabilities —
Supplier Finance Programs (Subtopic 405-50): Disclosure of Supplier Finance Program Obligations, as well as early adopted
the amendment on rollforward information. During fiscal 2019, the Company entered into an agreement with a third-party
financial institution to facilitate a supplier finance program that allows qualifying suppliers to sell their receivables from the
Company to the financial institution. These participating suppliers negotiate their outstanding receivable arrangements directly
with the financial institution and the Company’s rights and obligations to suppliers are not impacted. The Company has no
economic interest in a supplier’s decision to enter into these agreements. Once a qualifying supplier elects to participate in the
supplier finance program and reaches an agreement with a financial institution, they elect which individual Company invoices
they sell to the financial institution. The Company’s obligation is to make payment in the invoice amount negotiated with
participating suppliers to the financial institution on the invoice due date, regardless of whether the individual invoice is sold by
the supplier to the financial institution. The financial institution pays the supplier on the invoice due date for any invoices that
were not previously sold under the supplier finance program. The invoice amounts and scheduled payment terms are not
impacted by the suppliers’ decisions to sell amounts under these arrangements. The payment of these obligations is included
in “Cash flows from operating activities” in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. As of December 30, 2023 and
December 31, 2022, there were $ 41,916 and $ 48,880 of outstanding payment obligations, respectively, that were sold to the
financial institution under the Company’s supplier finance program included in “Accounts payable” in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets.

Confirmed obligations outstanding as of December 31, 2022 $ 48,880
Invoices confirmed during the period 264,051
Confirmed invoices paid during the period (271,015)
Confirmed obligations outstanding as of December 30, 2023 $ 41,916

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests

Subsequent to the issuance of the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2022, the Company identified an error in the presentation of “Noncontrolling interests in consolidated
subsidiaries” of $ 60,865 as of December 31, 2022, $ 26,750 as of December 25, 2021, and $ 25,774 as of December 26,
2020, that has been corrected in the current year. Such amounts were previously reported within “Total shareholders’ equity”
and have been revised in the December 31, 2022 Consolidated Balance Sheets and the Consolidated Statements of
Shareholders’ Equity and Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests to be presented as “Redeemable noncontrolling interests”
outside of “Total shareholders’ equity”. We have evaluated the materiality of this error based on an analysis of quantitative and
qualitative factors and concluded it was not material to the prior period financial statements, individually or in aggregate.

Noncontrolling interests with redemption features that are not solely within the Company’s control are considered
redeemable noncontrolling interests. The Company has redeemable noncontrolling interests in certain entities. The seller can
require the Company to purchase their remaining ownership, known as a put right, for an amount and on a date specified in
the applicable operating agreement. Likewise, the Company can require the seller to sell the Company their remaining
ownership based on the same amount and timing, known as a call option.

As a result of these redemption features, the Company records the noncontrolling interests as redeemable and
classifies the balances in temporary equity in the Consolidated Balance Sheets initially at its acquisition-date fair value. The
Company adjusts the redeemable noncontrolling interests each reporting period for the net income (loss) attributable to the
noncontrolling interests and any redemption value adjustments. The redeemable noncontrolling interest is accreted to the
future redemption value using the effective interest method up to the date on which the put right becomes effective. Any
accretion adjustment in the current reporting period of the redeemable noncontrolling interest is offset against retained
earnings and impacts earnings used in the calculation of earnings per share in the reporting period.

As of December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the redeemable noncontrolling interests were $ 62,792 and $

60,865 , respectively. The ultimate amount paid for the redeemable noncontrolling interests could be significantly different
because the redemption amounts depend on the future results of operations of the businesses.
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update No.
2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures , which improves the disclosures
about reportable segments including more detailed information about a reportable segment’s expenses. This guidance will be
effective for the fiscal year ending December 28, 2024 and the interim periods thereafter, with early adoption permitted. The
guidance will have no effect on the Company'’s results of operations as the changes are primarily disclosure related.

In December 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740):
Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, which enhances the transparency and decision usefulness of income tax
disclosures, primarily related to the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid information. This guidance will be effective on a
prospective basis for the fiscal year ending December 27, 2025, with early adoption permitted. The guidance will have no
effect on the Company’s results of operations as the changes are primarily disclosure related.

(2) ACQUISITIONS
Acquisitions of Businesses

On August 31, 2023, the Company acquired HR Products for $ 58,044 Australian dollars ($ 37,302 United States
(“U.S.”) dollars) in cash (net of cash acquired) and subject to working capital adjustments. Of this amount, $ 7,200 Australian
dollars ($ 4,626 U.S. dollars) was withheld by the Company at closing as a retention fund, to be settled in two equal payments
at 12 and 24 months from the acquisition date for contingencies and disagreements. HR Products provides a broad range of
irrigation products to serve the agriculture and landscaping industries and its operations are reported in the Agriculture
segment. The acquisition strengthens the Company’s value proposition to customers in the key agriculture market of Australia
by expanding its geographic footprint and accelerating its aftermarket parts presence. The amount allocated to goodwill is
attributable to anticipated synergies and other intangibles that do not qualify for separate recognition and is no t deductible for
tax purposes. The Company is currently completing its fair value assessment and expects to finalize the purchase price
allocation by the third quarter of fiscal 2024.

The following table summarizes the preliminary fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed of HR
Products as of the date of acquisition:

August 31,
2023
Current assets $ 24,816
Property, plant, and equipment 1,379
Goodwill 9,177
Customer relationships 11,632
Other non-current assets 3,997
Total fair value of assets acquired 51,001
Current liabilities 4,183
Operating lease liabilities 2,792
Deferred income taxes 3,489
Total fair value of liabilities assumed 10,464
Net assets acquired $ 40,537

On June 1, 2022, the Company acquired approximately 51 % of ConcealFab for $ 39,287 in cash (net of cash
acquired). Approximately $ 1,850 of the purchase price was contingent on seller representations and warranties that were
settled in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2023. ConcealFab is located in Colorado Springs, Colorado, and its operations are
reported in the Infrastructure segment. The acquisition was made to allow the Company to incorporate innovative 5G
infrastructure and passive intermodulation mitigation solutions into its advanced Infrastructure portfolio. Goodwill was not
deductible for tax purposes. The amount allocated to goodwill was primarily attributable to anticipated synergies and other
intangibles that do not qualify for separate recognition. The Company finalized the purchase price allocation in the first quarter
of fiscal 2023.
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Pursuant to the operating agreement and subject to the terms and conditions thereof, the minority owners have the
right to sell all of the remaining interest in ConcealFab to the Company, and the Company has the right to purchase all of the
remaining interest in ConcealFab from the minority owners, in each case generally at any time following the fifth anniversary
of the effective date of the transaction. The purchase price for any remaining interest put to, or called by, the Company will be
determined based on a pre-defined formula as stated in the operating agreement. As a result of this redemption feature, the
Company recorded the noncontrolling interest as redeemable and classified it in temporary equity within the Consolidated
Balance Sheets. See Note 1 for discussion of the Company’s redeemable noncontrolling interests.

The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed of ConcealFab as of the
date of acquisition:

June 1,
2022

Current assets $ 21,133
Property, plant, and equipment 3,813
Goodwill 42,465
Customer relationships 26,200
Trade name 5,000
Other non-current assets 9,108

Total fair value of assets acquired 107,719
Current liabilities 6,658
Long-term debt 2,038
Operating lease liabilities 7,812
Deferred income taxes 5,464
Other non-current liabilities 12

Total fair value of liabilities assumed 21,984
Redeemable noncontrolling interest 41,693

Net assets acquired $ 44,042

On May 12, 2021, the Company acquired the outstanding shares of Prospera Technologies, Ltd. ("Prospera"), an
artificial intelligence company focused on machine learning and computer vision in agriculture, for $ 300,000 in cash (net of
cash acquired). The acquisition of Prospera, located in Tel Aviv, Israel, was made to allow the Company to accelerate
innovation with machine learning for agronomy and is reported in the Agriculture segment. Goodwill was no t deductible for
tax purposes, the trade name was assigned an estimated useful life of seven years , and the developed technology asset was
assigned an estimated useful life of five years . The amount allocated to goodwill was primarily attributable to anticipated
synergies and other intangibles that did no t qualify for separate recognition. See Note 8 for details of impairments of goodwill
and other intangible assets recognized during the fiscal year ended December 30, 2023. The Company finalized the purchase
price allocation in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2021.
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The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed of Prospera as of the
date of acquisition:

May 12,
2021
Current assets $ 647
Property, plant, and equipment 1,063
Goodwill 273,453
Developed technology 32,900
Trade name 2,850
Total fair value of assets acquired $ 310,913
Current liabilities 2,690
Deferred income taxes 8,223
Total fair value of liabilities assumed $ 10,913
Net assets acquired $ 300,000

On April 20, 2021, the Company acquired the assets of PivoTrac for $ 12,500 in cash. The agreed-upon purchase
price was $ 14,000 , with $ 1,500 being held back for seller representations and warranties. The acquisition of PivoTrac,
located in Texas, was made to allow the Company to advance its technology strategy and increase its number of connected
agricultural devices and is reported in the Agriculture segment. The fair values assigned were $ 10,800 for goodwill and $
2,627 for customer relationships, with the remainder representing net working capital. Goodwill was no t deductible for tax
purposes and the customer relationships will be amortized over eight years . The amount allocated to goodwill was primarily
attributable to anticipated synergies and other intangibles that do no t qualify for separate recognition. The Company finalized
the purchase price allocation in the second quarter of fiscal 2022.

Proforma disclosures were omitted for these acquisitions as they do not have a significant impact on the Company’s
financial results.

Acquisition-related costs incurred for the above acquisitions were insignificant for all fiscal years presented.
Acquisitions of Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests

Subsequent to fiscal 2023, on January 26, 2024, the Company acquired approximately 9 % of ConcealFab for $ 7,227
. Additionally, subsequent to fiscal 2023, the minority owner of a consolidated subsidiary exercised their put option to require
the Company to purchase their remaining ownership. As such, $ 10,518 is expected to be paid to acquire the remaining
portion of this entity prior to the end of the first quarter of fiscal 2024.

On August 10, 2022, the Company acquired the remaining 9 % of Convert ltalia S.p.A. for $ 3,046 . On May 10, 2022,
the Company acquired the remaining 20 % of Valmont West Coast Engineering, Ltd. for $ 4,292 .

These transactions were for the acquisitions of portions of the remaining shares of consolidated subsidiaries with no
changes in control.

(3) DIVESTITURES

On April 30, 2023, the Company completed the sale of Torrent Engineering and Equipment, an integrator of
prepackaged pump stations in Indiana, reported in the Agriculture segment, for net proceeds of $ 6,369 . In the second
quarter of fiscal 2023, a pre-tax gain of $ 2,994 was reported in “Other income (expenses)” in the Consolidated Statements of
Earnings.

On November 30, 2022, the Company completed the sale of Valmont SM, the offshore wind energy structures
business in Denmark, reported in the Other segment. The business was sold because it did not align with the long-term
strategic plans for the Company. The offshore wind energy structures business’ historical annual sales, operating income, and
net assets were not significant for discontinued operations presentation.
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The offshore wind energy structures business had an operating income of $ 2,259 for the fiscal year ended December
31, 2022, and an operating loss of $ 40,192 (inclusive of an approximately $ 27,900 impairment of long-lived assets) for the
fiscal year ended December 25, 2021. The Company received 90,000 Danish kroner ($ 12,570 U.S. dollars) at closing. An
additional 15,000 Danish kroner ($ 2,189 U.S. dollars) had been held in an escrow account subject to normal closing
conditions before it was released to the Company in the first quarter of fiscal 2024.

The assets and liabilities of the offshore wind energy structures business as of closing on November 30, 2022 were as
follows:

November 30,

2022

Cash and cash equivalents $ 12,420
Receivables, net 35,407
Inventories 1,144
Contract assets 19,127
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,852
Property, plant, and equipment, net 12,915
Other intangible assets, net 5,579
Other non-current assets 1,103

Total assets $ 89,547
Accounts payable 23,611
Contract liabilities 34,814
Other accrued expenses 4,737
Deferred income taxes 1,375

Total liabilities $ 64,537

Net assets divested $ 25,010

The pre-tax loss from divestiture was reported in “Other income (expenses)” in the Consolidated Statements of
Earnings for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022. The loss was comprised of the proceeds and an asset recognized for
the escrow funds not at the time released from the buyer, less deal-related costs, and the net assets of the business, which
resulted in a loss of $ 12,123 . In addition to this amount was a $ 21,150 realized loss on foreign exchange translation
adjustments and net investment hedges previously reported in “Shareholders’ equity” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Pre-tax loss from divestitures, before recognition of currency translation loss $ 12,123
Recognition of cumulative currency translation loss and hedges (reclassified from OCI) 21,150
Net pre-tax loss from divestiture of offshore wind energy structures business $ 33,273

The transaction did not result in a tax-deductible capital loss.
(4) REALIGNMENT ACTIVITIES

During the third quarter of fiscal 2023, management initiated a plan to streamline segment support across the
Company and reduce costs through an organizational realignment program (the “Realignment Program”). The Realignment
Program provided for a reduction in force through a voluntary early retirement program and other headcount reduction actions,
which were completed as of December 30, 2023. The Board of Directors authorized the incurrence of cash charges up to $
36,000 in connection with the Realignment Program.

During the fiscal year ended December 30, 2023, the Company recorded the following pre-tax expenses for the

Realignment Program:

Infrastructure  Agriculture  Corporate Total
Severance and other employee benefit costs  $ 17,260 $ 9,101 $ 8,849 $ 35,210
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Changes in liabilities recorded for the Realignment Program were as follows:

Balance as of Recognized Costs Paid or Balance as of
December 31, Realignment Otherwise December 30,
2022 Expense Settled 2023
Severance and other employee benefit costs $ — % 35210 $ (22,696) $ 12,514

(5) CASH FLOW SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

The Company considers all highly liquid temporary cash investments purchased with an original maturity of three
months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash payments for interest and income taxes (net of refunds)
for the fiscal years ended December 30, 2023, December 31, 2022, and December 25, 2021 were as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended
December 30, December 31, December 25,

2023 2022 2021
Interest $ 55541  $ 46,653 $ 41,159
Income taxes 103,697 93,109 60,366

(6) INVENTORIES

Inventories as of December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 consisted of the following:

December 30, December 31,
2023 2022
Raw materials and purchased parts $ 217,134 $ 258,814
Work-in-process 37,826 44,453
Finished goods and manufactured goods 403,468 425,495
Total inventories $ 658,428 $ 728,762

(7) PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant, and equipment, at cost, as of December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 consisted of the following:

December 30, December 31,
2023 2022
Land and improvements $ 118,869 $ 113,188
Buildings and improvements 409,092 390,435
Machinery and equipment 750,959 721,223
Transportation equipment 31,278 30,610
Office furniture and equipment 140,061 128,922
Construction in progress 62,980 48,773
Total property, plant, and equipment, at cost $ 1,513,239 $ 1,433,151
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(8) GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill

The carrying amount of goodwill by segment as of December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 was as follows:

Infrastructure Agriculture Total
Gross balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 473551 $ 313,777 $ 787,328
Accumulated impairment losses (47,467) — (47,467)
Balance as of December 31, 2022 426,084 313,777 739,861
Acquisitions — 9,177 9,177
Divestiture — (160) (160)
Impairment (1,915) (120,000 ) (121,915)
Foreign currency translation 5,112 889 6,001
Balance as of December 30, 2023 $ 429281 $ 203,683 $ 632,964

Infrastructure Agriculture Total
Gross balance as of December 25, 2021 $ 442 521 $ 313,512 $ 756,033
Accumulated impairment losses (47,467) — (47,467)
Balance as of December 25, 2021 395,054 313,512 708,566
Acquisitions 42,465 — 42,465
Foreign currency translation (11,435) 265 (11,170)
Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 426,084 $ 313,777 $ 739,861

In the third quarter of fiscal 2023, the Company performed its annual goodwill impairment assessment utilizing a
guantitative test on all of its reporting units using a measurement date of September 2, 2023. The fair values of the reporting
units were estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis which requires the Company to estimate the future cash flows as
well as select a risk-adjusted discount rate to measure the present value of the anticipated cash flows.

The carrying value for two of the reporting units, Agriculture Technology and India Structures, exceeded their
respective estimated fair value. As a result, impairments of $ 120,000 and $ 1,915 were recognized in the Agriculture and
Infrastructure segments, respectively, and recorded as “Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets” in the Consolidated
Statements of Earnings. For the Agriculture Technology reporting unit, the recent less favorable outlook for the agriculture
market in North America and the slower-than-expected adoption rate of the agronomy software solution led to a reduction in
forecasted sales. These reduced forecasted cash flows resulted in a lower fair value of the Agriculture Technology reporting
unit when discounted back to the present value. For the India Structures reporting unit, assumptions around future cash flows
including working capital requirements resulted in the impairment of its goodwiill.

Intangible Assets
The components of intangible assets as of December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 were as follows:
December 30, 2023 December 31, 2022
Gross Gross

Carrying  Accumulated Carrying  Accumulated
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization

Amortizing intangible assets:

Customer relationships $ 233852 $ 157,873 $ 222,716 $ 145,502

Patents & proprietary technology 59,311 45,416 58,404 21,291

Trade names 2,870 1,056 2,850 645

Other 4,787 4,538 2,462 2,164
Non-amortizing intangible assets:

Trade names 58,750 — 59,785 —

$ 359570 $ 208,883 $ 346,217 $ 169,602
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Amortizing intangible assets carry a remaining weighted average life of approximately four years . Amortization
expense was $ 19,455, $ 22,120, and $ 21,320 for the fiscal years ended December 30, 2023, December 31, 2022, and
December 25, 2021, respectively. Based on amortizing intangible assets recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
December 30, 2023, amortization expense is estimated to average $ 11,158 for each of the next five fiscal years.

The Company’s indefinite-lived trade names were tested for impairment as of September 2, 2023. The values of each
trade name were determined using the relief-from-royalty method. Based on this evaluation, the carrying value of one trade
name exceeded its estimated fair value. An impairment charge of $ 1,656 was recognized within the Infrastructure segment
and recorded as “Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets” in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. In the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2021, an impairment test was required when the Company received clarifying information on the competitive
environment of the offshore wind energy structures business. As a result, an impairment charge of approximately $ 2,013 was
recognized against the related trade name and recorded as “Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets” in the Consolidated
Statements of Earnings.

In the third quarter of fiscal 2023, the Company tested the recoverability of a certain amortizing proprietary technology
intangible asset related to Prospera included within the Agriculture Technology reporting unit due to identified impairment
indicators. The Company determined the carrying value of the asset exceeded the total undiscounted estimated future cash
flows and reduced the asset to its fair value. An impairment charge of $ 17,273 was recognized within the Agriculture segment
and recorded as “Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets” in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. In the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2021, an impairment test was required when the Company received clarifying information on the competitive
environment of the offshore wind energy structures business. As a result, an impairment charge of $ 4,483 was recognized
against the remaining net book value of the related customer relationships and recorded as “Impairment of goodwill and
intangible assets” in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

(9) BANK CREDIT ARRANGEMENTS

The Company maintains various lines of credit for short-term borrowings totaling $ 39,336 available as of December
30, 2023. As of December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, $ 3,205 and $ 5,846 was outstanding and recorded as “Notes
payable to banks” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, respectively. The interest rates charged on these lines of credit vary in
relation to the banks’ costs of funds. The weighted average interest rate on short-term borrowings was 5.16 % as of
December 30, 2023. The unused and available borrowings under the lines of credit were $ 36,131 as of December 30, 2023.
The lines of credit can be modified at any time at the option of the banks.

(10) INCOME TAXES
Earnings before income taxes and equity in loss of nonconsolidated subsidiaries for the fiscal years ended December

30, 2023, December 31, 2022, and December 25, 2021 were as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended
December 30, December 31, December 25,

2023 2022 2021
United States $ 195,491 $ 224370 $ 202,051
Foreign 40,961 139,518 58,032
Earnings before income taxes and equity in loss
of nonconsolidated subsidiaries $ 236,452 $ 363,888 $ 260,083
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Income tax expense (benefit) for the fiscal years ended December 30, 2023, December 31, 2022, and December 25,
2021 consisted of:

Fiscal Year Ended
December 30, December 31, December 25,

2023 2022 2021
Current:
Federal $ 42,226  $ 48,309 $ 30,031
State 8,480 11,888 8,891
Foreign 56,107 48,273 20,644
Total current income tax expense 106,813 108,470 59,566
Non-current: 1,957 1,442 1,777
Deferred:
Federal (12,585) (7,544) 4,587
State (2,586) (1,973) 558
Foreign (3,478) 8,292 (5,074)
Total deferred income tax expense (benefit) (18,649) (1,225) 71
Total income tax expense $ 90,121 $ 108,687 $ 61,414

The reconciliations of the statutory federal income tax rate and the effective tax rate for the fiscal years ended
December 30, 2023, December 31, 2022, and December 25, 2021 were as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended
December 30, December 31, December 25,

2023 2022 2021
Statutory federal income tax rate 21.0% 21.0% 21.0%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 1.8 2.3 2.9
Carryforwards, credits and changes in valuation allowances (2.4) 1.0 15
Foreign jurisdictional tax rate differences 4.6 4.2 (0.1)
Changes in unrecognized tax benefits 0.8 0.3 0.7
Impairment of long-lived assets 11.9 — —
Excess tax benefit on equity compensation 11 0.5 0.7
Loss from divestiture of offshore wind energy structures business — 2.2 —
Other (0.7) (1.6) (3.1)
Effective tax rate 38.1 % 29.9 % 23.6 %

The fiscal year ended December 30, 2023 included $ 28,079 of tax expense related to non-tax deductible impairment
of goodwill. The fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 included $ 8,166 of tax expense related to the divestiture of the
offshore wind energy structures business for which no benefit was recorded. The fiscal year ended December 25, 2021
included $ 1,894 of U.S. tax benefits related to foreign taxes paid offset by $ 5,102 of valuation allowance recorded against the
offshore wind energy structures business’ deferred tax assets.
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of (a) temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes, and (b) operating loss and tax
credit carryforwards. The tax effects of significant items comprising the Company'’s net deferred income tax assets (liabilities)
as of December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 were as follows:

December 30, December 31,
2023 2022
Deferred income tax assets:

Accrued expenses and allowances $ 36,883 $ 25,927
Tax credits and loss carryforwards 58,519 67,249
Inventory allowances 8,427 7,912
Accrued compensation and benefits 23,880 24,398
Lease liabilities 41,769 40,709
Research and development expenditures 22,751 7,650
Deferred compensation 16,163 16,308

Gross deferred income tax assets 208,392 190,153
Valuation allowance (48,632) (48,974)

Net deferred income tax assets 159,760 141,179

Deferred income tax liabilities:

Property, plant, and equipment 42,299 45,300
Intangible assets 52,017 52,750
Defined benefit pension asset 3,851 6,054
Lease assets 42,717 40,708
Other deferred tax liabilities 6,616 4,941

Total deferred income tax liabilities 147,500 149,753

Net deferred income tax assets (liabilities) $ 12,260 $ (8,574)

Deferred income tax assets (liabilities) were presented as follows as of December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 in
the Consolidated Balance Sheets:

December 30, December 31,
2023 2022
Other non-current assets $ 33,465 $ 32,517
Deferred income taxes (21,205) (41,091)
Net deferred income tax assets (liabilities) $ 12,260 $ (8,574)

Management of the Company has reviewed recent operating results and projected future operating results. The
Company'’s belief that realization of its net deferred tax assets is more likely than not is based on, among other factors,
changes in operations that have occurred in recent fiscal years and available tax planning strategies. As of December 30,
2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, there were $ 58,519 and $ 67,249 relating to tax credits and loss carryforwards.

Valuation allowances have been established for certain losses that reduce deferred tax assets to an amount that will
more likely than not be realized. During fiscal 2021, the Company recorded a valuation allowance of $ 6,472 against the tax
attributes related to the acquisition of Prospera. The deferred tax assets as of December 30, 2023 that are associated with tax
loss and tax credit carryforwards not reduced by valuation allowances expire in periods starting in 2024.

Uncertain tax positions included in “Other non-current liabilities” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets are evaluated in
a two-step process, whereby (1) the Company determines whether it is more likely than not that the tax positions will be
sustained based on the technical merits of the position and (2) for those tax positions that meet the more likely than not
recognition threshold, the Company would recognize the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than fifty percent likely to
be realized upon ultimate settlement with the related tax authority.
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The following summarizes the activity related to the unrecognized tax benefits for the fiscal years ended December
30, 2023 and December 31, 2022:

Fiscal Year Ended

December 30, December 31,
2023 2022
Gross unrecognized tax benefits—beginning of period $ 2,536 $ 2,664
Gross increases—tax positions in prior period 2,174 1,133
Gross increases—current-period tax positions 370 523
Settlements with taxing authorities (32) (1,576)
Lapses of statutes of limitation (742) (208)
Gross unrecognized tax benefits—end of period $ 4,306 $ 2,536

There are approximately $ 1,514 of uncertain tax positions for which reversal is reasonably possible during the next
12 months due to the closing of the statutes of limitation. The nature of these uncertain tax positions is generally the
computation of a tax deduction or a tax credit. During the fiscal year ended December 30, 2023, the Company recorded a
reduction of its gross unrecognized tax benefit of $ 742 , with $ 586 recorded as a reduction of income tax expense, due to the
expiration of statutes of limitation in the U.S. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded a
reduction of its gross unrecognized tax benefit of $ 208 , with $ 165 recorded as a reduction of income tax expense, due to the
expiration of statutes of limitation in the U.S. In addition to these amounts, there was an aggregate of $ 442 and $ 172 of
interest and penalties as of December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. The Company’s policy is to record
interest and penalties directly related to income taxes as “Income tax expense” in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. and various states as well as foreign jurisdictions. Tax years 2020
and forward remain open under U.S. statutes of limitation. The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized,
would affect the effective tax rate was $ 4,372 and $ 2,447 as of December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.

The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (*OECD”) has released the Pillar Two Model Rules
Framework (the “Framework”) defining the global minimum tax rules, which contemplate a minimum tax rate of 15% and
continues to release additional guidance. Although it is uncertain whether the U.S. will enact legislation to adopt the minimum
tax directive, certain countries in which the Company operates have adopted legislation effective January 1, 2024, and other
countries are in the process of introducing legislation to implement the minimum tax directive. Further, the OECD issued
administrative guidance providing transition and safe harbor rules that could delay the impact of the minimum tax directive.
The Company will continue to monitor the implementation of the Framework by the countries in which the Company operates.
The Company does not expect the Framework to have a material impact on its Consolidated Financial Statements.

(11) LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt as of December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 was as follows:

December 30, December 31,

2023 2022

5.00 % senior unsecured notes due in fiscal 2044 (a) $ 450,000 $ 450,000
5.25 % senior unsecured notes due in fiscal 2054 (b) 305,000 305,000
Unamortized discount on 5.00 % and 5.25 % senior unsecured notes (a) (b) (19,665) (20,053)
Revolving credit agreement (c) 377,899 140,513
Other notes 2,015 3,587
Debt issuance costs (6,645) (6,918)

Long-term debt 1,108,604 872,129
Less: Current installments of long-term debt 719 1,194

Long-term debt, excluding current installments $ 1107885 $ 870,935
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(@) The 5.00 % senior unsecured notes due in fiscal 2044 include an aggregate principal amount of $ 450,000 on which
interest is paid and an unamortized discount balance of $ 12,503 as of December 30, 2023. The notes bear interest at
5.00 % per annum and are due on October 1, 2044. The discount will be amortized and recognized as interest
expense as interest payments are made over the term of the notes. The notes may be repurchased prior to maturity in
whole, or in part, at any time at 100 % of their principal amount plus a make-whole premium and accrued and unpaid
interest. These notes are guaranteed by certain subsidiaries of the Company.

(b) The 5.25 % senior unsecured notes due in fiscal 2054 include an aggregate principal amount of $ 305,000 on which
interest is paid and an unamortized discount balance of $ 7,162 as of December 30, 2023. The notes bear interest at
5.25 % per annum and are due on October 1, 2054. The discount will be amortized and recognized as interest
expense as interest payments are made over the term of the notes. The notes may be repurchased prior to maturity in
whole, or in part, at any time at 100 % of their principal amount plus a make-whole premium and accrued and unpaid
interest. These notes are guaranteed by certain subsidiaries of the Company.

(c) On October 18, 2021, the Company along with its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Valmont Industries Holland B.V. and
Valmont Group Pty. Ltd., as borrowers, entered into an amendment and restatement of the revolving credit agreement
with the Company’s lenders. The maturity date of the revolving credit facility was extended to October 18, 2026. The
credit facility provides for $ 800,000 of committed unsecured revolving credit loans with available borrowings
thereunder to $ 400,000 in foreign currencies. The Company may increase the credit facility by up to an additional $
300,000 at any time, subject to lenders increasing the amount of their commitments. The interest rate on the
borrowings will be, at the Company'’s option, either:

0] term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) (based on a 1-, 3-, or 6-month interest period, as selected
by the Company) plus a 10 basis point adjustment plus a spread of 100 to 162.5 basis points, depending on
the credit rating of the Company’s senior unsecured long-term debt published by S&P Global Ratings and
Moody'’s Investors Service, Inc.;

(i) the higher of
e the prime lending rate ,
e the overnight bank rate plus 50 basis points, and
e term SOFR (based on a one-month interest period) plus 100 basis points,

plus, in each case, 0 to 62.5 basis points, depending on the credit rating of the Company’s senior
unsecured long-term debt published by S&P Global Ratings and Moody’s Investors Service, Inc.; or

(iii) daily simple SOFR plus a 10 basis point adjustment plus a spread of 100 to 162.5 basis points, depending on
the credit rating of the Company’s senior unsecured long-term debt published by S&P Global Ratings and
Moody'’s Investors Service, Inc.

As of December 30, 2023, the Company had $ 377,899 outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit facility. The
revolving credit facility has a maturity date of October 18, 2026 and contains a financial covenant that may limit additional
borrowing capability under the agreement. As of December 30, 2023, the Company had the ability to borrow $ 421,939 under
this facility, after consideration of standby letters of credit of $ 162 associated with certain insurance obligations. The Company
also maintains certain short-term bank lines of credit totaling $ 39,336 , of which $ 36,131 were unused as of December 30,
2023.

The revolving credit facility includes a financial leverage covenant. The Company was in compliance with this
covenant as of December 30, 2023. The minimum aggregate maturities of long-term debt for each of the five fiscal years
following the fiscal year ended December 30, 2023 are $ 719 ; $ 599 ; $ 378,554 ; $ 43 ;and $ 0 .

The obligations arising under the 5.00 % senior unsecured notes due in fiscal 2044, the 5.25 % senior unsecured

notes due in fiscal 2054, and the revolving credit facility are guaranteed by the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries,
Valmont Telecommunications, Inc., Valmont Coatings, Inc., Valmont Newmark, Inc., and Valmont Queensland Pty. Ltd.
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(12) STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company maintains stock-based compensation plans approved by the shareholders, which provide that the
Human Resources Committee of the Board of Directors may grant incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, and bonuses of common stock. As of December 30, 2023,
1,513,652 shares of common stock remained available for issuance under the plans. Shares and options issued and available
are subject to changes in capitalization. The Company’s policy is to issue shares upon exercise of stock options or vesting of
restricted stock units or issuance of restricted stock from treasury shares held by the Company.

Stock options granted under the plans call for the exercise price of each option to equal the closing market price as of
the date of the grant. Options vest beginning on the first anniversary of the grant date in equal amounts over three years or on
the grant’s fifth anniversary date. Expiration of grants is seven to ten years from the date of the award. Restricted stock units
and awards generally vest in equal installments over three or four years beginning on the first anniversary of the grant. For the
fiscal years ended December 30, 2023, December 31, 2022, and December 25, 2021, the Company recorded $ 39,219 , $
41,850, and $ 28,720 of compensation expense (included in “Selling, general, and administrative expenses” in the
Consolidated Statements of Earnings) for all share-based compensation programs, respectively. The associated tax benefits
recorded for the fiscal years ended December 30, 2023, December 31, 2022, and December 25, 2021, were $ 7,092 , $
10,463, and $ 7,180, respectively.

As of December 30, 2023, the amount of unrecognized stock option compensation expense, to be recognized over a
weighted average period of 2.00 years, was approximately $ 6,408 . During the fiscal years ended December 30, 2023,
December 31, 2022, and December 25, 2021, compensation expense for stock options was $ 3,687 , $ 3,120, and $ 2,538 ,
respectively.

The Company uses a binomial option pricing model to value its stock options. The fair value of each option grant
made as of December 30, 2023, December 31, 2022, and December 25, 2021 was estimated using the following

assumptions:

December 30, December 31, December 25,
2023 2022 2021
Expected volatility 31.97 % 32.36 % 33.01 %
Risk-free interest rate 421 % 3.75% 1.26 %
Expected life from vesting date 5.4 yrs 5.4 yrs 4.0 yrs
Dividend yield 0.87 % 1.10 % 1.20 %

The following is a summary of the stock option activity during the fiscal years ended December 30, 2023, December
31, 2022, and December 25, 2021:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Number of Exercise Contractual Intrinsic

Shares Price Term Value
Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 195,690 $ 214.62
Granted 43,340 226.55
Exercised (39,055) 155.24
Forfeited (18,445) 307.81
Outstanding as of December 30, 2023 181,530 $ 220.77 799 $ 5992
Options vested or expected to vest as of December 30, 2023 178,820 $ 220.31 7.96 5,975
Options exercisable as of December 30, 2023 116,545 $ 203.78 7.13 5,576
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The weighted average per share fair value of options granted during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 was $
72.60 .

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Number of Exercise Contractual Intrinsic

Shares Price Term Value
Outstanding as of December 25, 2021 276,464 $ 164.48
Granted 40,564 332.63
Exercised (121,163) 139.89
Forfeited (175) 104.47
Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 195,690 $ 214.62 753 $ 22,644
Options vested or expected to vest as of December 31, 2022 189,267 $ 212.69 7.48 22,261
Options exercisable as of December 31, 2022 90,556 $ 172.08 6.40 14,276

The weighted average per share fair value of options granted during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 was $
104.01 .

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Number of Exercise Contractual Intrinsic

Shares Price Term Value
Outstanding as of December 26, 2020 399,565 $ 141.79
Granted 47,223 252.89
Exercised (169,908 ) 135.76
Forfeited (416) 132.84
Outstanding as of December 25, 2021 276,464 $ 164.48 5.88 $ 22,586
Options vested or expected to vest as of December 25, 2021 268,338 $ 163.42 5.80 22,188
Options exercisable as of December 25, 2021 154,860 $ 142.15 4.00 15,896

The weighted average per share fair value of options granted during the fiscal year ended December 25, 2021 was $
67.81.

In accordance with shareholder-approved plans, the Human Resources Committee of the Board of Directors may
grant stock under various stock-based compensation arrangements, including restricted stock awards, restricted stock units,
performance-based restricted stock units, and stock issued in lieu of cash bonuses. Under such arrangements, stock is issued
without direct cost to the employee. The restricted stock units are settled in Company stock when the restriction period ends.
Restricted stock units and awards generally vest in equal installments over three years beginning on the first anniversary of
the grant. During the fiscal years ended December 30, 2023, December 31, 2022, and December 25, 2021, the Company
granted restricted stock units to directors and certain management employees as follows (which are not included in the above
stock plan activity tables):
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Fiscal Year Ended
December 30, December 31, December 25,

2023 2022 2021
Restricted stock units granted 67,723 60,901 216,971
Weighted-average per share price on grant date $ 23396 $ 31375  $ 236.28
Recognized compensation expense $ 22,478 $ 22,664 $ 16,147

During the second half of fiscal 2021, the Company granted 159,982 restricted stock units, worth $ 36,916 , to certain
employees of Prospera, of which 50,141 remain outstanding as of December 30, 2023. These restricted stock units vest in
equal installments over four years and require the employees to continue employment over those four years . As such, the
related compensation expense will be incurred over the vesting period.

As of December 30, 2023, the amount of deferred stock-based compensation granted, to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of 2.12 years, was approximately $ 33,933 .

Performance-based restricted stock units (“PSUs”") awards consist of shares of the Company’s stock which are
payable upon the determination that the Company achieves certain established performance targets and can range from 0 %
to 200 % of the targeted payout based on the actual results. PSUs granted in the fiscal years ended December 30, 2023 and
December 31, 2022 have a performance period of three years . The fair value of each PSU granted is equal to the fair market
value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. PSUs granted generally have a three-year period cliff vesting
schedule; however, according to the grant agreements, if certain conditions are met, the employee (or beneficiary) will receive
a prorated amount of the award based on active employment during the service period.

During the fiscal years ended December 30, 2023, December 31, 2022, and December 25, 2021, the Company
granted PSU awards as follows (which are not included in the above stock plan activity tables):

Fiscal Year Ended
December 30, December 31, December 25,

2023 2022 2021
Shares granted 38,201 33,736 41,060
Weighted-average per share price on grant date $ 299.20 $ 21515 $ 230.40
Recognized compensation expense $ 13,054 $ 16,066 $ 10,035

(13) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table provides a reconciliation between the earnings and average share amounts used to compute both
basic and diluted earnings per share:

Fiscal Year Ended
December 30, December 31, December 25,

2023 2022 2021
Net earnings attributable to Valmont Industries, Inc. including change in
redemption value of redeemable noncontrolling interest:
Net earnings attributable to Valmont Industries, Inc. $ 150,849 $ 250,863 $ 195,630
Change in redemption value of redeemable noncontrolling interest (7,374) — —
Net earnings attributable to Valmont Industries, Inc. including change in
redemption value of redeemable noncontrolling interest $ 143,475  $ 250,863 $ 195,630
Weighted average shares outstanding (000s):
Basic 20,956 21,311 21,193
Dilutive effect of various stock awards 203 269 300
Diluted 21,159 21,580 21,493
Net earnings per share attributable to common shareholders:
Basic $ 685 $ 11.77  $ 9.23
Dilutive effect of various stock awards (0.07) (0.15) (0.13)
Diluted $ 6.78 $ 1162 $ 9.10
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Basic and diluted net earnings and earnings per share in the fiscal year ended December 30, 2023 were impacted by
the impairment of certain long-lived assets of $ 136,457 after-tax ($ 6.45 per share) and realignment charges of $ 26,490 after-
tax ($ 1.25 per share). Basic and diluted net earnings and earnings per share in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022
were impacted by a loss from the divestiture of the offshore wind energy structures business of $ 33,273 ( no associated tax
benefit) ($ 1.54 per share). Basic and diluted net earnings and earnings per share in the fiscal year ended December 25, 2021
were impacted by impairments of long-lived assets associated with the offshore wind energy structures business of $ 21,678
after-tax ($ 1.01 per share) and a valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets of the offshore wind energy structures
business of $ 5,076 after-tax ($ 0.24 per share).

As of December 30, 2023, December 31, 2022, and December 25, 2021, there were 127,774 ; 40,564 ; and 47,223
outstanding stock options with exercise prices exceeding the average market price of common stock during the applicable
period that were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share, respectively.

(14) EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SAVINGS PLAN

Established under Internal Revenue Code Section 401(k), the Valmont Employee Retirement Savings Plan
(“WVERSP") is a defined contribution plan available to all eligible employees. Participants can elect to contribute up to 60 % of
their annual pay, on a pre-tax and/or after-tax basis. The Company also makes contributions to the VERSP and a non-
qualified deferred compensation plan for certain Company executives. The Company’s contributions to these plans for the
fiscal years ended December 30, 2023, December 31, 2022, and December 25, 2021, amounted to approximately $ 20,000 ,
$ 18,300, and $ 16,000, respectively.

The Company sponsors a fully-funded, non-qualified deferred compensation plan for certain Company executives who
otherwise would be limited in receiving Company contributions into the VERSP under Internal Revenue Service regulations.
The invested assets and related liabilities of these participants were $ 26,803 and $ 25,008 as of December 30, 2023 and
December 31, 2022, respectively. Such amounts are included in “Other non-current assets” and “Deferred compensation” in
the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Amounts distributed from the Company’s non-qualified deferred compensation plan to
participants under the transition rules of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code were approximately $ 5,476 and $ 4,691
as of December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. All distributions were made in cash.

(15) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, accounts payable, notes payable to banks, and
accrued expenses approximate fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments. The fair values of each of the
Company'’s long-term debt instruments are based on the amount of future cash flows associated with each instrument
discounted using the Company’s current borrowing rate for similar debt instruments of comparable maturity. The fair value
estimates are made at a specific point in time and the underlying assumptions are subject to change based on market
conditions. As of December 30, 2023, the carrying amount of the Company’s long-term debt was $ 1,108,604 with an
estimated fair value of approximately $ 1,064,916 . As of December 31, 2022, the carrying amount of the Company’s long-
term debt was $ 872,129 with an estimated fair value of approximately $ 807,281 .

ASC 820 establishes a three-level hierarchy for fair value measurements based on the transparency of inputs to the
valuation of an asset or liability as of the measurement date used. Inputs refer broadly to the assumptions that market
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risk. Financial assets and liabilities carried
at fair value will be classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories:

e Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity can
access at the measurement date.

e Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly

e Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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The categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement. The following are descriptions of the valuation methodologies used for assets and liabilities measured at fair
value:

Trading Securities: The Company’s trading securities represent the investments held in the Valmont Deferred
Compensation Plan (the “DCP”). As of December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the assets of the DCP were $ 26,803
and $ 25,008 , respectively. These assets represent mutual funds, invested in debt and equity securities, classified as trading
securities, considering the employee’s ability to change investment allocation of their deferred compensation at any time.
Quoted market prices are available for these securities in an active market and therefore are categorized as Level 1 inputs.
These securities are included in “Other non-current assets” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Derivative Financial Instruments: The fair values of foreign currency, commodity, and cross currency swap derivative
contracts are based on valuation models that use market observable inputs including forward and spot prices for commodities
and currencies.

Mutual Funds: The Company has short-term investments in various mutual funds.

Carrying Value Fair Value Measurement Using:
December 30, 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Trading securities $ 26,803 $ 26,803 $ — 3 —
Derivative financial instruments, net 2,860 — 2,860 —
Cash and cash equivalents - mutual funds 6,258 6,258 — —
Carrying Value Fair Value Measurement Using:
December 31, 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Trading securities $ 25008 $ 25,008 $ — % —
Derivative financial instruments, net 1,404 — 1,404 —
Cash and cash equivalents - mutual funds 7,205 7,205 — —

(16) DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company manages interest rate risk, commaodity price risk, and foreign currency risk related to foreign currency
denominated transactions and investments in foreign subsidiaries. Depending on the circumstances, the Company may
manage these risks by utilizing derivative financial instruments. Some derivative financial instruments are marked to market
and recorded in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Earnings, while others may be accounted for as fair value, cash
flow, or net investment hedges. Derivative financial instruments have credit and market risk. The Company manages these
risks of derivative instruments by monitoring limits as to the types and degree of risk that can be taken and by entering into
transactions with counterparties who are recognized, stable multinational banks. Any gains or losses from net investment
hedge activities remain in AOCI until either the sale or substantially complete liquidation of the related subsidiaries.

The fair value of derivative instruments as of December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 was as follows:

December 30, December 31,

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments: Balance Sheets location 2023 2022
Commodity contracts Prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 2520 $ —
Commaodity contracts Other accrued expenses (1,586) (3,854)
Foreign currency forward contracts Prepaid expenses and other current assets — 83
Cross currency swap contracts Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,938 5,385
Cross currency swap contracts Other accrued expenses (12) (210)

$ 2,860 $ 1,404
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Gains (losses) on derivatives recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the fiscal years ended
December 30, 2023, December 31, 2022, and December 25, 2021 were as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended

Derivatives designated as Statements of December 30, December 31, December 25,

hedging instruments: Earnings location 2023 2022 2021
Commodity contracts Product cost of sales $ (7,057) $ (5212) % 25,821
Foreign currency forward contracts Other income (expenses) 177 (45) (40)
Interest rate hedge amortization Interest expense (64) (64) (64)
Cross currency swap contracts Other income (expenses) — 4,827 —
Cross currency swap contracts Interest expense 1,813 2,875 2,780
$ (5131) $ 2381 $ 28,497

Cash Flow Hedges

The Company enters into commodity forward, swap, and option contracts that qualify as cash flow hedges of the
variability in cash flows attributable to future purchases. The gain (loss) realized upon settlement for each will be recorded in
“Product cost of sales” in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings in the period consumed. Notional amounts, purchase
guantities, and maturity dates of these contracts as of December 30, 2023 were as follows:

Notional Total
Commodity Type Amount Purchase Quantity Maturity Dates
Hot rolled steel coil $ 7,844 8,500 short tons December 2023 to April 2024
Natural gas 4,272 960,475 MMBtu January 2024 to October 2025
Diesel fuel 542 1,890,000 gallons January 2024 to September 2024

Net Investment Hedges

In fiscal 2019, the Company entered into two fixed-for-fixed cross currency swaps ("CCS"), swapping U.S. dollar
principal and interest payments on a portion of its 5.00 % senior unsecured notes due in fiscal 2044 for Danish krone (“DKK”")
and Euro denominated payments. The CCS were entered into in order to mitigate foreign currency risk on the Company’s
Euro and DKK investments and to reduce interest expense. Interest is exchanged twice per year on April 1 and October 1.

The Company designated the initial full notional amount of the two CCS ($ 130,000 ) as a hedge of the net investment
in certain Danish and European subsidiaries under the spot method, with all changes in the fair value of the CCS that are
included in the assessment of effectiveness (changes due to spot foreign exchange rates) recorded as cumulative foreign
currency translation within AOCI. Net interest receipts will be recorded as a reduction of interest expense over the life of the
CCs.

In the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2022, the Company settled the DKK CCS and received proceeds of $ 3,532 .
Due to the sale of the offshore wind energy structures business in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2022, the Company reclassified
the cumulative net investment hedge gain of $ 4,827 ($ 3,620 after-tax) from AOCI to “Other income (expenses)” in the
Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

Key terms of the Euro CCS are as follows:

Notional Swapped Set Settlement
Currency Amount Termination Date Interest Rate Amount
Euro $ 80,000 April 1, 2024 2.825% € 71,550
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(17) WARRANTIES

The Company’s product warranty accrual reflects management'’s best estimate of the probable liability under its
product warranties. Historical product claims data is used to estimate the cost of product warranties at the time revenue is
recognized.

Changes in the product warranty accrual, which are recorded in “Other accrued expenses” in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets, for the fiscal years ended December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 were as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended

December 30, December 31,
2023 2022
Balance, beginning of period $ 19,773 $ 21,308
Payments made (17,072) (10,569)
Change in liability for warranties issued during the period 24,096 12,866
Change in liability for pre-existing warranties (4,363) (3,832)
Balance, end of period $ 22,434 $ 19,773

(18) COMMITMENTS & CONTINGENCIES

Various claims and lawsuits are pending against the Company and certain of its subsidiaries. The Company cannot
fully determine the effect of all asserted and unasserted claims on its consolidated results of operations, financial condition, or
liquidity. Where asserted and unasserted claims are considered probable and reasonably estimable, a liability has been
recorded. The Company does not expect that any known lawsuits, claims, environmental costs, commitments, or contingent
liabilities will have a material adverse effect on the consolidated results of operations, financial condition, or liquidity.

(19) DEFINED BENEFIT RETIREMENT PLAN

Delta Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, is the sponsor of the Delta Pension Plan (the "Plan”). The Plan
provides defined benefit retirement income to eligible employees in the United Kingdom (“U.K.”). Pension retirement benefits
to qualified employees are 1.67 % of final salary per year of service upon reaching the age of 65 years . The Plan has no
active employees as members as of December 30, 2023.

Funded Status

The Company recognizes the overfunded or underfunded status of the pension plan as an asset or liability. The
funded status represents the difference between the projected benefit obligation (“PBO”) and the fair value of the plan assets.
The PBO is the present value of benefits earned to date by plan participants, including the effect of assumed future salary
increases (if applicable) and inflation. Plan assets are measured at fair value. Because the Plan is denominated in British
pounds, the Company used exchange rates of $ 1.273 /£ and $ 1.209 /£ to translate the net pension asset into U.S. dollars as
of December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. The PBO was $ 477,763 as of December 30, 2023. The net
funded status of $ 15,404 as of December 30, 2023 is recorded as a non-current asset reflecting, in part, an actuarial loss for
the period from December 31, 2022 to December 30, 2023 attributed to a slight decrease in the discount rate.

Projected Benefit Obligation and Fair Value of Plan Assets —The accumulated benefit obligation (“ABQO”) is the
present value of benefits earned to date, assuming no future compensation growth.

As there are no active employees in the plan, the ABO is equal to the PBO for all years presented. The overfunded
ABO represents the difference between the PBO and the fair value of plan assets.
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Changes in the PBO and fair value of plan assets for the Plan for the period from December 31, 2022 to December

30, 2023 were as follows:

Projected
Benefit Plan Funded
Obligation Assets Status
Fair value as of December 31, 2022 $ 435,711 $ 459,927 $ 24,216
Employer contributions — 17,345
Interest cost 21,555 —
Actual return on plan assets — 10,966
Benefits paid (20,683) (20,683)
Actuarial loss 17,692 —
Currency translation 23,488 25,612
Fair value as of December 30, 2023 $ 477,763  $ 493,167 $ 15,404

The actuarial loss increased the projected benefit obligation and resulted primarily from a decrease in the discount

rate from 4.80 % in fiscal 2022 to 4.50 % in fiscal 2023.

Changes in the PBO and fair value of plan assets for the Plan for the period from December 25, 2021 to December

31, 2022 were as follows:

Projected
Benefit Plan Funded
Obligation Assets Status
Fair value as of December 25, 2021 $ 761,706 $ 761,170 $ (536)
Employer contributions — 17,155
Interest cost 12,551 —
Actual return on plan assets — (228,493)
Benefits paid (20,175) (20,175)
Actuarial gain (248,252) —
Currency translation (70,119) (69,730)
Fair value as of December 31, 2022 $ 435711  $ 459,927 % 24,216

The actuarial gain decreased the project benefit obligation and resulted from an increase in the discount rate from

1.90 % in fiscal 2021 to 4.80 % in fiscal 2022.

Pre-tax amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as of December 30, 2023 and

December 31, 2022 consisted of actuarial losses, as follows:

Balance as of December 25, 2021 $ (60,940)
Actuarial loss (2,915)
Amortization of prior service costs 493
Currency translation gain 5,451
Balance as of December 31, 2022 (57,911)
Actuarial loss (28,071)
Amortization of prior service costs 498
Currency translation loss (3,667)
Balance as of December 30, 2023 $ (89,151)
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Assumptions— The weighted-average actuarial assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation as of December
30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 were as follows:

December 30, December 31,
2023 2022
Discount rate 4.50 % 4.80 %
Salary increase N/A N/A
Consumer Price Index ("CPI") inflation 2.25% 2.35%
Retail Price Index ("RPI") inflation 3.05 % 3.25%

Cost/(Benefit)

Pension cost (benefit) is determined based on the annual service cost of benefits (the actuarial cost of benefits earned
during a period) and the interest cost on those liabilities, less the expected return on plan assets. The interest cost component
is calculated using the full yield curve approach to estimate the interest cost by applying the specific spot rates along the yield
curve used to determine the present value of the benefit plan obligations to relevant cash outflows for the corresponding year.
The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is applied to the fair value of plan assets. Differences in actual
experience in relation to assumptions are not recognized in net earnings immediately, but are deferred and, if necessary,
amortized as pension cost.

The components of the net periodic pension cost (benefit) for the fiscal years ended December 30, 2023 and
December 31, 2022 were as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended

December 30, December 31,
2023 2022
Interest cost $ 21,555 $ 12,551
Expected return on plan assets (21,804) (23,131)
Amortization of prior service costs 498 493
Net periodic pension cost (benefit) $ 249 $ (10,087)

Assumptions—The weighted-average actuarial assumptions used to determine the cost (benefit) were as follows for
the fiscal years ended December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022:

December 30, December 31,

2023 2022
Discount rate for benefit obligations 4.80 % 1.90 %
Discount rate for interest cost 4.90 % 1.80 %
Expected return on plan assets 4.85 % 3.48 %
CPl inflation 2.35% 2.70 %
RPI inflation 3.25% 3.30 %

The discount rate is based on the yields of AA-rated corporate bonds with durational periods similar to that of the
pension liabilities. The expected return on plan assets is based on the asset allocation mix and the historical return, taking into
account current and expected market conditions. The expected return on plan assets increased from 3.48 % to 4.85 % for
fiscal 2023 as the investment composition has more liability matching versus return-seeking assets. Inflation is based on
expected changes in the CPI or the RPI in the U.K. depending on the relevant plan provisions.

Cash Contributions

The Company completed negotiations with Plan trustees in fiscal 2022 regarding annual funding for the Plan. The
annual contributions into the Plan are approximately $ 16,700 (£ 13,100 ) per annum as part of the Plan’s recovery plan, along
with a contribution to cover the administrative costs of the Plan of approximately $ 1,700 (£ 1,300 ) per annum. In the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2020, the Company made its required fiscal 2021 annual contribution in addition to the required fiscal 2020
annual contribution that was made earlier in fiscal 2020.

72




Table of Contents

VALMONT INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Benefit Payments

The following table details expected pension benefit payments for the fiscal years 2024 through 2033:

2024 $ 21,641
2025 22,278
2026 23,042
2027 23,678
2028 24,442
2029 - 2033 133,540

Asset Allocation Strategy

The investment strategy for pension plan assets is to maintain a diversified portfolio consisting of
e Long-term fixed-income securities that are investment grade or government -backed in nature,
e Common stock mutual funds in U.K. and non-U.K. companies, and

e Diversified growth funds, which are invested in a number of investments, including common stock, fixed income
funds, properties, and commodities.

The Plan, as required by U.K. law, has an independent trustee that sets investment policy. The general strategy is to
invest approximately 50 % of the assets of the Plan in common stock mutual funds and diversified growth funds, with the
remainder of the investments in long-term fixed income securities, including corporate bonds and index-linked U.K. gilts. The
trustees regularly consult with representatives of the Plan sponsor and independent advisors on such matters.

The pension plan investments are held in a trust. The weighted average maturity of the corporate bond portfolio was
13 years as of December 30, 2023.

Fair Value Measurements

The pension plan assets are valued at fair value. The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used
for the investments measured at fair value, including the general classification of such instruments pursuant to the valuation
hierarchy.

Leveraged Inflation-Linked Gilts—These investments are a combination of U.K. government-backed securities (such
as bonds or other fixed income securities issued directly by the U.K. Treasury) money market instruments, and derivatives
combined to give leveraged exposure to changes in the U.K. long-term interest and inflation rates. These funds are expected
to offset a proportion of the impact changes in the long-term interest and inflation rates in the U.K. have on the pension plan’s
benefit plan obligation liability. The fair value recorded by the Plan is calculated using net asset value (“NAV”) for each
investment.

Temporary Cash Investments—These investments consist of British pounds, reported in terms of U.S. dollars based
on currency exchange rates readily available in active markets. These temporary cash investments are classified as Level 1
investments.

Corporate Bonds—Corporate bonds and debentures consist of fixed income securities issued by U.K. corporations.
The fair value recorded by the Plan is calculated using NAV for each investment.

Corporate Stock—This investment category consists of common and preferred stock, including mutual funds, issued
by U.K. and non-U.K. corporations. The fair value recorded by the Plan is calculated using NAV for each investment.
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Secured Income Asset Funds—This investment category consists of holdings that have a high level of expected
inflation linkage. Examples of underlying asset classes are rental streams and infrastructure debt. Due to the private nature of
these investments, pricing inputs are not readily observable. Asset valuations are developed by the fund manager. These
valuations are based on the application of public market multiples to private company cash flows, market transactions that
provide valuation information for comparable companies, and other methods. The fair value recorded by the Plan is calculated
using NAV.

As of December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the pension plan assets measured at fair value on a recurring
basis were as follows:

Fair Value Measurement Using:

December 30, 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Plan assets at fair value:
Temporary cash investments $ 7,077 % — 3 — 3 7,077
Plan assets at NAV:
Leveraged inflation-linked gilt funds 216,405
Corporate bonds 74,440
Corporate stock 72,548
Secured income asset funds 122,697
Total plan assets at NAV 486,090
Total plan assets $ 493,167

Fair Value Measurement Using:

December 31, 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Plan assets at fair value:
Temporary cash investments $ 5,916 $ — % — % 5,916
Plan assets at NAV:
Leveraged inflation-linked gilt funds 206,555
Corporate bonds 63,953
Corporate stock 55,379
Secured income asset funds 128,124
Total plan assets at NAV 454,011
Total plan assets $ 459,927

(20) LEASES

The Company has operating leases for plant locations, corporate offices, sales offices, and certain equipment.
Outstanding leases as of December 30, 2023 have remaining lease terms of one year to twenty-three years , some of which
include options to extend leases for up to ten years . The Company does not have any financing leases. The Company
elected to not separate lease and non-lease components for all classes of underlying assets.

The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating leases are included in “Other non-
current assets”, “Other accrued expenses”, and “Operating lease liabilities” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. ROU assets
represent the right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the obligation to make future
lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at the commencement date
based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. The Company used its collateralized incremental
borrowing rate in determining the present value of future lease payments. The operating lease ROU assets are adjusted for
any lease payments made, lease incentives, and impairments. The lease terms for some of the Company'’s facility leases
include options to extend the lease when it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised. Lease expense is
recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Lease cost and other information related to the Company’s operating leases as of and for the fiscal year ended
December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 were as follows:

December 30, December 31,
2023 2022
Operating lease cost $ 33,714 $ 31,062
Operating cash outflows from operating leases $ 34,967 $ 33,150
ROU assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations $ 25,688 $ 27,480
Weighted average remaining lease term 16 years 17 years
Weighted average discount rate 4.4 % 4.2 %

Operating lease cost includes approximately $ 1,900 for short-term lease costs and approximately $ 4,800 for variable
lease payments in fiscal 2023.

Supplemental balance sheet information related to operating leases as of December 30, 2023 and December 31,
2022 was as follows:

December 30, December 31,

Classification 2023 2022
Operating lease assets Other non-current assets $ 171,616 $ 162,930
Operating lease short-term liabilites ~ Other accrued expenses 19,553 16,857
Operating lease long-term liabilities Operating lease liabilities 162,743 155,469
Total lease liabilities $ 182,296 $ 172,326

Minimum lease payments under operating leases expiring subsequent to December 30, 2023 are as follows:

Fiscal year ending:

2024 $ 27,924
2025 26,507
2026 22,613
2027 17,288
2028 15,384
Subsequent 140,573

Total minimum lease payments 250,289
Less: Interest 67,993

Present value of minimum lease payments $ 182,296

(21) BUSINESS SEGMENTS

The Company has two reportable segments based on its management structure. Each segment is global in nature
with a manager responsible for segment operational performance and the allocation of capital within the segment. Net
corporate expense is net of certain service-related expenses that are allocated to business units generally based on employee
headcounts and sales dollars.

Reportable segments are as follows:

INFRASTRUCTURE: This segment consists of the manufacture and distribution of products and solutions to
serve the infrastructure markets of utility, solar, lighting, transportation, and telecommunications, along with coatings
services to protect metal products.

AGRICULTURE: This segment consists of the manufacture of center pivot components and linear irrigation

equipment for agricultural markets, including parts and tubular products, and advanced technology solutions for
precision agriculture.
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In addition to these two reportable segments, the Company had a business and related activities in fiscal 2022 that
were not more than 10% of consolidated sales, operating income, or assets. This business, the offshore wind energy
structures business, was reported in the “Other” segment until its divestiture in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2022.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in Note 1. The Company
evaluates the performance of its reportable segments based on operating income and return on invested capital. The
Company'’s operating income for segment purposes excludes unallocated corporate general and administrative expenses,
interest expense, non-operating income and deductions, or income taxes.

Summary by Business
Fiscal Year Ended
December 30, December 31, December 25,
2023 2022 2021
SALES:
Infrastructure $ 3,010,067 $ 2,928,419 $ 2,372,100
Agriculture 1,182,223 1,346,672 1,028,717
Other — 100,219 123,001
Total sales 4,192,290 4,375,310 3,523,818
INTERSEGMENT SALES:
Infrastructure (10,430) (18,673) (10,576)
Agriculture (7,262) (11,387) (11,667)
Total intersegment sales (17,692) (30,060) (22,243)
NET SALES:
Infrastructure 2,999,637 2,909,746 2,361,524
Agriculture 1,174,961 1,335,285 1,017,050
Other — 100,219 123,001
Total net sales $ 4,174598 $ 4,345250 $ 3,501,575
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS):
Infrastructure 396,253 354,499 273,598
Agriculture 16,850 179,263 137,027
Other — 2,259 (40,192)
Corporate (121,546) (102,772) (83,648)
Total operating income $ 291,557 % 433,249 $ 286,785
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Fiscal year ended December 30, 2023

Infrastructure Agriculture Intersegment Consolidated

Geographical market:
North America $ 2318801 $ 587,056 $ (16,282) $ 2,889,575
International 691,266 595,167 (1,410) 1,285,023
Total sales $ 3,010,067 $ 1,182,223  $ (17,692) $ 4,174,598

Product line:

Transmission, Distribution, and Substation $ 1243768 $ —  $ — % 1,243,768
Lighting and Transportation 964,072 — — 964,072
Coatings 354,330 — (9,020) 345,310
Telecommunications 252,165 — — 252,165
Solar 195,732 — (1,410) 194,322
Irrigation Equipment and Parts — 1,069,425 (7,262) 1,062,163
Technology Products and Services — 112,798 — 112,798
Total sales $ 3,010,067 $ 1,182,223  $ (17,692) $ 4,174,598

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2022

Infrastructure  Agriculture Other Intersegment  Consolidated

Geographical market:
North America $ 2234339 $ 766,929 $ — $ (26,248) $ 2,975,020
International 694,080 579,743 100,219 (3,812) 1,370,230
Total sales $ 2928419 $ 1,346672 $ 100,219 $ (30,060) $ 4,345,250

Product line:

Transmission, Distribution, and Substation $ 1,184,660 $ — 3 — % — $ 1,184,660
Lighting and Transportation 940,462 — — — 940,462
Coatings 356,707 — — (15,327) 341,380
Telecommunications 320,342 — — — 320,342
Solar 126,248 — — (3,346) 122,902
Irrigation Equipment and Parts — 1,231,587 — (11,387) 1,220,200
Technology Products and Services — 115,085 — — 115,085
Other — — 100,219 — 100,219
Total sales $ 2,928,419 $ 1,346,672 $ 100,219 $ (30,060) $ 4,345,250

Fiscal year ended December 25, 2021

Infrastructure  Agriculture Other Intersegment  Consolidated

Geographical market:
North America $ 1724531 $ 545574 $ — $ (22,243) $ 2,247,862
International 647,569 483,143 123,001 — 1,253,713
Total sales $ 2,372,100 $ 1,028,717 $ 123,001 $ (22,243) $ 3,501,575

Product line:

Transmission, Distribution, and Substation $ 935,099 $ — % — % — % 935,099
Lighting and Transportation 825,923 — — — 825,923
Coatings 309,647 — — (10,575) 299,072
Telecommunications 238,527 — — — 238,527
Solar 62,904 — — — 62,904
Irrigation Equipment and Parts — 930,858 — (11,668) 919,190
Technology Products and Services — 97,859 — — 97,859
Other — — 123,001 — 123,001
Total sales $ 2,372,100 $ 1,028,717 $ 123,001 $ (22,243) $ 3,501,575
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VALMONT INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

EARNINGS BEFORE INCOME TAXES AND EQUITY IN LOSS

OF NONCONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES:
Infrastructure
Agriculture
Other
Corporate
Total operating income
Interest expense, net
Other income (expenses)

Earnings before income taxes and equity in loss of

nonconsolidated subsidiaries

ASSETS:
Infrastructure
Agriculture
Other
Corporate

Total assets

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES:
Infrastructure
Agriculture
Other
Corporate
Total capital expenditures

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION:
Infrastructure
Agriculture
Other
Corporate
Total depreciation and amortization expense

Fiscal Year Ended

December 30,

December 31,

December 25,

2023 2022 2021
$ 396,253 $ 354,499 $ 273,598
16,850 179,263 137,027

— 2,259 (40,192)

(121,546 ) (102,772) (83,648)
291,557 433,249 286,785

(50,578) (45,519) (41,420)

(4,527) (23,842) 14,718

$ 236452 $ 363,888 $ 260,083

December 30,

December 31,

December 25,

2023 2022 2021
$ 2,249,132 $ 2,267,800 $ 2,102,851
978,590 1,112,588 1,027,272
— — 67,592
249,726 176,608 249,534
$ 3,477,448 $ 3,556,996 $ 3,447,249

Fiscal Year Ended

December 30,

December 31,

December 25,

2023 2022 2021
$ 68,295 $ 53,228 $ 72,129
10,890 32,886 17,509
— — 345
17,586 7,174 17,807
$ 96,771 $ 93,288 $ 107,790

Fiscal Year Ended

December 30,

December 31,

December 25,

2023 2022 2021
$ 64,654 $ 62,398 $ 59,748
23,409 23,681 17,813
— 1,393 5,988
10,645 9,695 9,028
$ 98,708 $ 97,167 $ 92,577
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VALMONT INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Summary by Geographical Area by Location of Valmont Facilities

Fiscal Year Ended

December 30, December 31, December 25,
2023 2022 2021
NET SALES:
United States $ 2,860,951 $ 2,965,673 $ 2,260,198
Australia 313,075 292,072 297,720
Brazil 311,367 354,497 200,402
Denmark — 100,219 123,001
Other 689,205 632,789 620,254
Total net sales $ 4,174,598 $ 4,345,250 $ 3,501,575
December 30, December 31, December 25,
2023 2022 2021
LONG-LIVED ASSETS:
United States $ 1,116,962 $ 1,246,956 $ 1,172,552
Australia 103,847 82,290 173,240
Brazil 60,937 42,259 28,583
Denmark — — 21,232
Other 408,073 404,906 338,879
Total long-lived assets $ 1,689,819 $ 1,776,411 $ 1,734,486

No single customer accounted for more than 10% of net sales in fiscal 2023, 2022, or 2021. Net sales by
geographical area are based on the location of the facility producing the sales and do not include sales to other operating units
of the Company. Brazil and Australia each accounted for approximately 7 % of the Company'’s net sales in fiscal 2023; no
other foreign country accounted for more than 4% of the Company’s net sales.

Operating income by business segment is based on net sales less identifiable operating expenses and allocations and
includes profits recorded on sales to other operating units of the Company. Long-lived assets consist of property, plant, and
equipment, net of depreciation; goodwill; other intangible assets, net of amortization; and other non-current assets. Long-lived
assets by geographical area are based on the location of facilities.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s
management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design
and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are
effective in providing reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports the
Company files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is (1) accumulated and communicated to management,
including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosures and (2) recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the periods specified in the Commission’s rules and
forms.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The Company carried out an
evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
The Company’s management used criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013), issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, to perform this evaluation. Based on that evaluation,
the Company’s management concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 30, 2023.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 30, 2023 has been

audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, a copy of which
is included in this annual report on Form 10-K.

80




Table of Contents

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of Valmont Industries, Inc.
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Valmont Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of
December 30, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 30, 2023, based on criteria established in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 30, 2023, of the Company and our
report dated February 28, 2024, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Omabha, Nebraska
February 28, 2024
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Shareholder Return Performance Graphs

The graphs below compare the annual change in the cumulative total shareholder return on the Company’s common
stock with the cumulative total returns of the S&P MidCap 400 Index and the S&P 400 Industrial Machinery & Supplies &
Components Index for the five and ten-year periods ended December 30, 2023. The Company was added to these indexes in
2009 by S&P Global Ratings. The graphs assume that the beginning value of the investment in Valmont Industries, Inc.
common stock and each index was $100 and that all dividends were reinvested.
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ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

Not applicable.
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PART Il
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Except for the information relating to the executive officers of the Company set forth in Part | of this Form 10-K, the
information called for by Iltems 10, 11, and 13 is incorporated by reference to the sections entitled “Certain Shareholders”,
“Corporate Governance”, “Board of Directors and Election of Directors”, “Board Committees”, “Compensation Discussion and
Analysis”, “Compensation Risk Assessment”, “Human Resources Committee Report”, “Pay Ratio Information”, “Summary
Compensation Table”, “Grants of Plan-Based Awards for Fiscal 2023”, “Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End”,
“Options Exercised and Stock Vested in Fiscal 2023", “Nonqualified Deferred Compensation”, “Director Compensation”, and
“Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change-in-Control” in the Company’s Proxy Statement.

The Company has adopted a Code of Ethics for Senior Officers that applies to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer, and Controller and has posted the code on its website at www.valmont.com through the “Investor
Relations” link. The Company intends to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K relating to
amendments to or waivers from any provision of the Code of Ethics for Senior Officers applicable to the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, or Controller by posting that information on the Company’s website
at www.valmont.com through the “Investor Relations” link.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

See Item 10.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections titled “Certain Shareholders”
and “Equity Compensation” in the Company’s Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
See Item 10.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section titled “Ratification of
Appointment of Independent Auditors” in the Company’s Proxy Statement.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBIT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a)(1)(2) Financial Statements and Schedules

The following Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company and its subsidiaries are included herein as listed
below:

Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID No. 34) 39
Consolidated Statements of Earnings—Three-Year Period Ended December 30, 2023 41
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income—Three-Year Period Ended December 30, 2023 42
Consolidated Balance Sheets—December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 43
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows—Three-Year Period Ended December 30, 2023 44
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity and Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests—Three-Year Period

Ended December 30, 2023 45
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—Three-Year Period Ended December 30, 2023 46

All financial statement schedules have been omitted as the required information is not applicable, not required, or the
information is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or related notes. Separate financial statements of the
registrant have been omitted because the registrant meets the requirements which permit omission.

3) Index to Exhibits
See exhibits listed under Part B below.

(b)  Exhibits

Exhibit 3.1 — The Company’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended. This document was filed as Exhibit
3.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission file number 001-31429) for the

quarter ended March 28, 2009 and is incorporated herein by this reference.

Exhibit 3.2 — The Company’s By-Laws, as amended. This document was filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K dated December 13, 2022 and is incorporated herein (Commission file number 001-
31429) by reference.

Exhibit 4.1* — Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of October 18, 2021, among the Company.
Valmont Industries Holland B.V. and Valmont Group Pty. Ltd., as Borrowers, JPMorgan Chase Bank
NL.A., as Administrative Agent, and the other lenders party thereto together with the First Amendment
dated as of May 16, 2022 and the Second Amendment dated as of February 17, 2023.

Exhibit 4.2 — Indenture relating to senior debt, dated as of April 12, 2010, among Valmont Industries, Inc., the
Subsidiary Guarantors party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association., as Trustee. This
document was filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission file
number 001-31429) dated April 12, 2010 and is incorporated herein by this reference.

Exhibit 4.3 — First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 12, 2010, to indenture relating to senior debt, dated as of
April 12, 2010, among Valmont Industries, Inc., the Subsidiary Guarantors party thereto and Wells Fargo
Bank, National Association, as Trustee. This document was filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current

Report on Form 8-K (Commission file number 001-31429) dated April 12, 2010 and is incorporated
herein by this reference.

Exhibit 4.4 — Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 22, 2014, to Indenture relating to senior debt,
dated as of April 12, 2010, among Valmont Industries, Inc., the Subsidiary Guarantors party thereto and
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trustee. This document was filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the

Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission file number 001-31429) dated September 22, 2014
and is incorporated herein by this reference.
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Exhibit 4.5 —

Exhibit 4.6 —

Exhibit 10.1  —

Exhibit 10.2  —

Exhibit 10.3  —

Exhibit 104  —

Exhibit 10.5 — —

Exhibit 10.6 ~ —

Exhibit 10.7 —

Exhibit 10.8  —

Exhibit 10.9 —

Exhibit 10.10 —

Exhibit 10.11 —

Exhibit 10.12 —

Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 22, 2014, to Indenture relating to senior debt,
dated as of April 12, 2010, among Valmont Industries, Inc., the Subsidiary Guarantors party thereto and
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trustee. This document was filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the

Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission file number 001-31429) dated September 22, 2014

and is incorporated herein by this reference.

Description of Registrant’s Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act

of 1934. This document was filed as Exhibit 4.9 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
(Commission file number 001-31429) for the year ended December 28, 2019 and is incorporated herein

by this reference.

The Company’s 2013 Stock Plan. This document was filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K (Commission file number 001-31429) dated April 30, 2013 and is incorporated

herein by reference.

2013 Stock Plan Amendment, dated December 17, 2015. This document was filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission file number 001-31429) for the year ended
December 26, 2015 and is incorporated herein by this reference.

The Company’s 2018 Stock Plan. This document was filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K (Commission file number 001-31429) dated March 12, 2018 and is incorporated

herein by reference.

The Company’s 2022 Stock Plan. This document was filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current
Report on Form 8-K dated March 14, 2022 (Commission file number 001-1429) and herein incorporated

by reference.

Form of Stock Option Agreement. This document was filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K (Commission file number 001-31429) for the year ended December 25, 2021 and is
incorporated herein by this reference.

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Domestic). This document was filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission file number 001-31429) for the year ended
December 25, 2021 and is incorporated herein by this reference.

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Director). This document was filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission file number 001-31429) for the year ended
December 25, 2021 and is incorporated herein by this reference.

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (International). This document was filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the

Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission file number 001-31429) for the year ended
December 25, 2021 and is incorporated herein by this reference.

The Valmont Executive Incentive Plan. This document was filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s

Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission file number 001-31429) dated April 30, 2013 and is

incorporated herein by reference.

The Amended Unfunded Deferred Compensation Plan for Nonemployee Directors. This document was
filed as Exhibit 10.15 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission file number 001-
31429) for the fiscal year ended December 28, 2013 and is incorporated herein by this reference.

VERSP Deferred Compensation Plan. This document was filed as Exhibit 10.16 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission file number 001-31429) for the fiscal year ended December

28, 2013 and is incorporated herein by this reference.

Separation and Release Agreement between Stephen G. Kaniewski and Valmont Industries, Inc. dated

August 1, 2023. This document was filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission file number 001-31429) dated August 1, 2023 and is incorporated herein by reference.
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Exhibit 19.1* —
Exhibit 21* —

Exhibit 22.1 —

Exhibit 23* —
Exhibit 24* —
Exhibit 31.1* —
Exhibit 31.2* —
Exhibit 32.1* —
Exhibit 97.1* —

Exhibit 101 —

Exhibit 104 —

Valmont's Insider Trading Policy.

Subsidiaries of the Company .

List of Issuer and Guarantor Subsidiaries. This document was filed as Exhibit 22.1 to the Company’s
uarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission file number 001-31429) for the quarter ended September
25, 2021 and is incorporated herein by reference.

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

Power of Attorney.

Section 302 Certification of Chief Executive Officer .

Section 302 Certification of Chief Financial Officer .

Section 906 Certifications.

Valmont's Policy for the Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation .

The following financial information from the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 30, 2023, formatted in Inline XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the
Consolidated Statements of Earnings, (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, (iii)
the Consolidated Balance Sheets, (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, (v) the Consolidated
Statements of Shareholders’ Equity and Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests, (vi) Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements, and (vii) document and entity information.

Cover Page Interactive File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).

*  Filed herewith

Pursuant to Item 601(b)(4) of Regulation S-K, certain instruments with respect to the registrant’s long-term debt are
not filed with this Form 10-K. The Company will furnish a copy of such long-term debt agreements to the Securities and
Exchange Commission upon request.

Management contracts and compensatory plans are set forth as Exhibits 10.1 through 10.12.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on the 28th day of February, 2024.

SIGNATURES

Valmont Industries, Inc.

By: /sl AVNER M. APPLBAUM

Avner M. Applbaum

President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
Director, President and Chief Executive Officer
/sl AVNER M. APPLBAUM (Principal Executive Officer) 2/28/2024
Avner M. Applbaum
Senior Vice President and Interim Chief Financial Officer
/s TIMOTHY P. FRANCIS (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 2/28/2024

Timothy P. Francis

Mogens C. Bay*
K.R. den Daas*
Ritu C. Favre*
Theo W. Freye*
Richard A. Lanoha*

*  Avner M. Applbaum, by signing his name hereto, signs the Annual Report on behalf of each of the directors indicated on
this the 28th day of February, 2024. A Power of Attorney authorizing Avner M. Applbaum to sign the Annual Report on

James B. Milliken*
Daniel P. Neary*
Catherine J. Paglia*
Joan Robinson-Berry*

Form 10-K on behalf of each of the indicated directors of Valmont Industries, Inc. has been filed herein as Exhibit 24.

By: /s/ AVNER M. APPLBAUM

Avner M. Applbaum
Attorney-in-Fact
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ExHiBiT 4.1

ExecuTioN VERSION

SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT
dated as of
October 18, 2021,

among
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SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT dated as of October 18, 2021
(the "Agreement"), among VALMONT INDUSTRIES, INC., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"),
VALMONT INDUSTRIES HOLLAND B.V., a private company with limited liability, with corporate seat
in Eindhoven, the Netherlands, registered with the trade register of the Dutch chamber of commerce
under number 17072821 ("Valmont Holland"), VALMONT GROUP PTY LTD., a company
incorporated under the laws of Queensland, Australia ("Valmont Australia™), and the other
Subsidiaries of the Company who become party to this Agreement pursuant to Section 5.10 hereof,
the LENDERS party hereto, JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as Administrative Agent and J.P.
MORGAN SECURITIES LLC, as Sustainability Structuring Agent.

The Borrowers, the various financial institutions party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
as administrative agent, entered into the First Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of
October 18, 2017 (as amended by the First Amendment to First Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement, dated as of May 6, 2020 and as otherwise amended through the date hereof, the
"Existing Agreement").

The Borrowers have requested that the Lenders amend and restate the Existing Agreement,
and the Lenders are willing to do so on the terms and conditions set forth herein.

In consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, the parties hereto
covenant and agree as follows:

ARTICLE I.
Definitions

Section 1.01 Defined Terms . As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the
meanings specified below:

"ABR", when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such Loan, or the
Loans comprising such Borrowing, bears interest at a rate determined by reference to the Alternate
Base Rate. All ABR Loans shall be denominated in Dollars.

"Additional Borrower Request and Assumption Agreement" means the Additional Borrower
Request and Assumption Agreement in the form of Exhibit H or any other form approved by the
Administrative Agent.

"Adjusted AUD Rate" means, with respect to any Term Benchmark Borrowing denominated in
Australian Dollars for any Interest Period, an interest rate per annum equal to (a) the AUD Rate for
such Interest Period multiplied by (b) the Statutory Reserve Rate; provided that if the Adjusted AUD
Rate as so determined would be less than the Floor, such rate shall be deemed to be equal to the
Floor for the purposes of this Agreement.

"Adjusted CDOR Rate" means, with respect to any Term Benchmark Borrowing denominated
in Canadian Dollars for any Interest Period, an interest rate per annum equal to (a) the CDOR Rate
for such Interest Period multiplied by (b) the Statutory Reserve Rate; provided that if the Adjusted
CDOR Rate as so determined would be less than the Floor, such rate shall be deemed to be equal to
the Floor for the purposes of this Agreement.

"Adjusted Daily Simple RFR" means, (i) with respect to any RFR Borrowing denominated in
English Pounds Sterling, an interest rate per annum equal to (a) the Daily Simple RFR for English
Pounds
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Sterling, plus (b) 0.0326%, and (ii) with respect to any RFR Borrowing denominated in Dollars, an
interest rate per annum equal to (a) the Daily Simple RFR for Dollars, plus (b) 0.1%; provided that if
the Adjusted Daily Simple Rate as so determined would be less than the Floor, such rate shall be
deemed to be equal to the Floor for the purposes of this Agreement.

"Adjusted EURIBOR Rate" means, with respect to any Term Benchmark Borrowing
denominated in Euros for any Interest Period, an interest rate per annum equal to (a) the EURIBOR
Rate for such Interest Period multiplied by (b) the Statutory Reserve Rate; provided that if the
Adjusted EURIBOR Rate as so determined would be less than the Floor, such rate shall be deemed
to be equal to the Floor for the purposes of this Agreement.

"Adjusted Term SOFR Rate" means, with respect to any Term Benchmark Borrowing
denominated in Dollars for any Interest Period or with respect to the determination of the Alternate
Base Rate, an interest rate per annum equal to (a) the Term SOFR Rate for such Interest Period or,
with respect to the determination of the Alternate Base Rate, plus (b) 0.1%; provided that if the
Adjusted Term SOFR Rate as so determined would be less than the Floor, such rate shall be deemed
to be equal to the Floor for the purposes of this Agreement.

"Administrative Agent" means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., in its capacity as administrative
agent for the Lenders hereunder. For the avoidance of doubt, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. may, in
its discretion, arrange for one or more of its domestic or foreign branches or Affiliates to perform its
obligations as the Administrative Agent hereunder and in such event, the term "Administrative Agent"
shall include any such branch or Affiliate with respect to such obligations.

"Administrative Questionnaire” means an Administrative Questionnaire in a form supplied by
the Administrative Agent.

"Affected Financial Institution" means (a) any EEA Financial Institution or (b) any UK Financial
Institution.

"Affiliate" means, with respect to a specified Person, another Person that directly, or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries, Controls or is Controlled by or is under common Control with the
Person specified.

"Agent-Related Person" has the meaning assigned to it in Section 10.03(d).

"Agaregate Receivables Sales Amount" means the aggregate face amount ((x) without giving
effect to any discounts or write-offs and (y) valued as of the applicable Test Date) of all
(a) Designated Receivables sold pursuant to a Permitted Designated Receivables Sale and
(b) Securitization Receivables sold pursuant to a Permitted Securitization, in each case, during the
one-year period ending on the applicable Test Date (specifically including all Designated Receivables
Sales and/or Securitization Transactions occurring on such Test Date).

"Aggregate Revolving Commitment" means the aggregate amount of the Revolving
Commitments of the Lenders.

"Aggregate Revolving Exposure" means, with respect to all Lenders at any time, the sum of
the outstanding principal amount of the Revolving Loans and the sum of the following, without
duplication, the Foreign Currency Exposure, the LC Exposure and the Swingline Exposure at such
time; provided, that clause (a) of the definition of Swingline Exposure shall only be applicable to the
extent Lenders shall have funded their respective participations in the outstanding Swingline Loans.
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"Adreed Currencies" means Dollars and each Foreign Currency.
"Adgreement" has the meaning specified in introductory paragraph hereof.

"Alternate Base Rate" means, for any day, a rate per annum equal to the greatest of(a) the
Prime Rate in effect on such day, (b) the NYFRB Rate in effect on such day plus % of 1% and (c) the
Adjusted Term SOFR Rate for a one month Interest Period as published two U.S. Government
Securities Business Days prior to such day (or if such day is not a Business Day, the immediately
preceding Business Day) plus 1%; provided that for the purpose of this definition, the Adjusted Term
SOFR Rate for any day shall be based on the Term SOFR Reference Rate at approximately 5:00
a.m. Chicago time on such day (or any amended publication time for the Term SOFR Reference
Rate, as specified by the CME Term SOFR Administrator in the Term SOFR Reference Rate
methodology). Any change in the Alternate Base Rate due to a change in the Prime Rate, the
NYFRB Rate or the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate shall be effective from and including the effective date
of such change in the Prime Rate, the NYFRB Rate or the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate, respectively. If
the Alternate Base Rate is being used as an alternate rate of interest pursuant to Error! Reference
source not found. (for the avoidance of doubt, only until the Benchmark Replacement has been
determined pursuant to Section 2.13(b)), then the Alternate Base Rate shall be the greater of clauses
(a) and (b) above and shall be determined without reference to clause (c) above. For the avoidance
of doubt, if the Alternate Base Rate as determined pursuant to the foregoing would be less than zero,
such rate shall be deemed to be zero for purposes of this Agreement.

"Ancillary Document" has the meaning assigned to it in Section 10.06.

"Anti-Corruption Laws" means all laws, rules, and regulations of any jurisdiction applicable to
the Company or any of its Affiliates from time to time concerning or relating to bribery or corruption,
including, without limitation, the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 and the rules
and regulations thereunder and the U.K. Bribery Act 2010 and the rules and regulations thereunder.

"Anti-Money Laundering Laws" means any and all laws, statutes, regulations or obligatory
government orders, decrees, ordinances or rules applicable to a Loan Party, its Subsidiaries or
Affiliates related to terrorism financing or money laundering, including any applicable provision of the
Patriot Act and The Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act (also known as the "Bank
Secrecy Act,” 31 U.S.C. §8 5311-5330 and 12U.S.C. §8 1818(s), 1820(b) and 1951-1959).

"Applicable Foreign Loan Party Documents" has the meaning assigned to such term in
Section 3.18.

"Applicable Percentage" means, with respect to any Lender, the percentage of the Aggregate
Revolving Commitments represented by such Lender's Revolving Commitment; provided that, in
accordance with Section 2.20, so long as any Lender shall be a Defaulting Lender, such Defaulting
Lender's Commitment shall be disregarded in the foregoing calculations. If the Revolving
Commitments have terminated or expired, the Applicable Percentages shall be determined based
upon the Revolving Commitments most recently in effect, giving effect to any assignments and to any
Lender's status as a Defaulting Lender at the time of determination.

"Applicable Rate" means, for any day, with respect to any ABR Loan or Term Benchmark
Revolving Loan, RFR Revolving Loan, CBR Loan or with respect to the commitment fees payable
hereunder, as the case may be, the applicable rate per annum set forth below under the caption
"ABR Spread", "Term Benchmark and RFR Spread", or "Commitment Fee Rate", as the case may be,
based upon the ratings by S&P and Moody's, respectively, applicable on such date to the Index Debt:
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Term
Benchmark and Commitment Fee
Index Debt: RFR Spread ABR Spread Rate
Category 1: 1.000% 0.000% 0.100%
A-/A3 or higher
Category 2: 1.125% 0.125% 0.125%
BBB+/Baal
Category 3: 1.250% 0.250% 0.150%
BBB/Baa2
Category 4: 1.375% 0.375% 0.200%
BBB-/Baa3
Category 5: 1.625% 0.625% 0.250%
BB+/Bal or
lower

For purposes of the foregoing, (i) if either S&P or Moody's shall not have in effect a rating for the
Index Debt (other than by reason of the circumstances referred to in the last sentence of this
definition), then such rating agency shall be deemed to have established a rating in Category 5; (ii) if
the ratings established or deemed to have been established by S&P and Moody's for the Index Debt
shall fall within different Categories, the Applicable Rate shall be based on the higher of the two
ratings unless one of the two ratings is two or more Categories lower than the other, in which case the
Applicable Rate shall be determined by reference to the Category next below that of the higher of the
two ratings; and (iii) as of the Effective Date, the Applicable Rate is the rate set forth in Category 3;
thereafter, if the ratings established or deemed to have been established by S&P and Moody's for the
Index Debt shall be changed (other than as a result of a change in the rating system of S&P or
Moody's), such change shall be effective as of the date on which it is first announced by the
applicable rating agency, irrespective of when notice of such change shall have been furnished by the
Company to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders pursuant to Section 5.01 or otherwise. Each
change in the Applicable Rate shall apply during the period commencing on the effective date of such
change and ending on the date immediately preceding the effective date of the next such change. If
the rating system of S&P or Moody's shall change, or if either such rating agency shall cease to be in
the business of rating corporate debt obligations, the Borrowers and the Lenders shall negotiate in
good faith to amend this definition to reflect such changed rating system or the unavailability of
ratings from such rating agency and, pending the effectiveness of any such amendment, the
Applicable Rate shall be determined by reference to the rating most recently in effect prior to such
change or cessation. It is hereby understood and agreed that the Applicable Rate with respect to
Term Benchmark Loans, ABR Loans and the Letter of Credit fees shall be adjusted from time to time
based upon the Sustainability Rate Adjustment and the Sustainability Commitment Fee Adjustment
(to be calculated and applied as set forth in Section 2.24).

"Applicable Time" means, with respect to any Borrowings and payments in any Foreign
Currency, the local time in the place of settlement for such Foreign Currency as may be determined
by the Administrative Agent or the applicable Issuing Bank, as the case may be, to be necessary for
timely settlement on the relevant date in accordance with normal banking procedures in the place of
payment.

"Approved Electronic Platform" has the meaning assigned to it in Section 9.03(a).
"Approved Fund" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 10.04.

"Arrangers" means, collectively, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., BofA Securities, Inc., Citibank,
N.A., U.S. Bank National Association and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC.
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"Assessment Act" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.16(h).

"Assignment and Assumption” means an Assignment and Assumption entered into by a
Lender and an assignee (with the consent of any party whose consent is required by Section 10.04),
and accepted by the Administrative Agent, in the form of Exhibit A or any other form (including
electronic records generated by the use of an electronic platform) approved by the Administrative
Agent.

"Attributed Principal Amount® means, on any day, with respect to any Securitization
Transaction entered into by a Receivables Seller, the aggregate outstanding amount of the
obligations (whether or not constituting indebtedness under GAAP) of any Eligible Special Purpose
Entity as of such date under such Securitization Transaction.

"AUD Rate" means, with respect to any Term Benchmark Borrowing denominated in
Australian Dollars and for any Interest Period, the AUD Screen Rate at approximately 11:00 a.m.
(Sydney, Australia time) on the first day of such Interest Period.

"AUD Screen Rate" means with respect to any Interest Period, the average bid reference rate
administered by ASX Benchmarks Pty Limited (ACN 616 075 417) (or any other Person that takes
over the administration of such rate) for Australian Dollar bills of exchange with a tenor equal in length
to such Interest Period as displayed on page BBSY of the Reuters screen (or, in the event such rate
does not appear on such Reuters page, on any successor or substitute page on such screen that
displays such rate, or on the appropriate page of such other information service that publishes such
rate as shall be selected by the Administrative Agent from time to time in its reasonable discretion) at
or about 11:00 a.m. (Sydney, Australia time) on the first day of such Interest Period.

"Australian Dollars" means the lawful currency of Australia.
"Australian Loan Party" means a Loan Party incorporated under Australian law.

"Available Tenor" means, as of any date of determination and with respect to the then-current
Benchmark for any Agreed Currency, as applicable, any tenor for such Benchmark (or component
thereof) or payment period for interest calculated with reference to such Benchmark (or component
thereof), as applicable, that is or may be used for determining the length of an Interest Period for any
term rate or otherwise, for determining any frequency of making payments of interest calculated
pursuant to this Agreement as of such date and not including, for the avoidance of doubt, any tenor
for such Benchmark that is then-removed from the definition of "Interest Period" pursuant to clause (e)
of Error! Reference source not found..

"Bail-In_Action" means the exercise of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by the
applicable Resolution Authority in respect of any liability of an Affected Financial Institution.

"Bail-In Legislation" means (a) with respect to any EEA Member Country implementing Article
55 of Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of the European Union, the
implementing law, regulation rule or requirement for such EEA Member Country from time to time
which is described in the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule and (b) with respect to the United Kingdom,
Part | of the United Kingdom Banking Act 2009 (as amended from time to time) and any other law,
regulation or rule applicable in the United Kingdom relating to the resolution of unsound or failing
banks, investment firms or other financial institutions or their affiliates (other than through liquidation,
administration or other insolvency proceedings).
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"Bankruptcy Code" means Title 11 of the United States Code entitled "Bankruptcy”, as now
and hereafter in effect, or any successor statute.

"Bankruptcy Event' means, with respect to any Person, such Person becomes the subject of a
voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding, or has had a receiver, conservator,
trustee, administrator, custodian, assignee for the benefit of creditors or similar Person charged with
the reorganization or liquidation of its business appointed for it, or, in the good faith determination of
the Administrative Agent, has taken any action in furtherance of, or indicating its consent to, approval
of, or acquiescence in, any such proceeding or appointment or has had any order for relief in such
proceeding entered in respect thereof; provided that a Bankruptcy Event shall not result solely by
virtue of any ownership interest, or the acquisition of any ownership interest, in such Person by a
Governmental Authority or instrumentality thereof, unless such ownership interest results in or
provides such Person with immunity from the jurisdiction of courts within the United States or from the
enforcement of judgments or writs of attachment on its assets or permits such Person (or such
Governmental Authority or instrumentality) to reject, repudiate, disavow or disaffirm any contracts or
agreements made by such Person.

"Benchmark" means, initially, with respect to any (i) RFR Loan in any Agreed Currency, the
applicable Relevant Rate for such Agreed Currency or (ii) Term Benchmark Loan, the Relevant Rate
for such Agreed Currency; provided that if a Benchmark Transition Event, and the related Benchmark
Replacement Date have occurred with respect to the applicable Relevant Rate or the then-current
Benchmark for such Agreed Currency, then "Benchmark” means the applicable Benchmark
Replacement to the extent that such Benchmark Replacement has replaced such prior benchmark
rate pursuant to clause (b) of Error! Reference source not found..

"Benchmark Replacement" means, for any Available Tenor:

the sum of: (a) the alternate benchmark rate that has been selected by the Administrative
Agent and the Company as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark for the applicable
Corresponding Tenor giving due consideration to (i) any selection or recommendation of a
replacement benchmark rate or the mechanism for determining such a rate by the Relevant
Governmental Body or (ii) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention for determining a
benchmark rate as a replacement for the then-current Benchmark for syndicated credit
facilities denominated in the applicable Agreed Currency at such time in the United States and
(b) the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment;

If the Benchmark Replacement as determined pursuant to the above would be less than the
Floor, the Benchmark Replacement will be deemed to be the Floor for the purposes of this Agreement
and the other Loan Documents.

"Benchmark Replacement Adjustment" means, with respect to any replacement of the then-
current Benchmark with an Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for any applicable Interest Period
and Available Tenor for any setting of such Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement, the spread
adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a
positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected by the Administrative Agent and the
Company for the applicable Corresponding Tenor giving due consideration to (i) any selection or
recommendation of a spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread
adjustment, for the replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark
Replacement by the Relevant Governmental Body on the applicable Benchmark Replacement Date
and/or (ii) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention for determining a spread adjustment, or
method for calculating or determining such spread
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adjustment, for the replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark
Replacement for syndicated credit facilities denominated in the applicable Agreed Currency at such
time.

"Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes" means, with respect to any Benchmark
Replacement and/or any Term Benchmark Revolving Loan denominated in Dollars, any technical,

administrative or operational changes (including changes to the definition of "Alternate Base Rate,"
the definition of "Business Day," the definition of "U.S. Government Securities Business Day," the
definition of "RFR Business Day," the definition of "Interest Period,” timing and frequency of
determining rates and making payments of interest, timing of borrowing requests or prepayment,
conversion or continuation notices, length of lookback periods, the applicability of breakage
provisions, and other technical, administrative or operational matters) that the Administrative Agent
decides, in its reasonable discretion after consultation with the Company, may be appropriate to
reflect the adoption and implementation of such Benchmark and to permit the administration thereof
by the Administrative Agent in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the
Administrative Agent decides that adoption of any portion of such market practice is not
administratively feasible or if the Administrative Agent reasonably determines that no market practice
for the administration of such Benchmark exists, in such other manner of administration as the
Administrative Agent decides is reasonably necessary in connection with the administration of this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents).

"Benchmark Replacement Date" means, with respect to any Benchmark, the earliest to occur
of the following events with respect to such then-current Benchmark:

(1) in the case of clause (1) or (2) of the definition of "Benchmark Transition Event," the later of
(a) the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein and (b) the date
on which the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation
thereof) permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or
such component thereof); or

(2) in the case of clause (3) of the definition of "Benchmark Transition Event," the first date on
which such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) has been
determined and announced by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or
such component thereof) to be no longer representative; provided, that such non-representativeness
will be determined by reference to the most recent statement or publication referenced in such clause
(c) and even if any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) continues to be
provided on such date.

For the avoidance of doubt, (i) if the event giving rise to the Benchmark Replacement Date
occurs on the same day as, but earlier than, the Reference Time in respect of any determination, the
Benchmark Replacement Date will be deemed to have occurred prior to the Reference Time for such
determination and (ii) the "Benchmark Replacement Date" will be deemed to have occurred in the
case of clause (1) or (2) with respect to any Benchmark upon the occurrence of the applicable event
or events set forth therein with respect to all then-current Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or the
published component used in the calculation thereof).

"Benchmark Transition Event" means, with respect to any Benchmark, the occurrence of one
or more of the following events with respect to such then-current Benchmark:

(1) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of such
Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) announcing that such
administrator has ceased or will cease to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such
component thereof), permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or
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publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide any Available Tenor of
such Benchmark (or such component thereof);

(2) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the
administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof), the
Federal Reserve Board, the NYFRB, the CME Term SOFR Administrator, the central bank for the
Agreed Currency applicable to such Benchmark, an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the
administrator for such Benchmark (or such component), a resolution authority with jurisdiction over
the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component) or a court or an entity with similar
insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component), in
each case, which states that the administrator of such Benchmark (or such component) has ceased or
will cease to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof)
permanently or indefinitely; provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no
successor administrator that will continue to provide any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such
component thereof); or

(3) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the
administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof)
announcing that all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) are no longer,
or as of a specified future date will no longer be, representative.

For the avoidance of doubt, a "Benchmark Transition Event" will be deemed to have occurred
with respect to any Benchmark if a public statement or publication of information set forth above has
occurred with respect to each then-current Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or the published
component used in the calculation thereof).

"Benchmark Unavailability Period" means, with respect to any Benchmark, the period (if any)
(x) beginning at the time that a Benchmark Replacement Date pursuant to clauses (1) or (2) of that
definition has occurred if, at such time, no Benchmark Replacement has replaced such then-current
Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in accordance with Section
2.13 and (y) ending at the time that a Benchmark Replacement has replaced such then-current
Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in accordance with Section
2.13.

"Beneficial Ownership Certification" means a certification regarding beneficial ownership or
control as required by the Beneficial Ownership Regulation.

Beneficial Ownership Regulation" means 31 C.F.R. § 1010.230.

"Benefit Plan" means any of (a) an "employee benefit plan" (as defined in Section 3(3) of
ERISA) that is subject to Title | of ERISA, (b) a "plan" as defined in Section 4975 of the Code to which
Section 4975 of the Code applies, and (c) any Person whose assets include (for purposes of the Plan
Asset Regulations or otherwise for purposes of Title | of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code) the
assets of any such "employee benefit plan" or "plan”.

"BHC Act Affiliate" of a party means an "affiliate" (as such term is defined under, and
interpreted in accordance with, 12 U.S.C. 1841(k)) of such party.

"Board" means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the United States of
America.

"Borrowers" means the Company, Valmont Holland, Valmont Australia and each other
Subsidiary of the Company that becomes party to this Agreement pursuant to Section 5.10 hereof.
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"Borrowing" means (a) Loans of the same Class, Type and Agreed Currency, made, converted
or continued on the same date and, in the case of Term Benchmark Loans, as to which a single
Interest Period is in effect, or (b) a Swingline Loan.

"Borrowing Request’ means a request by any Borrower for a Borrowing in accordance with
Section 2.03 in the form attached hereto as Exhibit E or in such other form as may be approved by
the Administrative Agent.

"Business Day" means, as applicable, any day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which
banks are open for business in New York City or Chicago; provided that, (A) in relation to Loans
denominated in English Pounds Sterling, any day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which banks
are open for business in London, (B) in relation to Loans denominated in Euros and in relation to the
calculation or computation of EURIBOR, any day which is a TARGET Day, (C) in relation to RFR
Loans and any interest rate settings, fundings, disbursements, settlements or payments of any such
RFR Loan, or any other dealings in the applicable Agreed Currency of such RFR Loan, any such day
that is only an RFR Business Day, (D) in relation to Loans denominated in Australian Dollars and in
relation to the calculation or computation of BBSY, any day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on
which banks are open for business in Sydney, and (E) in relation to Loans denominated in Canadian
Dollars and in relation to the calculation or computation of CDOR, any day (other than a Saturday or a
Sunday) on which banks are open for business in Toronto.

"Canadian Dollars" means the lawful currency of Canada.

"Canadian Prime Rate" means, on any day, the rate determined by the Administrative Agent to
be the higher of (i) the rate equal to the PRIMCAN Index rate that appears on the Bloomberg screen
at 10:15 a.m. Toronto time on such day (or, in the event that the PRIMCAN Index is not published by
Bloomberg, any other information services that publishes such index from time to time, as selected by
the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion) and (ii) the average rate for thirty (30) day
Canadian Dollar bankers' acceptances that appears on the Reuters Screen CDOR Page (or, in the
event such rate does not appear on such page or screen, on any successor or substitute page or
screen that displays such rate, or on the appropriate page of such other information service that
publishes such rate from time to time, as selected by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable
discretion) at 10:15 a.m. Toronto time on such day, plus 1% per annum; provided, that if any the
above rates shall be less than zero, such rate shall be deemed to be zero for purposes of this
Agreement. Any change in the Canadian Prime Rate due to a change in the PRIMCAN Index or the
CDOR shall be effective from and including the effective date of such change in the PRIMCAN Index
or CDOR, respectively.

"Carbon Intensity" means the ratio of Metric tons of CO2 per one million dollars of revenue for
the applicable calendar year (MT/M$ ratio) calculated for the Company and its Subsidiaries on a
consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP; provided however that if the Company consummates a
Material Acquisition in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement during such calendar year,
the calculation of Carbon Intensity may, at the Company’s election, exclude (i) the amount in metric
tons of CO2 for such calendar year attributable to such Material Acquisition and (ii) revenue for such
calendar year attributable to such Material Acquisition calculated in accordance with GAAP; provided
further, however, that any such election shall exclude amounts under both clauses (i) and (ii).

"Carbon Intensity Applicable Rate Adjustment Amount" means, with respect to any period
between Sustainability Pricing Adjustment Dates, (a) a margin reduction of 0.025%, if the Carbon
Intensity for such period as set forth in the KPI Metrics Report is less than or equal to the Carbon
Intensity Target for such period, (b) 0.000%, if the Carbon Intensity for such period as set forth in the
KPI Metrics Report is more than the Carbon Intensity Target for such period but less than or equal to
the
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Carbon Intensity Threshold for such period, and (c) a margin increase of 0.025% if the Carbon
Intensity for such period as set forth in the KPI Metrics Report is more than the Carbon Intensity
Threshold for such period.

"Carbon Intensity Commitment Fee Adjustment Amount"” means, with respect to any period
between Sustainability Pricing Adjustment Dates, (a) a margin reduction of 0.005%, if the Carbon

Intensity for such period as set forth in the KPI Metrics Report is less than or equal to the Carbon
Intensity Target for such period, (b) 0.000%, if the Carbon Intensity for such period as set forth in the
KPI Metrics Report is more than the Carbon Intensity Target for such period but less than or equal to
the Carbon Intensity Threshold for such period, and (c) a margin increase of 0.005%, if the Carbon
Intensity for such period as set forth in the KPI Metrics Report is more than the Carbon Intensity
Threshold for such period.

"Carbon Intensity Target” means, with respect to any calendar year, the Carbon Intensity
Target for such calendar year as set forth in the Sustainability Table.

"Carbon Intensity Threshold” means, with respect to any calendar year, the Carbon Intensity
Threshold for such calendar year as set forth in the Sustainability Table.

"Capital Lease Obligations" of any Person means the obligations of such Person to pay rent or
other amounts under any lease of (or other arrangement conveying the right to use) real or personal
property, or a combination thereof, which obligations are required to be classified and accounted for
as capital leases or financing leases on a balance sheet of such Person under GAAP, and the amount
of such obligations shall be the capitalized amount thereof determined in accordance with GAAP.

"CBR Loan" means a Loan that bears interest at a rate determined by reference to the Central
Bank Rate.

"CBR Spread" means the Applicable Rate, applicable to such Loan that is replaced by a CBR
Loan.

"CDOR_Rate" means, with respect to any Term Benchmark Borrowing denominated in
Canadian Dollars and for any Interest Period, the CDOR Screen Rate at approximately 10:15 a.m.
Toronto local time on the first day of such Interest Period.

"CDOR Screen Rate" means on any day for the relevant Interest Period, the annual rate of
interest equal to the average rate applicable to Canadian dollar Canadian bankers' acceptances for
the applicable period that appears on the "Reuters Screen CDOR Page" as defined in the
International Swap Dealer Association, Inc. definitions, as modified and amended from time to time
(or, in the event such rate does not appear on such page or screen, on any successor or substitute
page or screen that displays such rate, or on the appropriate page of such other information service
that publishes such rate from time to time, as selected by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable
discretion), rounded to the nearest 1/100t of 1% (with .005% being rounded up), as of 10:15 a.m.
Toronto local time on the first day of such Interest Period and, if such day is not a business day, then
on the immediately preceding business day (as adjusted by Administrative Agent after 10:15 a.m.
Toronto local time to reflect any error in the posted rate of interest or in the posted average annual
rate of interest).

"Central Bank Rate" means, (A) the greater of (i) for any Loan denominated in (a) English
Pounds Sterling, the Bank of England (or any successor thereto)'s "Bank Rate" as published by the
Bank of England (or any successor thereto) from time to time, (b) Euro, one of the following three
rates as may be selected by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion: (1) the fixed rate for
the main
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refinancing operations of the European Central Bank (or any successor thereto), or, if that rate is not
published, the minimum bid rate for the main refinancing operations of the European Central Bank (or
any successor thereto), each as published by the European Central Bank (or any successor thereto)
from time to time, (2) the rate for the marginal lending facility of the European Central Bank (or any
successor thereto), as published by the European Central Bank (or any successor thereto) from time
to time or (3) the rate for the deposit facility of the central banking system of the Participating Member
States, as published by the European Central Bank (or any successor thereto) from time to time, and
(c) any other Foreign Currency determined after the Effective Date, a central bank rate as determined
by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion and (ii) the Floor; plus (B) the applicable
Central Bank Rate Adjustment.

"Central Bank Rate Adjustment" means, for any day, for any Loan denominated in (a) Euro, a
rate equal to the difference (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) of (i) the average of
the Adjusted EURIBOR Rate for the five most recent Business Days preceding such day for which the
EURIBOR Screen Rate was available (excluding, from such averaging, the highest and the lowest
Adjusted EURIBOR Rate applicable during such period of five Business Days) minus (ii) the Central
Bank Rate in respect of Euro in effect on the last Business Day in such period, (b) English Pounds
Sterling, a rate equal to the difference (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) of (i) the
average of SONIA for the five most recent RFR Business Days preceding such day for which SONIA
was available (excluding, from such averaging, the highest and the lowest SONIA applicable during
such period of five RFR Business Days) minus (ii) the Central Bank Rate in respect of English
Pounds Sterling in effect on the last RFR Business Day in such period, and (c) any other Foreign
Currency, a Central Bank Rate Adjustment as determined by the Administrative Agent in its
reasonable discretion. For purposes of this definition, (x) the term Central Bank Rate shall be
determined disregarding clause (B) of the definition of such term and (y) each of the EURIBOR Rate
on any day shall be based on the EURIBOR Screen Rate, as applicable, on such day at
approximately the time referred to in the definition of such term for deposits in the applicable Agreed
Currency for a maturity of one month.

"Change in Control" means (a) the acquisition of beneficial ownership, or voting control, by any
Person or group (within the meaning of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the rules of the SEC
thereunder as in effect on the date hereof), other than any employee stock ownership plan sponsored
by or otherwise established by the Company, of Equity Interests representing more than forty percent
(40%) of the aggregate ordinary voting power represented by the issued and outstanding Equity
Interests of the Company; (b) occupation of a majority of the seats (other than vacant seats) on the
board of directors of the Company by Persons who were neither (i) nominated, appointed or approved
for consideration by shareholders for election by the board of directors of the Company, nor (ii)
appointed by directors so nominated, appointed or approved; or (c) the Company shall cease to
directly or indirectly own and Control, free and clear of all Liens, one hundred percent (100%) of the
outstanding voting Equity Interests of the other Borrowers on a fully diluted basis except to the extent
that any applicable law requires a de minimums percentage of the Equity Interests in a Borrower be
owned by a Person other than the Company.

"Change in Law" means (a) the adoption of or taking effect of any law, rule, regulation or treaty
(including any rules or regulations issued under or implementing any existing law) after the date of this
Agreement, (b) any change in any law, rule, regulation or treaty or in the administration, interpretation,
implementation or application thereof by any Governmental Authority after the date of this Agreement
or (c) compliance by any Lender or Issuing Bank (or, for purposes of Section 2.14(b), by any lending
office of such Lender or by such Lender's or Issuing Bank's holding company, if any) with any
request, guideline or directive (whether or not having the force of law) of any Governmental Authority
made or issued after the date of this Agreement; provided that notwithstanding anything herein to the
contrary, (i) the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and all requests, rules,
guidelines or
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directives thereunder, issued in connection therewith or in the implementation thereof, and (ii) all
requests, rules, guidelines and directives promulgated by the Bank for International Settlements, the
Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (or any successor or similar authority) or the United States
or foreign regulatory authorities, in each case pursuant to Basel Ill, shall, in each case, be deemed to
be a "Change in Law", regardless of the date enacted, adopted, issued or implemented. Basel III" is
a global regulatory standard on bank capital adequacy, stress testing and market liquidity risk agreed
upon by the members of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision in 2010-11.

"Class", when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such Loan, or the
Loans comprising such Borrowing, are Revolving Loans (which may be Dollar Loans or Foreign
Currency Loans) or Swingline Loans and, when used in reference to any Commitment, refers to
whether such Commitment is a Revolving Commitment or a Foreign Currency Commitment or the
commitment of a Swingline Lender to make Swingline Loans.

"CME Term SOFR Administrator” means CME Group Benchmark Administration Limited as
administrator of the forward-looking term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) (or a successor
administrator).

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.

"Commitments" means the Revolving Commitment, the Foreign Currency Commitment, and
the commitments of the Swingline Lenders to make Swingline Loans.

"Commodity Exchange Act" means the Commodity Exchange Act (7 U.S.C. 8 1 et seq.), as
amended from time to time, and any successor statute.

"Communications" has the meaning assigned toit in Section 9.03(c).

"Compliance Certificate" means the Compliance Certificate in the form of Exhibit B or any
other form approved by the Administrative Agent.

"Connection Income Taxes" means Other Connection Taxes that are imposed on or measured
by net income (however denominated) or that are franchise Taxes or branch profits Taxes.

"Consolidated Tangible Net Worth" means, as of any date, the total stockholders' equity of the
Company and the Subsidiaries, less intangible assets, all determined on a consolidated basis in
accordance with GAAP, as set forth in the most recent annual audited financial statements delivered
to the Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 5.01(a).

"Consolidated Total Assets" means, as of any date, the total assets of the Company and the
Subsidiaries determined as of such date on consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.

"Control" means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the
direction of the management or policies of a Person, whether through the ability to exercise voting
power, by contract or otherwise. "Controlling" and "Controlled" have meanings correlative thereto.

"Corresponding Tenor" with respect to any Available Tenor means, as applicable, either a
tenor (including overnight) or an interest payment period having approximately the same length
(disregarding business day adjustment) as such Available Tenor.

"Covered Entity" means any of the following:
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() a "covered entity" as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12
C.F.R. § 252.82(b);

(i) a "covered bank" as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12
C.F.R. 8 47.3(b); or

(iii) a "covered FSI" as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12
C.F.R. § 382.2(b).

"Covered Party" has the meaning assigned to it in Section 10.24.

"Credit Party" means the Administrative Agent, the Issuing Banks, the Swingline Lenders, the
Lenders and each Affiliate of a Lender who is owed any portion of the Obligations.

"Daily Simple RFR" means, for any day (an 'RER Interest Day"), an interest rate per annum
equal to, for any RFR Loan denominated in (a) English Pounds Sterling, SONIA for the day that is five
(5) RFR Business Days prior to (i) if such RFR Interest Day is an RFR Business Day, such RFR
Interest Day or (ii) if such RFR Interest Day is not an RFR Business Day, the RFR Business Day
immediately preceding such RFR Interest Day, and (b) Dollars, Daily Simple SOFR.

"Daily Simple SOFR" means, for any day (a 'SOFR Rate Day"), a rate per annum equal to
SOFR for the day (such day "SOFR Determination Date") that is five (5) RFR Business Days prior to
(i) if such SOFR Rate Day is an RFR Business Day, such SOFR Rate Day or (ii) if such SOFR Rate
Day is not an RFR Business Day, the RFR Business Day immediately preceding such SOFR Rate
Day, in each case, as such SOFR is published by the SOFR Administrator on the SOFR
Administrator's Website. Any change in Daily Simple SOFR due to a change in SOFR shall be
effective from and including the effective date of such change in SOFR without notice to the
Company.

"Default” means any event or condition which constitutes an Event of Default or which upon
notice, lapse of time or both would, unless cured or waived, become an Event of Default.

'Default Right' has the meaning assigned to that term in, and shall be interpreted in
accordance with, 12 C.F.R. §8§ 252.81, 47.2 or 382.1, as applicable.

"Defaulting Lender" means any Lender, as determined by the Administrative Agent, that (a)
has failed, within two Business Days of the date required to be funded or paid, to (i) fund any portion
of its Loans, (ii) fund any portion of its participations in Letters of Credit, Foreign Currency Loans or
Swingline Loans or (iii) pay over to any Credit Party any other amount required to be paid by it
hereunder, unless, in the case of clause (i) above, such Lender notifies the Administrative Agent in
writing that such failure is the result of such Lender's good faith determination that a condition
precedent to funding (specifically identified and including the particular default, if any) has not been
satisfied, (b) has notified the Company or any Credit Party in writing, or has made a public statement
to the effect, that it does not intend or expect to comply with any of its funding obligations under this
Agreement (unless such writing or public statement indicates that such position is based on such
Lender's good faith determination that a condition precedent (specifically identified and including the
particular default, if any) to funding a loan under this Agreement cannot be satisfied) or generally
under other agreements in which it commits to extend credit, (c) has failed, within three Business
Days after request by a Credit Party, acting in good faith, to provide a certification in writing from an
authorized officer of such Lender that it will comply with its obligations (and is financially able to meet
such obligations) to fund prospective Loans and participations in then outstanding Letters of Credit,
Foreign Currency Loans and Swingline Loans under this Agreement, provided that such Lender shall
cease to be a Defaulting Lender
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pursuant to this clause (c) upon such Credit Party's receipt of such certification in form and substance
satisfactory to it and the Administrative Agent, or (d) has become the subject of (i) a Bankruptcy Event
or (i) a Bail-In Action.

"Delta Plan" means the defined pension benefit plan sponsored by Delta Limited, a limited
company in Great Britain.

"Deposit Obligations" means all obligations, indebtedness, and liabilities of the Company or
any Subsidiaries, or any one of them, to any Lender or any Affiliate of any Lender arising pursuant to
any deposit, lock box, automated clearing house or cash management arrangements (including credit
cards, debit cards, and purchase cards) entered into by any Lender or any Affiliate of any Lender with
the Company or any Subsidiaries, whether now existing or hereafter arising, whether direct, indirect,
related, unrelated, fixed, contingent, liquidated, unliquidated, joint, several, or joint and several,
including, without limitation, the obligation, indebtedness, and liabilities of the Company or any
Subsidiaries, or any one of them, to repay any credit extended in connection with such arrangements,
interest thereon, and all fees, costs, and expenses (including attorneys' fees and expenses) provided
for in the documentation executed in connection therewith.

"Designated Receivables" has the meaning specified in the definition of "Designated
Receivables Sale".

"Designated Receivables Sale" means any sale, transfer or other Disposition pursuant to
which the Company or any Subsidiary sells, conveys or otherwise transfers on a non-recourse basis
(with certain exceptions customary in transactions of such type) to a financial institution that is a
commercial bank (specifically excluding any hedge fund, debt fund or similar investment vehicle or
other non-bank entity) any of its accounts receivable (the "Designated Receivables") and any assets
related thereto (including without limitation, all security interests in merchandise or services financed
thereby, the proceeds of such accounts receivables and other assets which are customarily sold or in
respect of which security interests are customarily granted in connection with sales transactions
involving such assets).

"Disclosable Subsidiary" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 3.12.

"Disposition" or "Dispose" means the sale, transfer, license, lease or other disposition (in one
transaction or in a series of transactions and whether effected pursuant to a division or otherwise) of
any property by any Person (including any sale and leaseback transaction and any issuance of Equity
Interests by a Subsidiary of such Person), including any sale, assignment, transfer or other disposal,
with or without recourse, of any notes or accounts receivable or any rights and claims associated
therewith.

"Dollar Amount" of any amount means, at the time of determination thereof, (a) if such amount
is expressed in Dollars, such amount, (b) if such amount is expressed in a Foreign Currency, the
equivalent of such amount in Dollars determined by using the rate of exchange for the purchase of
Dollars with the Foreign Currency last provided (either by publication or otherwise provided to the
Administrative Agent) by Reuters on the Business Day (New York City time) immediately preceding
the date of determination or if such service ceases to be available or ceases to provide a rate of
exchange for the purchase of Dollars with the Foreign Currency, as provided by such other publicly
available information service which provides that rate of exchange at such time in place of Reuters
chosen by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion (or if such service ceases to be available or
ceases to provide such rate of exchange, the equivalent of such amount in Dollars as determined by
the Administrative Agent using any method of determination it deems appropriate in its reasonable
discretion) and (c) if such amount is denominated in any other currency, the equivalent of such
amount in Dollars as determined by the Administrative Agent using any method of determination it
deems appropriate in its reasonable discretion.
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Dollars", "dollars" or "$" refers to lawful money of the United States of America.

"Domestic Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary that is organized under the laws of the United
States of America, any state thereof or the District of Columbia.

"Dutch Central Bank" means the central bank of The Netherlands (De Nederlandsche Bank).
"Dutch Loan Party" means a Loan Party incorporated under Dutch law.

"EBITDA" means, for any period, without duplication, the amount equal to the following
calculated for the Company and the Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP:
(a) net income determined in accordance with GAAP, plus (b) to the extent deducted in determining
net income, the sum of (i) Interest Expense, (ii) depreciation, (iii) amortization, (iv) income and
franchise tax expenses, (v) any extraordinary, non-recurring or unusual non-cash charges, (vi)
goodwill and other intangible impairment charges, (vii) non-recurring cash and non-cash restructuring
costs for each restructuring; provided that with respect to any period of twelve calendar months then
most recently ended, the aggregate amount added back in the calculation of EBITDA for such period
pursuant to this clause (b)(vii) shall not exceed the Dollar Amount of $75,000,000, and (viii) non-cash
stock based compensation, minus (c) to the extent included in determining net income, any
extraordinary, non-recurring or unusual non-cash gains; provided, however, that in the event that any
acquisition or Disposition of a Person (or any business unit, going concern, division or segment of
such Person) permitted by this Agreement shall have been consummated during such period, the net
income (and all amounts specified in clauses (a), (b) and (c) of this definition) shall be computed on a
pro forma basis giving effect to such acquisition or Disposition, as the case may be, as of the first day
of such period.

"EEA Financial Institution" means (a) any credit institution or investment firm established in any
EEA Member Country which is subject to the supervision of an EEA Resolution Authority, (b) any
entity established in an EEA Member Country which is a parent of an institution described in clause
(a) of this definition, or (c) any financial institution established in an EEA Member Country which is a
subsidiary of an institution described in clauses (a) or (b) of this definition and is subject to
consolidated supervision with its parent.

"EEA Member Country" means any of the member states of the European Union, Iceland,
Liechtenstein, and Norway.

"EEA Resolution Authority" means any public administrative authority or any Person entrusted
with public administrative authority of any EEA Member Country (including any delegee) having
responsibility for the resolution of any EEA Financial Institution.

"Effective Date" means the date on which the conditions specified in Section 4.01 are satisfied
(or waived in accordance with Section 10.02).

"Electricity Goal" means the ratio of Megawatt Hours per one million dollars of revenue for the
applicable calendar year (MWH/M$ ratio) calculated for the Company and its Subsidiaries on a
consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP; provided however that if the Company consummates a
Material Acquisition in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement during such calendar year,
the calculation of Carbon Intensity may, at the Company’'s election, exclude (i) the amount in
Megawatt Hours for such calendar year attributable to such Material Acquisition and (ii) revenue for
such calendar year attributable to such Material Acquisition calculated in accordance with GAAP;
provided further, however, that, any such election shall exclude amounts under both clauses (i) and

(ii).
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"Electricity Goal Applicable Rate Adjustment Amount"” means, with respect to any period
between Sustainability Pricing Adjustment Dates, (a) margin reduction of 0.025%, if the Electricity

Goal for such period as set forth in the KPI Metrics Report is less than or equal to the Electricity Goal
Target for such period, (b) 0.000%, if the Electricity Goal for such period as set forth in the KPI
Metrics Report is more than the Electricity Goal Target for such period but less than or equal to the
Electricity Goal Threshold for such period, and (c) a margin increase of 0.025%, if the Electricity Goal
for such period as set forth in the KPI Metrics Report is more than the Electricity Goal Threshold for
such period.

"Electricity Goal Commitment Fee Adjustment Amount” means, with respect to any period
between Sustainability Pricing Adjustment Dates, (a) margin reduction of 0.005%, if the Electricity

Goal for such period as set forth in the KPI Metrics Report is less than or equal to the Electricity Goal
Target for such period, (b) 0.000%, if the Electricity Goal for such period as set forth in the KPI
Metrics Report is more than the Electricity Goal Target for such period but less than or equal to the
Electricity Goal Threshold for such period, and (c) a margin increase of 0.005%, if the Electricity Goal
for such period as set forth in the KPI Metrics Report is more than the Electricity Goal Threshold for
such period.

"Electricity Goal Target" means, with respect to any calendar year, the Electricity Goal Target
for such calendar year as set forth in the Sustainability Table.

"Electricity Goal Threshold" means, with respect to any calendar year, the Electricity Goal
Threshold for such calendar year as set forth in the Sustainability Table.

"Electronic Signature” means an electronic sound, symbol, or process attached to, or
associated with, a contract or other record and adopted by a Person with the intent to sign,
authenticate or accept such contract or record.

"Electronic _System" means any electronic system, including e-mail, e-fax, Intralinks®.
ClearPar®, Debt Domain, Syndtrak and any other Internet or extranet-based site, whether such
electronic system is owned, operated or hosted by the Administrative Agent and an applicable Issuing
Bank and any of its respective Related Parties or any other Person, providing for access to data
protected by passcodes or other security system.

"Eligible Special Purpose Entity" means any Person which may or may not be a Subsidiary of
the Receivables Seller which has been formed by or for the benefit of the Receivables Seller for the
purpose of purchasing or securitizing Securitization Receivables from the Receivables Seller.

"English Pounds Sterling" means the lawful currency of the United Kingdom.

"Environmental Laws" means all laws, rules, regulations, codes, ordinances, orders, decrees,
judgments, injunctions, notices or binding agreements issued, promulgated or entered into by any
Governmental Authority, relating in any way to the environment, preservation or reclamation of
natural resources, the management, release or threatened release of any Hazardous Material or to
health and safety matters.

"Environmental Liability" means any liability, contingent or otherwise (including any liability for
damages, costs of environmental remediation, fines, penalties or indemnities), of the Company or any
Subsidiary directly or indirectly resulting from or based upon (a) violation of any Environmental Law,
(b) the generation, use, handling, transportation, storage, treatment or disposal of any Hazardous
Materials, (c) exposure to any Hazardous Materials, (d) the release or threatened release of any
Hazardous Materials into the environment or (e) any contract, agreement or other consensual
arrangement pursuant to which liability is assumed or imposed with respect to any of the foregoing.
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"Equity Interests" means shares of capital stock, partnership interests, membership interests
in a limited liability company, beneficial interests in a trust or other equity ownership interests in a
Person, and any warrants, options or other rights entitling the holder thereof to purchase or acquire
any such equity interest, but excluding any debt securities convertible into any of the foregoing.

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time
to time, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

"ERISA Affiliate” means any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) that, together with
the Company, is treated as a single employer under Section 414(b) or (c) of the Code or Section
4001(14) of ERISA or, solely for purposes of Section 302 of ERISA and Section 412 of the Code, is
treated as a single employer under Section 414 of the Code.

"ERISA Event' means (a) any "reportable event", as defined in Section 4043 of ERISA or the
regulations issued thereunder with respect to a Plan (other than an event for which the 30 day notice
period is waived); (b) the failure to satisfy the "minimum funding standard" (as defined in Section 412
of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA), whether or not waived; (c) the filing pursuant to Section 412(c)
of the Code or Section 302(c) of ERISA of an application for a waiver of the minimum funding
standard with respect to any Plan; (d) the incurrence by the Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates of
any liability under Title IV of ERISA with respect to the termination of any Plan; (e) the receipt by the
Company or any ERISA Affiliate from the PBGC or a plan administrator of any notice relating to an
intention to terminate any Plan or Plans or to appoint a trustee to administer any Plan; (f) the
incurrence by the Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates of any liability with respect to the withdrawal
or partial withdrawal from any Plan or Multiemployer Plan; or (g) the receipt by the Company or any
ERISA Affiliate of any notice, or the receipt by any Multiemployer Plan from the Company or any
ERISA Affiliate of any notice, concerning the imposition of Withdrawal Liability or a determination that
a Multiemployer Plan is, or is expected to be, insolvent or in reorganization, within the meaning of
Title IV of ERISA.

"EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule" means the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule published by the
Loan Market Association (or any successor Person), as in effect from time to time.

"EURIBOR Rate" means, with respect to any Term Benchmark Borrowing denominated in
Euros and for any Interest Period, the EURIBOR Screen Rate, two TARGET Days prior to the
commencement of such Interest Period.

"EURIBOR Screen Rate" means the euro interbank offered rate administered by the European
Money Markets Institute (or any other person which takes over the administration of that rate) for the
relevant period displayed (before any correction, recalculation or republication by the administrator)
on page EURIBORO1 of the Thomson Reuters screen (or any replacement Thomson Reuters page
which displays that rate) or on the appropriate page of such other information service which publishes
that rate from time to time in place of Thomson Reuters as published at approximately 11:00 a.m.
Brussels time two TARGET Days prior to the commencement of such Interest Period. If such page or
service ceases to be available, the Administrative Agent may specify another page or service
displaying the relevant rate after consultation with the Company.

"Euro" and "€" mean the single currency of the Participating Member States.
"Event of Default' has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 8.01.
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"Excluded Swap Obligation" means, with respect to any Guarantor, any Swap Obligation if,
and to the extent that, all or a portion of the Guarantee of such Guarantor of, or the grant by such
Guarantor of a security interest to secure, such Swap Obligation (or any Guarantee thereof) is or
becomes illegal under the Commaodity Exchange Act or any rule, regulation or order of the Commodity
Futures Trading Commission (or the application or official interpretation of any thereof) by virtue of
such Guarantor's failure for any reason to constitute an “eligible contract participant" as defined in the
Commodity Exchange Act and the regulations thereunder at the time the Guarantee of such
Guarantor or the grant of such security interest becomes or would become effective with respect to
such Swap Obligation, at the time the Guarantee of such Subsidiary Guarantor becomes or would
become effective with respect to such related Swap Obligation. If a Swap Obligation arises under a
master agreement governing more than one swap, such exclusion shall apply only to the portion of
such Swap Obligation that is attributable to swaps for which such Guarantee or security interest is or
becomes illegal.

"Excluded Taxes" means any of the following Taxes imposed on or with respect to a Recipient
or required to be withheld or deducted from a payment to a Recipient, (a) Taxes imposed on or
measured by net income (however denominated), franchise Taxes, and branch profits Taxes, in each
case, (i) imposed as a result of such Recipient being organized under the laws of, or having its
principal office or, in the case of any Lender, its applicable lending office located in, the jurisdiction
imposing such Tax (or any political subdivision thereof) or (ii) that are Other Connection Taxes, (b) in
the case of a Lender, U.S. Federal withholding Taxes imposed on amounts payable to or for the
account of such Lender with respect to an applicable interest in a Loan, Letter of Credit or
Commitment pursuant to a law in effect on the date on which (i) such Lender acquires such interest in
the Loan, Letter of Credit or Commitment (other than pursuant to an assignment request by the
Company under Section 2.18(b)) or (ii) such Lender changes its lending office, except in each case to
the extent that, pursuant to Section 2.16, amounts with respect to such Taxes were payable either to
such Lender's assignor immediately before such Lender acquired the applicable interest in a Loan,
Letter of Credit or Commitment or to such Lender immediately before it changed its lending office,
(c) Taxes attributable to such Recipient's failure to comply with Section 2.16(f) and (d) any U.S.
Federal withholding Taxes imposed under FATCA.

"Existing Agreement" has the meaning assigned to such term in the introductory paragraphs.

"Existing Letters of Credit' means the letters of credit issued for the account of a Borrower
outstanding on the Effective Date and described on Schedule 1.01.

"Farm Credit Lender" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 10.04(e).

"EATCA" means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, as of the date of this Agreement (or
any amended or successor version that is substantively comparable and not materially more onerous
to comply with), any current or future regulations or official interpretations thereof, any agreement
entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) of the Code and any fiscal or regulatory legislation, rules
or practices adopted pursuant to any intergovernmental agreement, treaty or convention among
Governmental Authorities and implementing such Sections of the Code.

"Federal Funds Effective Rate" means, for any day, the rate calculated by the NYFRB based
on such day's federal funds transactions by depositary institutions, as determined in such manner as
shall be set forth on the NYFRB's Website from time to time, and published on the next succeeding
Business Day by the NYFRB as the effective federal funds rate; provided that if the Federal Funds
Effective Rate as so determined would be less than zero, such rate shall be deemed to be zero for
the purposes of this Agreement.
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"Financial Officer" means the chief financial officer, principal corporate accounting officer,
treasurer or corporate controller of the Company.

"Floor" means the benchmark rate floor, if any, provided in this Agreement initially (as of the
execution of this Agreement, the modification, amendment or renewal of this Agreement or otherwise)
with respect to the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate, Adjusted AUD Rate, Adjusted CDOR Rate, Adjusted
EURIBOR Rate, each Adjusted Daily Simple RFR or the Central Bank Rate, as applicable. For the
avoidance of doubt the initial Floor for each of Adjusted Term SOFR Rate, Adjusted AUD Rate,
Adjusted CDOR Rate, Adjusted EURIBOR Rate, each Adjusted Daily Simple RFR or the Central Bank
Rate shall be zero.

"Foreign Currency" means Australian Dollars, Canadian Dollars, Euro and English Pounds
Sterling and each other currency approved in accordance with Section 2.02(e). The term "Foreign
Currency”, when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such Loan, or the
Loans comprising such Borrowing, are denominated in a Foreign Currency.

"Foreign Currency Commitment" means, with respect to each Foreign Currency Lender, the
commitment of such Foreign Currency Lender to make Foreign Currency Loans hereunder,
expressed as an amount representing the maximum aggregate amount of such Foreign Currency
Lender's Foreign Currency Loans hereunder, as such commitment may be (a) reduced from time to
time pursuant to Section 2.08 and (b) reduced or increased from time to time pursuant to assignments
by or to such Lender pursuant to Section 10.04. The initial amount of each Foreign Currency
Lender's Foreign Currency Commitment is set forth on Schedule 2.01, or in the Assignment and
Assumption pursuant to which such Lender shall have assumed its Foreign Currency Commitment.
As of the Effective Date, the aggregate amount of the Foreign Currency Lenders' Foreign Currency
Commitments is the Dollar Amount of $400,000,000.

"Foreign Currency Exposure" means, at any time, the aggregate principal Dollar Amount of all
Foreign Currency Loans outstanding at such time and the aggregate amount of LC Exposure that is
denominated in Foreign Currencies. The Foreign Currency Exposure of any Lender (including each
Foreign Currency Lender) is equal to such Lender's Applicable Percentage of the Foreign Currency
Exposure of all Lenders.

"Foreign Currency Lender" means a Lender with a Foreign Currency Commitment or, if the
Foreign Currency Commitments have terminated or expired, a Lender holding direct interests in
Foreign Currency Loans. A Foreign Currency Lender may, in its discretion, arrange for one or more
Foreign Currency Loans to be made by one or more of its domestic or foreign branches or Affiliates,
in which case the term "Foreign Currency Lender" shall include any such branch or Affiliate with
respect to Loans made by such Person.

"Foreign Currency Loan" means a Loan denominated in a Foreign Currency.

"Foreign Currency Office" means, with respect to a Foreign Currency, the office of the
Administrative Agent designated by the Administrative Agent as such by notice to the Company and
the Lenders.

"Foreign Lender" means any Lender that is organized under the laws of a jurisdiction other
than that in which a Borrower is located. For purposes of this definition, the United States of America,
each State thereof and the District of Columbia shall be deemed to constitute a single jurisdiction.

"Foreign Loan Party" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 3.18.
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"Foreign Plan" means any employee benefit plan or arrangement (a) maintained or contributed
to by Foreign Subsidiary that is not subject to the laws of the United States; or (b) mandated by a
government other than the United States for employees of any Loan Party.

"Foreign Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary that is organized under the laws of a jurisdiction
other than the United States of America or any State thereof or the District of Columbia.

"Fully Satisfied" or "Full Satisfaction” means, as of any date, that on or before such date:

(a) with respect to the Loan Obligations: (i) the principal of and interest accrued to such
date on the Loan Obligations (other than the contingent LC Exposure) shall have been paid in full in
cash, (i) all fees, expenses and other amounts then due and payable which constitute Loan
Obligations (other than the contingent LC Exposure and other contingent amounts not then liquidated)
shall have been paid in full in cash, (iii) the Commitments shall have expired or irrevocably been
terminated, and (iv) the contingent LC Exposure shall have been secured by: (A) the grant of a first
priority, perfected Lien on cash or cash equivalents in an amount at least equal to one hundred and
five percent (105%) of the amount of such LC Exposure or other collateral which is reasonably
acceptable to the applicable Issuing Bank or (B) the issuance of a letter of credit in form and
substance reasonably acceptable to the applicable Issuing Bank with an original face amount at least
equal to one hundred and five percent (105%) of the amount of such LC Exposure;

(b) with respect to the Swap Agreement Obligations (i) all termination payments, fees,
expenses and other amounts then due and payable under the related Swap Agreements which
constitute Swap Agreement Obligations shall have been paid in full in cash; and (ii) all contingent
amounts which could be payable under the related Swap Agreements shall have been secured by:
(A) the grant of a first priority, perfected Lien on cash or cash equivalents in an amount at least equal
to one hundred and five percent (105%) of the amount of such contingent Swap Agreement
Obligations or other collateral which is reasonably acceptable to the Lender or Affiliate of a Lender
holding the applicable Swap Agreement Obligations or (B) the issuance of a letter of credit in form
and substance reasonably acceptable to the Lender or Affiliate of a Lender holding the applicable
Swap Agreement Obligations and in an amount at least equal to one hundred and five percent (105%)
of the amount of such contingent Swap Agreement Obligations; and

(c) with respect to the Deposit Obligations: (i) all fees, expenses and other amounts then
due and payable which constitute Deposit Obligations shall have been paid in full in cash, (ii) any
further commitments to extend credit in connection with such Deposit Obligations shall have expired
or irrevocably been terminated or reasonably satisfactory arrangements to secure the same shall be
made with the depository bank, and (iii) all contingent amounts which could be payable in connection
with the Deposit Obligations shall have been secured by: (A) the grant of a first priority, perfected Lien
on cash or cash equivalents in an amount at least equal to one hundred and five percent (105%) of
the amount of such contingent Deposit Obligations or other collateral which is acceptable to the
Lender or Affiliate of a Lender holding the applicable Deposit Obligations or (B) the issuance of a
letter of credit in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Lender or Affiliate of a Lender
holding the applicable Deposit Obligations and in an amount at least equal to one hundred and five
percent (105%) of the amount of such contingent Deposit Obligations.

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.

"Governmental Authority" means the government of the United States of America, any other
nation or any political subdivision thereof, whether state or local, and any agency, authority,
instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity exercising executive, legislative,
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judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government, and
any group or body charged with setting financial accounting or regulatory capital rules or standards
(including the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the Bank for International Settlements or the
Basel Committee on Banking Supervision or any successor or similar authority to any of the
foregoing).

"Guarantee" of or by any Person (the 'guarantor”) means any obligation, contingent or
otherwise, of the guarantor guaranteeing or having the economic effect of guaranteeing any
Indebtedness or other obligation (including any obligations under an operating lease) of any other
Person (the "primary obligor") in any manner, whether directly or indirectly, and including any
obligation of the guarantor, direct or indirect, (a) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for
the purchase or payment of) such Indebtedness or other obligation or to purchase (or to advance or
supply funds for the purchase of) any security for the payment thereof, (b) to purchase or lease
property, securities or services for the purpose of assuring the owner of such Indebtedness or other
obligation (including any obligations under an operating lease) of the payment thereof, (c) to maintain
working capital, equity capital or any other financial statement condition or liquidity of the primary
obligor so as to enable the primary obligor to pay such Indebtedness or other obligation or (d) as an
account party in respect of any letter of credit or letter of guaranty issued to support such
Indebtedness or obligation; provided, that the term Guarantee shall not include endorsements for
collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business.

"Guarantors" means, collectively, each Subsidiary of the Company that is a party to the
Guaranty Agreement (whether by execution of the Guaranty Agreement on the Effective Date or in
accordance with Section 5.10 after the Effective Date) and any other Person who Guarantees the
Obligations in favor of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders pursuant to documentation
reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent.

"Guaranty Agreement" means the Third Amended and Restated Guaranty Agreement dated
as of the date hereof, substantially in the form of Exhibit C hereto.

"Hazardous Materials" means all explosive or radioactive substances or wastes and all
hazardous or toxic substances, wastes or other pollutants, including petroleum or petroleum
distillates, asbestos or asbestos containing materials, polychlorinated biphenyls, radon gas, infectious
or medical wastes and all other substances or wastes of any nature regulated pursuant to any
Environmental Law.

"Increase Amount" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.19.

"Increase Period" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 7.01.

"Increased Commitment Supplement" has the meaning specified in Section 2.19.

"Indebtedness" of any Person means, without duplication, (a) all obligations of such Person
for borrowed money or with respect to deposits or advances of any kind; (b) all obligations of such
Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or similar instruments; (c) all obligations of such
Person upon which interest charges are customarily paid; (d) all obligations of such Person under
conditional sale or other title retention agreements relating to property acquired by such Person;
(e) all obligations of such Person in respect of the deferred purchase price of property or services
(excluding current accounts payable incurred in the ordinary course of business); (f) all Indebtedness
of others secured by (or for which the holder of such Indebtedness has an existing right, contingent or
otherwise, to be secured by) any Lien on property owned or acquired by such Person, whether or not
the Indebtedness secured thereby has been assumed; (g) all Guarantees by such Person of
Indebtedness of others; (h) all Capital Lease Obligations of such Person; (i) all obligations, contingent
or otherwise, of such Person as an account party in respect of letters of credit and letters of guaranty
(excluding letters of credit and letters of guaranty
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issued in support of accounts payable incurred in the ordinary course of business); (j) all obligations,
contingent or otherwise, of such Person in respect of bankers' acceptances; (k) all obligations of such
Person under any Swap Agreement; (I) all Receivables Indebtedness of such Person; and (m) all
Attributed Principal Amount in connection with a Securitization Transaction of such Person as
Receivables Seller. The Indebtedness of any Person shall include the Indebtedness of any other
entity (including any partnership in which such Person is a general partner) to the extent such Person
is liable therefor as a result of such Person's ownership interest in or other relationship with such
entity, except to the extent the terms of such Indebtedness provide that such Person is not liable
therefor. The amount of the obligations of the Company or any Subsidiary in respect of any Swap
Agreement shall, at any time of determination and for all purposes under this Agreement, be the
maximum aggregate amount (giving effect to any netting agreements) that the Company or such
Subsidiary would be required to pay if such Swap Agreement were terminated at such time giving
effect to current market conditions notwithstanding any contrary treatment in accordance with GAAP.

"Indemnified Taxes" means (a) Taxes, other than Excluded Taxes, imposed on or with respect
to any payment made by or on account of any obligation of any Loan Party under any Loan Document
and (b) to the extent not otherwise described in (a) hereof, Other Taxes.

"Indemnitee" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 10.03(c).

"Index Debt" means senior, unsecured, long-term indebtedness for borrowed money of the
Company that is not guaranteed by any other Person or subject to any other credit enhancement.

"Information" has the meaning assigned to it in Section 10.12.

"Interest Election Request’ means a request by any Borrower to convert or continue a
Borrowing in accordance with Section 2.07 in the form attached hereto as Exhibit F or in such other
form as may be approved by the Administrative Agent.

"Interest Expense” means the total interest expense (including any interest expense
attributable to any Securitization Transaction) of the Company and the Subsidiaries, calculated on a
consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.

"Interest Payment Date" means (a) with respect to any ABR Loan (other than a Swingline
Loan), the last day of each March, June, September and December and the Revolving Maturity Date,
(b) with respect to any RFR Loan, (1) each date that is on the numerically corresponding day in each
calendar month that is one month after the Borrowing of such Loan (or, if there is no such numerically
corresponding day in such month, then the last day of such month) and (2) the Revolving Maturity
Date, (c) with respect to any Term Benchmark Loan, the last day of the Interest Period applicable to
the Borrowing of which such Loan is a part and, in the case of a Term Benchmark Borrowing with an
Interest Period of more than three months' duration, each day prior to the last day of such Interest
Period that occurs at intervals of three months' duration after the first day of such Interest Period and
the Revolving Maturity Date, and (d) with respect to any Swingline Loan, the day that such Loan is
required to be repaid and the Revolving Maturity Date.

"Interest Period" means with respect to any Term Benchmark Borrowing, the period
commencing on the date of such Borrowing and ending on the numerically corresponding day in the
calendar month that is one, three or six months thereafter (in each case, subject to the availability for
the Benchmark applicable to the relevant Loan or Commitment for any Agreed Currency) as a
Borrower may elect, provided, that (i) if any Interest Period would end on a day other than a Business
Day, such Interest Period shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day unless such next
succeeding Business Day
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would fall in the next calendar month, in which case such Interest Period shall end on the next
preceding Business Day, (ii) any Interest Period that commences on the last Business Day of a
calendar month (or on a day for which there is no numerically corresponding day in the last calendar
month of such Interest Period) shall end on the last Business Day of the last calendar month of such
Interest Period, (iii) no tenor that has been removed from this definition pursuant to Section 2.13(e)
shall be available for specification in such Borrowing Request or Interest Election Request, and
(iv) no Borrowing of Canadian Dollars may have a six month interest period. For purposes hereof,
the date of a Borrowing initially shall be the date on which such Borrowing is made and, in the case of
a Revolving Borrowing, thereafter shall be the effective date of the most recent conversion or
continuation of such Borrowing.

"IRS" means the United States Internal Revenue Service.

"Issuing Bank" means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Bank of America, N.A.,Citibank, N.A,,
U.S. Bank National Association, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and each other Lender listed on
Schedule 2.01(C) (or in each case, any of its designated branch offices or affiliates), each in its
capacity as an issuer of Letters of Credit hereunder, and any other Lender that agrees to act as an
Issuing Bank (in each case, through itself or through one of its designated affiliates or branch offices),
each in its capacity as the issuer of Letters of Credit hereunder, and its successors in such capacity
as provided in Section 2.05(i). Any Issuing Bank may, in its discretion, arrange for one or more
Letters of Credit to be issued by Affiliates of such Issuing Bank, in which case the term "Issuing Bank"
shall include any such Affiliate with respect to Letters of Credit issued by such Affiliate. Each
reference herein to the "Issuing Bank" in connection with a Letter of Credit or other matter shall be
deemed to be a reference to the relevant Issuing Bank with respect thereto.

"KPI Metric" means each of the Carbon Intensity and the Electricity Goal.

"KPI Metrics Auditor" means Deloitte & Touche LLP, or any replacement auditor thereof as
designated from time to time by the Company; provided, that, any such replacement KPI Metrics
Auditor (a) shall be (i) a nationally recognized auditing firm or (ii) another auditing firm designated by
the Company and approved by the Required Lenders, and (b) shall apply substantially the same
auditing standards and methodology used in the Valmont KPI Metrics Report, except for any changes
to such standards and/or methodology that (i) are consistent with then generally accepted industry
standards or (ii) if not so consistent, are proposed by the Company and approved by the Required
Lenders.

"KPI Metrics Report" means an annual report (it being understood that this annual report may
take the form of the annual Sustainability Report) audited by the KPI Metrics Auditor that sets forth the
calculations for each KPI Metric for a specific calendar year.

"LC Disbursement" means a payment made by an Issuing Bank pursuant to a Letter of Credit.

"LC Exposure" means, at any time, without duplication, the sum of (a) the aggregate undrawn
Dollar Amount of all outstanding Letters of Credit at such time plus (b) the aggregate Dollar Amount
of all LC Disbursements that have not yet been reimbursed by or on behalf of the Borrowers at such
time. The LC Exposure of any Lender at any time shall be its Applicable Percentage of the total LC
Exposure at such time. For all purposes of this Agreement, if on any date of determination a Letter of
Credit has expired by its terms but any amount may still be drawn thereunder by reason of the
operation of Article 29(a) of the Uniform Customs and Practice for Documentary Credits, International
Chamber of Commerce Publication No. 600 (or such later version thereof as may be in effect at the
applicable time) or Rule 3.13 or Rule 3.14 of the International Standby Practices, International
Chamber of Commerce Publication No. 590 (or such later version thereof as may be in effect at the
applicable time) or similar terms of the Letter of Credit itself, or if compliant documents have been
presented but not yet honored,
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such Letter of Credit shall be deemed to be "outstanding” and "undrawn" in the amount so remaining
available to be paid, and the obligations of the Borrowers and each Lender shall remain in full force
and effect until the applicable Issuing Bank and the Lenders shall have no further obligations to make
any payments or disbursements under any circumstances with respect to any Letter of Credit.

"Lender Parent” means, with respect to any Lender, any Personas to which such Lender is,
directly or indirectly, a subsidiary.

"Lender-Related Person" has the meaning assigned to it in Section 10.03(b).

"Lenders" means (a) for all purposes, the Persons listed on Schedule 2.01 and any other
Person that shall have become a party hereto pursuant to an Increased Commitment Supplement or
an Assignment and Assumption, other than any such Person that ceases to be a party hereto
pursuant to an Assignment and Assumption or otherwise and (b) for purposes of the definitions of
"Swap Agreement Obligations" and "Credit Parties" only, shall include any Person who was a Lender
at the time a Swap Agreement was entered into by one or more of the Loan Parties, even though, at a
later time of determination, such Person no longer holds any Commitments or Loans hereunder.

Unless the context otherwise requires, the term "Lenders" includes the Issuing Banks and the
Swingline Lenders. As a result of clause (b) of this definition, the Swap Agreement Obligations owed
to a Lender or its Affiliates shall continue to be "Swap Agreement Obligations", entitled to share in the
benefits of the Guaranty Agreement as herein provided, even though such Lender ceases to be a
party hereto pursuant to an Assignment and Assumption or otherwise.

"Letter of Credit' means any letter of credit issued pursuant to this Agreement and the Existing
Letters of Credit. A Letter of Credit may be issued in Dollars or in any Foreign Currency.

"Letter of Credit Agreement' has the meaning assigned to it in Section 2.05(b).

"Letter of Credit Commitment' means, with respect to each Issuing Bank, the commitment of
such Issuing Bank to issue Letters of Credit hereunder. The initial amount of each Issuing Bank's
Letter of Credit Commitment is set forth on Schedule 2.01(C), or if an Issuing Bank has entered into
an Assignment and Assumption or has otherwise assumed a Letter of Credit Commitment after the
Effective Date, the amount set forth for such Issuing Bank as its Letter of Credit Commitment in the
Register maintained by the Administrative Agent. The Letter of Credit Commitment of an Issuing
Bank may be modified from time to time by agreement between such Issuing Bank and the Borrower,
and notified to the Administrative Agent.

"Leverage Ratio" means, as of any date of determination, the ratio of (a) the difference
between Total Indebtedness as of such date minus the amount of Unrestricted Cash as of such date
in excess of $50,000,000 to (b) EBITDA for the four (4) fiscal quarters then ended; provided, that the
aggregate amount of total Unrestricted Cash that may be deducted on any such date of determination
shall not exceed $500,000,000.

"Liabilities" means any losses, claims (including intraparty claims), demands, damages or
liabilities of any kind.

"Lien" means, with respect to any asset, (a) any mortgage, deed of trust, lien, pledge,
hypothecation, encumbrance, charge or security interest in, on or of such asset, (b) the interest of a
vendor or a lessor under any conditional sale agreement, capital lease or title retention agreement (or
any financing lease having substantially the same economic effect as any of the foregoing) relating to
such asset, and (c) in the case of securities, any purchase option, call or similar right of a third party
with
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respect to such securities. With respect to any Dutch Loan Party, "Lien" includes any mortgage
(hypotheek), pledge (pandrecht), retention of title arrangement (eigendomsvoorbehoud), right of
retention (recht van retentie), and, in general, any right in rem (beperkt recht), created for the purpose
of granting security (goederenrechtelijk zekerheidsrecht).

"Loan Documents"” means this Agreement, the Guaranty Agreement, and all other certificates,
agreements and other documents or instruments now or hereafter executed and/or delivered pursuant
to or in connection with the foregoing.

"Loan Obligations" means all obligations, indebtedness, and liabilities of the Company and all
of its Subsidiaries, or any one or more of them, to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders arising
pursuant to any of the Loan Documents, whether now existing or hereafter arising, whether direct,
indirect, related, unrelated, fixed, contingent, liquidated, unliquidated, joint, several, or joint and
several, including, without limitation, the obligation of the Company or any Subsidiaries to repay the
Loans, the LC Disbursements, interest on the Loans and LC Disbursements, and all fees, costs, and
expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses) provided for in the Loan Documents.

"Loan Parties" means the Borrowers and the Guarantors.

"Loans" means the loans made by the Lenders to the Borrowers, or any one of them, pursuant
to this Agreement.

"Material Acquisition" means any transaction or transactions consummated after the Effective
Date in the same fiscal quarter, by which the Company or any Subsidiary (a) acquires any business
division, business unit, business line or other going business or all or substantially all of the assets of
any Person, whether through purchase of assets, merger or otherwise, or (b) directly or indirectly
acquires (in one transaction or as the most recent transaction in a series of transactions) at least a
majority (in number of votes) of the Equity Interests of a Person which has ordinary voting power for
the election of directors or other similar management personnel of a Person (other than Equity
Interests having such power only by reason of the happening of a contingency) or a majority of the
outstanding Equity Interests of a Person, and in each case of clauses (a) and (b), such transaction or
transactions in the aggregate have an aggregate cash and non-cash purchase price in excess of the
Dollar Amount of $100,000,000.

"Material Adverse Effect" means a material adverse effect on (a) the operations, business,
property, liability (actual or contingent) or condition of the Company and the Subsidiaries taken as a
whole, (b) validity or enforceability of any Loan Document or (c) the rights of or remedies available to
the Lenders under any Loan Document.

"Material Indebtedness" means Indebtedness (other than the Loans and Letters of Credit but
including, without limitation, any Receivables Indebtedness or Attributed Principal Amount in
connection with a Securitization Transaction of a Person as a Receivables Seller and the obligations
in respect of one or more Swap Agreements) of any one or more of the Company and the
Subsidiaries in an aggregate principal amount exceeding the Dollar Amount of $30,000,000.

"Material Subsidiary" means, as of any date of determination, each Subsidiary which either (a)
has assets having a book value as of such date equal to or greater than five percent (5%) of the
consolidated assets of the Company and the Subsidiaries as determined in accordance with GAAP,
or (b) accounts for more than five percent (5%) of EBITDA of the Company and the Subsidiaries as
determined in accordance with GAAP for the most-recently ended four fiscal quarter period ending on
or prior to such date of determination. A Subsidiary of a Material Subsidiary shall not be deemed to
be a Material
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Subsidiary unless such Subsidiary itself meets the requirements of this definition. As of the Effective
Date, Material Subsidiaries are designated as such on Schedule 3.12.

"Maximum Leverage Ratio" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 7.01.
"Maximum Rate" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 10.13(a).

"Maximum Receivables Sales Amount” means ten (10%) of Consolidated Total Assets as of
the last day of the fiscal quarter of the Company ended on or most recently prior to the Relevant Test
Date for which financial statements have been or were required to be delivered pursuant to Section
5.01.

"Moody's" means Moody's Investors Service, Inc.

"Multiemployer Plan" means a multiemployer plan as defined in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA.
"New Lender" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.19.

"NYFRB" means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York.

"NYFRB Rate" means, for any day, the greater of (a) the Federal Funds Effective Rate in
effect on such day and (b) the Overnight Bank Funding Rate in effect on such day (or for any day that
is not a Business Day, for the immediately preceding Business Day); provided that if none of such
rates are published for any day that is a Business Day, the term "NYFRB Rate" means the rate for a
federal funds transaction quoted at 11:00 a.m. on such day received by the Administrative Agent from
a Federal funds broker of recognized standing selected by it; provided, further, that if any of the
aforesaid rates shall be less than zero, such rate shall be deemed to be zero for purposes of this
Agreement.

"NYFRB's Website" means the website of the NYFRB at http://www.newyorkfed.org, or any
successor source.

"Obligations" means all Loan Obligations, the Swap Agreement Obligations and all Deposit
Obligations (including interest and fees accruing during the pendency of any bankruptcy, insolvency,
receivership or other similar proceeding, regardless of whether allowed or allowable in such
proceeding); provided, however, that the definition of "Obligations" shall exclude any Excluded Swap
Obligations of a Guarantor for purposes of determining any obligations of such Guarantor.

"OFAC" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.19.

"Other Connection Taxes" means, with respect to any Recipient, Taxes imposed as a result of
a present or former connection between such Recipient and the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (other
than connections arising from such Recipient having executed, delivered, become a party to,
performed its obligations under, received payments under, received or perfected a security interest
under, engaged in any other transaction pursuant to or enforced any Loan Document, or sold or
assigned an interest in any Loan, Letter of Credit or Loan Document).

"Other Taxes" means all present or future stamp, court or documentary, intangible, recording,
filing or any other excise or property taxes, charges or similar Taxes that arise from any payment
made under any Loan Document or from the execution, delivery, performance or enforcement or
registration of, from the receipt or perfection of a security interest under, or otherwise with respect to,
any Loan Document, except any such Taxes that are Other Connection Taxes imposed with respect
to an assignment (other than an assignment made pursuant to Section 2.18).
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"Overnight Bank Funding Rate" means, for any day, the rate comprised of both overnight
federal funds and overnight eurodollar transactions denominated in Dollars by U.S.-managed banking
offices of depository institutions, as such composite rate shall be determined by the NYFRB as set
forth on the NYFRB's Website from time to time, and published on the next succeeding Business Day
by the NYFRB as an overnight bank funding rate.

"Overnight Rate" means, for any day, (a) with respect to any amount denominated in Dollars,
the NYFRB Rate and (b) with respect to any amount denominated in a Foreign Currency, an
overnight rate determined by the Administrative Agent or the Issuing Banks, as the case may be, in
accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation.

‘Participant” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.04(c).
"Participant Register" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 10.04(c).

"Participating Member State" means any member state of the European Union that has the
euro as its lawful currency in accordance with legislation of the European Union relating to Economic
and Monetary Union.

"Patriot Act" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.19.

‘Payment" has the meaning assigned to it in Section 9.06(c).
"Payment Notice" has the meaning assigned to it in Section 9.06(c).

"PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation referred to and defined in ERISA
and any successor entity performing similar functions.

"Permitted Designated Receivables Sale" means a Designated Receivables Sale permitted by
Section 6.05(h).

"Permitted Encumbrances" means:

(a) Liens imposed by law for Taxes that are not yet due or are being contested in
compliance with Section 5.04;

(b)  carriers', warehousemen's, mechanics', materialmen's, repairmen's and other like Liens
imposed by law, arising in the ordinary course of business and securing obligations that are not
overdue by more than 30 days or are being contested in compliance with Section 5.04;

(c) pledges and deposits made in the ordinary course of business in compliance with
workers' compensation, unemployment insurance and other social security laws or regulations (but
not ERISA);

(d) deposits to secure the performance of bids, trade contracts, leases, statutory
obligations, surety and appeal bonds, performance bonds and other obligations of a like nature, in
each case in the ordinary course of business;

(e) judgment Liens in respect of judgments that do not constitute an Event of Default under
clause (k) of Section 8.01;
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) easements, zoning restrictions, rights-of-way, minor defects, irregularities, and similar
encumbrances on real property imposed by law or arising in the ordinary course of business that do
not secure any monetary obligations and do not materially detract from the value of the affected
property or interfere with the ordinary conduct of business of the Company or any Subsidiary;

(9) Liens arising from filing UCC financing statements regarding leases permitted by this
Agreement;

(h) statutory and common law landlords' liens under leases to which the Company or one
of the Subsidiaries is a party;

0] customary Liens (including the right of set-off) in favor of banking and other financial
institutions encumbering deposits or other assets held by such institutions incurred in the ordinary
course of business; and

()] licenses, sublicenses, leases and subleases granted to third parties in the ordinary
course of business that do not secure any monetary obligations and do not materially detract from the
value of the affected property or interfere with the ordinary conduct of business of the Company or
any Subsidiary.
provided that the term "Permitted Encumbrances" shall not include any Lien securing Indebtedness.

"Permitted Investments" means:

(@ direct obligations of, or obligations the principal of and interest on which are
unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America (or by any agency thereof to the extent
such obligations are backed by the full faith and credit of the United States of America), in each case
maturing within two years from the date of acquisition thereof;

(b) investments in commercial paper maturing within 270 days from the date of acquisition
thereof and having, at such date of acquisition, the highest credit rating obtainable from S&P or from
Moody's;

(c) investments in certificates of deposit, banker's acceptances and time deposits maturing
within one year from the date of acquisition thereof issued or guaranteed by or placed with, and
money market deposit accounts issued or offered by, any domestic office of any commercial bank
organized under the laws of the United States of America or any State thereof which has a combined
capital and surplus and undivided profits of not less than the Dollar Amount of $100,000,000;

(d)  fully collateralized repurchase agreements for securities described in clauses (a) and
(c) above and entered into with a financial institution satisfying the criteria described in clause (c)
above;

(e) money market funds that (i) comply with the criteria set forth in SEC Rule 2a—7 under
the Investment Company Act of 1940, and (ii) are rated at least A-2 by S&P or P-2 by Moody's; and

) investments similar in type, maturity and rating to those described in clauses (b)
through (e) above of Foreign Subsidiaries in accordance with normal investment practices for cash
management in investments of a type analogous to the foregoing.

"Permitted Leverage Increase" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 7.01.
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"Permitted Securitization" means a Securitization Transaction permitted by Section 6.12.

"Person” means any natural person, corporation, limited liability company, trust, joint venture,
association, company, partnership, Governmental Authority or other entity.

"Plan" means any employee pension benefit plan (other than a Multiemployer Plan) subject to
the provisions of Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA, and in
respect of which the Company or any ERISA Affiliate is (or, if such plan were terminated, would under
Section 4069 of ERISA be deemed to be) an "employer” as defined in Section 3(5) of ERISA.

"Plan Asset Regulations" means 29 CFR § 2510.3-101 et seq., as modified by Section 3(42)
of ERISA, as amended from time to time.

"Pricing Certificate” means a certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit J (or such other
form acceptable to the Administrative Agent) executed by a Responsible Officer of the Company and
attaching (a) true and correct copies of the KPI Metrics Report for the most recently ended calendar
year and setting forth the Sustainability Rate Adjustment for the period covered thereby and
computations in reasonable detail in respect thereof and (b) a review report of the KPI Metrics Auditor
confirming that the KPI Metrics Auditor is not aware of any modifications that should be made to such
computations in order for them to be presented in all material respects in conformity with the
Company's standard for sustainability reporting or other applicable reporting criteria.

"Prime Rate" means the rate of interest last quoted by The Wall Street Journal as the "Prime
Rate" in the U.S. or, if The Wall Street Journal ceases to quote such rate, the highest per annum
interest rate published by the Federal Reserve Board in Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15
(519) (Selected Interest Rates) as the "bank prime loan" rate or, if such rate is no longer quoted
therein, any similar rate quoted therein (as determined by the Administrative Agent) or any similar
release by the Federal Reserve Board (as determined by the Administrative Agent). Each change in
the Prime Rate shall be effective from and including the date such change is publicly announced or
quoted as being effective.

"Proceeding” means any claim, litigation, investigation, action, suit, arbitration or
administrative, judicial or regulatory action or proceeding in any jurisdiction.

"PTE" means a prohibited transaction class exemption issued by the U.S. Department of
Labor, as any such exemption may be amended from time to time.

"QFC" has the meaning assigned to the term "qualified financial contract" in, and shall be
interpreted in accordance with, 12 U.S.C. 5390(c)(8)(D).

"QFC Credit Support" has the meaning assigned to it in Section 10.24.

"Qualified ECP Guarantor" means, in respect of any Swap Obligation, each Loan Party that
has total assets exceeding the Dollar Amount of $10,000,000 at the time the relevant Guarantee or
grant of the relevant security interest becomes or would become effective with respect to such Swap
Obligation or such other person as constitutes an "eligible contract participant” under the Commodity
Exchange Act or any regulations promulgated thereunder and can cause another person to qualify as
an "eligible contract participant" at such time by entering into a keepwell under Section 1a(18)(A)(v)(II)
of the Commodity Exchange Act.

"Receivables Indebtedness" means indebtedness incurred by any Eligible Special Purpose
Entity to finance, refinance or guaranty the financing or refinancing of Securitization Receivables;

provided
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(a) such indebtedness shall in accordance with GAAP not be accounted for as an asset or liability on
the balance sheet of Receivables Seller or any of its subsidiaries; (b) no assets other than the
Securitization Receivables to be financed or refinanced secure such indebtedness; and (c) neither the
Receivables Seller nor any of its subsidiaries shall incur any liability with respect to such
indebtedness other than liability arising by reason of (i) a breach of a representation or warranty or
customary indemnities in each case contained in any instrument relating to such indebtedness or
(i) customary interests retained by the Receivables Seller in such Indebtedness.

"Receivables Seller" has the meaning specified in the definition of "Securitization Transaction".

"Recipient" means (a) the Administrative Agent, (b) any Lender and (c) any Issuing Bank, as
applicable.

"Reference Time" with respect to any setting of the then-current Benchmark means (a) if such
Benchmark is the Term SOFR Rate, 5:00 a.m. (Chicago time) on the day that is two Business Days
preceding the date of such setting, (b) if such Benchmark is EURIBOR Rate, 11:00 a.m. Brussels
time two TARGET Days preceding the date of such setting, (c) if the RFR for such Benchmark is
SONIA, then four Business Days prior to such setting, (d) if the RFR for such Benchmark is Daily
Simple SOFR, then four Business Days prior to such setting or (e) if such Benchmark is none of the
Term SOFR Rate, the EURIBOR Rate or SONIA, the time determined by the Administrative Agent in
its reasonable discretion.

"Register" has the meaning set forth in Section 10.04(b)(iv).

"Related Parties" means, with respect to any specified Person, such Person's Affiliates and
the respective directors, officers, employees, agents and advisors of such Person and such Person's
Affiliates.

"Relevant Governmental Body" means (a) with respect to a Benchmark Replacement in
respect of Loans denominated in Dollars, the Federal Reserve Board and/or the NYFRB, the CME
Term SOFR Administrator, as applicable, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the
Federal Reserve Board and/or the NYFRB or, in each case, any successor thereto, (b) with respect
to a Benchmark Replacement in respect of Loans denominated in English Pounds Sterling, the Bank
of England, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Bank of England or, in each case,
any successor thereto, (c) with respect to a Benchmark Replacement in respect of Loans
denominated in Euros, the European Central Bank, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by
the European Central Bank or, in each case, any successor thereto, and (d) with respect to a
Benchmark Replacement in respect of Loans denominated in any other currency, (i) the central bank
for the currency in which such Benchmark Replacement is denominated or any central bank or other
supervisor which is responsible for supervising either (A) such Benchmark Replacement or (B) the
administrator of such Benchmark Replacement or (i) any working group or committee officially
endorsed or convened by (A) the central bank for the currency in which such Benchmark
Replacement is denominated, (B) any central bank or other supervisor that is responsible for
supervising either (1) such Benchmark Replacement or (2) the administrator of such Benchmark
Replacement, (C) a group of those central banks or other supervisors or (D) the Financial Stability
Board or any part thereof.

"Relevant Rate" means (a) with respect to any Term Benchmark Borrowing denominated in
Dollars, the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate, (b) with respect to any Term Benchmark Borrowing
denominated in Euros, the Adjusted EURIBOR Rate, (c) with respect to any Borrowing denominated
in English Pounds Sterling or Dollars, the applicable Adjusted Daily Simple RFR, as applicable,
(d) with respect to any Term Benchmark Borrowing denominated in Australian Dollars, the Adjusted
AUD Rate,

SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT, Page 30




or (e) with respect to any Term Benchmark Borrowing denominated in Canadian Dollars, the Adjusted
CDOR Rate.

"Relevant Screen Rate" means (i) with respect to any Term Benchmark Borrowing
denominated in Dollars, the Term SOFR Reference Rate, (ii) with respect to any Term Benchmark
Borrowing denominated in Euros, the EURIBOR Screen Rate, (iii) with respect to any Term
Benchmark Borrowing denominated in Australian Dollars, the AUD Screen Rate, or (iv) with respect
to any Term Benchmark Borrowing denominated in Canadian Dollars, the CDOR Screen Rate.

"Relevant Test Date" means the most recent Test Date.

"Required Foreign Currency Lenders" means, at any time, Foreign Currency Lenders (other
than Defaulting Lenders) having Foreign Currency Exposures and unused Foreign Currency
Commitments representing more than fifty percent (50.0%) of the sum of the Foreign Currency
Exposures of all Foreign Currency Lenders and unused Foreign Currency Commitments of all
Lenders at such time.

"Required Lenders" means, subject to Section 2.20, (a) at any time prior to the earlier of the
Loans becoming due and payable pursuant to Section 8.01 or the Commitments terminating or
expiring, Lenders having Revolving Exposures and Unfunded Commitments representing more than
fifty percent (50.0%) of the sum of the Aggregate Revolving Exposures and Unfunded Commitments
at such time; provided that, solely for purposes of declaring the Loans to be due and payable
pursuant to Article VIII, the Unfunded Commitment of each Lender shall be deemed to be zero; and
(b) for all purposes after the Loans become due and payable pursuant to Article VIII or the
Commitments expire or terminate, Lenders having Revolving Exposures representing more than 50%
of the Aggregate Revolving Exposure at such time; provided that, in the case of clauses (a) and (b)
above, (x) the Revolving Exposure of any Lender that is a Swingline Lender shall be deemed to
exclude any amount of its Swingline Exposure in excess of its Applicable Percentage of all
outstanding Swingline Loans, adjusted to give effect to any reallocation under Section 2.20 of the
Swingline Exposures of Defaulting Lenders in effect at such time, and the Unfunded Commitment of
such Lender shall be determined on the basis of its Revolving Exposure excluding such excess
amount and (y) for the purpose of determining the Required Lenders needed for any waiver,
amendment, modification or consent of or under this Agreement or any other Loan Document, any
Lender that is a Borrower or an Affiliate of a Borrower shall be disregarded.

"Resolution Authority" means an EEA Resolution Authority or, with respect to any UK Financial
Institution, a UK Resolution Authority.

"Responsible Officer" means the president, Financial Officer or other executive officer of the
Company.

"Restricted Payment' means any dividend or other distribution (whether in cash or other
property, other than Equity Interests in the Company or any Subsidiary) with respect to any Equity
Interests in the Company or any Subsidiary, or any payment (whether in cash or other property, other
than Equity Interests in the Company or any Subsidiary), including any sinking fund or similar deposit,
on account of the purchase, redemption, retirement, acquisition, cancellation or termination of any
Equity Interests in the Company or any Subsidiary.

"Reuters" means, as applicable, Thomson Reuters Corp., Refinitiv, or any successor thereto

"Revaluation Date" shall mean (a) with respect to any Loan denominated in any Foreign
Currency, each of the following: (i) the date of the Borrowing of such Loan and (ii)(A) with respect to
any Term Benchmark Loan, each date of a conversion into or continuation of such Loan pursuant to
the
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terms of this Agreement and (B) with respect to any RFR Loan, each date that is on the numerically
corresponding day in each calendar month that is one month after the Borrowing of such Loan (or, if
there is no such numerically corresponding day in such month, then the last day of such month);
(b) with respect to any Letter of Credit denominated in a Foreign Currency, each of the following:
(i) the date on which such Letter of Credit is issued, (ii) the first Business Day of each calendar month
and (iii) the date of any amendment of such Letter of Credit that has the effect of increasing the face
amount thereof; and (c) any additional date as the Administrative Agent may determine at any time
when an Event of Default exists.

"Revolving Availability Period" means the period from and including the Effective Date to but
excluding the earlier of the Revolving Maturity Date and the date of termination of the Revolving
Commitments.

"Revolving Commitment” means, with respect to each Lender, the amount set forth on
Schedule 2.01 opposite such Lender's name, or in the Increased Commitment Supplement or
Assignment and Assumption or other documentation or record (as such term is defined in Section 9-
102(a)(70) of the New York Uniform Commercial Code) as provided in Section 10.04(b)(ii)(C),
pursuant to which such Lender shall have assumed its Commitment, as applicable, and giving effect
to (a) any reduction in such amount from time to time pursuant to Section 2.08, (b) any increase from
time to time pursuant to an Increased Commitment Supplement and (c) any reduction or increase in
such amount from time to time pursuant to assignments by or to such Lender pursuant to
Section 10.04; provided, that at no time shall the Revolving Exposure of any Lender exceed its
Commitment. As of the Effective Date, the aggregate Dollar Amount of the Lenders' Revolving
Commitments is $800,000,000.

"Revolving Exposure" means, with respect to any Lender at any time, the sum of the
outstanding principal Dollar Amount of such Lender's Revolving Loans and the sum of the following
calculated, without duplication, its Foreign Currency Exposure, LC Exposure and its Swingline
Exposure at such time.

"Revolving Lender" means a Lender with a Revolving Commitment or, if the Revolving
Commitments have terminated or expired, a Lender with Revolving Exposure.

"Revolving Loan" means a Loan made pursuant to Section 2.01(a) hereof.
"Revolving Maturity Date" means October 18, 2026.

"RFER" means, for any RFR Loan denominated in(a) English Pounds Sterling, SONIA and
(b) Dollars, Daily Simple SOFR.

"RER Borrowing" means, as to any Borrowing, the RFR Loans comprising such Borrowing.
"RFR Business Day" means, for any Loan denominated in(a) English Pounds Sterling, any

day except for (i) a Saturday, (i) a Sunday or (iii) a day on which banks are closed for general
business in London, and (b) Dollars, a U.S. Government Securities Business Day.

"RFER Interest Day" has the meaning specified in the definition of "Daily Simple RFR".

"RFR Loan" means a Loan that bears interest at a rate based on the Adjusted Daily Simple
RFR.

"S&P" means Standard & Poor's Rating Services, a Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC

business.
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"Sanctioned Country" means, at any time, a country, region or territory which is itself the
subject or target of any Sanctions (at the time of this Agreement, Cuba, Iran, North Korea, Syria and
Crimea).

"Sanctioned Person" means, at any time, (a) any Person listed in any Sanctions-related list of
designated Persons maintained by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of the
Treasury, the U.S. Department of State, or by the United Nations Security Council, the European
Union, any European Union member state, Her Majesty's Treasury of the United Kingdom, or other
relevant sanctions authority, (b) any Person operating, organized or resident in a Sanctioned Country,
(c) any Person owned or controlled by any such Person or Persons described in the foregoing
clauses (a) or (b) or (d) any Person otherwise the subject of any Sanctions.

"Sanctions” means all economic or financial sanctions or trade embargoes imposed,
administered or enforced from time to time by (a) the U.S. government, including those administered
by OFAC the Treasury or the U.S. Department of State, or (b) the United Nations Security Council, the
European Union, any European Union member state, Her Majesty's Treasury of the United Kingdom,
or other relevant sanctions authority.

"SEC" means the Securities and Exchange Commission of the United States of America.

"Securitization Receivables" has the meaning specified in the definition of "Securitization
Transaction".

"Securitization Transaction" means any financing transaction or series of financing
transactions that have been or may be entered into by any Person pursuant to which such Person
(the "Receivables Seller") sells, conveys or otherwise transfers on a non-recourse basis (with certain
exceptions customary in transactions of such type) to an Eligible Special Purpose Entity any of its
accounts receivable (the "Securitization Receivables") (whether such Securitization Receivables are
then existing or arise in the future), and any assets related thereto (including without limitation, all
security interests in merchandise or services financed thereby, the proceeds of such Securitization
Receivables and other assets which are customarily sold or in respect of which security interests are
customarily granted in connection with securitization transactions involving such assets), and the
Eligible Special Purpose Entity either (a) borrows funds from or (b) sells the Securitization
Receivables to, in either case, a commercial paper conduit which issues securities, the payment
obligations under which, in either case, are satisfied from the Securitization Receivables and the
proceeds of the sale of which are used to purchase additional Securitization Receivables.

"Senior Notes" means those certain 5.00% senior notes due 2044 and 5.25% senior notes due
2054, in each case, issued pursuant to that certain Senior Indenture, dated as of April 12, 2010,
among the Company, as issuer, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee, as
supplemented by the First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 12, 2010, Second Supplemental
Indenture, dated as of September 22, 2014, and Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
September 22, 2014, in each case, among the Company, as issuer, and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as trustee.

"Singapore Loan Party" means a Loan Party organized under the laws of Singapore.

"SOFR" means a rate equal to the secured overnight financing rate as administered by the
SOFR Administrator.

"SOFR_Administrator" means the NYFRB (or a successor administrator of the secured
overnight financing rate).
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"SOFR _Administrator's Website" means the NYFRB's website, currently at
http://www.newyorkfed.org, or any successor source for the secured overnight financing rate
identified as such by the SOFR Administrator from time to time.

"SOFR Determination Date" has the meaning specified in the definition of "Daily Simple
SOFR".

"SOFR Rate Day" has the meaning specified in the definition of "Daily Simple SOFR".

"SONIA" means, with respect to any Business Day, a rate per annum equal to the Sterling
Overnight Index Average for such Business Day published by the SONIA Administrator on the SONIA
Administrator's Website on the immediately succeeding Business Day.

"SONIA Administrator” means the Bank of England (or any successor administrator of the
Sterling Overnight Index Average).

"SONIA Administrator's Website" means the Bank of England's website, currently at
http://www.bankofengland.co.uk, or any successor source for the Sterling Overnight Index Average
identified as such by the SONIA Administrator from time to time.

"Statutory Reserve Rate" means a fraction (expressed as a decimal), the numerator of which is
the number one and the denominator of which is the number one minus the aggregate of the
maximum reserve percentage (including any marginal, special, emergency or supplemental reserves)
expressed as a decimal established by the Federal Reserve Board to which the Administrative Agent
is subject with respect to the Adjusted EURIBOR Rate, the Adjusted AUD Rate, or the Adjusted
CDOR Rate, as applicable, for eurocurrency funding (currently referred to as "Eurocurrency liabilities"
in Regulation D) or any other reserve ratio or analogous requirement of any central banking or
financial regulatory authority imposed in respect of the maintenance of the Commitments or the
funding of the Loans. Such reserve percentage shall include those imposed pursuant to Regulation
D. Term Benchmark Loans shall be deemed to constitute eurocurrency funding and to be subject to
such reserve requirements without benefit of or credit for proration, exemptions or offsets that may be
available from time to time to any Lender under Regulation D or any comparable regulation. The
Statutory Reserve Rate shall be adjusted automatically on and as of the effective date of any change
in any reserve percentage.

"subsidiary" means, with respect to any Person (the 'parent") at any date, any corporation,
limited liability company, partnership, association or other entity the accounts of which would be
consolidated with those of the parent in the parent's consolidated financial statements if such financial
statements were prepared in accordance with GAAP as of such date, as well as any other
corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association or other entity (a) of which securities or
other ownership interests representing more than fifty percent (50%) of the equity or more than fifty
percent (50%) of the ordinary voting power or, in the case of a partnership, more than fifty percent
(50%) of the general partnership interests are, as of such date, owned, controlled or held, or (b) that
is, as of such date, otherwise Controlled, by the parent or one or more subsidiaries of the parent or by
the parent and one or more subsidiaries of the parent.

"Subsidiary" means any subsidiary of the Company.
"Supported QFC" has the meaning assigned to it in Section 10.24.

"Sustainability Commitment Fee Adjustment" with respect to any KPI Metrics Report for any
period between Sustainability Pricing Adjustment Dates, an amount (whether positive, negative or
zero), expressed as a percentage, equal to the sum of (a) the Carbon Intensity Commitment Fee
Adjustment
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Amount (whether positive, negative or zero), plus (b) the Electricity Goal Commitment Fee Adjustment
Amount (whether positive, negative or zero), in each case for such period.

"Sustainability Pricing Adjustment Date" has the meaning specified in Section 2.24.

"Sustainability Rate Adjustment” with respect to any KPI Metrics Report for any period
between Sustainability Pricing Adjustment Dates, an amount (whether positive, negative or zero),
expressed as a percentage, equal to the sum of (a) the Carbon Intensity Applicable Rate Adjustment
Amount (whether positive, negative or zero), plus (b) the Electricity Goal Applicable Rate Adjustment
Amount (whether positive, negative or zero), in each case for such period.

"Sustainability Report® means the annual non-financial disclosure report prepared in
accordance with the Company's standards for sustainability reporting publicly reported by the
Company and published on an Internet or intranet website to which each Lender and the
Administrative Agent have been granted access free of charge (or at the expense of the Company).

"Sustainability Structuring Agent' means J.P. Morgan Securities LLC.
"Sustainability Table" means the Sustainability Table set forth on Schedule 1.01(B).

"Swap Agreement" means any agreement with respect to any swap, forward, future or
derivative transaction or option or similar agreement involving, or settled by reference to, one or more
rates, currencies, commodities, equity or debt instruments or securities, or economic, financial or
pricing indices or measures of economic, financial or pricing risk or value or any similar transaction or
any combination of these transactions; provided that no phantom stock or similar plan providing for
payments only on account of services provided by current or former directors, officers, employees or
consultants of the Company or the Subsidiaries shall be a Swap Agreement.

"Swap Agreement Obligations” means all obligations, indebtedness, and liabilities of the
Company and its Subsidiaries, or any one or more of them, to any Lender or any Affiliate of any
Lender, arising pursuant to any Swap Agreements entered into by such Lender or Affiliate with the
Company or any Subsidiaries, or any one of them, whether now existing or hereafter arising, whether
direct, indirect, related, unrelated, fixed, contingent, liquidated, unliquidated, joint, several, or joint and
several, including, without limitation, all fees, costs, and expenses (including attorneys' fees and
expenses) provided for in such Swap Agreements.

"Swap Obligations" means, with respect to any Guarantor, any obligation to pay or perform
under any agreement, contract or transaction that constitutes a "swap" within the meaning of section
1a(47) of the Commodity Exchange Act.

"Swingline Commitment" means as to any Lender (i) the amount set forth opposite such
Lender's name on Schedule 2.01(B) hereof or (i) if such Lender has entered into an Assignment and
Assumption or has otherwise assumed a Swingline Commitment after the Effective Date, the amount
set forth for such Lender as its Swingline Commitment in the Register maintained by the
Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 10.04(b)(iv).

"Swingline Exposure" means, at any time, the aggregate principal amount of all Swingline
Loans outstanding at such time. The Swingline Exposure of any Lender at any time shall be the sum
of (a) its Applicable Percentage of the aggregate principal amount of all Swingline Loans outstanding
at such time (excluding, in the case of any Lender that is a Swingline Lender, Swingline Loans made
by it that are outstanding at such time to the extent that the other Lenders shall not have funded their
participations in
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such Swingline Loans), adjusted to give effect to any reallocation under Section 2.20 of the Swingline
Exposure of Defaulting Lenders in effect at such time, and (b) in the case of any Lender that is a
Swingline Lender, the aggregate principal amount of all Swingline Loans made by such Lender
outstanding at such time, less the amount of participations funded by the other Lenders in such
Swingline Loans.

"Swingline Lenders" means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and each other Lender listed on
Schedule 2.01(B) (or in each case, any of its designated branch offices or affiliates), each in its
capacity as a lender of Swingline Loans hereunder.

"Swingline Loan" means a Loan made pursuant to Section 2.04. All Swingline Loans shall be
denominated in Dollars.

"Synthetic Lease" means, as to any Person, any lease (including leases that may be
terminated by the lessee at any time) of any property (a) that is not a capital lease and (b) in respect
of which the lessee is treated as the owner of the property so leased for federal income tax purposes,
other than any such lease under which such Person is the lessor.

"TARGET2" means the Trans-European Automated Real-time Gross Settlement Express
Transfer payment system which utilizes a single shared platform and which was launched on
November 19, 2007.

"TARGET Day" means any day on which TARGET2 (or, if such payment system ceases to be
operative, such other payment system, if any, determined by the Administrative Agent to be a suitable
replacement) is open for the settlement of payments in Euro.

"Taxes" means any and all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions,
withholdings (including backup withholding), value added taxes, or any other goods and services, use
or sales taxes, assessments, fees or other charges imposed by any Governmental Authority, including
any interest, additions to tax or penalties applicable thereto.

"Term Benchmark" when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such
Loan, or the Loans comprising such Borrowing, are bearing interest at a rate determined by reference
to the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate, the Adjusted EURIBOR Rate, the Adjusted AUD Rate or the
Adjusted CDOR Rate.

"Term SOFR Determination Day" has the meaning assigned to it under the definition of Term
SOFR Reference Rate.

"Term SOFR Rate" means, with respect to any Term Benchmark Borrowing denominated in
Dollars and for any tenor comparable to the applicable Interest Period, the Term SOFR Reference
Rate at approximately 5:00 a.m., Chicago time, two U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior
to the commencement of such tenor comparable to the applicable Interest Period, as such rate is
published by the CME Term SOFR Administrator.

"Term SOFR Reference Rate" means, for any day and time (such day, the 'Term SOFR
Determination Day"), with respect to any Term Benchmark Borrowing denominated in Dollars and for
any tenor comparable to the applicable Interest Period, the rate per annum determined by the
Administrative Agent as the forward-looking term rate based on SOFR. If by 5:00 pm (New York City
time) on such Term SOFR Determination Day, the "Term SOFR Reference Rate" for the applicable
tenor has not been published by the CME Term SOFR Administrator and a Benchmark Replacement
Date with
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respect to the Term SOFR Rate has not occurred, then the Term SOFR Reference Rate for such
Term SOFR Determination Day will be the Term SOFR Reference Rate as published in respect of the
first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which such Term SOFR Reference Rate
was published by the CME Term SOFR Administrator, so long as such first preceding Business Day
is not more than five (5) Business Days prior to such Term SOFR Determination Day.

"Test Date" means, with respect to any Designated Receivables Sale or Securitization
Transaction, as applicable, the date of such Designated Receivables Sale or the date any
Securitization Receivables are sold in a Securitization Transaction, as applicable.

"Total Indebtedness" means, as of any date of determination, all Indebtedness of the
Company and the Subsidiaries outstanding on such date, as determined on a consolidated basis in
accordance with GAAP.

"Transactions” means the execution, delivery and performance by each Loan Party of the
Loan Documents to which it is to be a party, the borrowing of Loans, the use of the proceeds thereof,
the issuance of Letters of Credit hereunder, and all other transactions related to any of the foregoing
(including payment of fees and expenses related to the foregoing).

"Type", when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether the rate of interest
on such Loan, or on the Loans comprising such Borrowing, is determined by reference to the
Adjusted Term SOFR Rate, the Adjusted AUD Rate, the Adjusted CDOR Rate, the Adjusted
EURIBOR Rate, the Alternate Base Rate or the Adjusted Daily Simple RFR.

"UK Financial Institutions" means any BRRD Undertaking (as such term is defined under the
PRA Rulebook (as amended from time to time) promulgated by the United Kingdom Prudential
Regulation Authority) or any person falling within IFPRU 11.6 of the FCA Handbook (as amended
from time to time) promulgated by the United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority, which includes
certain credit institutions and investment firms, and certain affiliates of such credit institutions or
investment firms.

"UK Resolution Authority” means the Bank of England or any other public administrative
authority having responsibility for the resolution of any UK Financial Institution.

"Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement" means the applicable Benchmark Replacement
excluding the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.

"Unfunded Commitment" means, with respect to each Lender, the Commitment of such
Lender less its Revolving Exposure.

"Unrestricted Cash" means, at any time, cash on hand of the Loan Parties that meets each of
the following requirements: such cash on hand is (a) denominated in Dollars or any Foreign Currency,
(b) not subject to any Lien, except (i) a banker's or securities intermediary Lien or right of setoff
pursuant to customary deposit or securities account arrangements and (ii) Liens to secure the
Obligations (but not otherwise specifically designated as cash collateral hereunder), (c) not (i) subject
to any restriction as to its use or (ii) held for any other purpose or use (including, for the avoidance of
doubt, without limitation, being held for use for any anticipated investment, any payment of
Indebtedness to any other Person (except the Lenders), any other anticipated specific payment or use
or any other specific purpose), and (d) included in "cash" and not "restricted cash" on the consolidated
balance sheets of the Company.

"U.S. Borrower" means any Borrower that is a U.S. Person.
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"U.S. Government Securities Business Day" means any day except for (a) a Saturday, (b) a
Sunday or (c) a day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association recommends

that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire day for purposes of trading
in United States government securities.

"U.S. Person" means any Person that is a "United States Person” as defined in
Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code.

"U.S. Special Resolution Regime" has the meaning assigned to it in Section 10.24.

"U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.16(f).

‘Voting Participant’ has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 10.04(e).

"Voting Participant Notification" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 10.04(e).

"Withdrawal Liability" means liability to a Multiemployer Plan as a result of a complete or partial
withdrawal from such Multiemployer Plan, as such terms are defined in Part | of Subtitle E of Title IV
of ERISA.

"Write-Down and Conversion Powers" means, (a) with respect to any EEA Resolution
Authority, the write-down and conversion powers of such EEA Resolution Authority from time to time
under the Bail-In Legislation for the applicable EEA Member Country, which write-down and
conversion powers are described in the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule, and (b) with respect to the
United Kingdom, any powers of the applicable Resolution Authority under the Bail-In Legislation to
cancel, reduce, modify or change the form of a liability of any UK Financial Institution or any contract
or instrument under which that liability arises, to convert all or part of that liability into shares,
securities or obligations of that person or any other person, to provide that any such contract or
instrument is to have effect as if a right had been exercised under it or to suspend any obligation in
respect of that liability or any of the powers under that Bail-In Legislation that are related to or ancillary
to any of those powers.

Section 1.02 Classification of Loans and Borrowings . For purposes of this Agreement,
Loans may be classified and referred to by Class (e.g., a "Revolving Loan" or "Swingline Loan") or by
Type (e.g., a "Term Benchmark Loan") or by the currency in which they are denominated (e.g., a
"Euro Foreign Currency Loan") or by any combination of the foregoing. Borrowings also may be
classified and referred to by Class (e.q., a "Revolving Borrowing" or "Swingline Borrowing") or by
Type (e.g., a "Term Benchmark Borrowing") or by or by the currency in which they are denominated
(e.q., a "Euro Borrowing") or by any combination of the foregoing.

Section 1.03 Terms Generally . The definitions of terms herein shall apply equally to
the singular and plural forms of the terms defined. Whenever the context may require, any pronoun
shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine and neuter forms. The words "include",
"includes" and "including" shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase "without limitation". The word
"will" shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the word 'shall". Unless the context
requires otherwise (a) any definition of or reference to any agreement, instrument or other document
herein shall be construed as referring to such agreement, instrument or other document as from time
to time amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified (subject to any restrictions on such
amendments, restatements, supplements or other modifications set forth herein), (b) any reference
herein to any Person shall be construed to include such Person's successors and assigns, (c) the
words "herein", "hereof" and "hereunder", and words of similar import, shall be construed to refer to
this Agreement in its entirety and not to any particular provision hereof, (d) all references herein to
Articles, Sections, Exhibits and
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Schedules shall be construed to refer to Articles and Sections of, and Exhibits and Schedules to, this
Agreement, (e) any reference to any law, rule or regulation herein shall, unless otherwise specified,
refer to such law, rule or regulation as amended, modified or supplemented from time to time and
(f) the words "asset" and "property" shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect and to
refer to any and all tangible and intangible assets and properties, including cash, securities, accounts
and contract rights.

Section 1.04 Accounting Terms; GAAP

(a) Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all terms of an accounting or
financial nature shall be construed in accordance with GAAP, as in effect from time to time; provided
that, if after the date hereof there occurs any change in GAAP or in the application thereof on the
operation of any provision hereof and the Company notifies the Administrative Agent that the
Borrowers request an amendment to any provision hereof to eliminate the effect of such change in
GAAP or in the application thereof (or if the Administrative Agent notifies the Company that the
Required Lenders request an amendment to any provision hereof for such purpose), regardless of
whether any such notice is given before or after such change in GAAP or in the application thereof,
then such provision shall be interpreted on the basis of GAAP as in effect and applied immediately
before such change shall have become effective until such notice shall have been withdrawn or such
provision amended in accordance herewith. Notwithstanding any other provision contained herein, all
terms of an accounting or financial nature used herein shall be construed, and all computations of
amounts and ratios referred to herein shall be made, without giving effect to (i) any election under
Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification 825 (or any other Financial
Accounting Standard having a similar result or effect) to value any Indebtedness or other liabilities of
the Borrowers or any Subsidiary at "fair value", as defined therein and (ii) any treatment of
Indebtedness under Accounting Standards Codification 470-20 or 2015-03 (or any other Accounting
Standards Codification or Financial Accounting Standard having a similar result or effect) to value any
such Indebtedness in a reduced or bifurcated manner as described therein, and such Indebtedness
shall at all times be valued at the full stated principal amount thereof.

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision contained herein, all terms of an
accounting or financial nature used herein shall be construed, and all computations of amounts and
ratios referred to herein shall be made, without giving effect to any change in accounting for leases
pursuant to GAAP resulting from the implementation of Financial Accounting Standards Board ASU
No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), to the extent such adoption would require treating any lease (or
similar arrangement conveying the right to use ) as a capital lease where such lease (or similar
arrangement) would not have been required to be so treated under GAAP as in effect on December
31, 2015, such lease shall not be considered a capital lease, and all calculations and deliverables
under this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall be made or delivered, as applicable, in
accordance therewith.

Section 1.05 Exchange Rates; Currency Equivalents .

(a) The Administrative Agent or the Issuing Bank, as applicable, shall determine the
Dollar Amount amounts of Term Benchmark Borrowings or Letter of Credit extensions denominated
in Foreign Currencies. Such Dollar Amount shall become effective as of such Revaluation Date and
shall be the Dollar Amount of such amounts until the next Revaluation Date to occur. Except for
purposes of financial statements delivered by the Company hereunder or calculating financial
covenants hereunder or except as otherwise provided herein, the applicable amount of any Agreed
Currency (other than Dollars) for purposes of the Loan Documents shall be such Dollar Amount as so
determined by the Administrative Agent or the Issuing Bank, as applicable.
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(b) Wherever in this Agreement in connection with a Borrowing, conversion,
continuation or prepayment of a Term Benchmark Loan or an RFR Loan or the issuance, amendment
or extension of a Letter of Credit, an amount, such as a required minimum or multiple amount, is
expressed in Dollars, but such Borrowing, Loan or Letter of Credit is denominated in a Foreign
Currency, such amount shall be the Dollar Amount of such amount (rounded to the nearest unit of
such Foreign Currency, with 0.5 of a unit being rounded upward), as determined by the Administrative
Agent or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be.

Section 1.06 Rounding-Off . The Administrative Agent may set up appropriate rounding-off
mechanisms or otherwise round-off amounts hereunder to the nearest higher or lower amount in
whole Dollars, whole other currency or smaller denomination thereof to ensure amounts owing by any
party hereunder or that otherwise need to be calculated or converted hereunder are expressed in
whole Dollars, whole other currency or in whole smaller denomination thereof, as may be necessary
or appropriate.

Section 1.07 Interest Rates: Benchmark Notification . The interest rate on a Loan
denominated in Dollars or a Foreign Currency may be derived from an interest rate benchmark that
may be discontinued or is, or may in the future become, the subject of regulatory reform. Upon the
occurrence of a Benchmark Transition Event, Section 2.13(b) provides a mechanism for determining
an alternative rate of interest. The Administrative Agent does not warrant or accept any responsibility
for, and shall not have any liability with respect to, the administration, submission, performance or any
other matter related to any interest rate used in this Agreement, or with respect to any alternative or
successor rate thereto, or replacement rate thereof, including without limitation, whether the
composition or characteristics of any such alternative, successor or replacement reference rate will be
similar to, or produce the same value or economic equivalence of, the existing interest rate being
replaced or have the same volume or liquidity as did any existing interest rate prior to its
discontinuance or unavailability. The Administrative Agent and its affiliates and/or other related
entities may engage in transactions that affect the calculation of any interest rate used in this
Agreement or any alternative, successor or alternative rate (including any Benchmark Replacement)
and/or any relevant adjustments thereto, in each case, in a manner adverse to the Borrowers. The
Administrative Agent may select information sources or services in its reasonable discretion to
ascertain any interest rate used in this Agreement, any component thereof, or rates referenced in the
definition thereof, in each case pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, and shall have no liability to
the Borrowers, any Lender or any other person or entity for damages of any kind, including direct or
indirect, special, punitive, incidental or consequential damages, costs, losses or expenses (whether in
tort, contract or otherwise and whether at law or in equity), for any error or calculation of any such rate
(or component thereof) provided by any such information source or service.

Section 1.08 Letter of Credit Amounts . Unless otherwise specified herein, the amount
of a Letter of Credit at any time shall be deemed to be the Dollar Amount of the stated amount of such
Letter of Credit available to be drawn at such time; provided that with respect to any Letter of Credit
that, by its terms or the terms of any Letter of Credit Agreement related thereto, provides for one or
more automatic increases in the available amount thereof, the amount of such Letter of Credit shall
be deemed to be the Dollar Amount of the maximum amount of such Letter of Credit after giving
effect to all such increases, whether or not such maximum amount is available to be drawn at such
time.

Section 1.09 Divisions . For all purposes under the Loan Documents, in connection
with any division or plan of division under Delaware law (or any comparable event under a different
jurisdiction's laws): (a) if any asset, right, obligation or liability of any Person becomes the asset, right,
obligation or liability of a different Person, then it shall be deemed to have been transferred from the
original Person to the subsequent Person, and (b) if any new Person comes into existence, such new
Person shall be deemed to have been organized and acquired on the first date of its existence by the
holders of its Equity Interests at such time.
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ARTICLE II.
The Credits
Section 2.01 Revolving Loans

(a) Revolving Loans. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, each
Revolving Lender agrees to make advances to the Borrowers in Dollars from time to time during the
Revolving Availability Period in an aggregate principal Dollar Amount that will not result (after giving
effect to any application of proceeds of such Borrowing pursuant to Section 2.10) in: (a) such
Revolving Lender's Revolving Exposure exceeding such Revolving Lender's Revolving Commitment
or (b) the Aggregate Revolving Exposure exceeding the Aggregate Revolving Commitments. Within
the foregoing limits and subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the Borrowers may
borrow, prepay and reborrow Revolving Loans.

(b) Foreign Currency Loans. Each Foreign Currency Lender agrees to make
advances to one or more of the Borrowers in any Foreign Currency from time to time during the
Revolving Availability Period in an aggregate principal Dollar Amount that will not result in: (i) such
Lender's Foreign Currency Exposure exceeding such Lender's Foreign Currency Commitment, (ii)
such Lender's Revolving Exposure exceeding such Lender's Revolving Commitment, (iii) the
Aggregate Revolving Exposure exceeding the Aggregate Revolving Commitments, or (iv) the Foreign
Currency Exposure of all Lenders exceeding the total Foreign Currency Commitments. Within the
foregoing limits and subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the Borrowers may borrow,
prepay and reborrow Foreign Currency Loans.

(c) Revolving Lender Participation in Foreign Currency Loans. On any Business
Day when a Default exists, the Administrative Agent may (and at the direction of the Required

Foreign Currency Lenders shall) require the Revolving Lenders to acquire participations on such
Business Day in all of the Foreign Currency Loans outstanding. The Administrative Agent shall give
written notice to each Lender of the determination to require the Revolving Lenders to acquire
participations in all of the Foreign Currency Loans by no later than 11:00 a.m., Dallas, Texas time, on
any Business Day when a Default exists. Promptly upon receipt of such notice, the Administrative
Agent will give written notice thereof to each Revolving Lender, specifying in such notice the
aggregate Dollar Amount of the Foreign Currency Loans and such Lender's Applicable Percentage of
the Foreign Currency Loans. Each Revolving Lender hereby absolutely and unconditionally agrees,
upon receipt of notice as provided above, to pay to the Administrative Agent in Dollars, for the
account of the Foreign Currency Lenders, such Revolving Lender's Applicable Percentage of the
Dollar Amount of such Foreign Currency Loans; provided that no Foreign Currency Lender will be
required to make the payments under this sentence to the extent it already holds Foreign Currency
Loans in an amount equal to or in excess of its Applicable Percentage of the Foreign Currency
Loans. Each Revolving Lender acknowledges and agrees that its obligation to acquire participations
in Foreign Currency Loans pursuant to this paragraph is absolute and unconditional and shall not be
affected by any circumstance whatsoever, including the reduction or termination of the Commitments,
and that each such payment shall be made without any offset, abatement, withholding or reduction
whatsoever. Each applicable Revolving Lender shall comply with its obligations under this paragraph
by wire transfer of immediately available Dollars, in the same manner as provided in Section 2.06
with respect to Loans made by such Lender (and Section 2.06 shall apply, mutatis mutandis, to the
payment obligations of the Revolving Lenders), and the Administrative Agent shall promptly pay to
each Foreign Currency Lender such portions of the amount so received by it from the Revolving
Lenders so that after giving effect thereto the Revolving Lenders (including the Foreign Currency
Lenders) will hold direct interests in the Foreign Currency Loans in an amount equal to their
Applicable Percentage thereof. The Administrative Agent shall notify the Company of any
participations
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in any Foreign Currency Loans acquired pursuant to this paragraph. All such Loans shall be
automatically converted to ABR Dollar Borrowings (including each Foreign Currency Lender's portion
thereof) in an amount equal to the Dollar Amount thereof as of (and with the Dollar Amount as
determined as of) the date of conversion but shall continue to be considered Foreign Currency
Exposure. Thereafter payments in respect of such ABR Dollar Borrowings shall be made to the
Administrative Agent for the account of the Revolving Lenders. The amount of principal and interest
paid on the Foreign Currency Loans prior to receipt of the proceeds of a sale of participations therein
shall be shared by the Foreign Currency Lenders pro rata based on the amount of the Foreign
Currency Commitment of each (or if the Foreign Currency Commitments shall have terminated,
based on the Foreign Currency Loans held by each). Any amounts received by the Administrative
Agent or any Foreign Currency Lender from any Borrower (or other party on behalf of a Borrower) in
respect of a Foreign Currency Loan after receipt by the Foreign Currency Lenders of the proceeds of
a sale of participations therein shall be promptly remitted by the Administrative Agent to each
Revolving Lender that shall have made its payments pursuant to this paragraph and to the Foreign
Currency Lenders, as their interests may appear. The purchase of participations in Foreign Currency
Loans pursuant to this paragraph shall not relieve any Borrower of any default in the payment thereof.
No new Foreign Currency Loans will be made to any Borrower so long as any Default, which existed
when the Administrative Agent required the Revolving Lenders to acquire participations in Foreign
Currency Loans pursuant to this paragraph, continues to exist.

Section 2.02 Revolving Loans and Revolving Borrowings

(a) Loans Made Ratably. Each Loan (other than a Swingline Loan) shall be made
as part of a Borrowing consisting of Loans of the same Class and Type made by the Lenders ratably
in accordance with their respective Commitments of the applicable Class. The failure of any Lender
to make any Loan required to be made by it shall not relieve any other Lender of its obligations
hereunder; provided that the Commitments of the Lenders are several and no Lender shall be
responsible for any other Lender's failure to make Loans as required.

(b) Initial Type of Loans. Subject to Section 2.13, each Revolving Borrowing shall
be comprised (A) in the case of Borrowings in Dollars, entirely of ABR Loans, Term Benchmark
Loans or RFR Loans and (B) in the case of Borrowings in any other Agreed Currency, entirely of
Term Benchmark Loans or RFR Loans, as applicable, in each case of the same Agreed Currency, as
a Borrower may request in accordance herewith. Each Swingline Loan shall be an ABR Dollar Loan.
Each Lender at its option may make any Loan by causing any domestic or foreign branch or Affiliate
of such Lender to make such Loan; provided that any exercise of such option shall not affect the
obligation of a Borrower to repay such Loan in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

(c) Minimum Amounts; Limitation on Term Benchmark Borrowings. At the
commencement of each Interest Period for any Term Benchmark Borrowing and/or payment period

for each RFR Borrowing, such Borrowing shall be in an aggregate amount that is an integral multiple
of the Dollar Amount equal to $1,000,000 and not less than the Dollar Amount equal to $5,000,000.
At the time that each ABR Revolving Borrowing is made, such Borrowing shall be in an aggregate
amount that is an integral multiple of the Dollar Amount equal to $100,000 and not less than the
Dollar Amount of $500,000; provided that an ABR Revolving Borrowing may be in an aggregate
amount that is equal to the entire unused balance of the Aggregate Revolving Commitments or that is
required to finance the reimbursement of an LC Disbursement as contemplated by Section 2.05(e).
Each Swingline Loan shall be in an amount that is an integral multiple of $100,000 and not less than
$100,000. Borrowings of more than one Type and Class may be outstanding at the same time;
provided that there shall not at any time be more than a total of ten (10) Term Benchmark Borrowings
or RFR Borrowings outstanding.
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(d) Limitation on Interest Periods. Notwithstanding any other provision of this
Agreement, no Borrower shall be entitled to request, or to elect to convert or continue, any Borrowing
if the Interest Period requested with respect thereto would end after the Revolving Maturity Date.

(e) Additional Foreign Currencies.

0] The Company may from time to time request that Foreign Currency
Loans be made and/or, subject to Section 2.05, Letters of Credit be issued in a currency other than
those specifically listed in the definition of "Eoreign Currency"”; provided that such requested currency
is a lawful currency (other than Dollars) that is readily available and freely transferable and convertible
into Dollars. In the case of any such request with respect to the making of Foreign Currency Loans,
such request shall be subject to the approval of the Administrative Agent and the Foreign Currency
Lenders; and in the case of any such request with respect to the issuance of Letters of Credit, such
request shall also be subject to the approval of the applicable Issuing Bank.

(i) Any such request shall be made to the Administrative Agent not later
than 11:00 a.m., twenty (20) Business Days prior to the date of the desired Foreign Currency Loan or
Letter of Credit (or such other time or date as may be agreed by the Administrative Agent and, in the
case of any such request pertaining to Letters of Credit, the applicable Issuing Bank, in its sole
discretion). In the case of any such request pertaining to Foreign Currency Loans, the Administrative
Agent shall promptly notify each Foreign Currency Lender thereof; and in the case of any such
request pertaining to Letters of Credit, the Administrative Agent shall also promptly notify the
applicable Issuing Bank. Each Foreign Currency Lender and, in the case of a request pertaining to
Letters of Credit, the applicable Issuing Bank shall notify the Administrative Agent, not later than
10:00 a.m., ten (10) Business Days after receipt of such request whether it consents, in its sole
discretion, to the making of Foreign Currency Loans or the issuance of Letters of Credit, as the case
may be, in such requested currency.

(iii) Any failure by a Foreign Currency Lender or Issuing Bank, as the case
may be, to respond to such request within the time period specified in the preceding sentence shall
be deemed to be a refusal by such Foreign Currency Lender or Issuing Bank, as the case may be, to
permit Foreign Currency Loans to be made or Letters of Credit to be issued in such requested
currency. If the Administrative Agent and all the Foreign Currency Lenders consent to making
Foreign Currency Loans in such requested currency, the Administrative Agent shall so notify the
Company and such currency shall thereupon be deemed for all purposes to be a Foreign Currency
hereunder for purposes of any Foreign Currency Loans; and if the Administrative Agent, the Foreign
Currency Lenders and the Issuing Banks consent to the issuance of Letters of Credit in such
requested currency, the Administrative Agent shall so notify the Company and such currency shall
thereupon be deemed for all purposes to be a Foreign Currency hereunder for purposes of any Letter
of Credit issuances. If the Administrative Agent shall fail obtain consent to any request for an
additional currency under this Section 2.02, the Administrative Agent shall promptly so notify the
Company.

Section 2.03 Requests for Borrowings . To request a Revolving Borrowing, the
applicable Borrower shall notify the Administrative Agent of such request by submitting a Borrowing
Request and signed by the applicable Borrower, (a)(i)(x) in the case of a Term Benchmark Borrowing
denominated in Dollars, not later than 11:00 a.m., Dallas, Texas time, three Business Days before the
date of the proposed Borrowing or (y) in the case of an RFR Borrowing denominated in Dollars, not
later than 11:00 a.m., Dallas, Texas time, five Business Days before the date of the proposed
Borrowing, (ii) in the case of a Term Benchmark Borrowing denominated in Euros, Australian Dollars
or Canadian Dollars, not later than 12:00 p.m., Dallas, Texas time, three Business Days before the
date of the proposed Borrowing, or (iii) in the case of an RFR Borrowing denominated in English
Pounds Sterling, not later than 11:00 a.m., Dallas, Texas time, five RFR Business Days before the
date of the proposed Borrowing or (b) in the
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case of an ABR Dollar Borrowing, not later than 11:00 a.m., Dallas, Texas time, one Business Day
before the date of the proposed Borrowing; provided that any such notice of an ABR Revolving
Borrowing to finance the reimbursement of an LC Disbursement as contemplated by Error!
Reference source not found. may be given not later than 10:00 a.m., Dallas, Texas time, on the
date of the proposed Borrowing; provided further that any request for an ABR Dollar Borrowing by
Valmont Australia shall be made, not later than 11:00 a.m., Dallas, Texas time two (2) Business Days
before the date of the proposed Borrowing. Each such Borrowing Request shall be irrevocable,
signed by a Responsible Officer of the applicable Borrower, and specify the following information in
compliance with Section 2.02:

0] whether such Borrowing is to be a Dollar Borrowing or Foreign Currency
Borrowing;

(i) the name of the applicable Borrower;

(iii) the aggregate amount of such Borrowing;

(iv) the currency in which such Borrowing is to be denominated;
(V) the date of such Borrowing, which shall be a Business Day;

(vi) whether such Borrowing is to be an ABR Borrowing, a Term Benchmark
Borrowing or a RFR Borrowing;

(vii)  in the case of a Term Benchmark Borrowing, the initial Interest Period to
be applicable thereto, which shall be a period contemplated by the definition of the term "Interest
Period"; and

(viii)  the location and number of the applicable Borrower's account to which
funds are to be disbursed, which shall comply with the requirements of Section 2.06.

If no election as to the Type of Dollar Borrowing is specified and the Borrowing is requested by a
Borrower, then the requested Borrowing shall be an ABR Borrowing made in Dollars. If no Interest
Period is specified with respect to any requested Term Benchmark Borrowing, then the applicable
Borrower shall be deemed to have selected an Interest Period of one month's duration. If no
currency is specified for any Borrowing submitted by a Borrower then such Borrowing shall be made
in Dollars. Promptly following receipt of a Borrowing Request in accordance with this Section, the
Administrative Agent shall advise each applicable Lender of the details thereof and of the amount of
such Lender's Loan to be made as part of the requested Borrowing.

Section 2.04 Swingline Loans

() Commitment. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, from time to
time during the Revolving Availability Period, each Swingline Lender severally may, but shall have no
obligation to, make Swingline Loans denominated in Dollars to the applicable Borrower from time to
time during the Revolving Availability Period, in an aggregate principal amount at any time
outstanding that will not result in (i) the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Swingline Loans
exceeding $25,000,000, (ii) the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Swingline Loans made by
such Swingline Lender exceeding such Swingline Lender's Swingline Commitment, (iii) such
Swingline Lender's Revolving Exposure exceeding its Commitment, or (iv) the sum of the Aggregate
Revolving Exposures exceeding the Aggregate Revolving Commitments; provided that a Swingline
Lender shall not be required to make a Swingline Loan to refinance an outstanding Swingline Loan.
Within the foregoing
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limits and subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the Borrowers may borrow, prepay and
reborrow Swingline Loans.

(b) Borrowing Procedure. To request a Swingline Loan, the applicable Borrower
shall submit a written notice to the Administrative Agent of such request by telecopy or electronic mail
not later than 1:00 p.m., Dallas, Texas time, on the day of a proposed Swingline Loan. Each such
notice shall be in a form approved by the Administrative Agent, shall be irrevocable and shall specify
the requested date (which shall be a Business Day), and amount of the requested Swingline Loan.

The Administrative Agent will promptly advise the Swingline Lenders of any such notice received

from a Borrower. Each Swingline Lender shall make its ratable portion of the requested Swingline
Loan (such ratable portion to be calculated based upon such Swingline Lender's Swingline
Commitment to the total Swingline Commitments of all of the Swingline Lenders) available to the
applicable Borrower by means of a credit to an account of the applicable Borrower with the
Administrative Agent designated for such purpose (or, in the case of a Swingline Loan made to
finance the reimbursement of an LC Disbursement as provided in Section 2.05(e), by remittance to
the applicable Issuing Bank) by 3:00 p.m., Dallas, Texas time, on the requested date of such
Swingline Loan.

(c) Independent Swingline Lender Obligations. The failure of any Swingline Lender
to make its ratable portion of a Swingline Loanshall not relieve any other Swingline Lender of its

obligation hereunder to make its ratable portion of such Swingline Loan on the date of such Swingline
Loan, but no Swingline Lender shall be responsible for the failure of any other Swingline Lender to
make the ratable portion of a Swingline Loan to be made by such other Swingline Lender on the date
of any Swingline Loan.

(d) Revolving Lender Participation in Swingline Loans. Any Swingline Lender may
by written notice given to the Administrative Agent require the Revolving Lenders to acquire

participations in all or a portion of its Swingline Loans outstanding. Such notice shall specify the
aggregate amount of Swingline Loans in which Revolving Lenders will participate. Promptly upon
receipt of such notice, the Administrative Agent will give notice thereof to each Revolving Lender,
specifying in such notice such Revolving Lender's Applicable Percentage of such Swingline Loans.
Each Revolving Lender hereby absolutely and unconditionally agrees, promptly upon receipt of such
notice from the Administrative Agent (and in any event, if such notice is received by 10:00 a.m.
Dallas, Texas time, then promptly shall mean on such Business Day, and, if such notice is received
after 10:00 a.m. Dallas, Texas time, then promptly shall mean on the immediately succeeding
Business Day), to pay to the Administrative Agent, for the account of such Swingline Lenders, such
Revolving Lender's Applicable Percentage of such Swingline Loans. Each Revolving Lender
acknowledges and agrees that its obligation to acquire participations in Swingline Loans pursuant to
this Section 2.04(d) is absolute and unconditional and shall not be affected by any circumstance
whatsoever, including the occurrence and continuance of a Default or reduction or termination of the
Commitments, and that each such payment shall be made without any offset, abatement, withholding
or reduction whatsoever. Each Revolving Lender shall comply with its obligation under this
Section 2.04(d) by wire transfer of immediately available Dollars, in the same manner as provided in
Section 2.06 with respect to Loans made by such Revolving Lender (and Section 2.06 shall apply,
mutatis mutandis, to the payment obligations of the Revolving Lenders), and the Administrative Agent
shall promptly pay to such Swingline Lenders the amounts so received by it from the Revolving
Lenders. The Administrative Agent shall notify the Company of any participations in any Swingline
Loan acquired pursuant to this Section 2.04(d), and thereafter payments in respect of such Swingline
Loan shall be made to the Administrative Agent and not to such Swingline Lenders. Any amounts
received by a Swingline Lender from any Borrower (or other party on behalf of any Borrower) in
respect of a Swingline Loan after receipt by such Swingline Lenders of the proceeds of a sale of
participations therein shall be promptly remitted to the Administrative Agent; any such amounts
received by the Administrative Agent shall be promptly remitted by the Administrative Agent to the
Revolving
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Lenders that shall have made their payments pursuant to this Section 2.04(d) and to such Swingline
Lenders, as their interests may appear; provided that any such payment so remitted shall be repaid to
such Swingline Lenders or to the Administrative Agent, as applicable, if and to the extent such
payment is required to be refunded to any Borrower for any reason. The purchase of participations in
a Swingline Loan pursuant to this Section 2.04(d) shall not relieve any Borrower of any default in the
payment thereof.

(e) Replacement of Swingline Lender. Any Swingline Lender may be replaced at
any time by written agreement among the Company, the Administrative Agent, the replaced Swingline
Lender and the successor Swingline Lender. The Administrative Agent shall notify the Lenders of any
such replacement of a Swingline Lender. At the time any such replacement shall become effective,
the Borrowers shall jointly and severally pay all unpaid interest accrued for the account of the
replaced Swingline Lender pursuant to Section 2.12(e). From and after the effective date of any such
replacement, (x) the successor Swingline Lender shall have all the rights and obligations of the
replaced Swingline Lender under this Agreement with respect to Swingline Loans made thereafter
and (y) references herein to the term "Swingline Lender" shall be deemed to refer to such successor
or to any previous Swingline Lender, or to such successor and all previous Swingline Lenders, as the
context shall require. After the replacement of a Swingline Lender hereunder, the replaced Swingline
Lender shall remain a party hereto and shall continue to have all the rights and obligations of a
Swingline Lender under this Agreement with respect to Swingline Loans made by it prior to its
replacement, but shall not be required to make additional Swingline Loans.

® Resignation of Swingline Lender. Subject to the appointment and acceptance
of a successor Swingline Lender, any Swingline Lender may resign as a Swingline Lender at any time
upon thirty days' prior written notice to the Administrative Agent, the Company and the Lenders, in
which case, such Swingline Lender shall be replaced in accordance with Section 2.04(e) above.

Section 2.05 Letters of Credit

(a) General. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the Company
may request any Issuing Bank to issue Letters of Credit for its own account or the account of any
Subsidiary denominated in Dollars or a Foreign Currency, in a form reasonably acceptable to the
Administrative Agent and such Issuing Bank, at any time and from time to time during the Revolving
Availability Period, and such Issuing Bank may, but shall have no obligation, to issue such requested
Letters of Credit pursuant to this Agreement; provided that any Letter of Credit denominated in a
Foreign Currency shall be issued by JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A in its capacity as an Issuing Bank.

(b) Notice of Issuance. Amendment, Renewal, Extension; Certain Conditions. To
request the issuance of a Letter of Credit (or the amendment, renewal or extension of an outstanding
Letter of Credit), the Company shall hand deliver or fax (or through Electronic Systems, if
arrangements for doing so have been approved by the respective Issuing Bank) to an Issuing Bank
selected by it and to the Administrative Agent (reasonably in advance of the requested date of
issuance, amendment, renewal or extension, but in any event no less than three Business Days) a
notice requesting the issuance of a Letter of Credit, or identifying the Letter of Credit to be amended,
renewed or extended, and specifying the date of issuance, amendment, renewal or extension (which
shall be a Business Day), the date on which such Letter of Credit is to expire (which shall comply with
paragraph (c) of this Section), the amount of such Letter of Credit, the currency in which such Letter
of Credit is to be issued (which must be either Dollars or a Foreign Currency), the name and address
of the beneficiary thereof and such other information as shall be necessary to prepare, amend, renew
or extend such Letter of Credit. In addition, as a condition to any such Letter of Credit issuance, the
Company shall have entered into a continuing agreement (or other letter of credit agreement) for the
issuance of letters of credit and/or shall submit a
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letter of credit application, in each case, as required by the respective Issuing Bank and using such
Issuing Bank's standard form (each, a "Letter of Credit Adreement”). In the event of any
inconsistency between the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the terms and conditions of
any Letter of Credit Agreement, the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall control. A Letter of
Credit shall be issued, amended, renewed or extended only if (and upon issuance, amendment,
renewal or extension of each Letter of Credit the Company shall be deemed to represent and warrant
that), after giving effect to such issuance, amendment, renewal or extension (i) (xX) the aggregate
undrawn amount of all outstanding Letters of Credit issued by any Issuing Bank at such time plus (y)
the aggregate amount of all LC Disbursements made by such Issuing Bank that have not yet been
reimbursed by or on behalf of the Borrower at such time shall not exceed its Letter of Credit
Commitment, (ii) the LC Exposure shall not exceed the total Letter of Credit Commitments (the Dollar
Amount of $75,000,000), (iii) no Lender's Revolving Exposure shall exceed its Commitment, (iv) the
Foreign Currency Exposure shall not exceed the Foreign Currency Commitment, and (v) the
Aggregate Revolving Exposure shall not exceed the Aggregate Revolving Commitments. The
Borrower may, at any time and from time to time, reduce the Letter of Credit Commitment of any
Issuing Bank with the consent of such Issuing Bank; provided that the Borrower shall not reduce the
Letter of Credit Commitment of any Issuing Bank if, after giving effect of such reduction, the
conditions set forth in clauses (i) through (v) above shall not be satisfied.

An Issuing Bank shall not be under any obligation to issue any Letter of Credit if:

0] any order, judgment or decree of any Governmental Authority or
arbitrator shall by its terms purport to enjoin or restrain such Issuing Bank from issuing such Letter of
Credit, or any law applicable to such Issuing Bank shall prohibit, or require that such Issuing Bank
refrain from, the issuance of letters of credit generally or such Letter of Credit in particular or shall
impose upon such Issuing Bank with respect to such Letter of Credit any restriction, reserve or capital
requirement (for which such Issuing Bank is not otherwise compensated hereunder) not in effect on
the Effective Date, or shall impose upon such Issuing Bank any unreimbursed loss, cost or expense
that was not applicable on the Effective Date and that such Issuing Bank in good faith deems material
to it; or

(i) the issuance of such Letter of Credit would violate one or more policies
of such Issuing Bank applicable to letters of credit generally.

(c) Expiration Date. Each Letter of Credit shall expire (or be subject to termination
by notice from the applicable Issuing Bank to the beneficiary thereof) at or prior to the close of
business on the earlier of (i) the date one year after the date of the issuance of such Letter of Credit
(or, in the case of any renewal or extension thereof, one year after such renewal or extension)
(provided that any Letter of Credit with a one-year term may provide for the renewal thereof for
additional one-year periods not to extend past the date in clause (ii) below) and (ii) the date that is five
Business Days prior to the Revolving Maturity Date.

(d) Participations. By the issuance of a Letter of Credit (or an amendment to a
Letter of Credit increasing the amount thereof) and without any further action on the part of the
applicable Issuing Bank or the Revolving Lenders, such Issuing Bank hereby grants to each
Revolving Lender, and each Revolving Lender hereby acquires from such Issuing Bank, a
participation in such Letter of Credit equal to such Revolving Lender's Applicable Percentage of the
aggregate amount available to be drawn under such Letter of Credit. In consideration and in
furtherance of the foregoing, each Revolving Lender hereby absolutely and unconditionally agrees to
pay in Dollars to the Administrative Agent, for the account of the respective Issuing Bank, such
Revolving Lender's Applicable Percentage of each LC Disbursement made by such Issuing Bank and
not reimbursed by the Company on the date due as provided in paragraph (e) of this Section, or of
any reimbursement payment required to be refunded to the Company or any other Borrower for any
reason, including after the Revolving Maturity Date. Each
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Revolving Lender acknowledges and agrees that its obligation to acquire participations pursuant to
this Section 2.05(d) in respect of Letters of Credit is absolute and unconditional and shall not be
affected by any circumstance whatsoever, including any amendment, renewal or extension of any
Letter of Credit or the occurrence and continuance of a Default or reduction or termination of the
Commitments, and that each such payment shall be made without any offset, abatement, withholding
or reduction whatsoever.

(e) Reimbursement. If an Issuing Bank shall make any LC Disbursement in
respect of a Letter of Credit, the Company shall reimburse such LC Disbursement by paying to the
Administrative Agent an amount equal to such LC Disbursement in the currency in which it is
denominated not later than 12:00 noon, Dallas, Texas time (or with respect to LC Disbursements
denominated in a Foreign Currency, 12:00 noon, the applicable Foreign Currency Office time), on the
date that such LC Disbursement is made, if the Company shall have received notice of such LC
Disbursement prior to 10:00 a.m., Dallas, Texas time (or with respect to LC Disbursements
denominated in a Foreign Currency, 10:00 a.m., the applicable Foreign Currency Office time), on
such date, or, if such notice has not been received by the Company prior to such time on such date,
then not later than 12:00 noon, Dallas, Texas time (or with respect to LC Disbursements denominated
in a Foreign Currency, 12:00 noon, the applicable Foreign Currency Office time), on (i) the Business
Day that the Company receives such notice, if such notice is received prior to 10:00 a.m., Dallas,
Texas time (or with respect to LC Disbursements denominated in a Foreign Currency, 10:00 a.m., the
applicable Foreign Currency Office time), on the day of receipt, or (ii) the Business Day immediately
following the day that the Company receives such notice, if such notice is not received prior to such
time on the day of receipt; provided that, the Company may, subject to the conditions to Borrowing
set forth herein, request in accordance with Section 2.02, 2.03 or 2.04 that such payment be financed
with a Revolving Borrowing or a Swingline Loan, or, if the LC Disbursement is denominated in a
Foreign Currency, a Foreign Currency Borrowing, as applicable and in each case, in an equivalent
amount and in the currency in which the Letter of Credit is denominated and, to the extent so
financed, the Company's obligation to make such payment shall be discharged and replaced by the
resulting Revolving Borrowing, Swingline Loan or Foreign Currency Loan. If the Company fails to
make such payment when due, the Administrative Agent shall notify each Revolving Lender of the
applicable LC Disbursement, the Dollar Amount of the payment then due from the Company in
respect thereof and such Revolving Lender's Applicable Percentage thereof. Promptly following
receipt of such notice, each Revolving Lender shall pay to the Administrative Agent such Revolving
Lender's Applicable Percentage of the Dollar Amount of unreimbursed LC Disbursement, in the same
manner as provided in Section 2.06 with respect to Revolving Loans made by such Revolving Lender
(and Section 2.06, to the payment obligations of the Revolving Lenders), and the Administrative
Agent shall promptly pay to the respective Issuing Bank the amounts so received by it from the
Revolving Lenders. Promptly following receipt by the Administrative Agent of any payment from the
Company pursuant to this Section 2.05 the Administrative Agent shall distribute such payment to the
respective Issuing Bank or, to the extent that Revolving Lenders have made payments pursuant to
this Section to reimburse such Issuing Bank, then to such Revolving Lenders and such Issuing Bank
as their interests may appear. Any payment made by a Revolving Lender pursuant to this Section to
reimburse an Issuing Bank for any LC Disbursement (other than the funding of Revolving Loans,
Foreign Currency Loan or a Swingline Loan as contemplated above) shall not constitute a Loan and
shall not relieve the Company of its obligation to reimburse such LC Disbursement. After receipt of
any payments from the Revolving Lenders under this paragraph, the Company's obligation to
reimburse such LC Disbursement, if originally denominated in a Foreign Currency, shall immediately
and without notice convert to a Dollar denominated obligation in a Dollar Amount calculated as of the
date the payments by the Revolving Lenders are received and any future payments by the Company
in respect thereof shall be made in Dollars.

) Obligations Absolute. The Company's obligation to reimburse LC
Disbursements as provided in paragraph (e) of this Section shall be absolute, unconditional and
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irrevocable, and shall be performed strictly in accordance with the terms of this Agreement under any
and all circumstances whatsoever and irrespective of (i) any lack of validity or enforceability of any
Letter of Credit, any Letter of Credit Agreement or this Agreement, or any term or provision therein,
(ii) any draft or other document presented under a Letter of Credit proving to be forged, fraudulent or
invalid in any respect or any statement therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect, (iii) payment
by the respective Issuing Bank under a Letter of Credit against presentation of a draft or other
document that does not comply with the terms of such Letter of Credit, (iv) any other event or
circumstance whatsoever, whether or not similar to any of the foregoing, that might, but for the
provisions of this Section, constitute a legal or equitable discharge of, or provide a right of setoff
against, the Company's obligations hereunder, or (v) any adverse change in the relevant exchange
rates or in the availability of the relevant Foreign Currency to the Company or any Borrower or any
Subsidiary or in the relevant currency markets generally. Neither the Administrative Agent, the
Revolving Lenders nor any Issuing Bank, nor any of their respective Related Parties, shall have any
liability or responsibility by reason of or in connection with the issuance or transfer of any Letter of
Credit or any payment or failure to make any payment thereunder (irrespective of any of the
circumstances referred to in the preceding sentence), or any error, omission, interruption, loss or
delay in transmission or delivery of any draft, notice or other communication under or relating to any
Letter of Credit (including any document required to make a drawing thereunder), any error in
interpretation of technical terms, any error in translation or any consequence arising from causes
beyond the control of the respective Issuing Bank; provided that the foregoing shall not be construed
to excuse an Issuing Bank from liability to the Company to the extent of any direct damages (as
opposed to special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages, claims in respect of which are
hereby waived by such Borrower to the extent permitted by applicable law) suffered by the Company
that are caused by such Issuing Bank's failure to exercise care when determining whether drafts and
other documents presented under a Letter of Credit comply with the terms thereof. The parties hereto
expressly agree that, in the absence of gross negligence or willful misconduct on the part of an
Issuing Bank (as finally determined by a court of competent jurisdiction), such Issuing Bank shall be
deemed to have exercised care in each such determination. In furtherance of the foregoing and
without limiting the generality thereof, the parties agree that, with respect to documents presented
which appear on their face to be in substantial compliance with the terms of a Letter of Credit, an
Issuing Bank may, in its sole discretion, either accept and make payment upon such documents
without responsibility for further investigation, regardless of any notice or information to the contrary,
or refuse to accept and make payment upon such documents if such documents are not in strict
compliance with the terms of such Letter of Credit.

(9) Disbursement Procedures. The Issuing Bank for any Letter of Credit shall,
within the time allowed by applicable law or the specific terms of the Letter of Credit following its
receipt thereof, examine all documents purporting to represent a demand for payment under a Letter
of Credit. Such Issuing Bank shall promptly after such examination notify the Administrative Agent
and the Company by telephone (confirmed by fax or other electronic transmission approved by the
Administrative Agent) of such demand for payment and whether the Issuing Bank has made or will
make an LC Disbursement thereunder; provided that any failure to give or delay in giving such notice
shall not relieve the Company of its obligation to reimburse such Issuing Bank and the Revolving
Lenders with respect to any such LC Disbursement.

(h) Interim Interest. If the Issuing Bank for any Letter of Credit shall make any LC
Disbursement, then, unless the Company shall reimburse such LC Disbursement in full in the
applicable currency on the date such LC Disbursement is made, the unpaid amount thereof shall bear
interest, for each day from and including the date such LC Disbursement is made to but excluding the
date that the reimbursement is due and payable, at the rate per annum then applicable to Revolving
Loans and such interest shall be due and payable on the date when such reimbursement is payable;
provided that, if the Company fails to reimburse such LC Disbursement when due pursuant to
paragraph (e) of this Section, then Section 2.12(e) shall apply. Interest accrued pursuant to this
Section 2.05(h) shall be for the account
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of such Issuing Bank, except that interest accrued on and after the date of payment by any Revolving
Lender pursuant to paragraph (e) of this Section to reimburse such Issuing Bank for such LC
Disbursement shall be for the account of such Revolving Lender to the extent of such payment.

0] Replacement of an Issuing Bank.

0] An Issuing Bank may be replaced as an Issuing Bank at any time by
written agreement among the Company, the Administrative Agent, the replaced Issuing Bank and the
successor Issuing Bank. The Administrative Agent shall notify the Revolving Lenders of any such
replacement of an Issuing Bank. At the time any such replacement shall become effective, the
Company shall pay all unpaid fees accrued for the account of the replaced Issuing Bank pursuant to
Section 2.11(b). From and after the effective date of any such replacement, (A) the successor
Issuing Bank shall have all the rights and obligations of the Issuing Bank under this Agreement with
respect to Letters of Credit to be issued thereafter and (B) references herein to the term "Issuing
Bank" shall be deemed to refer to such successor or to any previous Issuing Bank, or to such
successor and all previous Issuing Banks, as the context shall require. After the replacement of an
Issuing Bank hereunder, the replaced Issuing Bank shall remain a party hereto and shall continue to
have all the rights and obligations of an Issuing Bank under this Agreement with respect to Letters of
Credit issued by it prior to such replacement, but shall not be required to issue additional Letters of
Credit or extend or otherwise amended any existing Letter of Credit.

(i) Subject to the appointment and acceptance of a successor Issuing
Bank, any Issuing Bank may resign as an Issuing Bank at any time upon thirty days' prior written
notice to the Administrative Agent, the Company and the Lenders, in which case, such resigning
Issuing Bank shall be replaced in accordance with Section 2.05(i)(i) above.

()] Cash Collateralization. If any Event of Default exists, on the Business Day that
the Company receives notice from the Administrative Agent or the Required Lenders (or, if the
maturity of the Loans has been accelerated, Revolving Lenders with LC Exposure representing
greater than fifty percent (50%) of the total LC Exposure) demanding the deposit of cash collateral
pursuant to this paragraph or when cash collateral is otherwise required under this Agreement, the
Company shall deposit in an account with the Administrative Agent, in the name of the Administrative
Agent and for the benefit of the Revolving Lenders (the "Collateral Account"), cash (i) in Dollars in an
amount equal to the LC Exposure calculated for all Letters of Credit denominated in Dollars and (ii) in
the applicable Foreign Currency in an amount equal to the face amount of all Letters of Credit
denominated in such Foreign Currency, plus, in each case, any accrued and unpaid interest thereon;
provided that the obligation to deposit such cash collateral shall become effective immediately, and
such deposit shall become immediately due and payable, without demand or other notice of any kind,
upon the occurrence of any Event of Default with respect to any Borrower described in paragraph (h)
or (i) of Section 8.01. Such deposit shall be held by the Administrative Agent as collateral for the
payment and performance of the Obligations and the Company will, in connection therewith, execute
and deliver such security and pledge agreements in form and substance satisfactory to the
Administrative Agent which the Administrative Agent may, in its discretion, require. In addition, and
without limiting the foregoing or paragraph (c) of this Section, if any LC Exposure remain outstanding
after the expiration date specified in said paragraph (c), the Borrowers shall immediately deposit into
the Collateral Account an amount in cash equal to such LC Exposure as of such date plus any
accrued and unpaid interest thereon. The Administrative Agent shall have exclusive dominion and
control, including the exclusive right of withdrawal, over such account. Other than any interest earned
on the investment of such deposits, which investments shall be made at the option and sole
discretion of the Administrative Agent and at the Company's risk and expense, such deposits shall not
bear interest. Interest or profits, if any, on such investments shall accumulate in such account.
Moneys in such account shall be applied by the
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Administrative Agent to reimburse each Issuing Bank for LC Disbursements for which it has not been
reimbursed, together with related fees, costs and customary processing charges, and, to the extent
not so applied, shall be held for the satisfaction of the reimbursement obligations of the Company for
the LC Exposure at such time or, if the maturity of the Loans has been accelerated (but subject to the
consent of Revolving Lenders with LC Exposure representing greater than fifty percent (50%) of the
total LC Exposure), be applied to satisfy other Obligations and the Company will, in connection
therewith, execute and deliver such security and pledge agreements in form and substance
satisfactory to the Administrative Agent which the Administrative Agent may, in its discretion, require.

If the Company is required to provide an amount of cash collateral hereunder as a result of the
occurrence of an Event of Default, such amount (to the extent not applied as aforesaid) shall be
returned to the Company within three Business Days after all Events of Default have been cured or
waived.

(k) Letters of Credit Issued for Account of Subsidiaries. Notwithstanding that a
Letter of Credit issued or outstanding hereunder supports any obligations of, or is for the account of, a
Subsidiary, or states that a Subsidiary is the "account party," "applicant,” "customer,” "instructing
party," or the like of or for such Letter of Credit, and without derogating from any rights of the
applicable Issuing Bank (whether arising by contract, at law, in equity or otherwise) against such
Subsidiary in respect of such Letter of Credit, the Borrowers (i) shall reimburse, indemnify and
compensate the applicable Issuing Bank hereunder for such Letter of Credit (including to reimburse
any and all drawings thereunder) as if such Letter of Credit had been issued solely for the account of
a Borrower and (ii) irrevocably waives any and all defenses that might otherwise be available to it as a
guarantor or surety of any or all of the obligations of such Subsidiary in respect of such Letter of
Credit. Each Borrower hereby acknowledges that the issuance of such Letters of Credit for its
Subsidiaries inures to the benefit of the Borrowers, and that the Borrowers' business derives
substantial benefits from the businesses of such Subsidiaries.

Section 2.06 Funding of Borrowings .

(a) By Lenders. Each Lender shall make each Loan to be made by it hereunder on
the proposed date thereof solely by wire transfer of immediately available funds in (i) Dollars, in the
case of a Dollar Borrowing, by 12:00 noon, Dallas, Texas time, and (ii) in the applicable Foreign
Currency, in the case of a Foreign Currency Loan, by 12:00 noon the applicable Foreign Currency
Office time, in each case, to the account of the Administrative Agent most recently designated by it
for such purpose by notice to the Lenders; provided that Swingline Loans shall be made as provided
in Section 2.04. Except in respect of the provisions of this Agreement covering the reimbursement of
Letters of Credit, the Administrative Agent will make such Loans available to the applicable Borrower
by promptly crediting the funds so received in the aforesaid account of the Administrative Agent to an
account of the applicable Borrower maintained with the Administrative Agent or by wire transfer,
automated clearing house debit or interbank transfer to such other account, accounts or Persons
designated by the applicable Borrower in the applicable Borrowing Request; provided that Revolving
Loans and Foreign Currency Loans made to finance the reimbursement of an LC Disbursement as
provided in Section 2.05(e) shall be remitted by the Administrative Agent to the applicable Issuing
Bank.

(b) Fundings Assumed Made. Unless the Administrative Agent shall have received
notice from a Lender prior to the proposed date of any Borrowing that such Lender will not make
available to the Administrative Agent such Lender's share of such Borrowing, the Administrative
Agent may assume that such Lender has made such share available on such date in accordance with
paragraph (a) of this Section and may, in reliance upon such assumption, make available to the
applicable Borrower a corresponding amount. In such event, if a Lender has not in fact made its
share of the applicable Borrowing available to the Administrative Agent, then the applicable Lender
and the applicable Borrower severally agree to pay to the Administrative Agent forthwith on demand
such corresponding amount with interest thereon, for each day from and including the date such
amount is
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made available to the applicable Borrower to but excluding the date of payment to the Administrative
Agent, at (i) in the case of such Lender, the greater of the applicable Overnight Rate and a rate
determined by the Administrative Agent in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank
compensation or (ii) in the case of a Borrower, the interest rate applicable to ABR Loans, or in the
case of Foreign Currencies, in accordance with such market practice, in each case, as applicable. If
such Lender pays such amount to the Administrative Agent, then such amount shall constitute such
Lender's Loan included in such Borrowing.

Section 2.07 Interest Elections

(a) Conversion and Continuation. Each Borrowing initially shall be of the Type
specified in the applicable Borrowing Request and, in the case of a Term Benchmark Borrowing, shall
have an initial Interest Period and shall be denominated in Dollars or the applicable Foreign Currency
as specified in such Borrowing Request. Thereafter, the Company may elect to convert such
Borrowing to a different Type or to continue such Borrowing and, in the case of a Term Benchmark
Borrowing, may elect Interest Periods therefor, all as provided in this Section. The Company may
elect different options with respect to different portions of the affected Borrowing, in which case each
such portion shall be allocated ratably among the Lenders holding the Loans comprising such
Borrowing, and the Loans comprising each such portion shall be considered a separate Borrowing.
This Section shall not apply to Swingline Borrowings, which may not be converted or continued.

(b) Delivery of Interest Election Request To make an election pursuant to this
Section, the Company shall notify the Administrative Agent of such election by the time that a

Borrowing Request would be required under Section 2.03 if the Company were requesting a
Borrowing of the Type resulting from such election to be made on the effective date of such election.
Each such Interest Election Request shall be irrevocable and shall be signed by the Company.

(c) Contents of Interest Election Request. Each Interest Election Request shall
specify the following information in compliance with Section 2.03 and paragraph (f) of this Section:

() the Agreed Currency and principal amount of Borrowing to which such
Interest Election Request applies and, if different options are being elected with respect to different
portions thereof, the portions thereof to be allocated to each resulting Borrowing (in which case the
information to be specified pursuant to clauses (iii) and (iv) below shall be specified for each resulting
Borrowing);

(i) the effective date of the election made pursuant to such Interest Election
Request, which shall be a Business Day;

(iii) whether the resulting Borrowing is to be an ABR Borrowing (in the case
of Borrowings denominated in Dollars) or a Term Benchmark Borrowing; and

(iv) if the resulting Borrowing is a Term Benchmark Borrowing, the Interest
Period to be applicable thereto after giving effect to such election, which shall be a period
contemplated by the definition of the term "Interest Period".

If any such Interest Election Request requests a Term Benchmark Borrowing but does not specify an
Interest Period, then the Company shall be deemed to have selected an Interest Period of one
month's duration.
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(d) Notice to the Lenders. Promptly following receipt of an Interest Election
Request, the Administrative Agent shall advise each Lender of the details thereof and of such
Lender's portion of each resulting Borrowing.

(e) Automatic Conversion. If a Borrower fails to deliver a timely Interest Election
Request with respect to a Term Benchmark Revolving Borrowing in Dollars prior to the end of the
Interest Period applicable thereto, then, unless such Borrowing is repaid as provided herein, at the
end of such Interest Period such Borrowing shall be deemed to have an Interest Period that is one
month. If a Borrower fails to deliver a timely and complete Interest Election Request with respect to a
Term Benchmark Borrowing in a Foreign Currency prior to the end of the Interest Period therefor,
then, unless such Term Benchmark Borrowing is repaid as provided herein, such Borrower shall be
deemed to have selected that such Term Benchmark Borrowing shall automatically be continued as a
Term Benchmark Borrowing in its original Agreed Currency with an Interest Period of one month at
the end of such Interest Period.

()] Limitations on Election. Notwithstanding any contrary provision hereof, if an
Event of Default exists and the Administrative Agent, at the request of the Required Lenders, so
notifies the Company, then, so long as an Event of Default is continuing (i) no outstanding Borrowing
may be converted to or continued as a Term Benchmark Borrowing and (ii) unless repaid, (x) each
Term Benchmark Borrowing and each RFR Borrowing, in each case denominated in Dollars shall be
converted to an ABR Borrowing at the end of the Interest Period applicable thereto and (y) each Term
Benchmark Borrowing and each RFR Borrowing, in each case denominated in a Foreign Currency
shall bear interest at the Central Bank Rate for the applicable Agreed Currency plus the CBR Spread;
provided that, if the Administrative Agent determines (which determination shall be conclusive and
binding absent manifest error) that the Central Bank Rate for the applicable Agreed Currency cannot
be determined, any outstanding affected Term Benchmark Loans denominated in any Agreed
Currency other than Dollars shall either be (A) converted to an ABR Borrowing denominated in
Dollars (in an amount equal to the Dollar Amount of such Foreign Currency) at the end of the Interest
Period, as applicable, therefor or (B) prepaid at the end of the applicable Interest Period, as
applicable, in full; provided that if no election is made by such Borrower by the earlier of (x) the date
that is three Business Days after receipt by the Company of such notice and (y) the last day of the
current Interest Period for the applicable Term Benchmark Loan, such Borrower shall be deemed to
have elected clause (A) above.

Section 2.08 Termination and Reduction of Commitments

(@) Termination Date. Unless previously terminated, the Revolving Commitments
and the Foreign Currency Commitments shall terminate on the Revolving Maturity Date.

(b) Optional Termination or Reduction. The Company may at any time terminate,
or from time to time reduce, the Commitments of any Class; provided that (i) each reduction of the
Commitments of any Class shall be in an amount that is an integral multiple of the Dollar Amount of
$5,000,000 and not less than the Dollar Amount of $10,000,000, (ii) the Revolving Commitments may
not be reduced below the amount of the commitment to make Swingline Loans and the Foreign
Currency Commitment unless such commitments are also reduced, pro rata, (iii) the Company shall
not terminate or reduce the Foreign Currency Commitment if, after giving effect to any concurrent
prepayment of the Foreign Currency Loans in accordance with Section 2.10, the Foreign Currency
Exposure would exceed the Foreign Currency Commitments, and (iv) the Company shall not
terminate or reduce Aggregate Revolving Commitment if, after giving effect to any concurrent
prepayment of the Revolving Loans in accordance with Section 2.10, the Aggregate Revolving
Exposures would exceed the Aggregate Revolving Commitments.
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(c) Notice of Termination or Reduction. The Company shall notify the
Administrative Agent of any election to terminate or reduce the Commitments under paragraph (b) of
this Section, at least three Business Days prior to the effective date of such termination or reduction,
specifying such election and the effective date thereof. Promptly following receipt of any notice, the
Administrative Agent shall advise the Lenders of the contents thereof. Each notice delivered by the
Company pursuant to this Section shall be irrevocable; provided that a notice of termination of the
Revolving Commitments or the Foreign Currency Commitment delivered by the Company may state
that such notice is conditioned upon the effectiveness of other credit facilities, in which case such
notice may be revoked by the Company (by notice to the Administrative Agent on or prior to the
specified effective date) if such condition is not satisfied. Any termination or reduction of the
Commitments of any Class shall be permanent. Each reduction of the Commitments of any Class
shall be made ratably among the Lenders in accordance with their respective Commitments of such
Class.

Section 2.09 Repayment of Loans; Evidence of Debt .

(a) Promise to Pay. Each Borrower hereby unconditionally promises to pay (i) to
the Administrative Agent for the account of each Revolving Lender the then unpaid principal amount
of each Revolving Loan advanced to such Borrower on the Revolving Maturity Date in Dollars, (ii) to
the Administrative Agent for the account of each Foreign Currency Lender the then unpaid principal
amount of each Foreign Currency Loan advanced to such Borrower on the Revolving Maturity Date in
the currency in which such Foreign Currency Loan is denominated, and (iii) to the Administrative
Agent for the account of the Swingline Lenders the then unpaid principal amount of each Swingline
Loan advanced to such Borrower on the earlier of the Revolving Maturity Date and the fifth Business
Day after such Swingline Loan is made; provided that on each date that a Dollar Borrowing is made,
the Borrowers shall repay all Swingline Loans then outstanding and the proceeds of any Borrowing
shall be applied by the Administrative Agent to repay any Swingline Loans outstanding. For the
avoidance of doubt, the Borrowers shall not be jointly and severally liable for the Loans. Each
Borrower shall only be liable for the Loans made to each such Borrower. The foregoing two
sentences do not limit any Borrower's obligations as a Guarantor under the Guaranty Agreement.

(b) Lender Records. Each Lender shall maintain in accordance with its usual
practice an account or accounts evidencing the indebtedness of each Borrower to such Lender
resulting from each Loan made by such Lender, including the amounts of principal and interest
payable and paid to such Lender from time to time hereunder and the currency in which such
indebtedness is due.

(c) Administrative Agent Records. The Administrative Agent shall maintain
accounts in which it shall record (i) the amount of each Loan made hereunder, the Class and Type
thereof, the currency in which it is denominated and the Interest Period applicable thereto, (ii) the
amount of any principal or interest due and payable or to become due and payable from each
Borrower to each Lender hereunder and (iii) the amount of any sum received by the Administrative
Agent hereunder for the account of the Lenders and each Lender's share thereof.

(d) Prima Facie Evidence. The entries made in the accounts maintained pursuant
to paragraph (b) or (c) of this Section shall be prima facie evidence of the existence and amounts of
the obligations recorded therein; provided that the failure of any Lender or the Administrative Agent to
maintain such accounts or any error therein shall not in any manner affect the obligation of the
Borrowers to repay the Loans in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

(e) Request for a Note. Any Lender may request that Loans of any Class made by
it be evidenced by a promissory note. In such event, the applicable Borrowers shall execute and
deliver to such Lender a promissory note payable to the order of such Lender (or, if requested by
such Lender, to
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such Lender and its registered assigns) and in a form approved by the Administrative Agent.
Thereafter, the Loans evidenced by such promissory note and interest thereon shall at all times
(including after assignment pursuant to Section 10.04) be represented by one or more promissory
notes in such form payable to the order of the payee named therein (or, if such promissory note is a
registered note, to such payee and its registered assigns).

Section 2.10 Prepayment of Loans

(a) Optional Prepayment. Each Borrower shall have the right at any time and from
time to time to prepay any of its Borrowings in whole or in part, without prepayment penalty or
premium subject to the requirements of this Section and Section 2.15.

(b) Mandatory Prepayment of Loans. Each Borrower shall, from time to time, upon
demand of the Administrative Agent, prepay so much of such Borrower's Revolving Loans in such
amounts as shall be necessary so that at all times the sum of the Aggregate Revolving Exposure is
equal to or less than the Aggregate Revolving Commitment (or, if no Revolving Loans are
outstanding, deposit cash collateral in an account with the Administrative Agent pursuant to
Section 2.05(j)). In addition, if, and in any event that, (i) the Swingline Loans exceed $25,000,000 or
(i) the Foreign Currency Exposure exceeds the Foreign Currency Commitment, each Borrower shall
promptly repay its Swingline Loans and/or Foreign Currency Loans (or, if no such Borrowings are
outstanding, deposit cash collateral in an account with the Administrative Agent pursuant to
Section 2.05(j)) in each case an amount equal to the applicable excess.

(c) Selection of Borrowing to be Prepaid. Prior to any optional or mandatory
prepayment of Borrowings hereunder, the Company or other applicable Borrower shall select the

Borrowing or Borrowings to be prepaid and shall specify such selection in the notice of such
prepayment pursuant to paragraph (d) of this Section.

(d) Notice of Prepayment: Application of Prepayments. The Company or other
applicable Borrower shall notify the Administrative Agent (and, in the case of prepayment of Swingline
Loans, the Swingline Lenders) by telephone (confirmed by fax or electronic mail) of any prepayment
hereunder (i)(w) in the case of prepayment of (1) a Term Benchmark Revolving Borrowing
denominated in Dollars, not later than 11:00 a.m., Dallas, Texas time, three Business Days before the
date of prepayment or (2) an RFR Revolving Borrowing denominated in Dollars, not later than 11:00
a.m., Dallas, Texas time, five Business Days before the date of prepayment, (x) in the case of
prepayment of a Term Benchmark Revolving Borrowing denominated in Euros, not later than 11:00
p.m., Dallas, Texas time, three Business Days before the date of prepayment, (y) in the case of
prepayment of an RFR Revolving Borrowing denominated in English Pounds Sterling, not later than
11:00 a.m., Dallas, Texas time, five RFR Business Days before the date of prepayment or (z) in the
case of prepayment of any other Foreign Currency Loan not later than 9:30 a.m., the applicable
Foreign Currency Office time, three Business Days before the date of prepayment, (ii) in the case of
prepayment of an ABR Revolving Borrowing, not later than 11:00 a.m., Dallas, Texas time, one
Business Day before the date of prepayment or (iii) in the case of prepayment of a Swingline Loan,
not later than 12:00 noon, Dallas, Texas time, on the date of prepayment. Each such notice shall be
irrevocable and shall specify the prepayment date and the principal amount of each Borrowing or
portion thereof to be prepaid and, in the case of a mandatory prepayment, a reasonably detailed
calculation of the amount of such prepayment; provided that, if a notice of optional prepayment is
given in connection with a conditional notice of termination of the Revolving Commitments as
contemplated by Error! Reference source not found., then such notice of prepayment may be
revoked if such notice of termination is revoked in accordance with Error! Reference source not
found.. Promptly following receipt of any such notice (other than a notice relating solely to Swingline
Loans), the Administrative Agent shall advise the Lenders of the contents thereof.
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Each partial prepayment of any Borrowing shall be in an amount that would be permitted in the case
of an advance of a Borrowing of the same Type as provided in Error! Reference source not found.,
except as necessary to apply fully the required amount of a mandatory prepayment. Each
prepayment of a Borrowing shall be applied ratably to the Loans included in the prepaid Borrowing.
Prepayments shall be accompanied by accrued interest to the extent required by Error! Reference
source not found. and any break funding payment required byError! Reference source not
found.. The application of any prepayment of the Loans, to the extent such prepayments are in the
correct currency, shall be applied first to ABR Loans and then to Term Benchmark Loans in the order
of the maturing Interest Periods starting with the closest maturity.

Section 2.11 Fees

(a) Commitment Fees. The Company agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent for
the account of each Revolving Lender a commitment fee, which shall accrue at the Applicable Rate
on the average daily unused amount of the Revolving Commitment of such Revolving Lender during
the period from and including the Effective Date to but excluding the date on which such Revolving
Commitment terminates. Accrued commitment fees through and including the last day of March,
June, September and December of each year shall be payable in arrears on the fifteenth day
following such last day and on the date on which the Revolving Commitments terminate, commencing
on the first such date to occur after the date hereof. All commitment fees shall be computed on the
basis of a year of 360 days and shall be payable for the actual number of days elapsed (including the
first day but excluding the last day). For purposes of computing commitment fees with respect to
Revolving Commitments, a Revolving Commitment of a Revolving Lender shall be deemed to be
used to the extent of:

0] the Dollar Amount of the outstanding Revolving Loans and LC Exposure
of such Lender; and

(i) if such Lender is a Foreign Currency Lender, the Dollar Amount of such
Lender's Foreign Currency Loans;

and the following shall be disregarded for such purpose: (y) the Swingline Exposure of such Lender,
and (z) such Lender's Applicable Percentage of the Foreign Currency Loans.

(b) Letter of Credit Fees. The Company agrees to pay (i) to the Administrative
Agent for the account of each Revolving Lender a participation fee with respect to its participations in
Letters of Credit, which shall accrue on the Dollar Amount of the daily maximum stated amount then
available to be drawn under such Letter of Credit at the same Applicable Rate used to determine the
interest rate applicable to Term Benchmark Revolving Loans, during the period from and including the
Effective Date to but excluding the later of the date on which such Lender's Revolving Commitment
terminates and the date on which such Lender ceases to have any LC Exposure, and (ii) to the
applicable Issuing Bank a fronting fee, which shall accrue at the rate of 0.125% per annum on the
Dollar Amount of the daily maximum stated amount then available to be drawn under such Letter of
Credit, during the period from and including the Effective Date to but excluding the later of the date of
termination of the Revolving Commitments and the date on which there ceases to be any LC
Exposure with respect to Letters of Credit issued by such Issuing Bank, as well as such Issuing
Bank's standard fees with respect to the administration, issuance, amendment, renewal or extension
of any Letter of Credit and other processing fees, and other standard costs and charges, of such
Issuing Bank relating to Letters of Credit as from time to time in effect. Participation fees and fronting
fees accrued through and including the last day of March, June, September and December of each
year shall be payable on the fifteenth day following such last day, commencing on the first such date
to occur after the Effective Date, in the currency in which such Letter of Credit is denominated;
provided that all such fees shall be payable on the
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date on which the Revolving Commitments terminate and any such fees accruing after the date on
which the Revolving Commitments terminate shall be payable on demand. Any other fees payable to
an Issuing Bank pursuant to this paragraph shall be payable within 10 days after demand. All
participation fees and fronting fees shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days and shall be
payable for the actual number of days elapsed (including the first day but excluding the last day).

(c) Administrative Agent Fees. The Company agrees to pay to the Administrative
Agent, for its own account, fees payable in the amounts and at the times separately agreed upon in
writing between the Company and the Administrative Agent.

(d) Payment of Fees. All fees payable hereunder shall be paid on the dates due, in
immediately available funds, to the Administrative Agent (or to an Issuing Bank, in the case of fees
payable to it) for distribution, in the case of commitment fees and participation fees, to the Lenders
entitled thereto. Fees paid shall not be refundable under any circumstances.

Section 2.12 Interest .

(a) ABR Borrowings. Subject to Section 10.13, the Revolving Loans comprising
each ABR Borrowing (excluding each Swingline Loan) and the Foreign Currency Loans which have
been converted to ABR Borrowings pursuant to Section 2.01(c) shall bear interest at the Alternate
Base Rate plus the Applicable Rate (using the category labeled ABR Benchmark Spread).

(b) Term Benchmark Borrowings. Subject to Section 10.13, the Loans comprising
each Term Benchmark Borrowing shall bear interest in the case of a Term Benchmark Revolving
Loan, at the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate, the Adjusted AUD Rate, the Adjusted CDOR Rate or the
Adjusted EURIBOR Rate, as applicable, for the Interest Period in effect for such Borrowing plus the
Applicable Rate (using the category labeled Term Benchmark and RFR Spread).

(c) RER Loans. Subject to Section 10.13, each RFR Loan shall bear interest at a
rate per annum equal to the Adjusted Daily Simple RFR plus the Applicable Rate (using the category
labeled Term Benchmark and RFR Spread).

(d) Swingline Loans. Subject to Section 10.13, the Swingline Loans shall bear
interest each day at the Alternate Base Rate.

(e) Default Interest. Notwithstanding the foregoing, subject to Section 10.13, if any
principal of or interest on any Loan or any fee or other amount payable by any Borrower hereunder is
not paid when due, whether at stated maturity, upon acceleration or otherwise, such overdue amount
shall bear interest, after as well as before judgment, at a rate per annum equal to (i) in the case of
overdue principal of any Loan, two percent (2%) plus the rate otherwise applicable to such Loan as
provided in the preceding paragraphs of this Section or (ii) in the case of any other amount, two
percent (2%) plus the rate applicable to ABR Revolving Loans as provided in paragraph (a) of this
Section. In addition, if any Event of Default exists and the Required Lenders request, the outstanding
principal amount of the Loans shall bear interest, after as well as before judgment, at a rate per
annum equal to two percent (2%) plus the rate otherwise applicable to such Loan as provided in the
preceding paragraphs of this Section.

® Payment of Interest. Accrued interest on each Loan shall be payable in arrears
on each Interest Payment Date for such Loan and upon termination of the Commitments; provided
that (i) interest accrued pursuant to paragraph (e) of this Section shall be payable on demand, (ii) in
the event of any repayment or prepayment of any Loan (other than a prepayment of an ABR
Revolving Loan prior to the end of the Revolving Availability Period), accrued interest on the principal
amount repaid or
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prepaid shall be payable on the date of such repayment or prepayment and (iii) in the event of any
conversion of any Term Benchmark Loan prior to the end of the current Interest Period therefor,
accrued interest on such Loan shall be payable on the effective date of such conversion. Interest on
Foreign Currency Loans shall be paid in the Foreign Currency as such Loan is denominated. Interest
on all Dollar Loans shall be payable in Dollars.

(9) Computation. Subject to Section 10.13, interest computed by reference to the
Term SOFR Rate or the EURIBOR Rate or Daily Simple RFR with respect to Dollars hereunder shall
be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days. Interest computed by reference to the Daily Simple
RFR (with respect to English Pounds Sterling), the AUD Rate, the CDOR Rate or the Alternate Base
Rate (at times when the Alternate Base Rate is based on the Prime Rate) shall be computed on the
basis of a year of 365 days (or 366 days in a leap year). In each case interest shall be payable for
the actual number of days elapsed (including the first day but excluding the last day). All interest
hereunder on any Loan shall be computed on a daily basis based upon the outstanding principal
amount of such Loan as of the applicable date of determination. The applicable Alternate Base Rate,
Adjusted Term SOFR Rate, Adjusted EURIBOR Rate, EURIBOR Rate, Adjusted AUD Rate, AUD
Rate, Adjusted CDOR Rate, CDOR Rate, Adjusted Daily Simple RFR or Daily Simple RFR shall be
determined by the Administrative Agent, and such determination shall be conclusive absent manifest
error.

Section 2.13 Alternate Rate of Interest

()] Subject to clauses (b), (c), (d), (e) and (f) of this Error! Reference source not
found., if:

() the Administrative Agent determines (which determination shall be
conclusive absent manifest error) (A) prior to the commencement of any Interest Period for a Term
Benchmark Borrowing, that adequate and reasonable means do not exist for ascertaining the
Adjusted Term SOFR Rate, the Term SOFR Rate, the Adjusted EURIBOR Rate, the EURIBOR Rate,
the Adjusted AUD Rate, the AUD Rate, the Adjusted CDOR Rate, the CDOR Rate (including because
the Relevant Screen Rate is not available or published on a current basis), for the applicable Agreed
Currency and such Interest Period or (B) at any time, that adequate and reasonable means do not
exist for ascertaining the applicable Adjusted Daily Simple RFR, Daily Simple RFR or RFR for the
applicable Agreed Currency; or

(i) the Administrative Agent is advised by the Required Lenders that (A)
prior to the commencement of any Interest Period for a Term Benchmark Borrowing, the Adjusted
Term SOFR Rate, the Adjusted EURIBOR Rate, the Adjusted AUD Rate, or the Adjusted CDOR
Rate, for the applicable Agreed Currency and such Interest Period will not adequately and fairly
reflect the cost to such Lenders (or Lender) of making or maintaining their Loans (or its Loan)
included in such Borrowing for the applicable Agreed Currency and such Interest Period or (B) at any
time, the applicable Adjusted Daily Simple RFR for the applicable Agreed Currency will not
adequately and fairly reflect the cost to such Lenders (or Lender) of making or maintaining their Loans
(or its Loan) included in such Borrowing for the applicable Agreed Currency;

then the Administrative Agent shall give notice thereof to the Company and the Lenders by telephone,
telecopy or electronic mail as promptly as practicable thereafter and, until (x) the Administrative Agent
notifies the Company and the Lenders that the circumstances giving rise to such notice no longer
exist with respect to the relevant Benchmark and (y) the Company delivers a new Interest Election
Request in accordance with the terms of Section 2.07 or a new Borrowing Request in accordance
with the terms of Section 2.03, (A) for Loans denominated in Dollars, (1) any Interest Election
Request that requests the conversion of any Revolving Borrowing to, or continuation of any Revolving
Borrowing as, a Term
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Benchmark Borrowing and any Borrowing Request that requests a Term Benchmark Revolving
Borrowing shall instead be deemed to be an Interest Election Request or a Borrowing Request, as
applicable, for (x) an RFR Borrowing denominated in Dollars so long as the Adjusted Daily Simple
RFR for Dollar Borrowings is not also the subject of Section 2.13(a)(i) or (ii) above or (y) an
ABR Borrowing if the Adjusted Daily Simple RFR for Dollar Borrowings also is the subject of Section
2.13(a)(i) or (ii) above and (2) any Borrowing Request that requests an RFR Borrowing shall instead
be deemed to be a Borrowing Request, as applicable, for an ABR Borrowing, (B) for Loans
denominated in Canadian Dollars, (1) any Interest Election Request that requests the conversion of
any Revolving Borrowing to, or continuation of any Revolving Borrowing as, a Term Benchmark
Borrowing and any Borrowing Request that requests a Term Benchmark Revolving Borrowing shall
instead be deemed to be an Interest Election Request or a Borrowing Request, as applicable, for a
Canadian Prime Rate Borrowing and (2) any Borrowing Request that requests a Borrowing shall
instead be deemed to be a Borrowing Request, as applicable, for a Canadian Prime Rate Borrowing
and (C) for Loans denominated in a Foreign Currency (other than Canadian Dollars), any Interest
Election Request that requests the conversion of any Revolving Borrowing to, or continuation of any
Revolving Borrowing as, a Term Benchmark Borrowing and any Borrowing Request that requests a
Term Benchmark Borrowing or an RFR Borrowing, in each case, for the relevant Benchmark, shall be
ineffective; provided that if the circumstances giving rise to such notice affect only one Type of
Borrowings, then all other Types of Borrowings shall be permitted. Furthermore, if any Term
Benchmark Loan or RFR Loan in any Agreed Currency is outstanding on the date of the Company's
receipt of the notice from the Administrative Agent referred to in this Error! Reference source not
found. with respect to a Relevant Rate applicable to such Term Benchmark Loan or RFR Loan, then
until (x) the Administrative Agent notifies the Company and the Lenders that the circumstances giving
rise to such notice no longer exist with respect to the relevant Benchmark and (y) the Company
delivers a new Interest Election Request in accordance with the terms of Section 2.07 or a new
Borrowing Request in accordance with the terms of Section 2.03, (A) for Loans denominated in
Dollars, (1) any Term Benchmark Loan shall on the last day of the Interest Period applicable to such
Loan (or the next succeeding Business Day if such day is not a Business Day), be converted by the
Administrative Agent to, and shall constitute, (x) an RFR Borrowing denominated in Dollars so long as
the Adjusted Daily Simple RFR for Dollar Borrowings is not also the subject of Section 2.13(a)(i) or (ii)
above or (y) an ABR Loan if the Adjusted Daily Simple RFR for Dollar Borrowings also is the subject
of Section 2.13(a)(i) or (ii) above, on such day, and (2) any RFR Loan shall on and from such day be
converted by the Administrative Agent to, and shall constitute an ABR Loan, (B) for Loans
denominated in Canadian Dollars, any Term Benchmark Loan shall on the last day of the Interest
Period applicable to such Loan (or the next succeeding Business Day if such day is not a Business
Day), be converted by the Administrative Agent to, and shall constitute a Canadian Prime Loan and
(C) for Loans denominated in a Foreign Currency (other than Canadian Dollars), (1) any Term
Benchmark Loan shall, on the last day of the Interest Period applicable to such Loan (or the next
succeeding Business Day if such day is not a Business Day) bear interest at the Central Bank Rate
for the applicable Foreign Currency plus the CBR Spread; provided that, if the Administrative Agent
determines (which determination shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest error) that the
Central Bank Rate for the applicable Foreign Currency cannot be determined, any outstanding
affected Term Benchmark Loans denominated in any Foreign Currency shall, at the Company's
election prior to such day: (A) be prepaid by the Borrowers on such day or (B) solely for the purpose
of calculating the interest rate applicable to such Term Benchmark Loan, such Term Benchmark Loan
denominated in any Foreign Currency shall be deemed to be a Term Benchmark Loan denominated
in Dollars and shall accrue interest at the same interest rate applicable to Term Benchmark Loans
denominated in Dollars at such time and (2) any RFR Loan shall bear interest at the Central Bank
Rate for the applicable Foreign Currency plus the CBR Spread; provided that, if the Administrative
Agent determines (which determination shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest error) that
the Central Bank Rate for the applicable Foreign Currency cannot be determined, any outstanding
affected RFR Loans denominated in any Foreign Currency, at the Company's election, shall
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either (A) be converted into ABR Loans denominated in Dollars (in an amount equal to the Dollar
Amount of such Foreign Currency) immediately or (B) be prepaid in full immediately.

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document
(and any Swap Agreement shall be deemed not to be a "Loan Document" for purposes of this Error!
Reference source not found.3), if a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark
Replacement Date have occurred prior to the Reference Time in respect of any setting of the then-
current Benchmark, then such Benchmark Replacement will replace such Benchmark for all purposes
hereunder and under any Loan Document in respect of any Benchmark setting at or after 5:00 p.m.
(New York City time) on the fifth (5th) Business Day after the date notice of such Benchmark
Replacement is provided to the Lenders without any amendment to, or further action or consent of
any other party to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document so long as the Administrative Agent
has not received, by such time, written notice of objection to such Benchmark Replacement from
Lenders comprising the Required Lenders of each affected Class.

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document,
the Administrative Agent will have the right to make Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes
from time to time and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document,
any amendments implementing such Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes will become
effective without any further action or consent of any other party to this Agreement or any other Loan
Document

(d) The Administrative Agent will promptly notify the Company and the Lenders of
(i) any occurrence of a Benchmark Transition Event, (ii) the implementation of any Benchmark
Replacement, (iii) the effectiveness of any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes, (iv) the
removal or reinstatement of any tenor of a Benchmark pursuant to clause (f) below and (v) the
commencement or conclusion of any Benchmark Unavailability Period. Any determination, decision
or election that may be made by the Administrative Agent or, if applicable, any Lender (or group of
Lenders) pursuant to this Error! Reference source not found.3, including any determination with
respect to a tenor, rate or adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event,
circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from taking any action or any selection, will
be conclusive and binding absent manifest error and may be made in its or their sole discretion and
without consent from any other party to this Agreement or any other Loan Document, except, in each
case, as expressly required pursuant to this Error! Reference source not found.3.

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document,
at any time (including in connection with the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement), (i) if the
then-current Benchmark is a term rate (including the Term SOFR Rate, EURIBOR Rate, AUD Rate or
CDOR Rate) and either (A) any tenor for such Benchmark is not displayed on a screen or other
information service that publishes such rate from time to time as selected by the Administrative Agent
in its reasonable discretion or (B) the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark
has provided a public statement or publication of information announcing that any tenor for such
Benchmark is or will be no longer representative, then the Administrative Agent may modify the
definition of "Interest Period" for any Benchmark settings at or after such time to remove such
unavailable or non-representative tenor and (ii) if a tenor that was removed pursuant to clause (i)
above either (A) is subsequently displayed on a screen or information service for a Benchmark
(including a Benchmark Replacement) or (B) is not, or is no longer, subject to an announcement that
it is or will no longer be representative for a Benchmark (including a Benchmark Replacement), then
the Administrative Agent may modify the definition of "Interest Period" for all Benchmark settings at or
after such time to reinstate such previously removed tenor.
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)] Upon the Company's receipt of notice of the commencement of a Benchmark
Unavailability Period, the Company may revoke any request for a Term Benchmark Borrowing or RFR
Borrowing of, conversion to or continuation of Term Benchmark Loans to be made, converted or
continued during any Benchmark Unavailability Period and, failing that, either (x) the Company will be
deemed to have converted any request for a Term Benchmark Borrowing denominated in Dollars into
a request for a Borrowing of or conversion to (A) an RFR Borrowing denominated in Dollars so long
as the Adjusted Daily Simple RFR for Dollar Borrowings is not the subject of a Benchmark Transition
Event or (B) an ABR Borrowing if the Adjusted Daily Simple RFR for Dollar Borrowings is the subject
of a Benchmark Transition Event or (y) any Term Benchmark Borrowing or RFR Borrowing
denominated in a Foreign Currency shall be ineffective. During any Benchmark Unavailability Period
or at any time that a tenor for the then-current Benchmark is not an Available Tenor, the component of
ABR based upon the then-current Benchmark or such tenor for such Benchmark, as applicable, will
not be used in any determination of ABR. Furthermore, if any Term Benchmark Loan or RFR Loan in
any Agreed Currency is outstanding on the date of the Company's receipt of notice of the
commencement of a Benchmark Unavailability Period with respect to a Relevant Rate applicable to
such Term Benchmark Loan or RFR Loan, then until such time as a Benchmark Replacement for
such Agreed Currency is implemented pursuant to this Error! Reference source not found.3, (A) for
Loans denominated in Dollars (1) any Term Benchmark Loan shall on the last day of the Interest
Period applicable to such Loan (or the next succeeding Business Day if such day is not a Business
Day), be converted by the Administrative Agent to, and shall constitute, (x) an RFR Borrowing
denominated in Dollars so long as the Adjusted Daily Simple RFR for Dollar Borrowings is not the
subject of a Benchmark Transition Event or (y) an ABR Loan if the Adjusted Daily Simple RFR for
Dollar Borrowings is the subject of a Benchmark Transition Event, on such day and (2) any RFR Loan
shall on and from such day be converted by the Administrative Agent to, and shall constitute an ABR
Loan and (B) for Loans denominated in a Foreign Currency, (1) any Term Benchmark Loan shall, on
the last day of the Interest Period applicable to such Loan (or the next succeeding Business Day if
such day is not a Business Day) bear interest at the Central Bank Rate for the applicable Foreign
Currency plus the CBR Spread; provided that, if the Administrative Agent determines (which
determination shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest error) that the Central Bank Rate for
the applicable Foreign Currency cannot be determined, any outstanding affected Term Benchmark
Loans denominated in any Foreign Currency shall, at the Company's election prior to such day: (A)
be prepaid by the Borrowers on such day or (B) solely for the purpose of calculating the interest rate
applicable to such Term Benchmark Loan, such Term Benchmark Loan denominated in any Foreign
Currency shall be deemed to be a Term Benchmark Loan denominated in Dollars and shall accrue
interest at the same interest rate applicable to Term Benchmark Loans denominated in Dollars at
such time and (2) any RFR Loan shall bear interest at the Central Bank Rate for the applicable
Foreign Currency plus the CBR Spread; provided that, if the Administrative Agent determines (which
determination shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest error) that the Central Bank Rate for
the applicable Foreign Currency cannot be determined, any outstanding affected RFR Loans
denominated in any Foreign Currency, at the Company's election, shall either (A) be converted into
ABR Loans denominated in Dollars (in an amount equal to the Dollar Amount of such Foreign
Currency) immediately or (B) be prepaid in full immediately.

Section 2.14 Increased Costs.
(€))] Change In Law. If any Change in Law shall:

0] impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, special deposit, liquidity
or similar requirement, compulsory loans, insurance charges or similar requirement against assets of,
deposits with or for the account of, or credit extended by, any Lender (including, without limitation,
any marginal, special, emergency or supplemental reserves established by the Board or any other
reserves imposed pursuant to Regulation D of the Board) (except any such reserve requirement
reflected in the
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Adjusted Term SOFR Rate, the Adjusted AUD Rate, the Adjusted CDOR Rate or the Adjusted
EURIBOR Rate, as applicable) or any Issuing Bank; or

(i) impose on any Lender, any Issuing Bank or the applicable offshore
interbank market used to determine any interest rate for any Foreign Currency any other condition,
cost or expense (other than Taxes) affecting this Agreement or Loans made by such Lender or any
Letter of Credit or participation therein; or

(iii) subject any Recipient to any Tax of any kind whatsoever with respect to
any Loan Document, any Letter of Credit, any participation in a Letter of Credit or any Eurocurrency
Loan made by it, or change the basis of taxation of payments to such Lender or such Issuing Bank in
respect thereof (other than (A) Indemnified Taxes, (B) Taxes described in clauses (b) through (d) of
the definition of Excluded Taxes, it being understood Taxes that are net income Taxes (however
denominated) or that are franchise Taxes or branch profit Taxes are being excluded pursuant to, and
to the extent excluded by, clause (C) below, (C) Connection Income Taxes and (D) except to the
extent such Taxes are already covered by Section 2.16);

and the result of any of the foregoing shall be to increase the cost to such Lender or such other
Recipient of making, continuing, converting or maintaining any Loan (or of maintaining its obligation to
make any such Loan) or to increase the cost to such Lender, such Issuing Bank or such other
Recipient of participating in, issuing or maintaining any Letter of Credit or Foreign Currency Loan or to
reduce the amount of any sum received or receivable by such Lender, such Issuing Bank or such
other Recipient hereunder (whether of principal, interest or otherwise), then the Company shall pay (or
shall cause any other applicable Borrower to pay) or the applicable Borrower shall pay such Lender,
such Issuing Bank or such other Recipient, as the case may be, such additional amount or amounts
as will compensate such Lender, such Issuing Bank or such other Recipient, as the case may be, for
such additional costs incurred or reduction suffered. In addition, if the introduction of, or changeover
to, the Euro in any applicable member state of the European Union shall result in an increase in the
cost to any Foreign Currency Lender of making or maintaining any Euro or other Foreign Currency
Loan (or of maintaining its obligation to make any such Foreign Currency Loan) or result in a
reduction of the amount of any sum received or receivable by such Foreign Currency Lender
hereunder (whether of principal, interest or otherwise), then the Company shall pay (or shall cause
any other applicable Borrower to pay) or the applicable Borrower shall pay to the applicable Foreign
Currency Lender, su